An assessment of the impact of South Asian ethnicity on body composition, dimensions and proportions in children and adolescents, and their potential for risk of metabolic syndrome

Mahjabeen Shah

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of London Metropolitan University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

October 2015

Statement of Originality

I Mahjabeen Shah, confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.

Signature

Date.....

Abstract

South Asians (SA) are a high-risk group for cardiometabolic disease, which is partly attributed, to their 'thin-fat' body composition (BC) phenotype. Generally, SAs have a higher % fat mass (FM) and less skeletal muscle mass (SMM), together with a more abdominal distribution of body fat, compared with white Europeans (WE) at equivalent body mass index (BMI) values. SAs also tend to have a shorter adult stature. Effective paediatric monitoring and clinical management requires improved tools for assessing body fatness and other components of BC. This is partly due to BMI being regarded as an inadequate indicator of adiposity and SMM, particularly for SAs, thus other field-based measures of BC have been investigated. In addition to BMI, several UK BC references for WE children and adolescents are available, including WC, %FM, and SMM; however, there are no similar references available for their SA counterparts.

This thesis is comprised of four key studies in which ethnic variations in BC (%FM and appendicular SMM (SMMa)), WC, and leg length (LL) in particular relative LL (RLL) between SA and WE children and adolescents (aged 5-18y) were investigated. The core aim was to develop age- and sex-specific percentile references for %FM, SMMa, and WC for the SA ethnicity. In study one, the BC418 bioelectrical impedance analyser (BIA) was validated against DXA for field-based BC assessment, in a sample of SA children (n= 53; 5-21y) to develop an ethnic-specific prediction equation for FM, FFM and SMMa determination, as prior studies have found BIA underestimates %FM in SAs. This equation was found to be only valid for children $\geq 9y$, which was attributed to the opportunistic nature of recruitment. It was concluded that no single equation was valid across the whole child and adolescent population. This equation needs to be tested in an independent group to confirm its accuracy and functionality, prior to wider application. Due to discrepancies in DXA weight and scale weight, it was not possible to develop a prediction equation for SMMa, although the existing BIA output was considered acceptable due to the very small between-method relative differences.

In study two the new BIA prediction equation was applied to a large SA dataset of children (n =1,624) from low-income communities. Compared to UK90 (SDS) reference data, both SA girls and boys (9-14y) were significantly shorter, lighter, with a lower mean BMI and WC compared with their WE counterparts, with no significant differences in %FM. %FM and SMMa reference curves were constructed and comparisons were made between published WE (from affluent areas, WE₁) reference curves, together with a low-income cohort (WE₂). Comparisons in %FM at the 50th centile, between the SA and WE cohorts revealed that SAs had greater %FM overall, and this difference increased after application of the new equation. Similarly, across all age ranges SAs had significantly less relative SMMa than their WE counterparts.

The third study generated SA sex- and ethnic-specific WC centile curves. SDS comparisons with the WE₂ cohort revealed SAs had a significantly lower mean WC than their WE₂ counterparts. It was concluded that, as WC acts as a proxy for visceral fat, ethnic-specific cut-offs similar to those adopted for adults in India should be considered for children. The final study on LL revealed that SAs had a longer RLL than WE children, although as RLL data for WEs was derived, this would require further verification. The outcomes from these studies provide the evidence base and assessment tools to support the use of ethnic-specific references for children and youths in the UK from a SA background. The findings in this thesis demonstrate that overweight and obesity vary across different ethnic groups and this variation needs to be considered in the context of the clinical referral for individual children as well as for population surveillance. These are the first set of reference percentile charts for BC, proportions and dimensions in the UK SA paediatric population. Our findings support the use of these ethnic-specific references that go beyond BMI as an indicator of obesity-related metabolic health risk.

Acknowledgements

I would first like to express my immense gratitude to Professor David McCarthy, for his support, guidance, and encouragement throughout my journey as a PhD student. There were times when I felt there was no light at the end of the endless tunnel I was in, and frustrated that some of the difficulties I encountered seemed insurmountable. However, with David's support, I have finally reached my destination, and the sense of achievement and fulfilment is all the more rewarding.

Secondly, I would like to thank the Institute for Health Research & Policy at London Metropolitan University, for offering me a stipendiary scholarship, which enabled me to undertake this PhD; and also Dr Dimple Radia for permitting me to use some of her large school data sets from her PhD work. I would also like to thank the staff members who provided me with very useful feedback on my RDP submissions, and the Postgraduate Office and ICT department for their support and assistance in administrative and technical matters.

I am very grateful and indebted to the governing members of the various religious and community centres who helped me recruit study participants; particularly the North London Muslim Community Centre, Hounslow and Kingston Mosques, the Al-Zaitoona Arabic School, the Islington Bangladesh Association, the Oshwal North-East Area Gujrati school (ONEAGS), the Oshwal West Area Youth Club, and the Bangladeshi Workers Association. I would also like to thank my sister-in-law Ushma for her help in approaching the ONEAGS and for kindly distributing letters of invitation on my behalf.

I owe a huge thanks to all the children and youths, including friends and family members that volunteered to participate in my research, without whom this research would not have been possible, as well as the parents who gave their consent for this. I would also like to thank my family including my sisters, and especially my parents, for always believing in my ability to achieve my goals, and for all their love and words of encouragement.

I am extremely appreciative and proud of my two wonderful sons Kaamil and Haaris who supported me in my work, particularly in field-work tasks (including cooking the dinner and cleaning the kitchen!); Haaris for his assistance in my data analysis and for being the model in my equipment illustrations, and Kaamil for proof-reading some of my work; and to both of them for putting up with having to listen to my constant lecturing on healthy living and my obsession with tackling the obesity epidemic!

Finally, I would like to thank my amazing husband Anup for all his love, support, and patience in all my academic endeavours over the years, and particularly his recent assistance in helping me format my whole thesis.

Table of Contents

STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITY	2
ABSTRACT	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
TABLE OF CONTENTS	5
LIST OF TABLES	9
LIST OF FIGURES	11
ABBREVIATIONS	14
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	15
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	20
2.1 Body Composition & Related Health Risks	20
2.2 The Obesity Related Health Risks to South Asian Children and Adolescents	21
 2.3 Body Mass Index and Waist Circumference (BMI and WC) 2.3.1 Adult Cut-off Points – BMI and WC 2.3.2 Child and Adolescent Cut offs – BMI and WC 	27 28 32
2.4 Body Composition and the 2,3, and 4 Compartment Models 2.4.1 Background 2.4.2 Body Composition Variations 2.4.3 Body Composition Models	39 39 40 42
 2.5 Body Composition Assessment Methods 2.5.1 Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis 2.5.2 Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry 2.5.3 Densitometry 2.5.4 Hydrometry 2.5.5 Alternative Assessment Methods 	46 48 58 62 63 64
2.6 Stature and Body Proportionality – leg length and sitting height	64
2.7 Summary	69
2.8 Thesis Aims	71
CHAPTER 3: GENERAL METHODS	72
3.1 Introduction	72
3.2 Recruitment Procedures	72

 3.3 Anthropometric Measures - Accuracy & Reliability 3.3.1 Stature 3.3.2 Body Weight 3.3.3 Waist Circumference 3.3.4 Sitting Height and Leg Length 	73 74 75 75 76
 3.4 Body Composition Measures 3.4.1 Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis 3.4.2 Dual-Energy X-ray Absorptiometry 3.4.3 Air Displacement Plethysmography 	76 77 78 79
 3.5 Data Handling & Statistical Procedures 3.5.1 Determination of Anthropometric Measurement Error – reliability 	79 80
3.5.2 Standard Deviation Scores and the LMS method3.5.3Exploration of Data	82 83
CHAPTER 4: VALIDATION STUDY OF TANITA BIOELECTRICAL IMPEDANCE SCALES USING DXA AND ADP	84
4.1 Introduction 4.1.1 Study Aims 4.2 Study Design	84 87 87
 4.3 Subject Recruitment & Experimental Procedures 4.3.1 Anthropometric Measures 4.3.2 Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis 4.3.3 DXA 4.3.4 ADP 	88 88 88 89 91
4.4 Statistical Analyses	91
 4.5 Results 4.5.1 Subject Characteristics 4.5.2 Body Weight Comparisons 4.5.3 Body Composition Comparisons between BIA and DXA 	91 92 97 99
4.6 Comparisons between BIA & DXA SMMa	144
4.6.1Discussion 4.6.2Limitations4.6.3Conclusion	145 148 149
CHAPTER 5: ETHNIC DIFFERENCES IN BODY COMPOSITION AMONG SOUTH ASIAN WHITE EUROPEAN CHILDREN & ADOLESCENTS	N & 150
5.1 Introduction 5.1.1 Study Aims	150 156
5.2 Participants and Methods5.2.1 Participants5.2.2 Methods	156 156 157
5.3 Statistical Analyses	158
5.4 Results	158
5.5 Discussion 5.5.1 Study Limitations	181 187

CHAPTER 6: DEVELOPING WAIST CIRCUMFERENCE PERCENTILE CHARTS FOR SOUTH ASIAN CHILDREN & YOUTHS DESIGNED TO PASS THROUGH ADULT CUT-OFFS 189

6.1 Intr	oduction	189
6.1.1	Study Aims	192
6.2 Met	hods	193
6.2.1	Participants and Recruitment Procedures	193
6.2.2	Anthropometric methods	193
6.2.3	Statistical methods	194
6.3 Res	ults	194
6.3.1	Characteristics of Study Population	195
6.3.2	Waist Circumference Percentiles	198
6.3.3	Waist circumference percentile and anthropometric comparisons between South Asians and white Europeans	202
6.4 Di	scussion	208
6.4.1	Study Limitations	211
6.4.2	Conclusion	211
СНАРТ	ER 7: VALIDATION STUDY OF A FIELD-BASED SITTING-HEIGHT MEASURE	213
7.1 Intr	oduction	213
7.1.1	Study Aim	214
7.2 Met	hods	215
7.2.1	Design of SH tool	215
7.2.2	Subject Recruitment	216
7.2.3	Calibration & Measurement procedures	216
7.2.4	Statistical analysis	218
7.3 Res	ults	218
7.4 Disc	cussion	220
СНАРТ	ER 8: A COMPARISON OF LEG LENGTH AND STATURE BETWEEN SOUTH	
ASIAN	& WHITE EUROPEAN CHILDREN & ADOLESCENTS	221
Q 1 Intr	aduction	221
8.1.1	Study Aims	224
8 2 Met	hods	224
821	Particinants and Recruitment Procedures	224
8.2.2	Anthropometric Methods	224
8.2.3	Statistical Methods	224
8.3 Res	ults	225
8.4 Disc	cussion	231
8.5.1	Study Limitations	234
~		224
8.5.2	Conclusion	234

CHAPTER 9: CONCLUSION

-	-	~
Z	3	b

9.1 Overall Aims of Thesis	236
9.2 Summary of Research and Findings 9.2.1 BIA validation study – Chapter 4 9.2.2 Ethnic differences in body composition and development of othnic specific reference	236 236
 9.2.2 Ethnic differences in body composition and development of ethnic specific reference centiles – Chapter 5 0.2.2 Developing which singumforence percentile shorts for South Asian shildren & wouths 	237
 designed to pass through adult cut-offs – Chapter 6 9.2.4 Ethnic differences in leg length and stature between South Asian & white European children & adolescents – Chapter 8 	240 241
9.3 Limitations	241
9.4 Future Research	243
9.5 Final Overview	244
REFERENCES	246
APPENDICES	264
Appendix A: DXA Scan & Radiation Doses	264
Appendix A1: DXA Norland_XR_800_Whole_Body_Scanner	264
Appendix A2: DXA Radiation Doses	264
Appendix B1: Ethical Approval	265
Appendix B2: Example of Flyer	266
Appendix B3: Sample Letter of Invitation	267
Appendix B4: Background Information Sheet on BIA, ADP, and DXA	269
Appendix B5: Participant Consent Form	270
Appendix C: SPSS Outputs Showing Tests of Normality	271
Appendix D: SPSS Outputs Showing Tests of Normality for Ht, SH, & LL	274
Appendix E: Ethnic Differences in Body Composition	275

List of Tables

Table 2.1	WHO recommendations for BMI & waist circumference cut-offs	30
Table 2.2	NICE BMI & waist circumference cut-offs	31
Table 2.3	IDF waist circumference cut-offs	32
Table 3.1	Anthropometric measures for Ht, WC, & SH measures (mean \pm sd) for 10 subjects together with absolute (cm) & relative (%) TEM, and R-value	82
Table 4.1	Subject characteristics (mean ±sd) and comparisons of mean values between males and females of study group, and same sex comparisons between BIA validation study group and SA external group	94
Table 4.2	Body composition measures (mean \pm sd) by BIA and DXA, for percentage fat-mass (%FM), absolute fat-mass (FM; kg), and absolute fat-free mass (FFM; kg), with Bland-Altman comparisons between methods showing mean difference and limits of agreement	100
Table 4.3	Body composition (mean \pm sd) measures by BIA and DXA, for percentage fat-mass (%FM), absolute fat-mass (FM; kg), with Bland- Altman comparisons between BIA and reference method showing mean difference and limits of agreement (mean \pm 2sd)	124
Table 4.4	SPSS output - Model summary showing the relationship (r & r^2) between the prediction model and DXA_{Siri} FFM2 using linear regression	126
Table 4.5	SPSS output - Unstandardised Coefficients for determination of $BIA_{\rm reg1}$ prediction equation with DXA_{\rm Siri} FFM2 as dependent variable	127
Table 4.6	Body composition measures (mean \pm sd) by BIA and DXA _{Siri} , for relative fat mass (%; FM), and absolute fat-free mass (kg; FFM), with comparisons showing mean differences, correlations, and Bland-Altman limits of agreement, between methods, before and after BIA correction	130
Table 4.7	Body composition measures (mean \pm sd) by BIA and BIAreg1, for absolute (kg) fat-free mass (FFM) and relative (%) FM, with comparisons showing mean differences, correlations, and Bland- Altman limits of agreement, between methods, before and after BIA correction	136
Table 4.8	Comparisons (mean \pm sd) between DXA _{Siri} FFM2 and BIA FFM regression equations from two validation studies showing mean differences and Bland-Altman limits of agreement	143
Table 4.9	Descriptives showing absolute (kg) and relative (%) BIA and DXA SMMa (mean \pm sd), with mean differences	144
Table 5.1	Mean ±sd SDS data for Ht, Wt, BMI, WC, & %FM for SA ^a and WE ₂ ^b cohort with sex-specific comparisons between ethnic groups	159
Table 5.2	Descriptive statistics for all BC measures (mean \pm sd) for SA ^a and WE ₂ ^b cohort with comparisons between ethnic groups by age range and sex	161

Table 5.3	Descriptive statistics (mean \pm sd) for SA & WE ₂ absolute (kg) and relative FFM (%) showing sex-specific comparisons before and after regression between ethnic groups aged 9-14y			
Table 5.4a	Descriptive statistics for all BC measures (mean \pm sd) for SA sub- groups by age range (boys only)			
Table 5.4b	Descriptive statistics for all BC measures (mean \pm sd) for SA sub- groups by age range (girls only)	166		
Table 5.5	Descriptive statistics showing significant (* or **) differences within SA sub-groups and between SA sub-groups & WE ₂ for all BC measures by sex and age range	167		
Table 5.6	%Fat centiles by age based on original BIA output (SA Boys)	169		
Table 5.7	%Fat centiles by age based on BIA_{reg1} (SA Boys)	170		
Table 5.8	%Fat centiles by age based on original BIA output (SA Girls)	171		
Table 5.9	%Fat centiles by age based on BIA _{reg1} (SA Girls)	172		
Table 6.1	Absolute and SDS (mean \pm sd) for weight, height, BMI, and waist circumference data of boys aged 4.00-16.99y	196		
Table 6.2	Absolute and SDS (mean \pm sd) for weight, height, BMI, and waist	197		
Table 6.3	Percentiles of waist circumference by age and sex	199		
Table 6.4	Anthropometric characteristics of South Asian and white European cohorts by sex	206		
Table 6.5	Sex-specific anthropometric characteristics of white European and South Asian cohort by ethnic sub-group	207		
Table 7.1	Subject characteristics (mean ± s.d. (range) and sitting height	218		
Table 8.1	Anthropometric characteristics of cohort by sex	225		
Table 8.2	Anthropometric characteristics (absolute and SDS) of cohort by sex and age-range	227		
Table 8.3	Sex-specific differences between SA cohort and UK90 references in Height SDS, RLL and SH between 'Low' and 'High' BMI SDS	229		
Table 8.4	8.4 Sex-specific differences between SA cohort and UK90 references in Height SDS, RLL, and SH between 'Low' and 'High' WC SDS			
Table 8.5	Sex-specific anthropometric comparisons between SA ethnic sub- groups	231		

List of Figures

Figure 2.1	Basic two-compartment model and five-level multicompartment model of body composition. ECS, extracellular solids; ECF, extracellular fluid	42				
Figure 2.2	Schematic diagram of fat-free mass (FFM), total body water (TBW), intracellular water (ICW), extracellular water (ECW), and body cell mass (BCM)					
Figure 2.3 Figure 3.1	Diagram of how the Bod Pod® measures body volume Leicester Height Measure	63 75				
Figure 3.2	Tanita BC418-MA BIA	77				
Figure 3.3	Norland XR-800 DXA scanner & computer software	78				
Figure 3.4	Bod Pod® with participant in-situ	79				
Figure 4.1	Tanita BC418-MA BIA	88				
Figure 4.2	Example of DXA output of whole-body scan (from Norland XR-800 pencil beam scanner)	90				
Figure 4.3	Scatterplot showing the distribution of the BMI SDS against age of the total study sample, based on the UK90 reference data	95				
Figure 4.4	Scatterplot showing the distribution of the BMI SDS against age of the external SA group, based on the UK90 reference data	96				
Figure 4.5	Scatterplot comparing BIA weight with DXA weight	97				
Figure 4.6	Bland-Altman comparison between DXA and BIA weight					
Figure 4.7	.7 Scatterplots comparing BIA %FM with DXA _{Siri} %FM and DXA _{total} %FM for whole sample					
Figure 4.8	Scatterplots comparing BIA %FM with DXA_{Siri} %FM by sex	104				
Figure 4.9	Scatterplots comparing BIA %FM with $\text{DXA}_{\text{total}}$ %FM by sex	105				
Figure 4.10	Bland–Altman plot showing mean difference & limits of agreement between BIA %FM with DXA_{Siri}	106				
Figure 4.11	Bland–Altman plot showing mean difference & limits of agreement between DXA_{Siri} and BIA $\%\text{FM}$	107				
Figure 4.12	Scatterplots comparing BIA FM with DXA_{Siri} FM2 (kg) and BIA FFM with DXA_{Siri} FFM2 (kg) for whole sample.	109				
Figure 4.13	Scatterplots comparing BIA FM with DXA_{Siri} FM2 (kg) and BIA FFM with DXA_{Siri} FFM2 (kg) for males only	110				
Figure 4.14	Scatterplots comparing BIA FM with DXA _{Siri} FM2 (kg) and BIA FFM with DXA _{Siri} FFM2 (kg) for females only					
Figure 4.15	Bland–Altman plots showing mean difference & limits of agreement between BIA FM with DXA_{Siri} FM2 and between DXA_{Siri} FFM2 for whole sample	112				

Figure 4.16	Bland–Altman plots showing mean difference & limits of agreement 1 between BIA FM with DXA _{Siri} FM2 and between DXA _{Siri} FFM2 for males only			
Figure 4.17	Bland–Altman plots showing mean difference & limits of agreement between BIA FM with DXA _{Siri} FM2 and between DXA _{Siri} FFM2 for females only			
Figure 4.18	Correlation of BIA whole body % fat vs ADP whole body % fat and Bland-Altman plot showing limits of agreement between %FM for BIA and ADP	116		
Figure 4.19	Correlation of DXA whole body % fat vs ADP whole body % fat and Bland-Altman plot showing limits of agreement between %FM for DXA and ADP	117		
Figure 4.20	Scatterplots comparing DXA_{Siri} %FM with BIA %FM at \leq 20% FM males & \leq 30% FM females	120		
Figure 4.21	Scatterplots comparing DXAsiri %FM with BIA %FM at \leq 20% FM males & \leq 30% FM females	121		
Figure 4.22	Scatterplots comparing DXA _{Siri} %FM with BIA %FM at \leq 12y males & \leq 13y females	122		
Figure 4.23	Scatterplots comparing DXA _{Siri} %FM with BIA %FM at >12y males & >13y females	123		
Figure 4.24	Normal P-P plot of regression standardised residual with $\mbox{DXA}_{\mbox{Siri}}$ FFM2 as dependent variable	126		
Figure 4.25	Scatterplot of regression standardised predicted value Vs regression standardised residual with DXA _{Siri} FFM2 as dependent variable	127		
Figure 4.26	Scatterplots showing correlations, and Bland-Altman plots showing limits of agreement by gender, between DXA_{Siri} FFM2 and BIA FFM_{reg1}	131- 133		
Figure 4.27	Scatterplots showing correlations, and Bland-Altman plots showing limits of agreement by gender, between DXA_{Siri} %FM and BIA %FMreg1	133- 134		
Figure 4.28	Scatterplots showing correlations, and Bland-Altman limits of agreement showing mean differences by gender, between BIA FFM before correction and BIA $\rm FFM_{reg1}$	137- 138		
Figure 4.29	Scatterplots showing correlations, and Bland-Altman limits of agreement showing mean differences by gender, between BIA $\% FM$ before correction and BIA $\% FM_{reg1}$	139- 140		
Figure 5.1a Figure 5.1b	% FM centiles (original BIA equation) boys %FM centiles (new BIA _{reg1} equation developed in chapter 4) boys	173 173		
Figure 5.2a	% FM centiles (original BIA equation) Girls	174		
Figure 5.2b	%FM centiles (new BIA_{reg1} equation developed in chapter 4) Girls	174		
Figure 5.3a %FM comparisons between WE and SA boys before and after application of new BIA _{reg1} (BIA regression equation from chapter 4)				
Figure 5.3b	%FM comparisons between WE and SA girls before and after application of new BIA regression equation (BIA $_{reg1}$)	176		

Figure 5.4a	FFM (%) centile comparisons between SA, WE ₁ , & WE ₂ boys			
Figure 5.4b	FFM (%) centile comparisons between SA, WE ₁ , & WE ₂ girls			
Figure 5.5a	FFM (%) centile comparisons between SA & WE $_2$ boys at the $2^{\rm nd},50^{\rm th},$ & $98^{\rm th}$ centiles			
Figure 5.5b	FFM (%) centile comparisons between SA & WE $_2$ girls at the $2^{nd},50^{th},$ & 98^{th} centiles	178		
Figure 6.1	Smoothed waist circumference percentile curves with 9 centiles shown equivalent to UK90 BMI centiles for boys aged 4.00-16.99y	200		
Figure 6.2	Smoothed waist circumference percentile curves with 9 centiles shown equivalent to UK90 BMI centiles for girls aged 4.00-16.99y	200		
Figure 6.3	Smoothed waist circumference percentile curves with 7 centiles shown – 71 st and 90 th representing centile lines that pass close to adult cut-offs for 'Action levels 1 and 2' (Misra et al., 2009) respectively for boys at age 15+y	201		
Figure 6.4	Smoothed waist circumference percentile curves with 7 centiles shown – 68 th and 87 th representing centile lines that pass close to adult cut-offs for 'Action levels 1 and 2' (Misra et al., 2009) respectively for girls at age 15+y	201		
Figure 6.5	Comparisons between UK WE $_1$ (McCarthy et al., 2001) and SA $50^{\rm th}$ and $90^{\rm th}$ centiles for boys age 5-16.99y	205		
Figure 6.6	Comparisons between UK WE1 (McCarthy et al., 2001) and SA $50^{\rm th}$ and $90^{\rm th}$ centiles for girls age 5-16.99y	205		
Figure 7.1	Sitting Height position (from NHANES III, 1988)	213		
Figure 7.2	Harpenden Sitting Height Table	215		
Figure 7.3 Figure 7.4	Leicester Height Measure Adapted Leicester Height Measure	216 216		
Figure 7.5	Calibration of Leicester & Harpenden sitting height measures with 1m rule	217		
Figure 7.6	Upper graph correlation of LSH vs HSH ($r = 0.99$, P< 0.001). Lower graph Bland-Altman plot showing limits of agreement between LSH and HSH	219		

Abbreviations

2-C	2-compartment				
3-C	3-compartment				
4-C	4-compartment				
ADP	Air displacement plethysmography				
ASD	All-schools data				
BC	Body composition				
BCA	Body composition assessment				
BF	Body fat				
BMI	Body mass index				
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention				
CVD	Cardiovascular disease				
СТ	Computed tomography				
DH	Department of Health				
DXA	Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry				
ECW	Extracellular water				
FFM	Fat-free mass				
FM	Fat mass				
НОМА	Homeostasis model assessment				
HSE	Health Survey for England				
Ht	Height				
ICW	Intracellular water				
IDF	International Diabetes Federation				
IOTF	International Obesity Taskforce				
LL	Leg length				
LM	Lean mass				
LTM	Lean tissue mass				
MFR	Muscle-to-fat ratio				
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging				
NAO	National Audit Office				
NCHS	National Center for Health Statistics				
NHANES	National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey				
NHS	National Health Service				
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (formerly				
	National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence)				
NOO	National Obesity Observatory				
RLL	Relative leg length				
SA	South Asian				
SDS	Standard deviation score				
SES	Socioeconomic status				
SMM	Skeletal muscle mass				
SMM _a	Skeletal muscle mass appendicular				
SMM _a I	Skeletal muscle mass appendicular index				
STM	Soft tissue mass				
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus				
UNICEF	United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund				
WC	Waist circumference				
WE	White European				
WHO	World Health Organisation				
Wt	Weight				

Chapter 1 Introduction

The global obesity epidemic is regarded as a major public health concern worldwide due to its associated health risks with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and cardiovascular disease (CVD), as well as having psychosocial consequences (World Health Organisation (WHO), 2011). South Asians (SAs; from the Indian subcontinent) have been identified as having the highest risk factors for developing the diseases associated with obesity compared to other ethnic groups (Bhardwaj et al., 2008; Lear et al., 2009). The economic burden on society arising from what is largely a preventable disease is considered unsustainable (Yach et al., 2006). Hence, tackling the rise in obesity, particularly childhood obesity, which has been shown to track into adulthood (De Onis & Lobstein, 2010), is a major government priority, together with tackling health inequalities among minority ethnic groups (Department of Health (DH), 2008). This introductory chapter provides some background information that underpins the aims of this thesis and the research conducted, with a detailed literature review provided in Chapter 2.

For adult populations, Body Mass Index (BMI) defined as weight (Wt; kg)/height (Ht; m²), is the main classification method used for determining overweight and obesity at specific cut-offs, with waist circumference (WC) used as an additional measure. Within child and adolescent populations, due to growth and development changes, sex-specific BMI centile charts based on Z-scores or standard deviation scores (SDS) are used, with the 50th (or SDS 0.00) centile representing the median BMI for the population, and the 85th and 95th centiles used to define children that are overweight or obese respectively. In the UK, the child and adolescent reference charts are based on population data from 1990, which only included white Europeans (WEs; Cole et al., 1995). There is much research evidence that SAs compared to WEs and other ethnic groups have a much higher risk of developing T2DM and CVD at lower levels of obesity, based on the current classification system of BMI (Bhardwaj et al., 2008; Nightingale et al., 2011). The increased risk to SAs has led to much research to understand the aetiology of this increased risk. Much of this research has focussed on body composition assessment (BCA), which has identified SAs as having proportionally higher levels of fat mass (FM) and less fat-free mass

(FFM) or skeletal muscle mass (SMM) at equivalent BMI levels (Ehtisham et al., 2005), with SA adults also having greater abdominal fat accumulation, in particular visceral fat (Misra et al., 2007). These ethnic variations in body composition (BC) have been attributed to genetic dimorphism (West et al., 2013; Whincup et al., 2010), thus rising levels of obesity, particularly for SAs, is considered to have more serious health consequences, which has led to the development of simple to use and affordable BCA methods, that may be used in conjunction with BMI in wide-scale epidemiological research and in public-health practice (Pietrobelli et al., 2004), with ethnic-specific references (Haroun et al., 2010; Sluyter et al., 2010).

Bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA), in recent years has emerged as a suitable method for assessing body composition (Pietrobelli et al., 2004), which divides the body into two components: fat mass (FM) and fat-free mass (FFM), where FM (kg) + FFM (kg) = body mass (kg). In BIA a low voltage, imperceptible electric current passes through the body, which measures the body's electrical impedance, from which TBW and FFM (as TBW is the major component of FFM and assumed to be constant) is estimated, using prediction equations validated against reference methods (Kyle et al., 2004). Technological advancements in BIA have led to the development of BIA models that are considered relatively accurate, safe, costeffective and simple to use (Ward, 2012). The development of tetrapolar instruments that measure impedance in all four limbs as well as the trunk have enabled the measurement of segmental BC, which is useful when assessing the distribution of FM and FFM throughout the body, and making ethnic- and sexspecific comparisons (Pietrobelli et al., 2004). However, due to ethnic differences in the hydration of FFM, prediction equations should be ethnic-specific (Lohman, 1986; Wells et al., 2010). The Tanita (BC-418 MA, Tokyo, Japan) system is a widely available and relatively affordable tetrapolar BIA instrument, which is considered sufficiently accurate in measuring whole body and segmental FM and FFM. However, this model has only been validated using a WE population and research has shown it underestimates %FM in SAs (Sluyter et al., 2010). Thus one of the aims of this thesis was to develop a BIA prediction equation for SA children and adolescents, using the Tanita (BC-418 MA) model, validated against two reference methods.

Common reference methods used for validating BIA include Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA), Air Displacement Plethysmography (ADP), hydrodensitometry or underwater weighing (UWW), and hydrometry, which are explained in detail in the Literature Review (Chapter 2). The main focus of the validation methods reviewed in Chapter 2 is DXA and ADP, as these two methods were used in the BIA validation study (Chapter 4), although other methods are also briefly covered for the purposes of completion. Consideration is given to the benefits and limitations of these methods in terms of accuracy and precision, health and safety, cost effectiveness, and application in large epidemiological and clinical settings.

Following successful completion of the BIA validation study, a further aim of this thesis was to go towards filling the gaps in the research identified, by adding to the evidence of ethnic differences in body composition between SA children and adolescents and their WE counterparts within the UK, and to develop % FM (FM) and appendicular skeletal muscle mass (SMMa) percentile curves (Chapter 5) similar to the reference curves developed by McCarthy et al. (2006 & 2013 respectively) for WE children and adolescents. Low peripheral muscle mass is associated with an increased risk of T2DM and CVD (Bogin & Varela-Silva, 2010), which is likely due to SMM being the major route for insulin-dependent plasma glucose uptake, as well as being active in fat metabolism (McCarthy et al., 2006). The development of ethnic specific % FM and SMMa percentile curves offer the potential of identifying those children and adolescents that may be at increased risk of developing T2DM, who would otherwise be considered 'healthy' based on the current BMI centile cut-offs. The development of SA percentile curves for %FM and SMMa (using data from all four limbs), will provide important information on the differences in BC between these ethnic groups, and will enable health practitioners to make more informed decisions on further assessments that may be required and take any necessary preventative action.

As stated above, for adult populations, WC cut-offs are used as an additional measure in conjunction with BMI to determine the health risks associated with

overweight and obesity. However, in the UK the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE, 2013) does not recommend the use of WC as a routine measure for determining obesity in children and adolescents, but advises that it may be used to gain additional information for assessing long-term health risks, and also recommends that in the absence of ethnic-specific reference standards, the BMI UK90 charts should be interpreted with caution in ethnic minority groups. Gender-and ethnic-specific nationally representative WC percentile charts for children and adolescents have been developed both in the UK (McCarthy et al., 2001) and worldwide. The UK WC centile charts are based on WEs only, and there are currently no WC charts for SA children. Thus to address this gap in the research, a study was conducted (Chapter 7) to develop WC centiles for SA children and adolescents in the UK, with comparisons made to the WE centile charts developed by McCarthy et al. (2001).

In addition to BC as an assessment for health risks associated with obesity; body size and proportionality, in particular stature and relative leg length are also used as indicators of growth and for monitoring health (Bosy-Westphal et al., 2009). Tallerfor-age children have a greater propensity to be overweight or obese. Shorter leg length relative to height, often referred to as a low leg-length-to-height-ratio (LLHR), or high sitting-height-ratio (SHR), has also been identified as a risk factor for obesity and its related diseases, with evidence that taller-for-age children may have a low LLHR (Pliakis & McCarthy, 2010). In healthy populations, the environment exerts a greater influence on body proportionality than genetics (Bogin & Varela-Silva, 2010). However, there is also considerable evidence of differences in body size and proportionality between ethnic groups worldwide (Dangour et al., 2002; Eveleth and Tanner, 1976). Due to secular increases in body stature and leg length, the UK 1990 reference standards for WE children were updated in 2002 (Dangour et al). There are currently no similar standards for SA children, thus in order to make stature and relative leg length comparisons between SA and WE children, and review any possible health implications, a study was conducted (Chapter 8) to measure stature and relative leg length, determined by measuring sitting height (SH). Due to the lack of a valid field-based tool for

measuring SH, a validation study was conducted (Chapter 6) following the modification of the Leicester Height Measure.

Research has also shown within-group differences among SAs in health risks associated with obesity, which have been related to differences in BC (Whincup et al., 2010), and body size and proportionality (Kelly et al., 1997). Thus, where possible, within-group comparisons were also made in the relevant studies. The general methods used in all the studies in this thesis together with details of the common statistical methods used, are explained in Chapter 3. The final overall conclusions and summary of research conducted, together with study limitations and recommendations for future work are detailed in Chapter 9.

Chapter 2 Literature Review

2.1 Body Composition & Related Health Risks

It is established that excess body fat, often described as overweight and obese, increases the relative risk of morbidity and mortality from many chronic noncommunicable diseases; in particular type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and cardiovascular disease (CVD; McArdle et al., 2007; Dulloo et al., 2010; Nishida et al., 2010). Accumulation of excess body fat is attributed to an energy imbalance, where energy intake regularly exceeds energy expenditure (McArdle et al., 2007). However, the health risks associated with excess fat stored in adipose tissue vary according to the distribution of fat within the body, with increased health risks associated with excess fat stored in particular visceral fat deposition, often described as "android" or central obesity, as opposed to fat distributed within the hip and thigh regions, described as "gynoid" obesity (IDF, 2006; McArdle et al., 2007; McCarthy, 2006; WHO, 2000).

It is important to define healthy ranges for % fat mass (FM), i.e. the minimum and maximum levels of %FM required for the body to function normally, with levels outside of this range deemed to put the individual at risk for disease (Helba & Binkovitz, 2009; Heyward & Wagner, 2004). Thus it would be inappropriate to use 'average' values for this measure, particularly in a population that has an increasing proportion of overweight and obese individuals. According to Lohman et al. (1997), for men and women respectively the average %FM is 13% and 28%; with levels of FM >25% for men and >35% for women regarded as obese; with minimum healthy fat levels of 8% for men and 20% for women. It is more difficult to define healthy %FM ranges for children, as in general the consequences of excess fat in terms of the development of disease are not realised until adulthood. For females, a minimum of 17%FM has been purported as necessary for the initiation of menses (Frisch, 1987), and at least 22%FM for normal ovulatory function (Heyward & Wagner, 2005; Frisch & Revelle, 1970).

For children (10-16y), 'metabolic syndrome' is defined by the International Diabetes Federation (IDF; Alberti et al., 2007), as a cluster of risk factors for CVD and T2DM, including abdominal obesity with a population-specific waist circumference cut-off and at least two other clinical measures (see section 2.3.2). The IDF recommend use of the adult criteria for metabolic syndrome (IDF, 2006) for children $\geq 16y$, and for children 6 - <10y it recommends that weight (Wt) reduction be advised for those with abdominal obesity (see section 2.3.2; Zimmet et al., 2007). Metabolic syndrome leads to a 2-3 fold increase in the risk of CVD, and a 5-fold increase in the risk of developing T2DM (Alberti et al., 2005). Children under 6y were excluded from the IDF definition due to insufficient data available for that age group.

2.2 The Obesity Related Health Risks to South Asian Children and Adolescents Obesity is a chronic non-communicable and largely preventable condition, which due to its high prevalence worldwide is now regarded as a global epidemic; over the last 25 years, child and adult obesity has dramatically escalated, having more than doubled since 1980 (WHO, 2000). In 2008, the World Health Organisation (WHO, 2011) estimated 1.5bn adults (\geq 20y) globally as overweight, with over 1 in 10 adults and almost 43m children (>5y) as obese.

Rising levels of childhood overweight and obesity in the UK and worldwide are a major public health concern (Bhardwaj et al., 2008; Butland et al., 2007; Saxena et al., 2004), and tackling this rise in obesity is a major government priority, with its main focus on childhood obesity (DH, 2008). Childhood overweight and obesity is strongly linked to long-term morbidity and mortality risks such as T2DM and CVD that are independent of body mass in adulthood (Murasko, 2009; NHS Information Centre, 2010; Saxena et al., 2004; Wang, 2001).

In report from the International Association for the Study of Obesity/International Obesity Task Force (IASO/IOTF, 2010) it was estimated that worldwide, up to 200m school-aged children were either overweight or obese, out of which approximately 40-50m were classified as obese, based on body mass index (BMI) measures. Within the EU, it was estimated that approximately 60% (~260m) of adults and over 20% (~12m) of school-aged children were either overweight or obese (IASO/IOTF, 2010). The 2009 Health Survey for England (HSE; Aresu et al., 2010) classified 61.3% of adults (\geq 16y) and 28.3% of children (31% boys vs 28% girls aged 2-15y) in England as overweight or obese (based on BMI \geq 85th <95th percentile for

overweight; \geq 95th percentile for obese), of which 23% of adults and 14.4% of children were classified as obese. More recent data shows that levels of overweight or obesity are continuing to rise, with results from 2014 revealing that 61.7% of adults (\geq 16y) and 31.2% of children (2-15y) were overweight or obese (Public Health England, 2016). In the 2004 Health Survey for England (HSE) on minority ethnic groups (Sproston & Mindell, 2006), prevalence data on overweight and obesity for South Asian (SA) children and adolescents aged 2-15y by specified SA ethnicity (i.e. Indian, Pakistani, and Bangladeshi), together with data for the general population were either overweight or obese, compared to 26% and 31% (Indian); 39% and 25% (Pakistani); 34% and 33% (Bangladeshi) of boys and girls respectively. Pakistani boys were identified as having one of the highest proportions of overweight or obese children, with other ethnic groups not significantly different to the general population (Sproston & Mindell, 2006).

Compared to white Europeans (WE), SAs have been identified as a high-risk group for morbidity and early mortality from CVD and T2DM (Bhardwaj et al., 2008; Bhopal et al., 1999; Chaturvedi, 2003; Whincup et al., 2002), which is attributed to a tendency for central obesity and increased visceral and subcutaneous fat underpinned by a genetic predisposition to the 'metabolic syndrome' (Bhardwaj et al., 2008; Chaturvedi, 2003; Lear et al., 2009; Misra et al., 2007; Saxena et al., 2004; Whincup et al., 2002). In addition to the measures defined by the IDF (2007) for diagnosing metabolic syndrome, other studies have reported SAs to have raised levels of C-reactive protein, and higher levels of fasting insulin, which are strongly associated with insulin resistance and increased risk of T2DM and CVD (Bhardwaj et al., 2008; Misra et al., 2007; Whincup et al., 2010). Recent studies comparing body composition (BC) of SA and WE children and adolescents in the UK have revealed that SAs have greater body fat than their age and sex matched WE counterparts (Ehtisham et al., 2005; Nightingale et al., 2011), with greater central adiposity and reduced insulin sensitivity, which was directly related to the differences in adiposity (Ehtisham et al., 2005). However, not all studies comparing WE and SA children and adolescents have identified significant differences in adiposity between the two ethnicities based on BMI or waist circumference (WC) measures alone (Bhopal et al., 1999; Wardle et al., 2006). For example, compared to the general population, the 2004 HSE (Sproston & Mindell, 2006) found only Pakistani boys had a significantly greater proportion of overweight or obese children, with no significant differences between other SA ethnic sub-groups.

T2DM is estimated to represent around 90% of all cases of diabetes (NICE, 2012). In 2012 the annual cost to the NHS associated with diabetes was approximately £8.8 billion, which amounted to just over 8% of its total annual budget (NICE, 2012). The prevalence of T2DM had more than doubled from 1996 to 2.6 million in 2009, (Diabetes UK, 2010), was approximately 3.1million in 2010, and is projected to rise to 4.6 million by 2030 (NICE, 2012). In the UK, SAs are reported to have a six-fold greater risk of developing T2DM than white Europeans (Ehtisham et al., 2000).

T2DM was until relatively recently limited to adulthood; however, in 2000 the first cases were diagnosed in overweight and obese SA and Arabic children (Ehtisham et al., 2000). Based on minimum prevalence estimates from a survey conducted in 2000 of all UK-based paediatric diabetes centres, it was reported that SA children (<16y) had a 13.7 times greater relative risk of developing T2DM than white UK children (Drake et al., 2002; Ehtisham et al., 2004). Whilst the prevalence of T2DM during childhood is still relatively uncommon (Haines et al 2007), studies have found precursors of T2DM or symptoms of metabolic syndrome in children, such as dyslipidemia and impaired fasting glucose, with a much higher prevalence of these precursors found in SA children compared to WE children, particularly children of a Bangladeshi origin, which reflect prevalence rates of T2DM in adults (Whincup et al., 2010). These findings clearly support the premise that early intervention strategies to prevent overweight and obesity in childhood, particularly among SAs are vital for the current and future health status of the population (Misra et al., 2007; Murasko, 2009; Saxena et al., 2004; IDF, 2007). In recognition of ethnic differences in health risk and outcome, tackling health inequalities among ethnic minority groups is a government priority (DH, 2001).

Within the UK, black African-Caribbean adults have a 2-fold greater risk of developing T2DM compared with WE adults; although some of the underlying

metabolic risk factors tend to be quite different to those present within SAs, in particular the blood lipid profiles (Whincup et al., 2010). However, both populations tend to have higher levels of adiposity (Whincup et al., 2010) than white Europeans, which suggests that certain risk factors for developing T2DM can vary between ethnic groups and should be considered separately.

Studies also show heterogeneity in overweight, obesity, and associated health outcomes within SA groups as well as between genders (Ehtisham et al., 2005; Lear et al., 2009; NHS Information Centre, 2006; Shaw et al., 2007; Whincup et al., 2010) which may be associated with differences in parental body fat patterning, race/ethnicity, religion and culture, diet, physical activity behaviours and socioeconomic status, among others (Bhopal et al., 2004). Whilst diet and physical activity have been considered as strong contributory factors to body composition within ethnic sub-groups (NHS Information Centre, 2006), the differences in body composition between ethnic groups are likely to be evident from early life; as much evidence shows that even as babies SAs have higher %FM than WE babies of a similar Wt and body size, and lower levels of lean mass (LM; Lear et al., 2009; Stanfield et al., 2012; West et al., 2013), which may be related to in-utero factors (Stanfield et al., 2012; West et al., 2013; Whincup et al., 2010).

Ethnic differences in the precursors of T2DM including anthropometric and blood sampling measures were carried out in a recent school-based Child Heart and Health Study (CHASE Study) involving 4,796 apparently healthy British children aged 9-10y from 200 schools in three major UK cities (183 London, 14 Birmingham, and 3 Leicester) with a large percentage of children with a SA (n= 1,306) or black African-Caribbean origin (Whincup et al., 2010). To ensure greater independence of height (Ht) in this study, ponderal index (Wt kg/Ht m³) was used instead of BMI due to evidence of its unreliability when comparing ethnic groups (WHO, 2004) and FM was determined by two methods: sum of four skinfolds, and leg to arm BIA with DXA validated equations for determining FM in children, which was presented as a FM index (FMI; FM/Ht²).

Differences in anthropometric and FM measures between SA and WE children revealed similar height, lower Wt, mean ponderal index and WC, but a higher mean sum of skinfolds and FMI in the SA group. Additionally, all blood-sampling measures presented higher risk factors for T2DM (including higher levels of fasting glucose and insulin, C-reactive protein and triglycerides). However, adjustment for adiposity including sum of skinfolds and FMI had little effect on the blood markers related to the risk for T2DM, which suggests that FM per se is not the main contributor to the risks for T2DM in children, particularly in normal Wt/BMI SA children. Other studies in SA children have also found that adiposity does not directly correlate with insulin resistance (Whincup et al., 2002). Differences in LM were not presented in this study (Whincup et al., 2010), however, considering that the SA children were on average lighter than the WE children, yet had a higher FMI, suggests that LM was likely to be lower and may be a significant contributor to the risk factors identified in the blood-sampling measures, as has been identified in previous studies (Lear et al., 2009; Rush et al., 2009; Stanfield et al., 2012).

Differences within SA groups for all measures revealed that Bangladeshi children had a more adverse health profile than Pakistani and Indian children in terms of specific measured risk factors for T2DM (Whincup et al., 2010). This study adds to the evidence that the increased risk of T2DM within SAs is present in childhood and there are within group differences, as seen in this study with Bangladeshi children at an even greater risk, which is consistent with reports of the very high prevalence of T2DM and CVD among Bangladeshi adults (Bhopal et al., 1999; Erens et al; 2001; Sproston & Mindell, 2006); although as stated previously, this may be related to ethnic sub-group differences in diet and physical activity. Evidence of such differences in diet and physical activity were reported in the HSE 2004 (Sproston & Mindell, 2006), with Bangladeshi adults consuming diets with the highest fat and lowest fibre content, together with the lowest levels of physical activity compared to Indian and Pakistani sub-groups. Interestingly, Bangladeshi adults had the lowest prevalence of obesity based on BMI >30kg/m², which illustrates the inadequacy of BMI as a proxy measure for obesity. Furthermore, of the three SA ethnic sub-groups, Indians had the lowest prevalence of T2DM and CVD, with the highest levels of physical activity, and lowest levels of dietary fat and low fibre consumption, which

highlights the importance of diet and physical activity in reducing the prevalence of T2DM and CVD in this high-risk population.

The findings reported above lend support to the argument that Wt for Ht indices such as BMI do not accurately reflect body composition within the SA paediatric population, and are not reliable indicators of the risk of developing T2DM, particularly within normal BMI ranges. In addition, adjustment for socioeconomic status in the study conducted by Whincup et al. (2010) had little effect on ethnic differences for the measured outcome variables, which has been observed in other studies (Lear et al., 2009).

A study conducted by Lear et al. (2009) on third generation Canadian male and female immigrants of SA, Aboriginal, Chinese, and European origin, with approximately 100 participants from each sex and ethnic group (mean age 44-50.7y), revealed that compared to the other three ethnic groups, SAs had significantly less LM at any given fat mass (FM) value, with a higher FM to LM (FM: LM) ratio after adjustment for possible confounding variables (age, height, frame size, sociodemographic and lifestyle factors), FM: LM for SA men was higher than that for Chinese and European men, and for SA women remained higher than all three ethnic groups. Both SA men and women had the highest insulin and HOMA levels even after adjustment for all variables including total body FM, although in certain cases differences between SAs and Aboriginals were not significant after adjustments. However, a key finding of this study was that no differences in insulin or HOMA levels were found when adjusted for F: LM (Lear et al., 2009). Similarities in outcome between SA and Aboriginals, was attributed to a common ancestry between the two ethnic groups. This study provides evidence that LM may play a significant role in determining the level of risk associated with T2DM, given that other studies have also shown that even after adjustment for FM and fat distribution, SAs have a greater propensity for insulin resistance (Chandalia et al., 1999).

In another adult multi-ethnic BC study using DXA, compared to Polynesians and Europeans, Asian Indians at lower BMI values (24 and 26 kg/m² for males and females respectively) had the same %FM as the other ethnic groups with BMI values

≥30 (Rush et al., 2009). Overall Asian Indians had greater total and abdominal fat, with less LM and bone mineral than the other ethnic groups. Furthermore, in Asian Indians abdominal fat increased with increasing age without a concomitant increase in total %FM, whereas in the other ethnic groups both abdominal and total %FM increased with increasing age.

Given that LM, predominantly skeletal muscle, is a major site for insulin mediated glucose uptake (McArdle et al., 2007; Miller et al., 1984), and adipose tissue exhibits insulin resistance due to its reduced density of insulin receptors (McArdle et al., 2007), it is unremarkable that the SA phenotype of a ratio of high FM to LM lends this ethnic group to a greater propensity to develop T2DM than other ethnic groups, in particular white Europeans. Dulloo et al. (2010) provide a strong argument for the use of a fat and fat free mass index (FMI and FFMI respectively), which would provide a more useful comparison of body composition between individuals of different heights than BMI or %FM. Unlike BMI, such measures would be less likely to classify highly muscular individuals as overweight or obese, and also more importantly would also help to identify individuals and populations that may be at risk of T2DM due to a high FMI or low FFMI that fall within the normal BMI range.

Use of the FFMI and FMI has been considered in childhood, with proposed gender and age-adjusted charts that take account of differences in growth and development during childhood and between sexes (Wells, 2000). Use of this method whilst promising, requires the use of a valid, widely available and relatively affordable, field-based body composition assessment tool. In recent years this method of assessment is being increasingly evaluated (Demerath et al., 2006; Eissa et al., 2009; Nakao & Komiya, 2003).

2.3 Body Mass Index and Waist Circumference (BMI and WC)

The body mass index (BMI) is a proxy measure for determining whether an individual is underweight, normal weight, overweight, or obese, and is the most commonly adopted method (NICE, 2006; NHS Information Centre, 2011), internationally defined by the World Health Organisation (WHO, 2000) as a measure of Wt relative to Ht (kg/m²). This classification method, whilst crude, as it does not measure adiposity directly, or the distribution of adiposity throughout the body, and

cannot differentiate between individuals of high adiposity versus high muscle mass, is widely used as it is non-invasive, involving simple and common measurements, and is considered robust in identifying obese individuals, particularly at a population level (NHS, 2011; WHO, 2000). BMI has been described as having 'high specificity' for overweight and obesity (i.e. very few individuals that are defined as overweight or obese by BMI, would be neither overweight nor obese according to more direct measures of adiposity), but 'low sensitivity' (i.e. a number of individuals that are over-fat according to more direct measures of adiposity are not identified by BMI (Pliakas & McCarthy, 2010). This latter point is of particular concern to the SA population, as research has consistently reported anthropometric differences in SA children including babies (Haroun et al., 2009; Misra et al., 2003; Rush et al., 2004; Whincup et al., 2007), and adults (Dulloo et al., 2010; Misra et al., 2007), with higher levels of percentage body fat, in particular greater central adiposity including visceral and truncal fat (Dulloo et al., 2010; Saxena et al., 2004; Viner et al., 2010) and also less LM (Lear et al., 2009) at equivalent BMIs, compared to white Europeans.

The risk of morbidity and mortality increases with increasing percentage FM and decreasing FFM relative to height (FFMI; kg/m²), as well as the distribution of fat, with central adiposity or a raised WC, associated with an increased risk for metabolic syndrome; therefore, such measures are often recommended in addition to BMI, in clinical and health settings (Bosy-Westphal et al., 2009; Cole et al., 2000; IDF, 2006; McCarthy et al., 2003; Sun et al., 2003; WHO, 2004). Whilst WC cannot differentiate between subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue, which would require far more advanced lab-based procedures such as CT or MRI scanning (Sniderman et al., 2007), it is considered a very simple and accurate marker for central obesity, being both a highly specific and sensitive (McCarthy, 2006).

2.3.1 Adult Cut-off Points – BMI and WC

For adults in general the BMI classifications are defined as: 18.5-24.9 for healthy Wt; 25–29.9 for overweight; 30-34.9 for obesity I; 35-39.9 as obesity II; and \geq 40 as obesity III (NICE, 2006; WHO, 2000), with the overweight and obese cut-off values associated in particular with morbidity and mortality risk from type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular diseases (Dulloo et al., 2010; Whitlock et al., 2009; WHO, 2000, &

2004). The BMI cut-off points defining overweight and obesity have been validated by data based mainly on white populations from Europe and the USA (WHO, 1995). However, it is now well recognized that these cut-off points are not appropriate for all ethnic groups, particularly SAs, who as stated above exhibit risks for obesity related diseases below the WHO BMI cut-offs (Gray et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2011; Luke, 2009; Misra et al., 2009). To address this issue, in 2002, a WHO Expert Committee convened to review the scientific evidence and make appropriate recommendations (WHO, 2004).

Whilst the Expert Committee (WHO, 2004) concluded that Asians in general had a higher body fat percentage, and substantially higher risk factors for obesity related diseases even below the BMI cut-off of ≥ 25 kg/m², no single overweight or obese cut-off could be recommended, as the risks varied between Asian groups, which would further make comparisons between population groups difficult. The Committee thus recommended that the international BMI cut-off points should continue to be used, alongside additional trigger BMI cut-points for public health action for Asian populations, emphasising that BMI should be regarded as a continuum, with cut-offs as a guide for public health and clinical use. The trigger points for Asians were: 18.5 to <23kg/m² increasing but acceptable risk; 23 to <27.5kg/m² increased risk; and ≥ 27 kg/m² as high risk. The Committee also recommended that WC measures with appropriate cut-off points be used in addition to BMI, in populations with a propensity to central obesity and related risks of metabolic syndrome.

In 2008, WHO convened an expert consultation on Waist Circumference and Waist-Hip Ratio, where recommendations for BMI cut-offs alongside WC cut-offs were made (WHO, 2011; see Table 2.1). The WC cut-offs of >102cm for men and >88cm for women are based on data mainly from WE populations, and whilst ethnic specific cut-offs were considered by the Expert Committee, due to a lack of data in other population groups, the Committee decided against this (WHO, 2011).

Table 2.1: WHO recommendations for BMI & waist circumference cut-offs (WHO, 2011)

	Body mass index	Body mass index Obesity class	Disease risk (relative to normal weight and waist circumference)	
			Men < 102 cm Women < 88 cm	Men >102 cm Women >88 cm
Underweight	<18.5			
Normal	18.5-24.9			
Overweight	25.0-29.9		Increased	High
Obesity	30.0-34.9	1	High	Very high
	35.0-39.9	I	Very high	Very high
Extreme obesity	>40.0	III	Extremely high	Extremely high
Source: N	ILBI Obesity Education Initi	ative (2000)	•	

 Table 5.1
 Combined recommendations of body mass index and waist circumference cut-off points made for overweight or obesity, and association with disease risk

WHO = World Health Organisation; BMI = body mass index

In 2009, the Indian Health Ministry formally adopted new obesity guidelines, following release of a 'Consensus Statement' by the Association of Physicians in India (Misra et al., 2009) with BMI and waist circumference cut-offs based on morbidity risks associated with obesity, for the Indian population. The BMI cut-offs were: 18-22.9 for normal weight; 23-24.9 for overweight; and ≥25 for obese. Two waist circumference cut-offs were proposed at 'Action level 1': >78cm and > 72cm for men and women respectively, where any individual above these cut-offs should be advised to avoid gaining weight and maintain physical activity, although it was stated that further research was required on these cut-offs; and 'Action level 2': >90cm for men and >80cm for women should be advised to seek medical help for investigating and managing morbidity risk associated with obesity.

In the UK, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE, 2006, 2013) published its latest BMI guidance on obesity, which is as stated above, however, NICE recognized that these cut-off points may be less accurate for certain population groups such as Asians, and recommended use of 'caution and clinical judgment' by healthcare professionals. NICE (2006, 2013), also recommended use of waist circumference alongside BMI, when assessing health risks associated with overweight and obesity (Table 2.2).

BMI classification	Waist circumference				
	Low	High	Very high		
Overweight	No increased risk	Increased risk	High risk		
Obesity I	Increased risk	High risk	Very high risk		
For men, waist circumference of less than 94 cm is low, 94– 102 cm is high and more than102 cm is very high					
For women, waist circumference of less than 80 cm is low, 80– 88 cm is high and more than 88 cm is very high					

Table 2.2: NICE BMI & waist circumference cut-offs

Obesity: the prevention, identification, assessment and management of overweight and obesity in adults and children. Source: Copied from National Institute of Health Care Excellence (NICE;2006). BMI = body mass index

In 2006, the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) issued its guidelines for WC cut-offs based on risks associated with central obesity and the metabolic syndrome (Table 2.3). In these guidelines, the WC cut-offs for SAs were equivalent to those adopted by India at 'Action level' 2 (Misra et al., 2009), and whilst the IDF and NICE (2006) WC cut-offs for women were identical regardless of ethnicity, the WC cut-offs for men differed, with NICE (2006) stating that a WC <94cm represented a low risk, whilst the IDF (2006) and Indian (Misra et al., 2009) guidelines defined SA men with a WC of \geq 90cm as having central obesity. The WHO (2011), on the other hand, advised that a WC of <102cm and <88cm in men and women respectively regardless of ethnicity, should only be deemed an increased, high, very, or extremely high risk, in combination with the respective BMI categories for overweight to extreme obesity. Whilst the different cut-offs for BMI and WC are somewhat confusing, it would seem prudent for health practitioners in the UK, to err on the side of caution, and assess obesity-related health risks for SAs at the lower BMI and WC cut-offs.

Table 2.3: IDF Waist Circumference Cut-offs

Table 2: Ethnic specific values for waist circumference				
Country/Ethnic group	Waist circumference			
Europids*	Male	≥ 94 cm		
In the USA, the ATP III values (102 cm male; 88 cm female) are likely to continue to be used for clinical purposes	Female	≥ 80 cm		
South Asians	Male	≥ 90 cm		
Based on a Chinese, Malay and Asian-Indian population	Female	≥ 80 cm		
Chinasa	Male	≥ 90 cm		
Chinese	Female	≥ 80 cm		
I	Male	≥ 90 cm		
Japanese**	Female	≥ 80 cm		
Ethnic South and Central Americans	Use South Asian recommendations until more specific data are available			
Sub Sabaran Africans	Use European data until more specific data			
	are available			
Eastern Mediterranean and	Use European data until more specific data			
Middle East (Arab) populations	are available			

The International Diabetes Federation (IDF) consensus worldwide definition of the metabolic syndrome. Source copied from: IDF (2006)

2.3.2 Child and Adolescent Cut offs – BMI and WC

Among children and adolescents, the classification of overweight and obesity and the associated risks of morbidity with specific BMI values are more complex due to large variations in growth patterns during childhood as well as between genders (Cole et al., 1995; NHS Information Centre, 2011). This has led to the development, by a number of countries, of sex-specific BMI percentile curves, with BMI cut-offs for overweight and obesity based on nationally representative data (Cole et al., 1995; WHO, 2000). However, many of these have been criticised due to the data used not being sufficiently contemporary and thus not representative of the current population, or due to the use of a restricted age range (WHO, 2000). The shape of the BMI centile curves indicates that BMI rises rapidly during the first year of life, declines until the age of approximately 5 years, and then continues to rise into adulthood (Cole et al., 1995; Pliakas & McCarthy, 2010). This rise in BMI from age 5 years has been termed the 'adiposity rebound' (Rolland-Cachera et al., 1984), which is considered to be the age when adiposity begins to increase after reaching its lowest point in infancy. The risk of adiposity into adulthood has been associated with the age at which adiposity rebound occurs, and the earlier this occurs the greater the risk (Cole et al., 1995). However, this term is now considered a misnomer as FFM also increases around this time and the term 'BMI rebound' should be used (McCarthy, 2014).

In the UK, the British 1990 (UK90) BMI centile curves are used to define overweight and obesity in children from birth to 23 years, which is based on nationally representative data collected between 1978 and 1990 (Cole et al., 1995). The UK charts have nine centile lines, ranging from 0.4 and 99.6, with the 50th centile representing the median BMI for the sex-specific population at a specified age. The data is smoothed using the LMS method, an advanced statistical tool that accounts for skewness and enables individual standard deviation scores (SDS; also referred to as centile or Z scores) to be determined, which are used to assess the position of the child on the centile chart at the specified age (Cole & Green, 1992; Gatineau & Mathrani, 2011). The Health Survey for England (HSE) 2009 (Aresu et al., 2010), as in previous surveys used the 85th and 95th percentiles as the cut-off points for overweight and obesity respectively. Similarly, the US 2000 CDC (Centers for Disease Control) nationally recommended charts, developed by the US National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS; Kuczmarski et al., 2002), also use the 85th and 95th percentile cut-offs for overweight and obesity respectively for children aged 2-18y.

Use of the 85th and 95th percentile cut-offs has been criticised as arbitrary (Cole et al., 2000), however, these cut-off points continue to be used and are recommended by an Expert Committee comprised of 15 US national health organisations endorsed by a collaboration of the American Medical Association, the Health Resources and Services Administration and the US CDC (Barlow, 2007). For older adolescents, the Expert Committee recommends use of either the adult obesity cut-off of BMI \geq 30 or BMI at the 95th percentile; whichever is lower (Barlow, 2007). The HSE cut-off for childhood BMI measures is 15y, with children \geq 16y categorized as adults, which would result in potentially fewer adolescents reported as obese than if the

childhood cut-offs were used, as the 95th percentile in the UK90 charts (Cole et al., 1995) used by the HSE is closer to a value of BMI 28. However, as stated above, following NICE (2006) guidelines, the HSE also employs the use of WC as an additional measure of obesity for adults \geq 16y (Aresu et al., 2010), which may reduce the potential of misclassifying adolescents at the upper limits of the percentile charts (i.e. 85th and 95th percentiles), with BMIs below the adult cut-offs. In clinical settings, when measuring individual children, the 91st and 98th centiles are the recommended cut-offs for overweight and obesity, (Gatineau & Mathrani, 2011) and appear as standard centiles on UK BMI charts.

Internationally two BMI growth reference standards for children are available, the WHO reference curves (de Onis et al., 2007), and centile curves developed by the International Obesity Task Force (IOTF) Childhood Obesity Working group (Cole et al., 2000). The WHO growth reference standards for children and adolescents aged 5-19y (de Onis et al., 2007), were introduced following publication of new standards for infants and children from birth to 5y (WHO, 2006).

These references for 5-19y, were designed to replace the references previously recommended by WHO developed by the NCHS/WHO (de Onis & Habicht, 1996), to take account of the limitations that had been cited in the previous reference charts such as providing assessment measures from age 5y as opposed to 9y, and using advanced statistical methods to produce smooth centile curves, which are also aligned with adult cut-offs for overweight and obesity (Barlow, 2007). In these charts >1SD from the BMI-for-age score represents overweight and >2SD represents obesity (de Onis et al., 2007). Similar statistical methods are also employed in the UK90 charts (Cole et al., 1995; as described above), the CDC 2000 charts (Kuczmarski et al., 2002), and the IOTF charts (Cole et al., 2000).

The latest WHO reference curves are based on the original 1977 NCHS/WHO sample, which is nationally representative of the US population (de Onis et al., 2007), and is the same data set used to construct the CDC 2000 charts (Kuczmarski et al., 2002), except that the WHO dataset excludes the heaviest children, resulting in the BMI levels of the upper percentiles being substantially lower than the CDC

2000 levels, particularly when comparing adolescent BMI levels (Himes, 2009). The IOTF Childhood Obesity Working group (Cole et al., 2000) raised the question of the appropriateness of the WHO recommending the use of the previous 1977 NCHS/WHO charts for international use based on a US reference population. During the development of the latest WHO growth standards (de Onis et al., 2007), an attempt was made to address this matter, however, due to the heterogeneity of methods used for data collection across countries, the WHO reverted back to using the original data set (de Onis et al., 2007). The IOTF charts (Cole et al., 2000) were developed by averaging BMI data across six countries (Brazil, Great Britain, Hong Kong, the Netherlands, and the US). The cut-off points for overweight and obesity for children and adolescents from 2 to 18y were extrapolated back from 18y at adult overweight and obese cut-off points (25kg/m² and 30kg/m² respectively), and presented in half-year intervals.

With the availability of several different reference charts for determining overweight and obesity for children and adolescents will no doubt cause confusion for health practitioners and researchers when deciding which charts to use, particularly if overweight and obesity outcome varies depending on the charts selected. The NHS National Obesity Observatory (NOO; Gatineau & Mathrani, 2011) guidance, advises that data for overweight and obesity prevalence should only be compared when the same thresholds have been used. Whilst a standardized chart may be useful when making cross-cultural comparisons on obesity and overweight prevalence, it may not be ideal for all populations due to differences in growth patterns and related health risks (Himes, 2009), in particular for certain ethnic groups such as SAs, where as stated previously, there is much evidence of increased health risks for T2DM and CVD at lower BMI and percentage body fat levels (Saxena et al., 2004; Viner et al., 2009). In a recent large UK based study in which adiposity, measured using sum of 4-skinfolds and BIA (Bodystat 1500, Bodystat Ltd, UK) of children aged 9-10y of WE (n= 1345) and SA (n=1523) origin was compared, SA children had higher % body fat and sum of all skinfolds (Nightingale et al., 2011). Furthermore, this study also revealed that SA children had a lower BMI at any given FM value. Similarly, a study conducted in the UK comparing the body composition of SA (n=32 males and 33 females) and WE (n= 31 males and 33 females)

adolescents aged 14-17y, based on skinfold, DXA, and WC measures, revealed that across the range of BMI SDS values, SA adolescents had significantly higher levels of body fat, in particular central adiposity, and significantly lower % LM independent of BMI SDS (Ehtisham et al., 2005). These studies add to the growing body of evidence that BMI is likely to underestimate body fat for this population group, and clearly cannot differentiate between the proportion of lean and fat mass, which is an important measure when determining the health risks associated with body composition.

None of the percentile charts currently in use including the IOTF approved charts (Cole et al., 2000), and the UK90 charts (Cole et al., 1995) are specific to the SA population, and do not account for the increased health risks in this population (Cole et al., 2000; Troiano & Flegal, 1999; Viner et al., 2010). Ethnic specific cut-offs for children and adolescents have been considered, however, an expert group concluded that whilst SA children and adolescents have higher % body fat at a given BMI than white Europeans, this is more apparent in the normal BMI ranges, and thus the current IOTF cut-offs should remain consistent for all populations (Viner et al., 2010). Maintaining this status quo, based on the lower SA adult BMI cut-offs (see section 2.2.1) would lead not only to a proportion of SA adolescents on turning 18y being classified from normal to obese overnight, but children and adolescents with high % body fat levels within the normal BMI range would be classified as 'healthy', whilst potentially being at risk of metabolic syndrome or worse still actually presenting with metabolic syndrome that would likely remain undiagnosed until adulthood, considering that T2DM can be asymptomatic for up to many years (Ehtisham et al., 2000). This would lead potentially to a situation of long-term treatment as opposed to prevention through early detection; which is evident by the much higher prevalence of T2DM in the SA population compared to the white European population (Drake et al., 2002; Ehtisham et al., 2000; Whincup et al., 2010). The expert Group recommended further research into the differences in body composition between SA and white European children to evaluate the potential risks associated with these differences (Viner et al., 2010).
Recent NICE (2013) guidance, has advised in the absence of ethnic-specific growth reference charts, the use of caution when interpreting BMI Z scores based on the UK90 charts for Asian and other minority ethnic groups, in recognition of the recommendations to lower the adult BMI cut-offs for overweight and obesity, within the SA population (see section 2.1.1). However, NICE (2014) does not currently recommend WC as a routine measure for determining obesity in children, but does advise that it may be used for gaining additional information in relation to long-term health risks. In contrast, an IDF Consensus Group (Zimmet et al., 2007), considered WC to be an independent predictor of the metabolic syndrome, and recommended that WC percentile charts be used as an important measure in children and adolescents.

The IDF (Zimmet et al., 2007) has defined use of $\geq 90^{\text{th}}$ percentile WC cut-off (or adult cut-off if lower) for determining central obesity in children aged 6-<10y, and for diagnosing metabolic syndrome in children and adolescence aged 10 - <16y in addition to two other clinical measures such as raised levels of plasma triglycerides ($\geq 1.7 \text{mmol/L}$) and glucose ($\geq 5.6 \text{mmol/L}$); advising that metabolic syndrome should not be diagnosed in children younger than 10y, although, further investigation was recommended if there was a family history of obesity related diseases such as T2DM and CVD. The 90th percentile cut-off was based on research evidence, which revealed that children at or above this centile were likely to have several risk factors for metabolic syndrome (Zimmet et al., 2007).

The IDF (Zimmet et al., 2007) in its consensus definition of metabolic syndrome (see section 2.1), does not specify actual WC values for children at \geq 90th percentile cutoff, but provides as an indication only, one combined ethnicity, and three ethnic-(African-American, European-American, and Mexican-American) and sex-specific WC percentile charts from a nationally representative sample of US children and adolescents (Fernandez et al., 2004). The IDF also recommends further research to develop ethnic- and sex-specific WC ranges. Ethnic-specific WC percentiles are recommended due to evidence of variations in growth as well as the distribution of body fat during early infancy, childhood and adolescence between ethnic groups (Ehtisham et al., 2005; McCarthy, 2006). In addition to the WC percentile charts produced by Fernandez et al. (2004) for US child and adolescent populations, there are several child and adolescent percentile charts available worldwide (Moreno et al., 1999; Nawarycz et al., 2010; Poh et al., 2011; Zanolli & Morgese, 1996), which are representative of the national populations. In 2001, McCarthy et al. published the first WC percentile charts for British children, based on a representative sample (3,585 boys; 4,770 girls) of the child and adolescent population aged 5-16.9y in 1988, which were comprised of largely WE ethnicity.

As stated in section 2.2 above studies have reported variations between the prevalence of adiposity based on BMI and WC measures, with some studies reporting significant differences between SA and WE children and adolescents (Ehtisham et al., 2005), with others reporting no significant differences (Bhatanagar et al., 1995; Wardle et al., 2006). The Ten Towns Heart Health study found SA children aged 8-11y had significantly greater risk factors for T2DM than WE children, independent of adiposity, based on anthropometric measures such as WC and BMI, with higher levels of fasting insulin and triglyceride, and lower levels of HDL cholesterol (Whincup et al., 2002). This increased risk may be attributed to lower (skeletal muscle mass) SMM within the SA population, as has been identified in previous studies (Lear et al., 2009). Clearly, lower WC and BMI cut-offs recommended for SA adults need to be mirrored in the SA child and adolescent population. In a five-year longitudinal study tracking adiposity (measured by BMI and WC) in Asian (n= 175 girls and 253 boys) and WE (n= 1010 girls and 1597 boys) children from age 11y to 16y, the researchers found that adiposity tracked strongly over time, with children overweight or obese at age 11y likely to remain so at age 16y (Wardle et al., 2006). The researchers concluded that obesity that persists into adulthood is likely to be established during pre-adolescent years. This suggests that for a high-risk group such as SAs, adiposity should be tracked at a much younger age for targeting effective preventative measures.

2.4 Body Composition and the 2,3, and 4 Compartment Models

This section will provide background information on body composition (BC), and how the body is compartmentalised for indirect BC assessment (BCA) into two, three, and four compartment models.

2.4.1 Background

The assessment of individual tissue components would require cadaver analysis, for the direct chemical analysis of the fat and fat-free constituents (Ellis, 2001; McArdle et al., 2007). Other in-vivo methods include magnetic resonance imaging (Goodpaster, 2002) and tissue biopsies, of which the latter would be of limited use in assessment of whole-body composition (Ellis, 2001; McArdle et al., 2007), and apart from the ethical issues and likely difficulties in recruiting willing participants, would be unsuitable in large epidemiological studies. However, direct analysis has helped advance the knowledge of human body composition, such that researchers consider the composition of FM and FFM (i.e. water, protein, and mineral) to be relatively constant, although the ratio of the components of FFM is considered population specific (Ellis, 2000; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Lohman, 1989; Wells & Fewtrell, 2006). Based on these assumptions researchers have developed mathematical equations to predict body composition from indirect assessment methods (Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Wells et al., 2010).

There is a difference between FFM and LM, as LM includes non-sex-specific essential fat, which is equivalent to approximately 2-3% in males and 5-8% in females (Behnke, 1959 in Lohman, 1992); whereas, FFM excludes all fat including essential fat and is only measurable by direct chemical analysis using extraction methodology (Behnke, 1963; Keys & Brozek, 1953 in Scafoglieri et al., 2011; Lohman, 1992; McArdle et al., 2007; Scafoglieri et al., 2011). Often in research, the terms FFM and LM are used interchangeably, although there is a clear distinction, which leads to confusion, particularly when making comparisons between methods (Heyward & Stolarczyk, 1996; Wang et al., 1992). For clarity therefore, as all the methods described here are based on in-vivo studies, FFM will be considered synonymous with LM.

2.4.2 Body Composition Variations

Whilst the physical properties of fat are relatively constant throughout the lifespan with 0% water and a density of 0.9007g/ml; Formon et al., 1982; Wells et al., 2010), FFM is more variable. At birth the water content of FFM is approximately 80-83%, declining to around 74% by age 16y and to approximately 73% by adulthood (Ellis, 2000; Lohman, 1989; Schoeller, 2005; Wells et al., 2010), which is relatively constant across several adult mammalian species (Wang et al., 1999). Individual variability of ~2% has been reported (Formon et al., 1982; Lohman et al., 2000; Siri, 1961), which could lead to significant errors (\sim 3%) when estimating %FM. In contrast to a decline in TBW with age, bone mineral and protein progressively increases from birth to adulthood, leading to an increase in the density of FFM, from approximately 1.069g/ml at birth, rising to approximately 1.1g/ml in adulthood (Baumgartner, 2005; Formon et al., 1982; Lohman, 1989; Roemmich et al., 1997; Wells et al., 1999). In addition to these age-related variations in FFM density, the density of FFM is also considered population specific, due to proportional variations of its individual components by gender, ethnicity, physical activity history, and level of fitness (Baumgartner et al., 1991; Ellis, 2000; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Lohman, 1989; Wang et al., 2005; Wells et al., 2010).

To account for the variations in the hydration of FFM during the paediatric years, published reference data for the composition of FFM is commonly used (Wells et al., 2010). In 1982, Formon et al. published data for the 'reference child' from birth to age 10y. In 1989, Lohman combining the data from Formon et al. (1982) published more up to date gender and age-specific reference data for the composition of FFM from age 1-16y, including the %hydration, %BMC, and density (g/ml), together with constants derived from the changing density of FFM and the assumed constant density of FM. These constant densities could be substituted into the Siri (1961) equation to determine %fat (previously described in section 2.4.3a).

More recently, Wells et al. (2010) published paediatric sex-specific reference data for the %hydration and density (kg/L) of FFM from a large sample (n= 261 males & 272 females) of mainly WE (>90%) healthy children and adolescents aged 4-23y based on a 4-C model (see section 2.4.3c), as some of the reference data for children

<10y published by Lohman (1989), was based on the extrapolated measurements from infancy reported by Formon et al. (1982). The new reference data (Wells et al., 2010) was compared to the previously published reference data (Lohman, 1989), which indicated that due to differences in the hydration and densities of FFM, % fat was being underestimated, with a mean bias (Lohman – 4-C value) of -2.1% fat (-3.3% for females & -1.1% for males; P<0.001). According to the more recent reference data (Wells et al., 2010), between the ages of 4-23y the average percentage water content of FFM progressively declines from 76.6% (\pm 2.4%) to 73.6% (\pm 1.5%) in males, and from 77.3% (\pm 2.0%) to 73.7% (\pm 1.0%) in females, together with a progressive increase in the total FFM density from ~1.082 to 1.1g/ml.

The distribution of FM and FFM is also known to vary with age, pubertal status, between genders, (Baumgartner, 2005; Helba & Binkovitz, 2009; Heyward & Wagner, 2004), as well as between ethnic groups (Dulloo et al., 2010; Ehtisham et al., 2005; Deurenberg et al., 2002; Saxena et al., 2004), physical activity history, and certain disease states (Lohman, 1989). In normal healthy individuals, average %FM ranges from 10-15% at birth, increases to approximately 30% by age 6 months, and gradually declines through early childhood (Baumgartner, 2005). In pre-school aged children, girls have on average 3.8 to 5.5% more body fat than boys (Helba & Binkovitz, 2009). 'Adiposity rebound' or an increase in %FM occurs on average between the ages of 5-8y (Baumgartner, 2005).

The most marked gender differences in both the distribution and % of total FM and FFM are observed during adolescence, with females accruing more gluteal-femoral fat, and males accruing more truncal fat, often described as the 'gynoid' and 'android' phenotype respectively (Baumgartner et al., 2005; Sweeting, 2007). Among males, during adolescence, %FM declines from approximately 17% to 10-13% on average, as FFM rapidly increases (Guo et al., 1997; van der Sluis et al., 2002). Among females, %FM on average steadily increases from 20% to 26% between the ages of 9y through to early adulthood (Guo et al., 1997; van der Sluis et al., 2002).

2.4.3 Body Composition Models

Compartmentalisation of the body's components was first described in 1921 by Czech anthropologist J. Matiega; in this model the human body consisted of: the weight of the skeleton, skeletal muscle, skin plus subcutaneous tissue, and a remainder; the sum of which was equal to body mass. Since this time, due to health risks associated with excess body fat and the difficulty of directly measuring body fat, indirect measurement methods have evolved, which divide the body into 2-4 compartments (Ehtisham et al., 2005; Ellis, 2000; Ellis, 2001; Roche et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2005). Due to the lack of a classification system at the organisational level, Wang et al., (1992) developed a five-level model (Figure 2.1), providing a structural basis for body composition research (Ellis, 2000; Lee & Gallagher, 2008): atomic (I); molecular (II); cellular (III); tissue (IV); and whole body (V), where the total number of components within each level equate to body mass. This section will provide a brief summary of the 2-, 3-, and 4-compartment models commonly used in body composition assessment.



Multicompartment Models

Figure 2.1 Basic two-compartment model and five-level multicompartment model of body composition. ECS, extracellular solids; ECF, extracellular fluid Source copied from: Ellis 2000 (p.652).

2.4.3.1 2-Compartment Models

The classic 2-compartment (2-C) model measuring body mass (BM) or mass and body volume (BV), was pioneered by Bhenke et al. in 1942, and was based on Archimedes' principle that body density (Db) similar to that of an object or substance is a function of the mass and densities of its component parts relative to its volume (Going, 2005), which is defined as its mass per unit volume (i.e. Db = M/V). In this model body BM is divided into FM, and FFM (Ellis, 2000; Ellis, 2001; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Wells & Fewtrell, 2006), and body volume (BV) is determined by hydrostatic densitometry or underwater weighing (UWW) and more recently by ADP (see section 2.5.3). With assumed constant densities for both FM (0.9g/ml) and FFM (1.1g/ml), led to the development of the reference body, with changes in Db mainly attributed to adiposity (Behnke et al., 1953).

Siri (1956), and Brozek et al (1963) developed prediction equations to determine %FM from Db, which were based on an adult reference body with an assumed Db and %FM, with any difference in the reference Db assumed to be due to %FM (Heyward & Wagner, 2004). This method continues to be used by researchers today, with both equations yielding almost identical results for %FM (Heyward & Wagner, 2004). These equations are presented below, with detailed explanations provided elsewhere of how the densities and proportions of FM and the respective components of FFM are used to derive the constants used in these equations (Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Wang et al., 2005):

%FM = (4.95/Db - 4.50) x 100 (Siri, 1956 equation) %FM = (4.57/Db - 4.142) x 100 (Brozek et al., 1963 equation)

As explained in section 2.4.2 above, whilst the density of FM is relatively constant, the density of FFM varies with age (particularly during childhood and adolescence), gender, and ethnicity, among other factors, and thus scientists have proposed modifications to these equations based on population-specific conversion formulas, developed from multi-component methods (Going, 2005; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Lohman, 1989; Wells et al., 2010). Although in the summary of equations provided by Heyward & Wagner (2004), no conversion equation was available specifically for

SA children and adolescents. These conversion equations are considered to provide reasonable estimates of %FM when compared with 4-C model equations (prediction error = 1.9 - 3.4 %FM) at the population level (Heyward & Wagner, 2004). However, greater individual variation has been observed, with 95% limits of agreement (mean ±2SD) ranging from -7.5% to 5% (Roemmich et al., 1997). Other 2-C methods were also emerging at this time, which involved whole body potassium counting (Forbes et al., 1961) and radioactively labelled water (Pace & Rathbun, 1945), which also assumed a constant density for FFM (Ellis, 2000).

Whilst the Siri equation requires a measure of body density, %FM and FFM can also be determined directly from hydrometry (see sections 2.4.3b & 2.6) using the 2-C model formulas (Pace & Rathbun, 1945), based on the age- and gender-specific constant values for TBW as follows:

FFM (kg) = TBW/C %FM = {[BM - (TBW/C)]/BM} x 100

where BM = body mass; TBW = total body water; and C is the age- and genderspecific constant value for TBW = 73.2% for adults.

2.4.3.2 3-Compartment Models

To account for population variability in the hydration of FFM (see section 2.4.2), Siri (1961) developed a 3-C model equation sub-dividing FFM into water and solid (i.e. protein and mineral) fractions, and thus compartmentalising the body into fat, water, and fat-free dry mass (Ellis, 2000; Going, 2005; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Wells et al., 1999; Wells & Fewtrell, 2006):

%FM = (2.118/Db – 0.78TBW – 1.354) 100 where Db = body density; and TBW = total body water

This model assumes a constant density for the protein and mineral fractions, and in addition to measuring BM, and BV to determine Db using densitometry; total body water (TBW) is also measured by hydrometry, usually by the isotope (²H₂O deuterium) dilution method (Ellis, 2000; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Schoeller, 2005; Wells & Fewtrell, 2006; see section 2.6). Lohman (1986), also developed a 3-C model

using DXA (see section 2.5.2), which divided the body into fat, mineral, and water + protein, to account for variability in the mineral content of FFM. Comparisons between the 4-C model, and the 3-C water and 3-C mineral model revealed much greater errors in the mineral model, which was not recommended for use in children and adolescent populations (Roemmich et al., 1997).

2.4.3.3 4-Compartment Models

The 4-C model further sub-divides body mass into water, bone mineral, fat, and residual mass (including protein, soft tissue minerals and glycogen), with constant densities assumed for the four components (Ellis, 2000; Wang et al., 2005; Wells et al., 1998; Wells & Fewtrell, 2006). In this model bone mineral content (BMC) measured by DXA (Ellis, 2000; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Wells et al., 1999; Wells & Fewtrell, 2006; see section 2.5.2) is added to the measures in Siri's 3-C model (i.e. BM, BV, and TBW). Although several 4-C equations have been developed (Friedl et al., 1992; Fuller et al., 1992), the resulting estimates of %FM are similar (Wang et al., 2005). The simultaneous equations used to develop 4-C equations are based on the body mass or body mass and body volume models are:

BM = FM + TBW + BMC + RM

Where BM = body mass; FM = fat mass; TBW = total body water; BMC = bone mineral content; RM = residual mass and units are in kg.

BV = FM/0.9007 + TBW/0.99371 + BMC/2.982 + RM/1.404Where BV = body volume; and each component is divided by its assumed constant density in g/ml (Wang et al., 2005). In the development of paediatric references for the hydration of FFM (see section 2.4.2), Wells et al. (2010) used the following 4-C equation to determine FM in children and adolescents aged 5-20y:

FM = (2.747 x BV) - (0.710 x TBW) + (1.460 x BMC) - (2.050 x BM),(Where FM = fat mass (kg); BV = body volume (l); TBW = total body water (kg); BMC = bone mineral content (kg); and BM = body mass (kg)).

In that study as the majority of the cohort was white, it was recommended that variations in lean tissue composition between ethnic groups be further investigated, although the researchers considered any ethnic differences to be relatively small. The validity and accuracy of any of the equations is dependent on the assumed constants of the densities and proportions of the component fractions to the individual or population to which they are applied (Going, 2005). The 4-C model is considered the most accurate and valid model for estimating body fat for in vivo body composition measurement, as it requires the least assumptions (Going, 2005; Wells & Fewtrell, 2006). However, this model also has an increased risk of measurement error by virtue of the number of different methods involved in determining the body's component parts (Going, 2005; Heyward & Wagner, 2004).

2.5 Body Composition Assessment Methods

Due to the limitations of BMI in assessing adiposity, as detailed in section 2.1 above, researchers have sought to develop valid, practical, and affordable field-based methods that may be more suitable for use in clinical practice, epidemiological studies, and weight management settings (Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Meyer et al., 2011). As explained in section 2.4, the direct chemical analysis of tissues and organs, and a limited number of human cadaver studies (Forbes et al., 1953, 1956; Widdowson et al., 1951) has provided important information on the composition of the human body, and the respective densities of its component parts, which over the last 50y, have been used as a reference for the development of a variety of indirect assessment methods, based on the 2,3, and 4 compartment models (Ellis, 2000; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Wang et al., 1999; see section 2.2.2). As already mentioned in section 2.4.3, the four most common reference methods used in the

development and evaluation of field-based body composition assessment tools include: hydrodensitometry or UWW, and ADP, used to determine body volume and density; hydrometry using isotope dilution to determine TBW; and DXA used for determining bone mineral density and soft tissue composition (Ellis, 2000; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Heymsfield et al., 2005).

The 4-C model in which body volume, TBW, and bone mineral are measured separately, is regarded as the 'gold standard' for in-vivo body composition analysis, particularly when the FFM components are variable, as is the case through childhood and adolescence (Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Lee & Gallagher, 2008; Wells & Fewtrell, 2006). However, this method requires the use of much specialised and often costly equipment and expertise, which can be prohibitive in many research settings (Lee & Gallagher, 2008; Wells et al., 2012). In a recent study by Wells et al. (2012), in which the use of a 4-C model was used to determine whole-body fat and fat-free mass SDS for children and adolescents (5-20y), DXA (Lunar Prodigy, GE Medical Systems) showed the highest correlations between these variables and the values obtained by the 4-C method (FM SDS $r^2 = 88\%$ & 96%; FFM SDS $r^2 = 96\%$ & 94% for males and females respectively). It is important to note however, that the high correlation observed between DXA and the 4-C method maybe limited to the DXA model used in this study, as agreement between DXA models has also been shown to vary, as detailed in section 2.3.3.

Other more complex, costly, and advanced laboratory-based methods include total body potassium counting (TBK) to determine body cell mass, neutron activation analysis (NAA), which measures the body's major elements, and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), which measures body composition at the tissue level (Ellis, 2001; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Heymsfield et al., 2005). Over the last two decades, with much technological advancement in BIA, it has become a commonly used and popular field-based method for BC assessment in research and clinical practice, and due to its affordability and ease of use, certain portable models are also available for use by the general population (Dehghan & Merchant, 2008; Ellis, 2001; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Heymsfield et al., 2005; Kyle et al., 2004; Ward, 2012).

This section will review some of the laboratory- and field-based methods used for indirect BC assessment as explained in chapter aims above. As BIA was the fieldbased method used in this study, and DXA and ADP were used as reference methods, the main focus of this section will be to review these methods, although for completeness a brief overview of other BC assessment technologies will be provided.

2.5.1 Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis

2.5.1.2 General background

Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis (BIA) is a safe, portable, non-invasive and cost effective tool suitable for BC assessment in large-scale epidemiological studies and clinical and health settings (Ellis, 2000; Ellis, 2001; Haroun et al., 2010; Rush et al., 2006; Ward, 2012). Due to its ease of use, requiring minimal training, high reproducibility and correlation with reference methods, it is the preferred option over anthropometric methods such as skinfold-thickness measurement (Kyle et al., 2004; Mialich et al., 2014). It is however, considered less accurate than the more complex lab-based tools that it is often validated against (Kyle et al., 2004; Sweeting, 2007; Ward, 2012), such as ADP (Lohman & Going, 2006), DXA (Going et al., 2006; Hosking et al., 2006; Kriemler et al., 2009; Lim et al., 2009; Meyer et al., 2011; Pietrobelli et al., 2004; Sluyter et al., 2010), isotope dilution (Haroun et al., 2010; Kehoe et al., 2011; Khan et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2011), underwater weighing (UWW; Jensky-Squires et al., 2008); Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI; Bosy-Westphal et al., 2008; Oshima et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2013) and multi-component models in which several techniques are used to determine individual body compartments (Hosking et al., 2006; Wells et al., 2012).

Thomasset (1962) established the basic principles of BIA (Chumlea & Sun, 2005), following his pioneering work, which involved the subcutaneous insertion of two needles to measure the body's electrical conductivity (Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Kyle et al., 2004). The four-surface electrode technique, developed by Hoffer et al. (1969) and Nyboer (1970), soon followed and is used in current practice (Kyle et al., 2004). The first commercially available BIA's were of single-frequency, and were

introduced in the mid-1980s (Lukaski et al., 1985); and multi-frequency analysers became available in the mid-1990s (Kyle et al., 2004).

2.5.1.3 Basic Principles

The basic principles of BIA are based on the 2-C model for predicting FM and FFM (total body mass = FM + FFM; see section 2.2.2), and the relationship between the body's electrical impedance and total body water (TBW; Chumlea & Sun, 2005; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Kyle et al., 2004). Detailed reviews of the basic principles of BIA are provided elsewhere (Chumlea & Sun, 2005; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Kyle et al., 2004). As FFM is comprised largely of water (Figure 2.2), containing the body's electrolytes, it is an excellent conductor of electricity, and fat being anhydrous is a poor electrical conductor (Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Mialich et al., 2014). The electrical impedance of the body is used to determine the volume of TBW from which FFM can be indirectly estimated, based on the assumption that the hydration of FFM is relatively constant (\sim 73%; Figure 2.2; Ellis, 2000; Ellis, 2001; Haroun et al., 2010; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Rush et al., 2006). Thus FFM could be determined by dividing TBW by 73% (i.e. FFM = TBW/0.73).



Body composition compartments

Figure 2.2. Schematic diagram of fat-free mass (FFM), total body water (TBW), intracellular water (ICW), extracellular water (ECW), and body cell mass (BCM). Adapted from Kyle et al., 2004 (p.1231)

In this technique, a low-level, imperceptible electric current is passed through the body at a specified frequency (e.g. 50kHz), and the electrical impedance (Z) or resistance to flow of conducting tissue is measured, from which the volume of TBW (i.e. both intra- and extra-cellular water; ICW and ECW respectively) is determined (Anderson et al., 2012; Chumlea & Sun, 2005; Kyle et al., 2004; Ward, 2012). Impedance is described in the literature as a combination of resistance (R) and reactance (Xc) at a specific frequency (Chumlea & Sun, 2005; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Kyle et al., 2004), where R is the pure opposition to current flow by TBW and Xc is the opposition to current flow by the cell membrane, described as capacitance or voltage storage (Chumlea & Sun, 2005; Heyward & Wagner, 2004). The relationship of impedance with R and Xc is represented by the equation: $Z^2 = R^2 + Xc^2$ (Chumlea & Sun, 2005).

The underlying theory behind BIA is based on Ohm's law and the relationship between electrical resistance and the shape of the conductor (Chumlea and Sun, 2005), where 'resistance (R) of a length of homogeneous conductive material of uniform cross-sectional area is proportional to its length (L) and inversely proportional to its cross-sectional area' (Kyle et al., 2004, p.1227). Thus, the longer the conductor and smaller the cross-sectional area, the greater the resistance (Chumlea & Sun, 2005). This relationship is described by the following equation:

$R = \rho L/A$

Where ρ is the specific resistivity of a homogenous conductor (assumed to be constant); L is the conductor length; and A is the cross-sectional area. By substituting volume (V) into the equation, where V = L x A; and A = V/L then:

 $R = \rho L (LV)$

Which expressed in terms of volume is represented by the equation:

 $V = \rho L^2/R$ (Equation 1; Chumlea and Sun, 2005; Kyle et al., 2004).

This equation is also presented with impedance (Z) in place of R as: $V = \rho L^2/Z$ (Haroun et al., 2010; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Montagnese et al., 2013). For the estimation of TBW the conductive length (L) is considered equivalent to the subject's height (Ht), thus Ht²/Z or Ht²/R is proportional to the volume of TBW (Haroun et al., 2010; Kyle et al., 2004). Whilst the human body is clearly not a perfect cylinder of homogeneous conductive material, an empirical relationship is known to exist between the volume of TBW and the impedance index ρ Ht²/R (Chumlea and Sun, 2005; Kyle et al., 2004). According to Ward (2012), the volume of TBW computed by BIA would be more theoretically accurate, if the resistance of the body segments was measured separately i.e. two arms and legs and the trunk. This would be represented by the equation:

$$V_{total} = 2 (p L^2/R)_{arm} + 2(p L^2/R)_{leg} + (p L^2/R)_{trunk}$$
 (Equation 2)

In reality, the volume or quantity of TBW or FFM is not determined by solving either equation 1 or 2 directly; instead the impedance index ($\rho L^2/R$) is used empirically in regression equations between BIA and body composition measurements obtained from the reference method such as DXA (Chumlea and Sun, 2005; Kyle et al., 2004; Ward, 2012). In its simplest form the regression equation is presented by solving the equation of a straight line, i.e. y = mx + c (where c is the intercept and m is the slope). Replacing y with TBW or FFM (depending on the reference method used) and x with HT²/Z leads to the following equation:

TBW or FFM = $m (HT^2/Z) + c$ (Equation 3)

There is much evidence of variations in electrical conductance of body tissues between population groups (see section 2.2), which has been attributed to differences in hydration levels of FFM, with differences reported between age, sex, and ethnic group, as well as health status (Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Lohman, 1986; Wells et al., 2010), and degree of adiposity (Lee & Gallagher, 2008), with increased TBW and relative ECW observed in obese individuals compared to normal-weight individuals (Pateyjohns et al., 2006). The need to validate BIA models and develop population-specific prediction equations is now widely recognised (Chumlea and Sun, 2005; Dehghan & Merchant, 2008; Haroun et al., 2010; Kyle et al., 2004; Rush et al., 2006; Ward, 2012), although at an individual level the accuracy of such equations is considered poor, with errors of $\pm 8\%$ fat reported (Wells et al., 1999; Wells & Fewtrell, 2006).

2.5.1.4 BIA models

Several different BIA models are widely available, and in recent years the technology has advanced to offer more valid, reliable, and easier to use methods such as standon devices with built-in electrodes (Haroun et al., 2010; McCarthy et al., 2006; Rush et al., 2006; Ward, 2012), than the previous use of simple gel electrodes that required careful placement (Ellis, 2001; Pietrobelli et al., 2004; Ward, 2012). Singlefrequency analysers generally employ a frequency of 50 kHz (Chumlea & Sun, 2005; Kyle et al., 2004), as at this frequency the current can pass through both ICW and ECW, and is directly proportional to the volume of TBW (Chumlea and Sun, 2005; Kyle et al., 2004), although there is variability between tissues (Kyle et al., 2004). Multi-frequency analysers are able to differentiate between intra- and extra-cellular water (Chumlea and Sun, 2005; Kyle et al., 2004), and are used in clinical and research settings, where in certain disease states such as heart failure and renal disease, hydration status is altered and requires careful monitoring (Kyle et al., 2004). As a single-frequency analyser was used in this study, only this type of analyser will be reviewed here. Detailed reviews of multi-frequency analysers are available elsewhere (Kyle et al., 2004; Ward, 2012).

The two main types of BIA instruments available are bipolar or tetrapolar (Bosy-Westphal et al., 2008; Dehghan & Merchant, 2008). Tetrapolar BIA models are considered more reliable predictors of body composition than the bipolar devices, which is attributed to the greater number of tactile-electrodes, with eight tactile electrodes (hand-to-hand and foot-to-foot) used in the tetrapolar instruments, and four tactile electrodes (hand-to-hand or foot-to-foot) used in the bipolar instruments (Bosy-Westphal et al., 2008; Dehghan & Merchant, 2008; Kriemler et al., 2009). In the bipolar instruments, impedance measurements include the legs and lower trunk (foot-to-foot) or arms and upper trunk (hand-to-hand) only, whereas the tetrapolar instruments incorporate all four limbs and the trunk (Bosy-Westphal et al., 2004). The BC-418 8-contact tetrapolar system (Tanita

Corp; Tokyo, Japan) enables whole body and segmental impedance measures to be taken, providing potentially useful information of the distribution of body fat and lean soft tissue (Pietrobelli et al., 2004).

2.5.1.5 Validity, Accuracy and Limitations of BIA

Several studies have assessed and reviewed the validity and accuracy of single frequency BIA in predicting TBW or FFM, with much inconsistency reported in the literature (Bosy-Westphal et al., 2008; Dehghan & Merchant, 2008; Kyle et al., 2004; Meyer et al., 2011). The validity and accuracy of BIA in predicting BC, is attributed to several factors including the parameters used to develop the prediction equation, the criterion method it is validated against, the BIA model employed, as well as the protocols used within the study (Bosy-Westphal et al., 2008; Dehghan & Merchant, 2008; Kyle et al., 2004; Meyer et al., 2011). Use of a standardised protocol has been recommended, to effectively evaluate the validity of studies using BIA for body composition assessment (Kyle et al., 2004).

The BIA models available use proprietary in-built prediction equations validated using a reference method as explained above, that may not be valid for all populations (Dehghan & Merchant, 2008; Kyle et al., 2004; Meyer et al., 2011). Equations developed before 1987 only used HT²/R or HT²/Z in the regression analysis to determine TBW or FFM; in later years, additional parameters were included such as gender, age, weight, and anthropometric measures to improve the predictive accuracy of the equations (Kyle et al., 2004). Prediction equations based on the 2-C model are not considered ideal for estimating FFM in children, due to the age related changes in the proportion of water, protein, and mineral components of FFM (Lee & Gallagher, 2008). Use of a multi-component method for validating BIA is considered the most accurate approach (Montagnese et al., 2013; Sun et al., 2003; Wells et al., 2012).

Some of the predictive errors in estimating BC using BIA are attributed to the assumption that the body is a homogenous and uniform conductor of electricity with a constant specific resistivity (p) (Chumlea et al., 1988). However, it is known that intra- and inter-individual differences in specific resistivity are apparent due to differences in tissue composition (Chumlea and Sun, 2005; Kyle et al., 2004), and

proportion of limb lengths, particularly among different ethnic groups (Dehghan & Merchant, 2008). However, in healthy populations that are matched by gender, age, and ethnicity, calibration of BIA against a valid reference method, using appropriate parameters within the prediction equation, would overcome this potential source of error (Ward, 2012).

In segmental analysers, it is considered more accurate to use the segment length for BC estimates of individual body segments (Ward, 2012). However, in practice only standing height is used, which may lead to inaccuracies in segmental measures (Ward, 2012). Whilst measuring segment specific resistivity may be more accurate, particularly in populations where fluid balance is affected by disease state (Kyle et al., 2004), in large epidemiological studies this method would be too onerous and impractical. Certain BIA models also have the option of selecting body type as 'normal' or 'athletic', which would be based on the personal judgement of the operator and may lead to inaccurate results, as significant differences in BC have been observed between the two modes (Dixon & Andreacci, 2011). Due to the inherent problems associated with differences in FFM composition and body geometry, some more recent studies have proposed use of the raw bioimpedance output i.e. Ht²/Z (Lukaski, 2013; Wells et al., 2012), although this method may be useful for making comparisons with reference data, it would not provide an estimate for %FM or %FFM.

The trunk due to its large cross-sectional area only contributes to approximately 10% of the whole-body impedance measure (Foster & Lukaski, 1996), thus the majority of the impedance measure is related to the FFM of the limbs (Kyle et al., 2004), with the head ignored (Chumlea and Sun, 2005). Due to the complex nature of the trunk, housing all the body's major organs, caution is advised when considering impedance estimates of this region (Chumlea and Sun, 2005). In severely obese subjects, errors may occur in predicting FFM when validated within a sample of mainly non-obese subjects, due to a greater proportion of TBW and body mass accounted for by the trunk (Chumlea & Sun, 2005).

2.5.1.6 BIA and Ethnic-specific body composition equations

Whilst there is much evidence to support the development and use of populationspecific BIA equations, there is also evidence of variations between the models used, with tetrapolar devices demonstrating better agreement between reference methods such as DXA and MRI, than bipolar devices (Bosy-Westphal et al., 2008; Kriemler et al., 2009). The validation study detailed in chapter 4 of this thesis used a tetrapolar BIA device (Tanita BC418-MA) to develop a FFM prediction equation for the SA child and adolescent population; therefore, this section of the literature review will focus on BIA validation studies using both bipolar and tetrapolar devices that have developed ethnic specific prediction equations specifically for the SA child and/or adolescent population, or have included SAs within the sample population. Any prediction equations that have been developed for the same population group used within this study will also be assessed for predictive accuracy.

A literature search revealed three studies conducted on SA children and adolescents using BIA, that published ethnic-specific prediction equations for determining FFM or TBW (Haroun et al., 2010; Khan et al., 2012; Sluyter et al., 2010). In both the studies conducted by Haroun et al. (2010), and Khan et al. (2012) the Tanita (TBF-300) leg-leg BIA model was used, and the reference method was deuterium oxide (D₂O) dilution (see chapter 2 General Methods for details on this technique), from which TBW was estimated, whilst the study conducted by Sluyter et al (2010) used the same Tanita BC418-MA model, as proposed in the BIA validation study in this thesis, with DXA as the reference method. In the study conducted by Haroun et al. (2010), the sample population recruited from two East London schools, comprised three distinct ethnic groups of white, black, and Asian (Indian, Pakistani, and Bangladeshi) healthy adolescents (aged 11-15y). FFM was determined based on sex-specific hydration equations from an ongoing and unpublished research project, which factored in age-related changes in FFM hydration. The equations for calculating hydration of FFM were: hydration = 78.176 – (0.237 x age), and 79.797 – (0.385 x age) for males and females respectively.

In the study conducted by Khan et al. (2012), which involved Bangladeshi children aged 4-10y, from a poor rural region of Bangladesh, the authors stated that the sexand age-related hydration of FFM was determined based on published reference values by Lohman (1989, 1992), and ranged from 76.2% to 78.3%. The approach used in determining FFM differed between the studies, with Haroun et al. (2010) developing sex-specific equations to determine TBW with D₂O as the dependent variable, and Ht²/impedance and ethnicity as the independent predictors in the regression model. FFM was then determined using the sex-specific hydration equations as previously mentioned. Khan et al. (2012), on the other hand, converted TBW estimates from D₂O to estimate FFM first, which was then used as the dependent variable, to develop a prediction equation, with sex, Wt, age, and Ht²/impedance as the independent predictors in the regression model. This equation however, did not ascribe any numerical value to sex, and was thus difficult to evaluate.

The sample population in the study conducted by Sluyter et al. (2010), were healthy adolescents aged 12-19y from a multi-ethnic background, including Asian (n = 61 male and 59 female) and WE (n = 37 male and 54 female). The Asian group were of mixed ethnicities, and whilst the majority (n= 49 male and 41 female) were Indian, the remainder were from 10 different countries including Vietnam, Cambodia, China, with only 2 Pakistani females, and no Bangladeshis in the sample. Having a mixed Asian sample may have impacted the validity of the prediction equation specifically for SA adolescents. In that study BIA compared to DXA on average significantly (P<0.001) underestimated %FM by 2.84% (SD= 4.70%), with a

tendency to overestimate %FM in lean subjects and underestimate %FM in subjects with high adiposity. This finding has also been observed in other studies (Haroun et al., 2010; Pietrobelli et al., 2004; Prins et al., 2008).

Due to the uncertainties with the differing equations, and the high standard error of estimates (SEE) in absolute values, Wells et al. (2012) proposed comparing raw outputs of H²/impedance in BIA with the reference method used, in SDS format. This approach enables comparisons to be made between different body composition assessment techniques, to determine whether FM or FFM percentile rankings from one technique, e.g. DXA or the 4-C model, are consistent with BIA, although this would prevent direct comparisons of absolute values to be made.

In a recent study, Montagnese et al. (2013) assessed the validity of a single BIA equation to determine FFM on a heterogeneous sample of 547 (240 males) children and adolescents (4-24y), using a 4-C model and a tetrapolar BIA instrument (Tanita BC-418MA). Step-wise multiple regression analysis was used to determine whether age (separated into 6 distinct age groups), gender, pubertal stage (Tanner stages 1-5), and nutritional status (BMI SDS separated into non-overweight <1.04; overweight 1.04 - 1.639; & obese > 1.64) resulted in significantly different values for the slope (m) and intercept (c) in the regression equation (equation 3 above) for determining FFM from Ht^2/Z .

In that study, age and pubertal status exerted the greatest effect on the regression equation with significantly different values for the slope (m) and intercept (c) in the age groups 4-7y and 16-19y. These differences were attributed to the age-related changes in body proportions, as limb lengths increase in relation to trunk. It was concluded that whilst HT^2/Z was a strong predictor of LM ($r^2 = 0.953$, SEE = 2.9kg), no single equation could be a valid predictor of LM or TBW across a wide age range of children and adolescents, due to significant differences in the slope (m) and intercept (c) values. However, ethnicity was not explored in this study, with 80% of the sample reported to be European and 20% non-European from a variety of different ethnic groups. This omission may have impacted the outcome of the regression model, given that ethnic differences in body composition are widely

recognised in the literature, and many studies have published ethnic-specific prediction equations.

2.5.2 Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry

2.5.2.1 General Background

Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) was originally introduced to measure bone mineral density (BMD; Laskey, 1996; Tothill et al., 2001), (Laskey, 1996); however, it is now one of the most widely used methods for whole- and regionalbody composition analysis as it is non-invasive, requires little subject cooperation, with newer models offering fast scan times (lasting ~ 5 minutes for a whole-body scan; Bonnick, 2010), is regarded as safe due to its extremely low-dose radiation, and is relatively simple to use (Helba & Binkovitz, 2009; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Laskey, 1996; Plank, 2005). Whilst DXA provides composition estimates for 3 body components (i.e. BMC, FM, and LTM), it is in fact a 2-C model, based on two separate sets of equations (Ellis, 2000; Testolin et al., 2000). In DXA, soft tissue FFM is often described as lean tissue mass (LTM), and the terms are often used interchangeably (Kelly et al., 1998; Wells et al., 2010). For the sake of consistency and to avoid confusion, FFM without bone will be described as lean tissue mass (LTM), and FFM will represent BMC and LTM.

There are three commercial manufacturers of DXA scanners and whilst there are slight differences between the various DXA models, all have similar features i.e. a scanning table, a dual-energy X-ray source with a detector linked to a computer system for generating scanned images, and body composition data (Helba & Binkovitz, 2009; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Laskey, 1996; Plank, 2005). The software system processes and analyses the individual X-ray absorption measures, presenting quantitative data for FM, LTM, and BMC in grams, and BMD in g/cm². Total body mass is calculated as the sum of all three parts (i.e. FM + LTM + BMC) (Korth et al., 2007; Lohman et al., 2000).

DXA systems employ two different scanning technologies, namely the 'pencil-beam' and 'fan-array' scanner (Bonnick, 2010; Laskey, 1996; Plank, 2005). The fan-array systems compared to the pencil-beam scanners have a significantly reduced scan time, with improved precision and image-resolution (Bonnick, 2010; Laskey, 1996). However, the radiation dose in the fan-array scanners is 2-5 times greater than the pencil-beam devices (Laskey, 1996). The more recent pencil-beam scanners such as the Norland XR-800 also offer much faster scan times (Plank, 2005), with very low dose radiation.

The radiation dose used in DXA scans is extremely low and is estimated to be similar to one day's exposure to natural background radiation (Helba & Binkovitz, 2009; Bonnick, 2010). In the pencil-beam devices, such as the Norland XR-800 bone densitometer the scan dose for a whole body scan is <0.1mrem (or1 μ Sv), which is approximately equivalent to 1/6 of normal background radiation (see Appendix A1). The department of Medical Physics at the Royal Devon and Exeter Hospital, and the Radiography department at Exeter University conducted a 'DEXA risk and benefit assessment' (Ward & Knapp, 2007); a copy of the tables produced in this report comparing DXA doses with other common activities in which radiation exposure occurs are presented in Appendix A2, to put DXA scans into context with other common exposures to radiation. For example, travelling 30 miles by car would expose an individual to more than 10 times the dose of radiation than a whole body DXA scan using the Norland XR-800 scanner.

2.5.2.3 Basic Principles

The DXA system generates an X-ray beam at two photon energies, and divides the body into a series of pixels (Plank, 2005), which on penetrating the body tissues are attenuated; the degree of attenuation varies by tissue density, thickness, and chemical composition (Bonnick, 2010; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Mazess et al., 1990), with denser tissues such as bone absorbing the greatest photon energy compared to soft tissue (Plank, 2005). This difference in the attenuation of the X-ray photon energies within each pixel is measured by a detector and is processed by the software to create the X-ray image (Bonnick, 2010; Laskey, 1996), which is used to calculate the in vivo tissue composition (Laskey, 1996; Plank, 2005; Scafoglieri et al., 2011).

As the DXA scan involves two photon energies, in theory only two components can be identified by the differential absorption within each pixel (Laskey, 1996; Plank, 2005). The absorption of the low-energy photons relative to the high-energy photons is expressed as a ratio (R) (Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Laskey, 1996). Calibration phantoms of known composition are used to determine the attenuation coefficients for bone, fat and fat-free soft tissue (Heymsfield et al., 1989; Mazess et al., 1990). The R-values from the pixels containing the soft tissue fraction are used to determine the amount of fat and fat-free mass, which makes up approximately 60% of the body (Ellis, 2000; Laskey, 1996; Lohman & Chen, 2005). The tissue composition of the remainder of the scan (containing BM and LTM) is determined by extrapolation from the LTM (Ellis, 2000; Laskey, 1996; Lohman & Chen, 2005; Plank, 2005). BCA of the 3-components is thus based on repeated data acquisition of the whole-body scan, with R-values for each component assumed to be constant (Laskey, 1996; Pietrobelli et al., 1996; Testolin et al., 2000). The algorithms used for determining the attenuation coefficients and R-values, to determine mass values for BMC, FM, and LTM, are provided in a review by Pietrobelli et al. (1996).

2.5.2.4 Accuracy & Precision of DXA

DXA technology is being increasingly used as a reference method for BCA, and has been the subject of several reviews and validation studies to assess its viability as an acceptable reference method based on its precision (or repeatability) and accuracy (or validity) (Lohman et al., 2000; Plank, 2005; Scafoglieri et al., 2011). Short-term precision is evaluated by repeated measures of each subject (within and between days), and is based on intra-individual variation of subject scans, often reported as the percentage coefficient of variation (%CV) together with the standard deviation. Long-term precision is based on scans repeated over several months (Lohman & Chen, 2005).

For DXA to be considered an accurate criterion method for BCA, the standard error of estimate (SEE) should be less than 3% (Lohman & Chen, 2005). Errors of 3-4% have limited validity, and >4% would render DXA too variable for use as a reference method (Lohman & Chen, 2005). DXA studies have reported good to excellent short-and long-term precision, with %CVs ranging from 1.4-2% for FM, and 1.1-1.5% for LTM (Marguiles et al., 2005; Mazess et al., 1990; Njeh et al., 1997). DXA accuracy is

more complex involving direct comparison studies between chemical analyses of animal carcasses, (Helba & Binkovitz, 2009; Plank 2005), with no validation studies involving cadaver dissection (Plank, 2005; Wells et al., 2010), and relatively few involving animal carcass dissection (Scafoglieri et al., 2011), which are often described as the gold standard techniques.

Indirect assessment methods using multicomponent models, in particular the 4component (4-C) model, are more commonly used as the criterion method to assess the accuracy of DXA in human BCA (Lohman, 2000; Plank, 2005; Wells et al., 2010). In the 4-C model body fat is estimated from three different assessment methods for determining body density, total body water, and bone mineral content, namely: densitometry (UWW or ADP), hydrometry (usually deuterium dilution), and DXA respectively (Plank, 2005; Wells et al., 2010).

Early studies of DXA accuracy reported poor results (Ellis et al., 1994). Reviews of studies on the more recent DXA scanners have been variable (Lohman, 2000; Plank, 2005). Some studies have reported excellent accuracy, when compared to chemical analysis of animal carcasses, with variations of approximately 1.0-2.9% for FM, and 3% for LTM (Black et al., 2001; Svendsen et al., 1993), whilst other studies have reported more variable outcomes (Brunton et al., 1993; Ellis et al., 1994; Scafoglieri et al., 2011). These differences have been attributed to a number of factors including: (i) the R-value constancy assumptions for bone mineral, fat, and LTM regardless of subject population (Helba & Binkovitz, 2009; Lohman et al., 2000; Pietrobelli et al., 1996); (ii) variations in tissue depths (Jebb et al., 1993; Laskey et al., 1992; Pietrobelli et al., 1996); (iii) differences in scale Wt versus DXA sum of parts (Friedl et al., 1994; Nelson et al., 1996); (iv) methodological differences between validation studies, and technological (software and hardware) differences between manufacturers of DXA scanners (Clasey et al., 1999; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Lohman, 2000; Plank, 2005; Scafoglieri et al., 2011; Testolin et al., 2000). The impact of these differences on the accuracy and precision of DXA are explained in detail elsewhere (Helba & Binkovitz, 2009; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Plank, 2005; Testolin et al., 2000).

2.5.3 Densitometry

Densitometry refers to the measurement body density (Db), determined by measuring body volume based on the 2-C model (see section 2.2.3). Traditionally, this method involved hydrostatic weighing (HW; Ellis, 2001; McCrory et al., 1995; Wells & Fewtrell, 2006), which was developed in the early 1940s by Behnke et al. (1942). Measurement of body volume by HW is considered impractical for field use and is considered particularly unsuitable for children, as it requires complete underwater submersion of the subject with the maximal exhalation of air to account for residual lung volume, and tests have to be done repeatedly to ensure reliability (Ellis, 2001; McCrory et al., 1995).

HW uses the Archimedes' principle for the determination of body volume, whereby an object's specific gravity is determined by the Wt of the object in air divided by its loss of Wt in water, from which the object's density (D= mass/ volume) can be determined (McArdle et al., 2007). As explained in section 2.2.3 scientists Siri (1956) and Brozek (1963) incorporated these densities into equations to determine %FM, which yielded almost identical results (Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Wang et al., 2005). To account for population variations in the density of FFM (see section 2.2.2), 3- and 4-C model equations were developed (Ellis, 2000).

ADP is based on the 2-C method (body mass = FM + FFM) designed to measure body volume, which has evolved from the HW technique (Ellis, 2000; Going, 2005; Heyward & Wagner, 2004;). The Bod Pod® Body Composition System (Life Measurement Instruments, Concord, CA) is a relatively recent air displacement plethysmograph, which is considered highly reliable and valid as a field-based tool for measurement of body volume, having been validated against HW (McCrory et al., 1995). The Bod Pod is constructed of fibreglass and consists of two chambers (Figure2.3) for determining body volume, connected to a computer with the appropriate measurement software, and electronic scales for the measurement of body mass to the nearest ± 5g. The 450l volume front chamber has a moulded seat and a large acrylic window, and an electromagnetic door with an internally operable release button. The rear chamber houses the necessary instrumentation, which is described in more detail elsewhere. The volume of the subject is determined by the

displacement or reduction of air in the front chamber. The volume of air in the lungs is deducted from the measured volume to determine the body volume. The pulmonary gas volume can either be measured directly by connecting the subject to a breathing circuit, or can be predicted by the computerised software (McCrory et al., 1995).



Figure 2.3 – Diagram of how the Bod Pod® measures body volume

Percentage body fat is determined by use of the Siri equation, and similar to HW its accuracy as a 2-C method, to determine %FM based on this equation has been questioned, due to the well documented population variations in FFM density, particularly during childhood, and between ethnic groups (Ellis, 2000; Going, 2005). Whilst the Bod Pod is considered a valid, reliable, relatively simple, and non-invasive method for measuring body volume and density, it is more suited to laboratory- or clinic-based assessment, rather than for large-scale epidemiological studies.

2.5.4 Hydrometry

Hydrometry is another commonly used in vivo 2-C technique (where BM = FM + FFM) in BC assessment, which determines TBW from which FFM can be estimated, based on the assumption that the hydration of FFM is relatively constant for a given population (Ellis, 2000; Lohman, 1989; Schoeller, 2005; Wang et al., 1999). This method is based on the principle that the volume of the solvent (in this case TBW) is equal to the ratio of the dose of the solute (isotopic tracer) divided by its concentration within the solvent (Edelman et al., 1952).

2.5.5 Alternative Assessment Methods

Other more complex laboratory-based body composition assessment methods are available e.g.: (i) whole-body potassium counting; (ii) neutron activation analysis (NAA); (iii) computerised tomography (CT); and (iv) magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), but due to the cost and level of expertise required are not commonly used (Ellis, 2000). Furthermore, some of these methods do not provide improved accuracy or reliability, and lack reference data (Wells & Fewtrell, 2006).

In whole-body potassium counting, the radioactive isotope of potassium (⁴⁰K) is counted and converted to a total body potassium (TBK) value (Ellis, 2000; Ellis, 2005; Heyward & Wagner, 2004), and in BCA it is used to determine body cell mass (BCM; Ellis, 2005) and FFM (Ellis, 2000) based on the constancy assumption. In NAA the body is exposed to a neutron field, which captures the body's atoms and some of these are converted to radioactive isotopes of the original atoms, emitting gamma rays that can be measured in a similar way to ⁴⁰K (Ellis, 2000). CT scanning is an Xray imaging method, similar to DXA that involves the transmission of X-rays, which rotate around the whole body in a fan-shaped beam (Ellis, 2000; Ross & Janssen, 2005). Whilst this method has been shown to provide excellent precision and accuracy (<1% error) in determining body composition (Ellis, 2000), the cost and radiation dose used in this procedure, has limited its use in BCA (Ellis, 2000; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Ross & Janssen, 2005). As with DXA and CT scanning, MRI also provides in-vivo images of the body's components at the tissue level (Ellis, 2000; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Ross & Janssen, 2005), although this technology uses magnetic and radiofrequency fields rather than radiation to generate its images (Ellis, 2000; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Ross & Janssen, 2005). Whilst MRI is considered very useful in BCA, its use is restricted due to its high cost, limited availability, as well as the time required for the procedure (Ellis, 2000; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Ross & Janssen, 2005). More detailed information on these reference methods is available elsewhere (Ellis, 2000; Heymsfield et al., 2005; Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Wells & Fewtrell, 2006).

2.6 Stature and Body Proportionality – leg length and sitting height

Anthropometry, particularly during childhood, is widely used in clinical and public health work as a measure of growth and as a predictor of health (Cameron et al.,

1981). Whilst short stature in adulthood is associated with an increased risk of obesity (Guerrero-Igea et al., 2001; Gunnell et al., 2003; Lawlor et al., 2002) and metabolic syndrome (Guerrero-Igea et al., 2001; Lawlor et al., 2002; Smith et al., 2001), taller for age children have been shown to have a greater propensity to obesity (Baker et al., 2007; Bosy-Westphal et al., 2009; Buchan et al., 2007; Demerath et al., 2009; Himes et al., 1986; Lazarus et al., 1996). The relationship with taller stature and obesity in childhood is associated with advanced sexual maturity among girls (Adair & Gordon-Larsen, 2001; Freedman et al., 2003), with some evidence of advanced skeletal maturation between both sexes (Demerath et al., 2009). Although, the latter association may be more strongly related to linear growth, as the link to advanced skeletal maturation in obesity is not so strong (Akridge et al. 2007). From birth to the age of 7 years, the legs grow faster than other body segments (Asao et al., 2006; Bogin & Valera-Silva, 2010). Subischial leg length continues to increase rapidly during the prepubertal years, with a more gradual decline in the growth of leg length among boys than girls (Dangour et al., 2002).

Shorter leg length (LL) and particularly shorter leg length relative to Ht, identified in some studies as a lower leg length to height ratio (LLHR; LL/Ht) or a higher sitting height ratio (SHR; SH/Ht), is a marker of an increased risk for non-communicable diseases such as T2DM, obesity, and CVD, in adulthood (Asao et al., 2006; Bogin & Varela-Silva, 2010; Pliakas & McCarthy, 2010; Hales & Barker, 2001; Smith et al., 2001; Wadsworth et al., 2002). Recent research has also revealed that taller for age children have a lower LLHR (Pliakas & McCarthy, 2010), which adds to the growing body of evidence that LLHR is an important contributor to the already established risk factors to adult health.

Whilst the adult size and proportionality of body segments has been attributed to an interaction between genetics and the environment, research has indicated that the environment exerts a greater influence on body proportions, in particular LL, than genes (Asao et al., 2006; Bogin & Varela-Silva, 2010; Dangour et al., 2002; Tanner et al., 1982; Wadsworth et al., 2002). Growth, with respect to LL and LLHR or SHR during infancy and childhood is highly plastic (i.e. strongly influenced by environmental factors), with adverse environmental conditions such as poor foetal or infant nutrition (Asao et al., 2006; Wadsworth et al., 2002), and low socioeconomic status directly affecting stature and limb length (Bogin & Varela-Silva, 2010; Wadsworth et al., 2002). Evidence of the plasticity of LL and LLHR or SHR and the associated increased health risks, underpins contemporary hypotheses such as the thrifty phenotype hypothesis (TPH; Hales & Barker, 2001).

The TPH, originally developed in 1991, states that when foetal or early infant nutrition is poor, the body directs nutrition more favourably towards the growth and development of vital organs such as the brain and those in the trunk; leading to reduced growth in terms of birth weight or overall body size leading to shorter LL and particularly a lower LLHR in adolescence and adulthood (Bogin & Valera-Silva, 2010; Hales & Barker, 2001).

Among infants born in such adverse environmental conditions, improved nutrition during childhood can lead to a rapid increase in weight and stature, often described as 'catch up growth', with those children experiencing rapid weight gain showing an increased risk of developing T2DM in adulthood (Hales & Barker, 2001). A positive association has been found with final leg length and breast-fed babies (Martin et al., 2002; Wadsworth et al., 2002), and energy consumption during early childhood years (Wadsworth et al., 2002). Considering the paradox that taller for age children and shorter adults have an increased risk of obesity, T2DM, and CVD (Demerath et al., 2009; Gunnell et al., 2003; Lawlor et al., 2002); longitudinal studies comparing the LLHR or SHR of adults undergoing a rapid increase in weight and stature during early childhood, against those experiencing a slower increase in weight and stature, may provide an explanation for this paradox, alongside other measures of risks associated with T2DM.

Whilst there is stronger evidence for environmental influences on body size and proportionality, than genes, there is also much evidence of significant variations between population groups throughout the world (Dietz et al., 1989; Eveleth & Tanner, 1990; Fredriks et al., 2000; Tanner et al., 1982), although, research has shown that populations migrating to environments with improved nutrition and health, leads to increased stature, in particular relative leg length (Akram &

Agboatwala, 1991; Bogin et al., 2002; Hamill et al., 1979). For instance, Bogin et al. (2002), conducted a study comparing the Ht, SH, and SHR of children (n=431; aged 5-12y) from Maya families that had migrated in large numbers to the US between the late 1970s to early 1990s, with indigenous Maya children living in Guatemala, and found that the Maya American children were significantly taller (+11.54cm), with longer legs (+6.83cm), than their Guatemalan counterparts. Similarly, longitudinal studies have shown that children of Pakistani origin from more affluent backgrounds living in the USA have very similar growth patterns to the general population, when compared to the growth curves of the National Centre for Health Statistics (NCHS; Akram & Agboatwala, 1991; Hamill et al., 1979).

Eveleth and Tanner (1990), in their collation and interpretation of studies on the worldwide variation of human growth, reported that for overall stature, Indian boys aged 2-10y from a more affluent background had similar heights to WE populations, whilst the national average of Indian children was much lower. However, peak height velocity or adolescent growth spurt, whilst it occurred at a similar age for Indians and Europeans, (11-12y, and 13-14y for girls and boys respectively), the rate of growth and overall adult height among Indians was lower, even among the affluent Indians. They also reported that the SH for Indian children was lower than for Europeans, although the relative SH was similar. A more recent review examined variations in pre- and post-pubertal growth of children and adolescents from high SES groups, across 53 population groups covering all major continents, to the National Centre for Health Statistics/World Health Organisation (NCHS/WHO) references (Haas & Campirano, 2006). In this review it was reported that preadolescent Ht was more similar across population groups worldwide, with non-Europeans approximately 5cm below the reference and northern Europeans 5cm above the reference. However, after puberty, the divergence in Ht increased. It was concluded that a single reference standard might only be appropriate for preadolescent Ht.

In addition to health and nutrition influencing secular changes to stature and limb length, there is some evidence to support the theory that climatic conditions over several generations may underlie the genetic variations in stature, particularly relative leg length (Bogin & Valera-Silva, 2010), with populations from colder climates having relatively shorter limbs in relation to Ht to minimise heat loss, than those from warmer climates (Ruff, 2002, Eveleth & Tanner, 1990). Studies in the USA, including the NHANES III 1988-1994 survey of adults aged 20-49y (Bogin & Valera-Silva, 2008) have shown that black adults and youths, with the same stature as their white counterparts, have relatively longer limbs (Hamill et al., 1973; Krogman, 1970). In a prospective study the early phenotypic development of Indian children (n= 663) from Mysore, India, measured at birth, one and four years, was compared to UK and Dutch growth standards (Krishnaveni et al., 2005). Compared to the UK children, the Indian children were smaller in size for all measurements, at birth and one year, although the crown-heel length and sub-scapular skinfold thickness revealed the least deficit, and at 4 years the Indian children remained considerably smaller, apart from sub-scapular skinfold which was larger, and the Ht difference was also less pronounced than other measures, however LL comparisons were not available for UK children at 4 years. Similarly, compared to the Dutch children at 1 and 4 years the Indian children were smaller for all measures apart from sub-scapular skinfold which was greater, with a much lower crown-rump length (~-2SD) or SH (~-2.7SD) at 1y and 4y respectively, however, LL was close to the average Dutch standards, indicating relatively longer legs.

References representing the relevant measures for a specific population are commonly employed to make comparisons between ethnic groups. However, due to evidence of secular changes in childhood growth patterns, leading to increased stature and weight (Cole et al., 1998; Freeman et al., 1995); and differences between ethnic groups (Chinn et al., 1998; Eveleth & Tanner, 1990; Rona & Chinn, 1986; Saxena et al., 2004), for the purposes of validity, it has been repeatedly stated that such reference standards need to be up to date, and representative of the specific population group (Dangour et al., 2002; Freeman et al., 1995; Kelly et al., 1997).

To account for secular changes in Ht, which have been attributed to a greater increase in LL over SH, Dangour et al. (2002), updated the Tanner and Whitehouse reference curves for SH and LL for British children, that were constructed in the 1970s (Tanner & Whitehouse, 1978), using a convenience sample of 1424 boys and

1208 girls age under 25y, from Southeast England, measured between 1995-1996. Non-white children were excluded from the analysis due to assumed ethnic differences. Subischial LL was determined by subtracting SH from Ht. The analysis did not include relative LL, such as the SHR or LLHR, making such comparisons difficult, with other population groups, where stature may differ (Bogin & Valera-Silva, 2010). Eveleth and Tanner (1990) published data for comparing population differences in relative LL based on the SHR, which covers four continents (Australia, Africa, Europe, and Asia) across the world. However, with evidence of secular changes in overall stature and RLL, associated with the environment and socioeconomic status, suggests that such comparisons should be interpreted with caution and ethnic-specific, up to date references should be referred to (Dangour et al., 2002; Freeman et al., 1995; Kelly et al., 1997).

2.7 Summary

In summary, this literature review provides evidence of the greater health risks for MetS associated with overweight and obesity for the SA child and adolescent population, compared to their WE counterparts. The research shows that the current BMI thresholds for defining overweight and obesity are too simplistic and are likely to underestimate the health risks associated with excess adiposity for this population group, and lowering these thresholds in line with the SA adult cut-offs may go some way towards identifying more individuals potentially at risk of MetS.

WC is also recommended by the IDF as an important tool for diagnosing MetS in children; although measuring WC is not currently recommended by NICE for children, its use has been advised for determining further information on long-term health risks. Lower WC cut-offs are used for determining overweight and obesity in SA adults compared to WEs, and India has introduced WC cut-offs as 'Action points' for lifestyle change or further medical assessment in relation to T2DM and CVD. Nationally representative percentile reference curves for BMI are used for assessing children and adolescents, with specific cut-offs used for defining individuals as underweight, normal weight, overweight, or obese. The UK90 percentile charts are based on WE populations, with no similar reference charts for SAs, and NICE have advised use of caution when interpreting the UK90 BMI charts for non-WE

ethnicities. WC, %FM, and SMM reference curves have also been developed for the UK WE population. Similar reference charts are not available for the SA population.

Research shows that more direct methods of determining body composition in large-scale public health settings would be a preferable adjunct to BMI and WC. BIA has been identified as a potential tool for BCA, due to improvements in its accuracy, ease of use, portability, and cost effectiveness. The BC418-MA, a portable tetrapolar BIA instrument has been found to be a suitable field-based model for measuring BC as it provides whole-body estimates of %FM as well as appendicular FFM or SMM (FFMa/SMMa), which enables more detailed BCA, as reduced FFMa or SMMa is a further indicator of health risk associated with MetS. The proprietary in-built equations used for determining BC in the BC418-MA are based on WE populations, and have been shown to underestimate FM (and hence overestimate FFM) in SA populations. BIA BC prediction equations are developed by using regression analyses with a reference method such DXA, ADP, or hydrometry. Only one study was identified in this literature review that had developed a FFM prediction equation for the SA adolescent population using the BC-418MA model. No studies were found that had determined SMMa for the SA child and adolescent population.

A lower LLHR or RLL has also been shown to be an indicator of health-risk associated with obesity-related diseases such as MetS, however, no contemporary UK data on the SA child and adolescent RLL was found in this literature review. Some studies revealed that both SA child and adolescent populations had similar or longer RLL. There was also no available portable tool for determining RLL by measuring SH.

2.8 Thesis Aims

The aims of this thesis (limited to the UK SA child and adolescent population) were to:

- 1. Develop BIA prediction equations for determining FFM, using DXA and ADP as the two reference methods.
- 2. Develop BIA prediction equations for determining SMM_a , with DXA as the reference method.
- 3. Construct %FM and SMM_a reference centiles.
- 4. Assess BC differences between the SA study population and available data for WE children and adolescents.
- 5. Construct WC reference centiles with cut-offs in line with the SA adult-cut offs adopted in India.
- 6. Develop a portable tool for measuring SH for the determination of RLL.
- 7. To compare RLL of the study population with available WE data.

CHAPTER 3: General Methods

3.1 Introduction

This chapter provides an overview of the standard operating procedures (SOP) used for all measurements taken in the individual studies described in the relevant chapters, the recruitment procedures followed, and some of the common statistical procedures used. This chapter is divided into three sections: (i) anthropometric measures, which define the methods used for measuring body size and proportions; (ii) body composition measures to define the methods used in body composition analysis such as % fat mass (FM) and skeletal muscle mass (SMM) or fat-free mass (FFM) using bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA), dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) and air displacement plethysmography (ADP); and (iii) common statistical procedures used such as the LMS method (Cole & Green, 1992), which was used to construct centile curves for %FM and appendicular SMM (SMMa) (Chapter 5), and waist circumference (WC) (Chapter 7), and the methodology used for determining the reliability of all anthropometric measures. The importance of using SOPs is to ensure that the data was collected with precision, to limit discrepancies within and between studies, and to enable the study to be effectively replicated, without compromising its validity (Bellisari and Roche, 2005).

3.2 Recruitment Procedures

An opportunistic sample of healthy children and adolescents (based on self-report) was recruited for the studies conducted in this thesis. Data from the field-based studies were added to an existing data set of body composition and anthropometric measures of a large South Asian (SA) cohort of 1,459 UK school-aged children from a previous study conducted at this university that were recruited from primary and secondary schools within London and Greater London (Radia, 2010), although no leg length data was available in that study. The majority of SA subjects from the external mixed ethnicity cohort were from Tower Hamlets (\sim 33% Bangladeshi), Newham (\sim 10% Bangladeshi), Harrow (\sim 22% Indian), Ealing and Hounslow (\sim 17%). As one of the aims of the field-based studies was to make body composition and anthropometric comparisons within the SA ethnic group, and the external data
set lacked sufficient numbers from the Pakistani sub-group, local mosques and Muslim community centres in London boroughs were approached in an attempt to capture a large number of Pakistanis in the sample. However, this proved difficult as the majority of subjects were of Indian descent. This was not considered to be a major setback as Pakistan was only formed in 1947; prior to that it was part of India, thus all SA participants would be originally of Indian descent and it was assumed that differences in body composition within SA ethnicities was more likely to be related to lifestyle rather than genetic factors.

The target age range was 5-19y to mirror the most recent WHO growth reference standards (de Onis et al., 2007), although the cut-off was 23y in accordance with the UK90 reference charts for BMI (Cole et al., 1995). Efforts were made to restrict the age range, and preferentially recruit the majority of subjects in the 6-18y age range to ensure a wide variation in body compositions, as the major changes to body composition occur during later childhood and adolescence, with adiposity rebound occurring at approximately age 6y (Cole et al., 1995).

Ethical approval was obtained from London Metropolitan University's Ethics Committee before subject recruitment (Appendix B1). Flyers were initially distributed with reply slips collected at stands held at community events (Appendix B2). Consent forms, letters of invitation, and information packs (Appendix B3-B5) were distributed to interested participants, with signed consent required by subjects \geq 16y and signed parental consent, together with child assent, required for children <16y. Subjects were also requested to complete a brief questionnaire on gender, self-assigned ethnicity, and date of birth, prior to conducting any of the tests.

3.3 Anthropometric Measures – Accuracy & Reliability

Anthropometry is the measurement of the body including its size (e.g. body weight and stature) and proportion (e.g. BMI, or sitting height ratio (SHR); Heyward & Wagner, 2004). To minimise measurement error, it is important to follow standardised procedures, as measurement error will affect the accuracy and reliability of the results (Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Ulijaszek & Kerr, 1999). Accuracy of measurement refers to how 'true' the value of the measure is (Mueller & Martorell, 1988), and poor accuracy may be the result of equipment error, issues with the client, or observer error due to inexperience of the technician (Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Ulijaszek & Kerr, 1999). Thus to minimise inaccuracy, a single observer took all anthropometric measures for the studies conducted in this thesis and followed standardised procedures including regular calibration and checking of equipment, and practised taking all anthropometric measures under supervision prior to data collection; where secondary data was used the researcher ensured that the same measurement protocol was followed.

Reliability refers to precision of the results, or whether repeated measures would give a similar result, and is affected by intra- (one observer) or inter- (more than one observer) differences (Ulijaszek & Kerr, 1999). In addition to measuring body size and proportionality, anthropometric measures are also used as proxy markers of adiposity, such as BMI (weight (Wt; kg)/ height (Ht; m²), and WC respectively. These measures are also used as part of the more complex body composition assessment methods, such as BIA (BIA), and DXA. To assess reliability of the measurement method, certain statistical procedures are recommended, which are explained below in section 3.4 on common statistical procedures.

3.3.1 Stature

Stature or standing Ht was measured to the nearest 0.1cm using a portable stadiometer (Leicester Height Measure (LHM); Figure 3.1). Participants were asked to remove their shoes and stand as upright as possible on the base plate, with feet positioned on the foot markers, and arms hanging loosely either side of the body, with palms facing inwards, and shoulders relaxed.

The child was requested to hold their head erect with eyes facing directly forward. From the left side of the participant, the head was positioned by the researcher, in the Frankfort Plane position, whereby an imaginary horizontal line was drawn from the upper margin of the external auditory meatus and the lower border of the eye orbit (Martin et al., 1988). The horizontal top-plate of the stadiometer was then lowered to sit on the head compressing any hair, and the Ht reading was taken from the red arrow pointer within the measuring window. The LHM was regularly calibrated using a 1m rule, and each Ht measurement was taken once.



Figure 3.1 Leicester Height Measure with participant

3.3.2 Body Weight

Body weight was measured to the nearest 0.1kg, in light indoor clothing with bare feet, on the Tanita BC418-MA (Tokyo, Japan) Bioelectrical Impedance Analyser (BIA; see Figure 3.2 below), which incorporates an electronic digital scale. A correction factor of 0.5kg was applied to account for clothing. Prior to measuring, the children were requested to remove any heavy items of clothing and jewellery, as well as mobile phones. The equipment was regularly calibrated and serviced according to the manufacturer's guidelines.

3.3.3 Waist Circumference

Waist circumference was measured using a flexible tape to the nearest 0.1cm above a single layer of clothing, typically a t-shirt, vest, or school shirt, positioned midway between the top of the iliac crest and lower border of the bottom rib at the narrowest part of the torso, following a standardised procedure (Heyward & Wagner, 2004), with 0.5cm deducted from the measurement to account for clothing (McCarthy et al., 2003). In the standing position, subjects were asked to raise their arms horizontal to the floor, whilst the tape measure was passed around the body, and lower the arms during actual measurement, which was taken at the end of normal expiration.

3.3.4 Sitting Height and Leg Length

Following the successful development of a field-based sitting height measure (SHM; see chapter 6) sitting height (SH) was measured using the adapted Leicester Height Measure. All measures were taken from the left side of the body following standard guidelines (Cameron et al., 1981). Subjects were requested to sit onto the SHM which was placed on a standard table, with the back of the knees aligned with the table edge, so that the legs could hang freely directly at the knee joint. During this process, any shift in the SHM was corrected by requesting the participant to rise up slightly, using their hands for support, to enable the researcher to make appropriate adjustments.

Subjects were requested to sit as upright as possible, with shoulders relaxed and hands placed on the thighs. To prevent slumping, the researcher placed one hand at the base of the spine and the other at the top of the shoulder pressing it slightly backwards, prior to adjusting the head into the Frankfort Plane position as described above for measuring Ht (section 2.2.1). The sliding top plate was then lowered and positioned directly onto the head, compressing any hair. SH was recorded using the same methodology as described for measuring stature (section 2.1.1), with 2cm deducted from the reading to account for the Ht of the removable base (see chapter 6). The SHM was regularly calibrated using a 1m rule, and for the field-based study each measurement was taken once. Leg length (LL) was calculated by deducting SH from the stature measurement.

3.4 Body Composition Measures

The BIA validation study (chapter 3), and the field study (chapter 4), used the BC-418MA (Tanita, Tokyo) analyser. This BIA model was validated using 2 reference methods: DXA (Norland XR-8000) pencil beam scanner, and ADP. General methods used for all 3 technologies are described here. All measures were conducted in a single session for each subject, to minimise variation.

3.4.1 Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis

The analyser was placed on the floor on a stable flat surface, and all measures were conducted indoors at normal room temperature. Subjects were requested to empty their bladders prior to BIA testing to prevent any bias in the results. Measurements were conducted in light indoor clothing, with bare feet. Prior to subjects standing on the analyser, age, sex, and Ht were entered into the analyser (section 2.2.1). All subjects were entered as 'standard' body type, as none of the subjects recruited were considered to have an athletic build. Wt was measured on the BIA as detailed above (section 2.2.2). The same analyser was used for all subjects in both the validation and field studies.

Correct foot placement was explained to participants to ensure that the whole foot was in contact with the electrodes on the metal foot-plates, with any clothing raised to ankle Ht to avoid being trapped under foot. Subjects were then requested to grasp each of the handles (Figure 3.2), and hold the handles either side of the body, away from the legs at an approximate 45° angle.



Figure 3.2 Tanita BC418-MA BIA image with participant

3.4.2 Dual-Energy X-ray Absorptiometry

Prior to measurement, the scanner was calibrated using a phantom provided by the manufacturer. Subjects were measured in light indoor clothing, without shoes, and were requested to remove any metal on their clothing or bodies such as belts, watches, jewellery, and mobile phones, prior to testing. Subjects were carefully positioned lying in the supine position on the scanning table, with arms and legs placed within the scanning perimeter as marked out on the table, with palms facing down (Figure 3.3). Where possible, arms were positioned slightly away from the body, and legs were positioned slightly apart, for improved scan clarity.

During scanning, which takes approximately 5 minutes, subjects were requested to lie as still as possible and close their eyes, with the head turned to the right. The importance of not looking at the laser during operation was clearly explained to participants. The DXA was linked up to a computer, and scanning software (Norland-Illuminatus) was used to analyse the pixelated image, which provided output for % whole body fat (including Siri and Brozek %fat), as well as regional FM and LM (g; see chapter 4 Figure 4.2).



Figure 3.3 Norland XR-800 DXA scanner with participant & computer software images

3.4.3 Air Displacement Plethysmography

In this study, the ADP system employed was the Bod Pod[®] Body Composition System (Life Measurement Instruments, Concord, CA; Figure 3.4), as described in chapter 2 (section 2.5.3). Prior to subject measurements, the Bod Pod was calibrated using a 50l cylinder, following the on-screen step-by-step procedures. Repeat calibrations were conducted between subjects where possible. Subjects were measured in skintight bathing suits, with long sleeves and skin-tight leggings available if requested, and a swim-cap was used to cover the hair to minimise measurement error due to extra volume created by loose clothing and hair (McCrory et al., 1995). Predicted rather than measured lung volume was used. A male and female researcher were available to measure participants, if a same-sex researcher was requested. The test took 3-5 minutes, and the participant was first weighed to the nearest 100g on a set of electronic scales linked up to the Bod Pod computer before entering the chamber.



Figure 3.4 Bod Pod® images with participant in-situ

3.5 Data Handling & Statistical Procedures

To ensure anonymity, all participant data entered into Excel (Microsoft[®] Excel[®] for Mac 2011 version 14.4.8) and SPSS (IBM[®] SPSS[®] version 22 for Mac) was appropriately coded using a system of letters and numbers at time of data collection, recording date of measurement, date of birth, gender, and all anthropometric measures. Secondary SA (ASD) and WELI anthropometric data from a previous study conducted at this university was used for the field-based studies (Chapters 5 & 7) to maximise the SA sample size and also to provide data for comparisons with a contemporary WELI population.

3.5.1 Determination of Anthropometric Measurement Error – reliability

As stated in section 3.2, precision of measurement in anthropometry, is an assessment of reliability of results, with reference to repeated measures of a sample population taken by a single or several observers giving equivalent or very close to equivalent results. The technical error of measurement (TEM) is a commonly used method for providing an indication of the level of intra- or inter-observer precision in anthropometric measures (Mueller & Martorell, 1988). TEM is a measure of standard deviation, which is used to calculate the proportion of the total standard deviation of the sample population that results from measurement error. TEM is determined by taking repeated measurements of each subject either by one or more observers, where the difference between the measurements is entered into an appropriate equation. When only two measurements for each subject are taken, TEM is determined using the following equation:

(1) TEM = $\sqrt{(\sum D^2/2N)}$

Where D = the difference between the two measurements, and N = the number of subjects measured.

When more than two measurements of each subject are taken, a more complex equation is used:

(2) $TEM = \sqrt{(\sum_{1}^{N}(\sum_{1}^{K}M^{2}) - ((\sum_{1}^{K}M)^{2}/K)))/N(K - 1))}$ Where N = number of subjects; K = the number of measurements, and M = the actual measurement.

AS TEM has the same unit value as the unit of measurement, and large measurement values result in larger TEM values, comparisons between different measurements is difficult (Ulijaszek & Kerr, 1999).

To overcome this issue, use of relative (%) is recommended, which converts TEM to a coefficient of variation value (CV; Norton & Olds, 1996 in Ulijaszek & Kerr, 1999) using the following equation:

(3) %TEM = (TEM/mean) x 100

Where the mean value is the mean of the measured variable. However, even %TEM is problematic when making comparisons between different measures as it is negatively associated with the size of the measure, i.e. for the same TEM, large mean measurement values result in comparatively smaller %TEM values than small mean values (Roebuck et al., 1975). Due to these limitations, the coefficient of reliability (R) is considered more suitable (Mueller & Martorell, 1988). This measure ranges from 0 to 1, and is determined using the following equation:

(4) $R = 1 - (total TEM^2/SD^2)$

The value of R represents the proportion of total variance between all measured variables that is free of measurement error, thus the closer the value of R is to 1 indicates the smaller the margin of error (Mueller & Martorell, 1988). This method enables comparisons between different anthropometric measures to be made, as the absolute size of the measure does not impact the value of R (Mueller & Martorell, 1988).

To determine anthropometric measurement error for Ht, waist circumference (WC), and SH a sub-sample of 10 subjects was measured 5 times. Table 3.1 provides results for the TEM (based on equation 2), %TEM (equation 3), and R (equation 4). Different subjects were measured repeatedly for the three types of measurements taken to avoid fatigue. The results in Table 3.1 illustrate the problems with TEM, where absolute (cm) TEM is the greatest for height and smallest for relative (%) TEM, whilst the R-value is the same for all three measurements. All R-values were close to 1, indicating a low intra-observer margin of error.

Subj.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	TEM	TEM	R
#											(cm)	(%)	
Ht	180.9	155.5	168.5	185.5	149.2	172.1	154.4	182.5	165.6	187.3	0.33	0.19	0.99
(cm)	<u>+</u> 0.11	<u>+</u> 0.32	<u>+</u> 0.29	<u>+</u> 0.16	<u>+</u> 0.69	<u>+</u> 0.15	<u>+</u> 0.26	<u>+</u> 0.32	<u>+</u> 0.29	<u>+</u> 0.19			
WC	77.3	68.5	84.4	59.6	73.5	92.3	103.8	58.6	87.5	102.5	0.24	0.30	0.99
(cm)	<u>+</u> 0.24	<u>+</u> 0.13	<u>+</u> 0.24	<u>+</u> 0.19	<u>+</u> 0.26	<u>+</u> 0.24	<u>+</u> 0.19	<u>+</u> 0.19	<u>+</u> 0.19	<u>+</u> 0.17			
SH	94.1	84.6	75.7	95.6	69.3	91.2	83.4	95.5	73.5	98.4	0.21	0.25	0.99
(cm)	<u>+</u> 0.16	<u>+</u> 0.12	<u>+</u> 0.21	<u>+</u> 0.15	<u>+</u> 0.24	<u>+</u> 0.22	<u>+</u> 0.24	<u>+</u> 0.26	<u>+</u> 0.24	<u>+</u> 0.21			

Table 3.1: Anthropometric measures for Ht, WC, & SH measures (mean \pm sd) for 10 subjects together with absolute (cm) & relative (%) TEM, and R- value

Ht = Height; WC = Waist circumference; SH = Sitting height; TEM = technical error of measurement; R = reliability (see section 3.5.1)

3.5.2 Standard Deviation Scores and the LMS method

Sex-specific standard deviation scores (SDS) or Z-scores were generated in Excel, for all anthropometric variables including Ht (cm), Wt (kg), BMI, WC (cm), SH and LL, and also %FM, using the downloadable Microsoft Excel add-in LMSgrowth (www.healthforallchildren.com) which contains the British 1990 growth reference data (Cole et al., 1995). Presenting data in SDS format against British 1990 reference data enables population comparisons to be made against the relevant measures with adjustment made for changes due to age (Cole & Green, 1992).

Sex-specific smoothed percentile curves for WC, %FM and SMMa were constructed by importing data from Microsoft Excel into the downloadable LMS Chartmaker Light software (www.healthforallchildren.com). The LMS method (Cole & Green, 1992), accounts for skewness, and normalises the data for each age group based on three parameters: The Box-Cox power (Lambda ' λ '), the mean (Mu ' μ '), and the coefficient of variation (Sigma ' σ '), where the term 'LMS' is derived from the initials of each parameter. The main assumption of the LMS method is that following appropriate power transformation the data will be normally distributed, and whilst this method does not account for kurtosis, this is considered less important than skewness when adjusting for normality (Cole & Green, 1992). Exact SDS for each individual can be converted to a centile value using normal distribution tables (Cole et al., 1995).

3.5.3 Exploration of Data

Prior to conducting any parametric statistical tests in SPSS, the descriptive statistics of SDS for Ht, Wt, BMI, WC, and %FM were explored to check for any outliers or extreme cases (boxplots) and for normality of distribution by assessing histograms, mean and 5% trimmed mean, skewness and kurtosis, and the test of normality based on the Kolmogorov-Smirnov output, following recommended procedures (Field, 2012; Pallant, 2013). Selected SPPS outputs showing normality of distribution are presented in Appendix C. For the BIA validation study (Chapter 4), any extreme cases or outliers that exerted an undue influence on the mean were removed from the dataset. To assess whether the cohort for the BIA validation study were representative of the wider SA population, sex-specific comparisons with the large external SA dataset for all measured SDS were made (Chapter 4, section 4.5). Examination of histograms indicated that for the validation study the data was normally distributed, which was confirmed by a non-significant (Sig.value >0.05) Kolmogorov-Smirnov statistic. SDS for %FM had two missing values for boys and one for girls, as the UK90 data was limited to age 20y for this variable. WC data also had missing data, as the UK90 data for this variable was limited to age $\leq 16y$.

The normality tests (Appendix C) for the external datasets for the SA ASD boys, and the WELI boys and girls revealed some of the anthropometric SDS measures violated the assumptions of normality with a significant (≤ 0.05) Kolmogorov-Smirnov statistic. However, according to the 'central limit theorem' (Field, 2012 p.170-172) in large sample sizes normality can be assumed regardless of the shape of the sample data, and should not affect significance tests. Therefore, only parametric statistics tests were conducted in each of the studies. Normality tests for Ethnic Differences in Leg length (Chapter 8) are presented in Appendix D. All measured variables in this study were normally distributed, confirmed by a non-significant (Sig.value >0.05) Kolmogorov-Smirnov statistic.

CHAPTER 4: Validation Study of Tanita Bioelectrical Impedance Scales using DXA and ADP

4.1 Introduction

The BC-418 (Tanita, Tokyo) is a widely available bioelectrical impedance analyser (BIA) for clinical use, using 8-contact electrodes to measure electrical impedance (Z) in the standing position, in all four limbs. It provides whole body and segmental estimates for fat mass (FM), fat-free mass (FFM), and segmental predicted muscle mass (PMM) for all four limbs, as well as the trunk and head (Pietrobelli et al., 2004; McCarthy et al., 2006). The system uses inbuilt equations obtained from regression analyses, with DXA as the reference method (Pietrobelli et al., 2004). This model has also been validated in a mixed paediatric population of predominantly white European (WE) ethnicity, against dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) and air displacement plethysmography (ADP) (BodPod®; Pietrobelli et al., 2005), which are considered valid, reliable and suitable methods for determining body composition (BC) in children and adolescents (Fuller et al., 2002; Heymsfield et al., 1990; Lohman et al., 2006).

Essentially, BIA, based on the 2-C model (where body mass = FM + FFM), is based on the principle that height (Ht) squared divided by impedance (Ht²/Z), is proportional to the volume of total body water (TBW; Haroun et al., 2010; Kyle et al., 2004). TBW or FFM is indirectly estimated by regression analysis between the BIA output Ht²/Z and a criterion method such as hydrometry or DXA respectively, or use of a 4-C model, where FM and FFM are determined (see Chapter 2 for detailed review). As FM is anhydrous, FFM can be estimated from TBW, where the hydration of FFM is considered constant (Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Kyle et al., 2004). For example, if the hydration of FFM was assumed to be 73%, then FFM could be determined by dividing TBW by 73% (i.e. FFM = TBW/0.73). However, due to population differences in the hydration of FFM, particularly between ethnic groups, genders, and across childhood and adolescence, population specific prediction equations of FFM or TBW are recommended (Baumgartner et al., 1991; Ellis, 2000; Wang et al., 2005). The BIA in-built equations for the BC-418 model were validated using a WE sample population (Pietrobelli et al., 2004), and the use of such equations are not necessarily recommended in other ethnic groups, due to ethnic differences in the hydration of FFM (Frisard et al., 2005; Jebb et al., 2000; Sun et al., 2003; Kyle et al., 2004). Manufacturers do not provide details of how these equations are formulated, as this is considered proprietary information. Many centres have developed paediatric FFM prediction equations using BIA (Kyle et al., 2004; Haroun et al., 2010; Sluyter et al., 2010; Williams et al., 2007), which are known to vary not only due to ethnic differences in hydration of FFM (Chumlea & Sun, 2005), but also by reference method used, including variations between and within DXA models (Helba & Binkovitz, 2009; Plank, 2005).

Very few studies have developed FFM prediction equations for SA children and adolescents, that in general show that compared to reference methods, BIA underestimates FM in the South Asian (SA) population (Haroun et al., 2010; Khan et al., 2012; Sluyter et al., 2010). Only one study (Sluyter et al., 2010) was identified that developed a BIA prediction equation using the BC-418 BIA model, which was validated using a DXA pencil-beam scanner (GE Lunar, Madison, WI) as the reference method. However, this study was limited to Asian adolescents (aged 12-19y) from several different countries, and whilst the majority of the cohort were Indian, some participants were from other Asian countries including Cambodia and China, which may have impacted the predictive quality of the equation (see chapter 2 section 2.3.1.6, for more detail). In that study, compared to DXA, BIA on average significantly (P<0.001) underestimated %FM by 2.84%. There was also a tendency to overestimate %FM in lean individuals, and underestimate %FM in individuals with high adiposity levels.

A validation study has compared ethnic differences in TBW, FM and FFM using inbuilt equations, between SA, WE, and Black children aged 11-15y using a bipolar BIA instrument (Tanita TBF-300) with D₂O as the reference method; for TBW no significant bias was observed in the white population, and SA female population, however, TBW was significantly overestimated in the male SA population, and underestimated in the black population (Haroun et al., 2010). FM was also underestimated in all ethnic groups apart from black females, with the greatest underestimation occurring in the SA population. Variation in body geometry and distribution of FM and FFM between ethnic groups, confounded by the use of a bipolar BIA model were considered possible sources of error in that study (Haroun et al., 2010). Similar to the finding by Sluyter et al. (2010), BIA tended to underestimate TBW (thus overestimate FM) in individuals with higher levels of TBW (i.e. lean subjects), and TBW was overestimated (thus underestimating FM) in individuals with lower levels of TBW (i.e. subjects with greater adiposity).

An advantage of the BC-418 analyser is that in addition to estimating total body FM and FFM, it also provides an estimation of appendicular fat and skeletal muscle mass (FM_a; SMM_a), with evidence of a strong correlation between impedance and SMM_a (Haroun et al., 2010; Pietrobelli et al., 1998). As there is an established link between the distribution of FM and SMM, with abdominal adiposity and lower SMM_a considered to be greater risk factors for type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and cardiovascular disease (CVD), data on SMM_a could provide health practitioners with further information on the additional health risks associated with low SMM_a.

The BC-418 BIA has the potential of providing a simple and reliable means of determining body composition within the SA child and adolescent population, if suitable prediction equations were available for this ethnic group. References similar to those developed for WE children and adolescents for %FM (McCarthy et al., 2006) and % SMM_a (McCarthy et al., 2014), could be used in conjunction with existing BMI and WC references, which would overcome the limitations of relying on BMI alone to identify health risks, particularly in this population group, where BMI has been shown to be particularly unsuitable (see Chapter 2 – section 2.3).

4.1.1 Study Aims

In view of the limitations of the current BC418 equations for the SA child and adolescent population, the aims of this study were to:

- Validate the use of the BC418-MA (Tanita, Tokyo) BIA for SA children and adolescents in the UK (aged 5-20y), by developing sex-specific prediction equations for FFM, using DXA and ADP as the reference methods, from which %FM can be determined.
- Validate the use of BIA (BC418-MA) with DXA to determine %SMM_a for SA children and adolescents in the UK (aged 5-20y).
- Evaluate the SA FFM prediction equations produced by Sluyter et al. (2010), and Haroun et al. (2010), on the sample population as well as on the large SA cohort, within the respective age ranges.

4.2 Study Design

Body composition (BC) analysis was conducted using the tetrapolar Tanita BC-418MA Segmental Body Composition Analyser (Tanita Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). To ensure validity of the Tanita analyser for SA children, the equipment was validated against a DXA scanner and an ADP analyser in a SA paediatric population, with the development of ethnic-specific prediction equations for FFM. Validation tests were carried out in line with previous methods (Haroun et al., 2010; McCarthy et al., 2006; Pietrobelli et al., 2004; Sluyter et al., 2010).

Previous validation studies have used a sample size of between 30-50 subjects, with equal numbers from each sex (Haroun et al., 2010; Lazzer et al., 2003; Pietrobelli et al., 2004). However, according to Haroun and colleagues (2010) more important than sample size per se, is ensuring that the distribution of body composition within the sample has wide variability, to enhance the predictive accuracy of the results against the larger population. Comparisons between the sample population and a large (n= 1,459) existing data set of SA UK school-aged children (see General Methods chapter, section 3.2) were also made, to ensure that the sample was representative of the wider SA population. In addition, comparisons were also made between SA and WE variables converted to SDS format based on the UK90 reference

data (Cole et al., 1995), to assess differences between groups (see General Methods chapter section 3.4.2).

4.3 Subject Recruitment & Experimental Procedures

Healthy children and adolescents (based on self-report) were recruited for this study, with a target of 50 participants, divided equally by sex. Local mosques and Muslim community centres in North London were approached, following recruitment procedures described in Chapter 3 (General Methods, section 3.2).

4.3.1 Anthropometric Measures

Anthropometric measures including Ht, weight (Wt), and waist circumference (WC) were conducted following standardised protocols, as detailed in Chapter 3 (General Methods, section 3.3).

4.3.2 Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis

The BC-418 has 8 stainless steel contact electrodes; 2 on each footplate and 2 in each hand grip (Haroun et al., 2010; Figure 4.1). A pre-set imperceptible electrical signal is passed through the subject's tissues and the fall in impedance is used to estimate total body water (TBW), from which FFM and FM is estimated. Detailed procedures for measuring subjects are explained in Chapter 3 (General Methods). Data for FFM and %FM for the whole body, and SMM for all four limbs was recorded.



Figure 4.1 Tanita BC418-MA BIA

4.3.3 DXA

The Norland XR-800 pencil beam scanner was used to measure %total body fat, %Siri body fat, lean tissue mass (LTM) and appendicular (i.e. all four limbs) lean tissue mass (ALTM) or SMM_a. Chapter 3 (General Methods) provides standard operating procedures and the principles of DXA are explained in the Literature Review (Chapter 2 section 2.5.2). The scanner is linked to software, which provides whole body and regional (head, trunk, and appendicular) compositional estimates for FM, FFM, LTM, and bone mineral mass along with a graphical image (Figure 4.2).

The Norland XR-800 scanner provides absolute values for bone mineral (g/cm²), soft tissue FFM (g), and FM (g). %FM values are also provided for: total fat; Siri UWE (Underwater Equation) fat; Brozek UWE fat; and soft tissue fat (Figure 4.2). The Siri UWE %FM is used as the criterion value for determining where the individual lies in terms of adiposity, in comparison to national references. The method for determining this value is not provided by the manufacturers, and is considered proprietary information.

As a criterion measure, DXA is considered accurate for body composition proportionality i.e. %FM and %FFM. However, DXA Wt is derived from the sum of 3 component parts, i.e. bone-mineral content (BMC), soft-tissue FFM (described as LM), and FM (Figure 4.2), and some studies have reported discrepancies between DXA derived Wt and scale Wt (Friedl et al., 1994; Korth et al., 2007; Nelson et al., 1996; Rush et al., 2009).

		Contraction of the															
											5.	Re	gion tal Fat		%		
		13	1									Sir	TIWE	Fat	9		
		1		Sec. 2								De	vzek II	WE Fot	0		
												Div	Soft Tissue Est		12		
												50.		e rat	15		
			4									18	MC/F	ΡΜ	5		
	Bon	e image	not for	diagnosis											-		
Region Total Head	BMD (g/cm ²) 0.8040 1.719	BMC (g) 2166 414.1	Area (cm ²) 2695 240.8	Length (cm)	Width (cm)	Lean Mass (g) 41845 2873	Fat Mass (g) 5983 648.4	T- Score	Young Ref. (%)	Z- Score	Age Mate (%)	s S h Chu (% * ***	T nge %) ***	ST Change (%/yr) *****	LT Change (%) *****	LT Chang (%/yr *****	
Chest	0.6961	376.4	540.7		ST	D CV for 1	T244	C: 0.9 Se	e Guide fo	r other C	Vs.						
2				6.5 mm)	(13.0 mr	n, 260 mm	/s, 66.95	i cm, Rev	. 4.3.1/2.3	1 Calib. (08/30/1	1 S/N 858	30		_		_
Comments:																	
	100																
	Age	19 20-39		1730-00-144					Vienas		-		4844		1.000	-	
		60-79	0	5		10	15 Sir	2 i UW	0 E Fat '	25 %	3)	35	40		45	
Scan 1	Scan Inf	ormatio	D D n hole Bo	5 dy		10	15 Sir	2 i UW	0 E Fat	25 %	30)	35 13.0 x 6	40		45	
Scan 7 Analys	Scan Inf Type: sis Date:	ormatio W	n 1/9/2011	5 dy 11:47:21	AM	10	15 Sir	2 i UW	0 E Fat	25 %	30	0	35 13.0 x 6 260 mm	40 3.5 /s		45	
Scan T Analys Calibra	Scan Inf Type: sis Date: ation Date	ormatio W 11 : 08	n hole Bo 1/9/2011 3/30/11	5 dy 11:47:21	AM	10	15 Sir	2 i UW	0 E Fat' s	25 % Resolution Speed: Vidth:	on:	0	35 13.0 x 6 260 mm 67.0	40 3.5 /s		45	
Scan T Analys Calibra Techno Physic	Scan Inf Type: sis Date: ation Date ologist: sian:	ormatio W 11 : 08	n hole Bo 1/9/2011	dy 11:47:21	AM	10	15 Sir	2 i UW	0 E Fat s	25 % Resolution Speed: Vidth: lost/Sca Analysis	30 30 00n: Mnner:	on:	35 13.0 x 6 260 mm 67.0 4.3.1/2.3	40 3.5 /s 3.1		45	
Scan T Analys Calibra Techno Physic	Scan Inf Type: sis Date: ation Date ologist: slan: Details	ormatio W 11 : 08	0 0 hole Bo /9/2011	5 dy 11:47:21	AM	10	15 Sir	2 i UW	D E Fat	25 % Speed: Vidth: Liost/Sca	30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 3))))))	35 13.0 x 6 260 mm 67.0 4.3.1/2: 4.3.1	40 :.5 :5 3.1		45	
Scan T Analys Calibra Techno Physic	Scan Inf Type: sis Date: ation Date ologist: slan: <u>Detaile</u>	formatio W 111 C OR	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	dy 11:47:21	AM	10	15 Sir	2 i UW	D E Fat	25 % Resolution ipeed: Vidth: lost/Sca Analysis	30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50) ion:	35 13.0 x 6 260 mm 67.0 4.3.1/2: 4.3.1	40 3.5 3.1		45	
Scan T Analys Calibra Technic Physic	Scan Inf Type: is Date: ation Date ologist: slan: <u>Details</u> BMD	ormatio W 11 : 00 BMC	0 0 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	dy 11:47:21	AM the Wite	ID	15 Sir	2 i UW	0 E Fat 8 9 9 9	25 % ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ?	3 3 mner: Revisi) Joint March	35 13.0 x 6 260 mm 67.0 4.3.1/2: 4.3.1	40 .5 .5 .5 .7s .3.1	ST	45 LT Chance	LT
Scan T Analys Calibra Techno Physic	Scan Inf Type: ais Date: ation Date ologist: clan: <u>Detaile</u> BMD (g/cm ²)	tormatio W 111 :: 08 BMC (g)	1 1	dy 11:47:21 a Leng	AM th Wie	ID lith Lee Maa (g	15 Sir	2 i UW	0 E Fat s b b c core Ref	25 % % ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ?	3 3 nner: /Revisi 2- Score) lon: Match (%)	35 13.0 x 6 260 mm 67.0 4.3.1/2.3 4.3.1 2Char (%	40 :55 //s 3.1	ST aange	LT Change (%)	LT Chang (%éyr
Scan T Analys Calibra Techno Physic Region Midriff	Scan Inf Type: sis Date: ation Date ologist: sian: Details (g/cm ²) 0.9272	bormatio W 111 : 08 BMCC (g) 34.01	0 0 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	dy 11:47:21 *) (cm 8	AM th Wite) (cn	10 tth Lee Ma (g 181	15 Sir ss M (0 8 33	2 i UW	0 E Fat s y F- Yore Ref	25 % Resolutik ipped: Vidith: lostSca unalysis	30 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31	On: Age Match (%)	35 13.0 x 6 260 mm 67.0 4.3.1/2: 4.3.1 Chata (%	40 5.5 /s 3.1	ST iango 6/yr)	LT Change (%)	LT Chang (%i/yr
Scan T Analys Calibra Techno Physic Region Midriff Pelvis Left	Scan Inf Type: sis Date: ation Date ologist: clan: Details (g/cm ²) 0.9272 0.7626	Correction W 111 Correction W 111 Correction	Image: 100 million Image:	dy 11:47:21 a Leng ^(*) (cm 8 7	AM th Wid	10 1th Let Ma (g 181 745	15 Sir Sir Sss M. (18 8 33 0 22	2 i UW ass Sc g) Sc 5.6 **	D E Fat S V A F- Yo F- Yo F- Yo	25 25 % kesolutik ispeed: Vidth: ilostSca inalysis : (%) S : (%) S	30 on: mner: Revisi	Oon: Age Match (%)	35 13.0 x 6 260 mm 67.0 4.3.1/2: 4.3.1 Chat Chat (%4	40 3.5 3.1	ST ange 6/yr)	LT Change (%)	LT Chang (%úyr
Scan T Analys Calibra Techno Physic Region Midriff Pelvis Left Left Left	Scan Inf Type: ais Date: ation Date ologist: ation Details (g/cm ²) 0.9272 0.7626 0.8820	ormatio W 11 : 08 BMCC (g) 34.01 224.0 405.1	1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	5 dy 11:47:21 a Long ⁹) (cm 8 7 3	AM th Wid	10 1th Lee Ma (g) 181 745 735	15 Sir Sir Sss M (0 8 33 0 22 8 12	2 i UWV ass Sc g) Sc s.6.0 ** 281 **	C Fat	25 % tesolutic speed: Vidth: lostSca lostSca (%) S 	30 on: mner: Revisi) lon: Match (%) *****	35 13.0 x 6 260 mm 67.0 4.3.1/2: 4.3.1 ST Char (% 4.3.1 2.5 Char (%	40 .5 %s 3.1	ST ango 6/y7)	45 LT Change (%) ******	LT Chang (%/yr *****
Scan T Analys Calibra Techno Physic Region Midriff Pelvis Left Leg Right Leg	Scan Inf Type: ats Date: ation Date ologist: tian: Details (g/cm ²) 0.9272 0.7626 0.8820 0.8820	Correction Correction W 111 Correction W 111 Correction W 111 Correction Correction W 111 Correction	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	5 dy 11:47:21 *) (cm 8 7 3 1	AM th Wid	ID Let Ma Ma (g 181 745 735 709	15 Sir Sir Sir Sir Sir Sir Sir Sir Sir Sir	2 i UWV ass Sc 8) 5.6 ** 6.0 ** 181 **	0 E Fat 8 8 9 9 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	25 % Resolutik ippeed: Vidith: loostSca unag c. (%) S **** * **** *	30 on: mner: Z- Score	On: Age Match (%) *****	35 13.0 x 6 280 mm 67.0 4.3.1/2: 4.3.1 Char (% 4.3.1 : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : :	40 5.5 /s 3.1	ST iango 6/y7) ****	LT Change (%) ******	LT Chang (%/y7 ******
Scan T Analyss Calibra Techno Physic Physic Region Midriff Pelvis Left Leg Right Leg Left Arm	Scan Inf Type: ais Date: ation Date ologist: clan: Details (g/cm ²) 0.9272 0.7626 0.8820 0.8497 0.4841	Correction Correction W 111 Correction W 111 Correction W 111 Correction W 111 Correction W 111 Correction W 111 Correction Correction W Correction Cor	1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0	5 dy 11:47:21 a Leng) (cm 8 7 3 1 7	AM th Wid	10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	15 Sir ss M.) ((8 33 0 22 8 12 77 14 1 40	2 i UWV ass Sc sc sc sc sc sc sc sc sc sc sc sc sc sc	0 E Fat S V H A C- Y C- Y C- Y C- Y C- Y C- Y C- Y C-	25 % tesolutic speed: Vldth: lost/Sca inalysis (%) S *** * *** *	30 on: mner: ARevisi	0) Age Match (%) ****** ******	35 13.0 x 6 260 mm 67.0 4.3.1/2: 4.3.1 ST Chat (% 4.3.1 2.5 Chat (% 4.3.1 2.5 Chat (%) ***********************************	40 .55 //s 3.1 fige Cb e) (% ** ** ** **	ST ange 6/57)	45 LT Change (%) ****** *****	LT Chang (%ýyī) ******

Figure 4.2 Example of DXA output of whole-body scan (from Norland XR-800 pencil beam scanner). DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry

4.3.4 ADP

ADP (Bod Pod[®]) is a 2-C method, which measures body volume and mass, from which body density (Db) is determined (McCrory et al., 1995). %FM is determined using the Siri (1961) equation: %FM = $[(4.95/Db - 4.50) \times 100)]$, and FFM is determined by subtracting FM from body Wt. Chapter 3 General Methods, provides detailed operating procedures and the principles of ADP are explained in the Literature Review (Chapter 2 section 2.5.3).

4.4 Statistical Analyses

Preliminary analyses of the data were conducted to assess for normal distribution (See Chapter 3 General Methods section 3.4.3). Data for Ht, Wt, BMI, WC, and %FM were also converted to standard deviation scores (SDS) or Z scores, using LMS Growth (Cole et al., 1995) software, to compare with UK90 reference data.

For validation of the BC418 analyser, the relationship and difference between BIA and the reference methods DXA and ADP (BodPod), for absolute and relative FM and FFM (kg and %), were compared, firstly for the whole sample and then split by gender. Additionally, to assess whether the sample was representative of the wider population, comparisons were made with the external group, as explained in section 4.2 above. Statistical analyses involved paired sample correlations, t-tests, and ANOVA, as well as simple multiple linear regression, using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS v.20 for Mac; IBM.com). Significant values were computed at the P<0.05 level unless otherwise stated. Segmental comparisons between BIA and DXA also included trunk and appendicular body composition measures. Bland-Altman (Bland & Altman, 1986) analyses were also conducted for between-method bias for all measured variables. New equations were developed for predicting FM and FFM following regression with BIA and the reference method.

4.5 Results

A total of 53 (25 females and 28 males) healthy children and adolescents aged 5-21y, were recruited for the study. Initial analyses of the sample data set, revealed one extreme case and one outlier for Wt and FM within the female sample, which when compared with the external data set was exerting an undue influence on the whole sample mean SDS; these two cases were therefore removed from the analyses. The female participant presenting as an extreme case in the data analysis did not fit within the DXA scanning range due to her large size, and one male participant had to be excluded from the analyses, as he was discovered to have a mobile phone in his pocket, after the scan had been completed. Of the final sample of 50 subjects (23 females and 27 males), 10 were Bangladeshi and 2 were Pakistani, therefore within-group comparisons were not made. 3 (2 females and 1 male) declined to enter the BodPod resulting in missing data for this measure.

4.5.1 Subject Characteristics

The subject characteristics of the final sample are summarised in Table 4.1, which also includes data from the external group (see section 4.2 above). 121 (boys n = 82 and girls n = 39) subjects were recruited for the field-based study, and data taken from the previous body composition study of 1459 (boys n = 584 and girls n = 875) school-aged children was added. This external dataset was included to assess whether the sample was representative of the wider population, as explained previously, and to apply any correction factors developed in this study.

Compared to UK90 reference data, the study group sample as a whole, was on average lighter (-0.29 SDS), shorter (-0.30 SDS), had a lower BMI (-0.29 SDS), but a higher %FM (0.23 SDS; based on BIA), and WC (0.35 SDS). For boys, on average, the sample was lighter (-0.30 SDS), slightly shorter (-0.07 SDS), with a lower BMI (-0.48 SDS), and a higher %body fat (0.35 SDS), and slightly higher WC (0.01 SDS). Similarly, the female sample was on average lighter (-0.29 SDS), shorter (-0.57 SDS), with a slightly lower mean BMI (-0.07 SDS), and a higher %FM (0.10 SDS), and WC (0.75 SDS). There were no statistically significant differences between the sexes for most of the measured variables in Table 4.1, except for BIA FM (kg; P= 0.008), and BIA %FM (P< 0.001). Similarly, the SA external group, for the sample as a whole, and for boys and girls respectively, compared to the UK90 reference data, was on average lighter (-0.11; -0.06; -0.16 SDS), very slightly shorter (-0.06; -0.03; -0.08 SDS); with a lower BMI (-0.17; -0.11; -0.21 SDS), and a higher %FM (0.37; 0.53; 0.25 SDS), and WC (0.25; 0.31; 0.20 SDS).

Same sex comparisons were also made between the study group and the SA external group for all measured variables (Table 4.1). The mean age of both the male (12.27y) and female (13.5y) sample of the study group was significantly greater (P< 0.05) than that of the external group (mean age = 9.63y & 9.12y respectively). Likewise, there were significant differences between most of the absolute values of the measured variables at the P< 0.05 level. However, for SDS values, apart from a significant (P< 0.05) difference in Ht for the female sample only (Ht SDS = -0.57; - 0.08 for the study group and external group respectively), no significant differences were observed between the SDS values for any of the other SDS measured variables.

	BIA Validation St	udy Group		SA External Group				
Variables	All	Boys	Girls	All	Boys	Girls		
	(n=50)	(n=27)	(n=23)	(n=1580)	(n=666)	(n=914)		
	12.04 - 1.06	10.05 . 1.05	40.5 - 4.05	0.60 - 0.51	0.40* . 0.54	40.00* - 0.00		
Decimal Age (years)	12.84 ± 4.26	12.27 ± 4.25	13.5 ± 4.27	9.63 ± 2.71	$9.12^* \pm 2.74$	$10.00^{+} \pm 2.63$		
(Range) (y)	(5-21)	(5-21)	(5-21)	(4-21)	(4-21)	(4-21)		
Wt (kg)	42.35 ± 17.19	41.54 ± 19.46	43.31 ± 14.45	33.35 ± 13.60	31.69* ± 13.54	34.56* ± 13.51		
Wt SDS	-0.29 ± 1.04	-0.30 ± 1.15	-0.29 ± 0.92	-0.11 ± 1.34	-0.06 ± 1.37	-0.16 ± 1.32		
	1 40 + 0 10	1 40 + 0 21	1 47 - 0 10	1.26 + 0.17	1 22* + 0 10	1 20* + 0 17		
Ht (m)	1.48 ± 0.18	1.49 ± 0.21	1.47 ± 0.13	1.36 ± 0.17	$1.33^{+} \pm 0.18$	$1.38^{+} \pm 0.17$		
Ht SDS	-0.30 ± 1.11	-0.07 ± 0.91	-0.57 ± 1.28	-0.06 ± 1.01	-0.03 ± 1.00	-0.08* ± 1.01		
	0.00 - 1.11	0107 = 017 =	0.07 - 1.20	0.000 = 1.01	0100 = 1100			
BMI (kg/m ²)	18.5 ± 4.31	17.7 ± 4.05	19.49 ± 4.50	17.3 ± 3.70	17.0 ± 3.56	17.51* ± 3.79		
		<u> </u>		0.15 1.16				
BMISDS	-0.29 ± 1.37	-0.48 ± 1.37	-0.07 ± 1.36	-0.17 ± 1.46	-0.11 ± 1.52	-0.21 ± 1.42		
WC (cm) (n=48)	66.06 + 11.57	6536+1226	66.89 + 10.92	59 99 + 10 07	60 34* + 10 56	59 73* + 9 70		
	00100 - 11107	00100 - 12120	00107 = 10172	0,0,0,0 = 10,0,0	00101 - 10100	57176 2 7176		
WC SDS (n=39)	0.35 ± 1.29	0.01 ± 1.12	0.75 ± 1.38	0.25 ± 1.41	0.31±1.36	0.20 ± 1.45		
BIA FM (kg)	9.38 ± 5.32	7.36* ± 3.78	11.38*± 5.91	8.06 ± 5.43	6.92 ± 4.98	8.89* ± 5.60		
BIA %FM	21 32 + 7 08	18 36** + 4 78	24 79** + 5 91	22 49 + 6 16	20 37 + 6 09	24.03 + 5.75		
bin /or in	21.52 ± 7.00	10.50 ± 4.70	24.77 ± 5.71	22.17 ± 0.10	20.57 ± 0.09	21.05 ± 5.75		
BIA FFM (kg)	32.30 ± 12.49	33.86 ± 15.96	31.93 ± 9.29	25.30 ± 8.92	24.79* ± 9.47	25.69* ± 8.49		
BIA %FM SDS (n=47)	0.23 ± 0.98	0.35 ± 0.97	0.10 ± 1.00	0.37 ± 1.11	0.53 ± 1.08	0.25 ± 1.11		
H+2/Impodance	20.24 ± 10.02	21 22 ± 12 21	20.15 + 7.57					
m-/mpedance	30.24 ± 10.93	31.22 ± 13.31	29.10 ± 7.37					

Table 4.1: Subject characteristics (mean ±sd) and comparisons of mean values between boys and girls of study group, and same sex comparisons between BIA validation study group and SA external group.

Significantly different by Independent Samples Test *P< 0.05; **P< 0.001 Sig. (2-tailed). Standard deviation scores (SDS) for Wt, Ht, BMI, waist, and %FM were based on the UK90 reference data (Cole et al., 1998). BIA = Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis; SA = South Asian; Wt = weight; Ht = height; BMI = body mass index; WC = waist circumference; FM = fat mass; FFM = fat-free mass; SDS = standard deviation score

Figures 4.3 and 4.4 are respective scatterplots showing the distribution of the BMI SDS against age of the total study sample and sex-specific scatterplots of the external group. The scatterplots show that for both boys and girls, BMI SDS were evenly distributed around the mean, with very few subjects falling outside of the mean \pm 3sd range.



Figure 4.3 Scatterplot showing the distribution of the BMI SDS against age of the total study sample, based on the UK90 reference data. BMI = body mass index; SDS = standard deviation score





Figure 4.4 Scatterplot showing the distribution of the BMI SDS against age of the external South Asian group based on the UK90 reference data (upper graph = boys; lower graph = girls). BMI = body mass index; SDS = standard deviation score

4.5.2 Body Weight Comparisons

Both BIA and ADP Wt are determined by direct measurement using scale Wt. However, DXA Wt is determined by summing the weights of three component parts, i.e. BMC + soft-tissue FFM (LM) + FM. As there were no observed differences between BIA and ADP Wt, initial comparisons were made between DXA Wt and BIA Wt. Statistical comparisons between DXA and BIA Wt revealed that DXA Wt was strongly correlated with BIA Wt (R²=998, r= 0.999; Figure 4.5). However, DXA consistently overestimated Wt compared to BIA (mean difference DXA – BIA = 2.47kg (sd 1.03); 95% limits of agreement (mean ±2sd) = 0.40 to 4.54kg (see Figure 4.6), which was significant at the P<0.001 level.



Figure 4.5 Scatterplot comparing BIA weight with DXA weight. BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry



Figure 4.6 Bland-Altman comparison between DXA and BIA Weight. BIA =bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry

Due to the discrepancies in DXA Wt and scale Wt (BIA Wt), absolute values for DXA_{Siri} FM (kg) and FFM (kg), were determined in two different ways.

DXASiri FM:

- i) DXA_{Siri} FM (kg)= DXA_{Siri} %FM x DXA Wt (i.e. BMC (kg) + DXA LM (kg) + DXA FM (kg)
- ii) DXA_{Siri} FM2 (kg) = DXA_{Siri} %FM x BIA Wt (kg)

The first Siri FM (kg) value is represented as DXA_{Siri} FM, and the second Siri FM (kg) value, determined by using BIA scale Wt, is represented in all analyses as DXA_{Siri} FM2.

DXASiri FFM:

- i) DXA_{Siri} FFM (kg) = (BMC (kg) + LM (kg) + FM (kg)) DXA_{Siri} FM (kg)
- ii) DXA_{Siri} FFM2 (kg) = DXA_{Siri} %FFM^{*} x BIA Wt

* Based on the 2C model where Body Wt = FM +FFM, DXA_{Siri} %FFM was determined by subtracting DXA_{Siri} %FM from 100.

4.5.3 Body Composition Comparisons between BIA and DXA

Due to the significant gender differences for BIA FM and %FM (Table 4.1), body composition variables were analysed for the whole group and separately by gender. Table 4.2 provides body composition descriptive (mean) data for all absolute (kg) and relative (%) FM and FFM, for BIA and DXA, together with comparisons between the methods showing correlations, mean differences and limits of agreement.

Table 4.2: Body composition measures (mean ± sd) of SA BIA validation study group by BIA and DXA, for percentage fat-mass (%FM), absolute fatmass (FM; kg), and absolute fat-free mass (FFM; kg), with Bland-Altman comparisons between methods showing mean difference and limits of agreement

	All (n =51)			Boys (n =27)			Girls (n =24)			
	Mean ±sd	Mean difference ±sd (r) DXA - BIA	Limits of agreement (mean difference <u>+</u> 2sd) DXA - BIA	Mean ±sd	Mean difference ±sd (r) DXA -BIA	Limits of agreement (mean difference <u>+</u> 2sd) DXA - BIA	Mean ±sd	Mean difference ±sd (r) DXA -BIA	Limits of agreement (mean difference <u>+</u> 2sd) DXA - BIA	
BIA FM (%)	21.82 ± 6.88	-	-	18.54 ± 4.96	-	-	24.94 ±5.91	-	-	
DXA _{Siri} FM (%)	24.31± 9.06	2.49 ± 5.17, (0.82) *	-7.84 to 12.83	20.59 ± 7.86	2.23 ± 5.21, (0.77) *	-8.19 to 12.65	27.87 ±8.23	2.79 ± 5.21, (0.80) *	-7.64 to 13.22	
DXA _{total} FM (%)	31.13 ±10.37	9.32 ± 6.33, (0.80) **	-3.35 to 21.98	26.52 ± 9.11	8.16 ± 6.36, (0.75) **	-	36.33 ±9.31	10.63 ± 6.19, (0.75) **	-	
BIA FM (kg)	9.94 ±6.59	-	-	7.68 ± 4.16	-	-	12.47 ±7.89	-	-	
DXA _{siri} FM21 (kg)	10.87 ±6.93	0.93 ± 2.16, (0.95) *	-3.39 to 5.25	8.38 ± 4.70	0.70 ± 2.20, (0.88)	-3.70 to 5.10	13.66 ±8.01	1.18 ± 2.13, (0.96) *	-3.08 to 5.45	
BIA FFM (kg)	33.29 ±13.29	-	-	33.86 ±15.96	-		32.66 ±9.77	-		
DXA _{siri} FFM21 (kg)	32.26 ±13.50	-0.93 ± 2.16, (0.99) *	-5.25 to 3.39	33.16 ± 16.18	-0.70 ± 2.20, (0.99)	-5.10 to 3.70	31.48 ±9.92	-1.18 ± 2.13, (0.98) *	-5.45 to 3.08	

SA = South Asian; BIA = Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis; DXA = Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry; (r value = Paired Samples Correlations). Significant difference between BIA and DXA *P<0.05; **P<0.001 Sig. (2-tailed Paired Samples Test). FM = fat mass; FFM = fat=free mass; ¹absolute DXA_{siri} FM2 & FFM2 (kg), were weight corrected using BIA scale weight (see section 4.5.2).

4.5.3.1 %FM & %FFM comparisons between BIA & DXA

Initial comparisons were made between BIA %FM and both DXA_{Siri} and DXA_{total} %FM, to confirm that for this DXA model, as stipulated by the manufacturers, DXA_{Siri} was the appropriate output for body composition assessment. For completeness and confirmation that errors were not made in data entry, %FFM comparisons were also made, although were expected to be equivalent outputs of %FM, but opposite in direction.

Scatterplots showing the relationship between BIA and both DXA_{Siri} and DXA_{total} %FM are presented in Figures 4.7 to 4.9. The graphs show a strong positive correlation between BIA %FM and DXA (Siri and total) %FM, for the sample as a whole and for both sexes. The correlations were stronger between BIA %FM and DXA_{Siri} %FM (R² = 0.68, 0.59, 0.63), than between BIA %FM and DXA_{total} %FM (R² = 0.65, 0.57, 0.56) for the whole sample and for boys and girls respectively. BIA %FM compared to DXA_{total} %FM almost consistently underestimated %FM. However, compared to DXA Siri %FM, BIA tended to overestimate %FM at the leaner end of the scale (<15% FM for boys, and <20%FM for girls), and underestimate fat at higher adiposity levels (Figure 4.8), with the level of underestimation increasing as %FM increased.

The paired-samples tests and Bland-Altman (Bland & Altman, 1986) comparisons revealed that for both DXA_{total} and DXA_{Siri} %FM, BIA significantly underestimated %FM (Table 4.2 and Figures 4.10 to 4.11). However, much larger differences were observed between BIA and DXA_{total} %FM than between BIA and DXA_{Siri} %FM. Compared to DXA_{total} %FM, BIA on average underestimated %FM by 9.32% (sd 6.33; P< 0.001) with limits of agreement (mean ± 2sd) ranging from -3.35 to 21.98% for the whole sample. However, comparisons between DXA_{Siri} and BIA %FM revealed that BIA on average underestimated %FM by 2.49% (sd 5.17; P = 0.001), with limits of agreement ranging from -7.84 to 12.83%.

Due to the large differences between BIA and DXA_{total} %FM, all other body composition comparisons were made between DXA_{Siri} variables only. Comparisons between BIA and DXA_{Siri} %FM separated by gender (Table 4.2 and Figure 4.11),

revealed that for boys and girls respectively, BIA on average significantly underestimated %FM by 2.23% (sd 5.21; P = 0.035; limits of agreement -8.19 to 12.65%), and 2.79% (sd 5.21; P = 0.015; limits of agreement -7.65 to 13.50%). As expected, equivalent outputs, in the opposite direction, were revealed for comparisons between BIA and DXA_{Siri} %FFM, i.e. in all cases compared to DXA_{Siri}, BIA significantly overestimated %FFM, by the equivalent amount it underestimated %FM (results not shown).





Figure 4.7 Scatterplots comparing BIA %FM with DXASiri (upper graph; BIA %FM = 0.63 x DXASiri %FM + 6.6) and DXAtotal %FM (lower graph; BIA %FM = 0.53 x DXAtotal %FM + 5.2) for whole sample. FM = fat mass; BIA =bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry. DXASiri & DXAtotal outputs (see section 4.3.3).





Figure 4.8 Scatterplots comparing BIA %FM with DXASiri %FM (upper graph boys only and lower graph girls only). FM = fat mass; BIA =bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry. DXASiri & DXAtotal outputs (see section 4.3.3).





Figure 4.9 Scatterplots comparing BIA %FM with DXAtotal %FM (upper graph boys only and lower graph girls only). FM = fat mass; BIA =bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry. DXASiri & DXAtotal outputs (see section 4.3.3).



FM (%)



Figure 4.10 Bland–Altman plot showing mean difference & limits of agreement (mean ±2sd) between BIA %FM with DXASiri (upper graph) and between DXAtotal %FM (lower graph) for whole sample. FM = fat mass; BIA =bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry. DXASiri & DXAtotal outputs (see section 4.3.3).





Figure 4.11 Bland–Altman plot showing mean difference & limits of agreement (mean difference $\pm 2sd$) between DXASiri and BIA %FM (upper graph boys only, lower graph girls only). FM = fat mass; BIA =bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry. DXASiri & DXAtotal outputs (see section 4.3.3).

4.5.3.2 FM & FFM comparisons between BIA & DXA

In all cases BIA strongly correlated with DXA (i.e. FM2 and FFM2) for both FM ($R^2 = 0.90$; 0.78; 0.93) and FFM ($R^2 = 0.97$; 0.98; 0.95), for the whole sample and boys and girls respectively (Figures 4.12 to 4.14). The mean difference and limits of agreement for FM and FFM between BIA and DXA as expected gave equivalent outputs, but in the reverse direction (Figures 4.15 to 4.17 and Table 4.2). Compared to DXA, BIA underestimated FM and overestimated FFM. This difference was significant in the whole sample (FM mean difference = 0.93kg; sd = 2.16; limits of agreement = -3.39 to 5.25kg; P = 0.003), and in the female sample (FM mean difference = 1.18kg; sd 2.13; limits of agreement = -3.08 to 5.45kg; P = 0.012). However, the difference between BIA and DXA_{Siri} for FM2 and FFM2, in the male sample, was not significant (FM mean difference = 0.70kg; sd = 2.20; limits of agreement = -3.70 to 5.10; P = 0.108).




Figure 4.12 Scatterplots comparing BIA FM with DXASiri FM2 (kg; upper graph) and BIA FFM with DXASiri FFM2 (kg; lower graph) for whole sample. DXASiri FM2 & FFM2 were weight (Wt) corrected using scale Wt (see section 4.5.2). FM = fat mass; FFM = fat-free mass; BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry.





Figure 4.13 Scatterplots comparing BIA FM with DXASiri FM2 (kg; upper graph) and BIA FFM with DXASiri FFM2 (kg; lower graph) for boys only. DXASiri FM2 & FFM2 were weight (Wt) corrected using scale Wt (see section 4.5.2). FM = fat mass; FFM = fat-free mass; BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry





Figure 4.14 Scatterplots comparing BIA FM with DXASiri FM2 (kg; upper graph) and -BIA FFM with DXASiri FFM2 (kg; lower graph) for girls only. DXASiri FM2 & FFM2 were weight (Wt) corrected using scale Wt (see section 4.5.2). FM = fat mass; FFM = fat-free mass; BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry





Figure 4.15 Bland–Altman plot showing mean difference & limits of agreement (mean difference + 2sd) between BIA FM with DXASiri FM2 (upper graph) and between DXASiri FFM2 (lower graph) for whole sample. DXASiri FM2 & FFM2 were weight (Wt) corrected using scale Wt (see section 4.5.2). FM = fat mass; FFM = fat-free mass; BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry





Figure 4.16 Bland – Altman plot showing mean difference & limits of agreement (mean difference + 2sd) between BIA FM with DXASiri FM2 (upper graph) and between DXASiri FFM2 (lower graph) for boys only. DXASiri FM2 & FFM2 were weight (Wt) corrected using scale Wt (see section 4.5.2). FM = fat mass; FFM = fat-free mass; BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry





Figure 4.17 Bland–Altman plot showing mean difference & limits of agreement (mean difference + 2sd) between BIA FM with DXASiri FM2 (upper graph) and between DXASiri FFM2 (lower graph) for girls only. DXASiri FM2 & FFM2 were weight (Wt) corrected using scale Wt (see section 4.5.2). FM = fat mass; FFM = fat-free mass; BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry

4.5.3.3 ADP comparisons with BIA & DXA

Similar to the DXA outcomes reported above, BIA consistently underestimated %FM compared to ADP as can be seen by the line of equality in the upper graph in Figure 4.18 showing a strong positive correlation between BIA and ADP (r = 0.84, $r^2 = 0.71$). The Bland-Altman plot also revealed a mean difference between ADP and BIA (BIA - ADP) of -4.9% with the 95% limits of agreement ranging from -14.8% to 5%. As seen in Figure 4.19, a strong positive relationship was observed between DXA and ADP for % fat (r=0.87, $r^2 = 0.75$); however, there did appear to be one outlier, and removal of this data point improved the relationship (r=0.90, $r^2 = 0.81$), and the mean difference between the two measures fell slightly to 1.2%. However, a significant difference was observed in %FM between DXA and ADP with the outlier included (p = 0.03) with a mean difference (ADP – DXA) between the two methods of 1.5%, with ADP having an overall tendency to underestimate %FM. Although removal of the outlier reduced the difference slightly, this remained significant (p=0.05). Whilst the mean difference between these two methods was small (Bland-Altman graph Figure 4.19), the 95% limits of agreement (mean ± 2sd) were very large, ranging from -18.8% to 21.2 %FM, with 4 data points falling outside this range.





Figure 4.18 Upper graph correlation of BIA whole body % fat vs ADP whole body % fat (%FMBIA = 0.6 x %FMBodPod + 5.9; r = 0.84, P<0.001) with line of equality. Lower graph Bland-Altman plot showing limits of agreement between %FM for BIA and ADP. FM = fat mass; BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis; ADP = air displacement plethysmography





Figure 4.19 Upper graph correlation of DXA whole body % fat vs ADP whole body % fat (%FMBodPod = 0.8 x %FMDXA+ 4.3; r = 0.87, P<0.001) with line of equality. Lower graph Bland-Altman plot showing limits of agreement between %FM for DXA and ADP. FM = fat mass; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry; ADP = air displacement plethysmograph; DXAsiri (see section 4.3.3).

Due to the significant differences in %FM between BIA and ADP, and ADP and DXA, with very large limits of agreement, it seemed likely that ADP was producing some spurious results, thus further analyses were conducted solely between BIA and DXA,

and given that the in-built BIA equation for this model was validated against method, it seemed prudent to use the same method.

4.5.3.4 %FM, absolute (kg) FM and FFM comparisons with different %FM and age cut-offs

Due to observed variations in the scatterplots, with BIA overestimating %FM for the leaner sample, and underestimating %FM for subjects with higher adiposity (see Figures 4.7 to 4.8), more detailed analyses were carried out on BIA %FM, absolute FM (kg) and absolute FFM (kg), separating the sample by gender and using a %FM cut-off based on DXA_{Siri} %FM, and secondly an age cut-off, which roughly divided the sample in half.

For boys, the two %FM cut-offs were DXA Siri %FM \leq 20% and >20%; and for girls the two cut-offs were DXA Siri %FM \leq 30% and >30%. The scatterplots for both %FM cut-offs are presented in Figures 4.20 to 4.23. Results for paired-samples tests comparing BIA %FM with DXA_{Siri} %FM, are presented in Table 4.3. No significant differences were observed between BIA %FM and DXA_{Siri} %FM for the leaner samples for either gender with BIA only slightly overestimating %FM compared to DXA Siri, (mean difference = -1.3%; p = 0.217 for boys; and mean difference = -0.31%; p = 0.786 for girls). However, the correlations were weak (r = 0.28; R² = 0.079) for boys, and strong (r = 0.67; R² = 0.45).

At the higher adiposity cut-offs, significant differences were observed between BIA and DXA_{Siri} %FM for both genders, with BIA consistently underestimating %FM (mean difference = 6.03%, P< 0.001 for boys; and mean difference = 5.73%, p = 0.004 for girls). However, for the male sample the correlation (Table 4.3 and Figure 4.22) was strong (r = 0.73, R² = 0.56) unlike their leaner counterparts, whilst for the female sample the correlation remained strong (r = 0.58, R² = 0.33).

These analyses were repeated for both genders at different age cut-offs. Male age cut-offs were $\leq 12y$ and > 12y, and female age cut-offs were $\leq 13y$ and >13y. Scatterplots for both age cut-offs are presented in Figures 4.23 to 4.24 and results for paired-samples tests are presented in Table 4.3. For both genders, correlations were strong for both age cut-offs, although the strongest correlations were observed

in the younger age groups (r = 0.82, R² = 0.68 for boys $\leq 12y$; r = 0.85, R² = 0.72 for girls $\leq 13y$; and r = 0.53, R² =0.28 for boys >12y; and r = 0.80, R² = 0.64 for girls > 13y). Significant differences were observed between BIA and DXA_{Siri} %FM for boys $\leq 12y$, with BIA on average underestimating %FM (mean difference = 3.84%, p = 0.013. However, no significant differences were observed in boys >12y (mean difference = 0.49%, p = 0.732. In the female sample, difference = 3.51%, p = 0.055). In the older age group (>13y), no significant differences were observed (mean difference = 2.08%, p = 0.168).

Comparisons between BIA and DXA_{Siri} for absolute FM and FFM values as expected gave equivalent outputs but in the opposite direction. For this reason, only FM data is presented. Correlations were very strong in all cases (Table 4.3). For DXA_{Siri} %FM cut-offs, paired-sample tests for FM were very similar to %FM outcomes (Table 4.3). No significant differences were observed between BIA FM (kg) and DXA_{Siri} FM2 (kg) in the leaner samples for both genders (mean difference = -0.56kg & 0.21kg; sd = 2.2 & 1.73; p = 0.361 & 0.667; for boys and girls respectively). For the samples with higher adiposity, significant differences were observed, with BIA consistently underestimating FM in both genders (mean difference = 2.06kg & 2.33kg; sd = 1.18 & 2.05; P< 0.001 & = 0.004 for boys and girls respectively).

Comparisons between DXA_{Siri} and BIA FM with age cut-offs also gave very similar outcomes to %FM results. All variables were strongly correlated (Table 4.3). However, significant differences were observed between DXA_{Siri} FM2 and BIA FM for the younger age groups in both genders (mean difference = 1.11kg & 1.25kg; sd = 1.47 & 1.75; p = 0.014 & 0.03 for boys and girls respectively). No significant differences were observed for the older age group in both genders (mean difference = 0.26kg & 1.11kg; sd = 2.78 & .54; p = 0.737 & 0.157 for boys and girls respectively). In summary, in both genders there were no significant differences between BIA and DXA_{Siri} variables for both %FM and absolute FM (kg) for the leaner and older samples, with significant differences in both genders with higher adiposity and younger age.





Figure 4.20 Scatterplots comparing DXASiri %FM with BIA %FM at $\leq 20\%$ FM boys (upper graph) & $\leq 30\%$ FM girls (lower graph). FM = fat mass; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry; BIA= bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXAsiri (see section 4.3.3).





Figure 4.21 Scatterplots comparing DXASiri %FM with BIA %FM at >20% FM boys (upper graph) & >30% FM girls (lower graph). FM = fat mass; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry; BIA= bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXAsiri (see section 4.3.3).





Figure 4.22 Scatterplots comparing DXASiri %FM with BIA %FM at $\leq 12y$ boys (upper graph) & $\leq 13y$ girls (lower graph). FM = fat mass; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry; BIA= bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXAsiri (see section 4.3.3).





Figure 4.23 Scatterplots comparing DXASiri %FM with BIA %FM at >12y boys (upper graph) & >13y girls (lower graph). FM = fat mass; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry; BIA= bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXAsiri (see section 4.3.3).

Boys						Girls				
	N	Mean ± sd	Mean difference ± sd, & correlation (r) DXA _{Siri} - BIA	Limits of agreement (mean difference <u>+</u> 2sd) between BIA & DXA _{Siri}	N	Mean ± sd	Mean difference ± sd, & correlation (r) DXA _{Siri} - BIA	Limits of agreement (mean difference <u>+</u> 2sd) between BIA & DXA _{Siri}		
BIA FMR (%)	14	15.66 ± 2.88	-1.30 ± 3.75, (0.28)		13	21.62 ± 4.39	-0.31 ± 3.99, (0.67)			
DXA _{Siri} FMR (%)	14	14.36 ± 3.34	-		13	21.92 ± 5.22	-			
BIA FM3 (%)	13	21.28 ± 4.72	6.03 ± 3.67, (7.33) **		11	30.55 ± 6.21	5.73 ± 5.09, (0.58) *			
DXA _{Siri} FM3 (%)	13	27.31 ± 5.23	-		11	36.27 ± 3.93	-			
BIA FMδ (%)	14	19.66 ± 5.61	3.84 ± 4.99, (0.82) *		12	22.58 ± 4.66	3.51 ± 5.65, (0.85)			
DXA _{Siri} FMδ (%)	14	23.50 ± 8.46	-		12	26.08 ± 9.05	-			
BIA FMχ (%)	13	16.97 ± 3.30	0.49 ± 5.05, (0.53)	-9.62 to 10.60%	12	28.84 ± 7.50	2.08 ± 4.87, (0.80)			
DXA _{Siri} FMχ (%)	13	17.46 ± 5.97	-		12	30.92 ± 7.79	-			
BIA FMR (kg)	14	7.10 ± 3.85	-0.56 ± 2.20, (0.84)		13	8.98 ± 4.66	0.21 ± 1.73, (0.93)			
DXA _{Siri} FM2 _% (kg)	14	6.54 ± 3.99	-		13	9.19 ± 4.75	-			
BIA FMℑ (kg)	13	8.32 ± 4.53	2.06 ± 1.18, (0.97) **		11	16.61 ± 9.09	2.33 ± 2.05, (0.98) *			
DXA _{Siri} FM23 (kg)	13	10.38 ± 4.72	-		11	18.94 ± 7.99	-			
BIA FMδ (kg)	14	5.71 ± 3.23	1.11 ± 1.47, (0.93) *		12	7.52 ± 3.31	1.25 ± 1.75, (0.95) *			
DXA _{Siri} FM28 (kg)	14	6.82 ± 3.83	-		12	8.77 ± 4.53	-			
BIA FMχ (kg)	13	9.81 ± 4.08	0.26 ± 2.78, (0.84)		12	17.43 ± 8.11	1.11 ± 2.54, (0.95)	-3.96 to 6.18kg		
DXA _{Siri} FM2χ (kg)	13	10.07 ± 5.10	-		12	18.54 ± 7.84	-			

Table 4.3: Body composition (mean ± sd) measures of SA BIA validation study group by BIA and DXA, for percentage fat-mass (%FM), absolute fatmass (FM; kg), with Bland-Altman comparisons between BIA and reference method showing mean difference and limits of agreement (mean ± 2sd)

SA = South Asian; BIA = Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis; DXA = Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry; \Re DXA_{Siri} %FM cut-offs < 20% and < 30%; \Im DXA_{Siri} %FM cut-offs > 20% and > 30% for boys and girls respectively. δ Age cut-offs < 12y and < 13y; χ age cut-offs > 12y and > 13y for boys and girls respectively. *P<0.05; **P<0.001 Sig. (2-tailed). DXA_{Siri} FM2 (kg), was weight corrected using BIA scale weight (see section 4.5.2).

4.5.3.5 Linear Regression Analyses to Predict FFM

Whilst the comparisons between BIA and DXA_{Siri} %FM for each gender at different age and %FM cut-offs yielded some outputs with non-significant differences, splitting the subjects in this manner resulted in very small sample sizes. Thus, to draw any meaningful conclusions from these results would necessitate repeating the analyses with a much larger sample size.

Further analyses were conducted using standard linear regression, to establish which BIA predictor variables were the most significant predictors of FFM, using DXA_{Siri} FFM2 (Wt corrected) as the dependent variable (DV), and age, gender, Wt, Ht, BMI, WC, and Ht²/Z as the independent predictors.

With all variables entered into the model the adjusted R² value = 0.982, indicating that 98.2% of the variance in DXA Siri FFM2, was explained by this model. For both genders the largest (Beta values) and significant (P< 0.05) predictors of DXA Siri FFM2, were Ht²/Z (P<0.001), followed by BIA Wt (p = 0.008), and decimal age (p = 0.046); gender was not a significant predictor of FFM. Significant bivariate correlations (R \ge 0.7) were observed between BIA Wt, Ht, BMI, WC, and Ht²/Z, indicating multicollinearity, with tolerance values of < 0.1 and variance inflation factor (VIF) values of >10, thus violating the multicollinearity assumption (Pallant, 2007).

Regression analyses were repeated with Ht^2/Z , BIA Wt, and decimal age only. With this model, the adjusted R² value = 0.973, which compared to the value for the previous model, confirmed that the other variables were not making a significantly unique contribution to the prediction model (Table 4.4). The ANOVA output confirmed the model to be statistically significant (P< 0.001).

Analyses of the normal probability plot (P-P) of the regression standardised residual (Figure 4.24) and the scatterplot (Figure 4.25) indicated that there was a linear relationship between DXA_{Siri} FFM2 (DV) and the prediction model, with no major deviations from normality or outliers.

Model	r	r square Adjusted		Std. Error of
			r square	Estimate
1	0.987 ^a	0.975	0.973	2.21

Table 4.4: SPSS output - Model summary^b showing the relationship ($r \& r^2$) between the BIA prediction model for predicting FFM (kg) and DXA_{Siri} FFM2 using linear regression

a. Predictors: (Constant), Decimal Age (yrs), BIA Wt (kg), Ht²/impedance – Wt = weight; Ht= height; BIA = Bioelectrical impedance analysis

Dependent variable: DXA_{Siri} FFM2 (kg), were weight corrected using BIA scale weight (see section 4.5.2).

b. FFM = fat-free mass



Figure 4.24 SPSS output showing normal P-P plot of regression standardised residual with DXASiri FFM2 as dependent variable. FFM = fat-free mass; DXA= dual-energy xray absorptiometry; DXASiri FFM2 = DXASiri FFM2 weight (Wt) corrected (see section 4.5.2).



Figure 4.25 Scatterplot of regression standardised predicted value Vs regression standardised residual with DXASiri FFM2 as dependent variable. FFM = fat-free mass; DXA= dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry; DXASiri FFM2 = DXASiri FFM2 weight (Wt) corrected (see section 4.5.2).

The regression equation developed using the unstandardized coefficients labelled B, from the SPSS 'Coefficients' output tables (see Table 4.5). The regression equation to predict BIA FFM (BIA FFM_{reg1}) was determined as follows:

BIA FFM_{reg1} (kg) = $(0.834 \text{ x Ht}^2/\text{Z}) + (0.182 \text{ x BIA Wt}) + (0.322 \text{ x Decimal Age}) - 4.862$

Model 1 Predictors	Unstandardised Coefficients B
(Constant)	-4.862
Ht ² /impedance	0.834
BIA Wt (kg)	0.182
Decimal Age (yrs)	0.322

Table 4.5: SPSS output - Unstandardised Coefficients^a for determination of BIA_{reg1} prediction equation with DXA_{Siri} FFM2 as dependent variable

Ht = height; Wt = Weight; FFM = fat-free mass; BIA = Bioelectrical impedance analysis = BIA_{reg1} = BIA regression 1 prediction equation (see section 4.5.3.5)

a. Dependent variable: DXA_{Siri} FFM2 (kg), was weight corrected using BIA scale weight (see section 4.5.2).

4.5.3.6 Statistical comparisons between DXA_{Siri} and BIA for FFM, %FM and absolute FM, following regression

Due to body composition differences between genders, the new regression equation was assessed for each sex separately. As the equation predicted FFM (BIA FFM_{reg1}), FM (kg) and %FM values could also be determined, where BIA FM_{reg1} (kg) = BIA Wt – BIA FFM_{reg1}, and BIA %FM_{reg1} = (BIA FM_{reg1}/BIA Wt) x 100. The relationship and differences between DXA_{siri} and BIA_{reg1} for these body composition variables were compared, using correlations and t-tests (Table 4.6). Outcomes for the relationship and difference between BIA and DXA_{Siri} prior to correction are also presented, for ease of comparison.

In Table 4.6, correcting BIA FFM using the regression equations decreased the mean differences between BIA and DXA for both sexes. The significance values also improved, although for the male sample this was not significantly different before correction. For boys, before correction, compared to DXA_{Siri} FFM₂, BIA overestimated FFM by a mean of 0.56kg (sd = 2.24; limits of agreement = -5.10kg to 3.70kg; p = 0.202); after correction, BIA reg1 underestimated FFM by a mean of 0.47kg (sd = 2.15; limits of agreement = -3.73kg to 4.75kg; p = 0.267). For girls, before correction, BIA was significantly overestimating FFM by a mean of 1.25kg (sd = 2.16, limits of agreement = -5.45kg to 3.08kg, p = 0.011); after correction, the difference dropped, with BIA FFM reg1 overestimating FFM by a mean of 0.51kg (sd = 2.04, limits of agreement = -4.61kg to 3.55kg, p = 0.225).

Before correction, BIA was underestimating %FM in both sexes. However, after correction the differences in both sexes were non-significant. For boys, before correction, BIA was underestimating %FM by a mean of 2.23% (sd = 5.21, limits of agreement = -8.19% to 12.65%, p = 0.035); after correction BIA_{reg1} was overestimating %FM by 1.07% (sd = 4.71, limits of agreement = -10.48% to 8.34%, p = 0.248). For girls, before correction, BIA was underestimating %FM by a mean of 2.79% (sd = 5.21, limits of agreement = -7.65% to 13.50%, p = 0.015); after correction BIA_{reg1} was underestimating %FM by 0.73% (sd = 5.74, limits of agreement = -10.75% to 12.20%, p = 0.549).

Scatterplots and Bland-Altman plots by gender, showing the correlations and mean differences respectively, between BIA FFM_{reg1} and DXA_{Siri} FFM2, and BIA %FM_{reg1} and DXA_{Siri} %FM are presented in Figures 4.27 to 4.28. The scatterplots and Bland-Altman plots for FFM (Figure 4.26), show how well BIA FFM_{reg1} correlates with DXA_{Siri} FFM2, however, the scatterplots for %FM (Figure 4.27), indicate that BIA %FM_{reg1} has a tendency to overestimate %FM at the leaner end of the scale (\leq 15%FM in boys and \leq 20% FM in girls), and underestimate %FM at higher adiposity levels. This outcome was similar to the original BIA %FM outcome before correction (see section 4.5.3.1), although the mean difference was smaller and non-significant following correction.

Table 4.6 Body composition measures (mean ±sd) of SA BIA validation study group by BIA and DXA_{siri}, for relative fat mass (%; FM), and absolute fatfree mass (kg; FFM), with comparisons showing mean differences, correlations, and Bland-Altman limits of agreement, between methods, before and after BIA correction

Variables	Boys (n = 27)			Girls (n = 24)				
	Mean ± sd	Mean difference ± sd, (r) DXA _{Siri} - BIA	Limits of agreement (mean difference <u>+</u> 2sd) DXA _{Siri} - BIA	Mean ± sd	Mean difference ± sd, (r) DXA _{Siri} - BIA	Limits of agreement (mean difference <u>+</u> 2sd) DXA _{Siri} - BIA		
DXA _{Siri} FFM2 [¶]	33.16 ± 16.18	-	-	30.68 ± 9.34	-	-		
(kg)								
BIA FFM _{reg1}	32.69 ± 15.83	0.47 ± 2.15, (0.99)	-3.73 to 4.75	31.22 ± 9.61	-0.51 ± 2.04, (0.98)	-4.61 to 3.55		
(kg)								
BIA FFM	33.72 ±15.71	-0.56 ± 2.24, (0.99)	-5.10 to 3.70	31.93 ± 9.30	-1.25 ± 2.16, (0.97) *	-5.45 to 3.08		
(kg)								
DXA _{Siri} FM	20.59 ± 7.86	-	-	27.87 ± 8.23	-	-		
(%)								
BIA FM _{reg1}	21.66 ± 6.28	-1.07 ± 4.71, (0.80)	-10.48 to 8.34	27.14 ± 6.42	0.73 ± 5.74, (0.72)	-10.75 to 12.20		
(%)								
BIA FM	18.54 ± 4.92	2.23 ± 5.21, (0.77) *	-8.19 to 12.65	24.94 ± 5.91	2.79 ± 5.79, (0.80) *	-7.65 to 13.50		
(%)								

SA = South Asian; DXA = Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry; BIA = Bioelectrical impedance analysis; BIA FFM_{reg1} & FM_{reg1} is corrected following new equation derived from regression between BIA and DXA_{Siri} FFM2 (see section 4.5.3.5)

* P< 0.05 Sig. (2-tailed)

[¶]DXA_{Siri} FFM2 (kg) is Wt corrected using BIA scale Wt (see section 4.5.2)









Figure 4.26 Scatterplots showing correlations (upper graph), and Bland-Altman plots showing limits of agreement (lower graph) by gender, between DXASiri FFM2 and BIA FFMreg1; BIA FFMreg1 = new BIA FFM following regression (see section 4.5.3.5); DXASiri FFM2 = DXA weight corrected (see section 4.5.2). FFM = fat-free mass; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry; BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis.









Figure 4.27 Scatterplots showing correlations (upper graph), and Bland-Altman plots showing limits of agreement (lower graph) by gender, between DXASiri %FM and BIA %FMreg1. FM = fat mass; BIA FMreg1 = new BIA FM following regression (see section 4.5.3.5); DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry; BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis.

4.5.3.7 Application of BIA correction factor to SA external sample

The correction factors obtained from the regression of BIA FFM with DXA_{Siri} FFM2 (section 4.5.3.5) were applied to the SA external sample, to assess the differences in BIA absolute (kg) FFM and relative FM (%), before and after correction. Initial observation of the results for %FM between BIA and BIA_{reg1} revealed that for both genders, BIA_{reg1} produced much higher %FM values for children <9y, which were considered spurious. As the study group was significantly older than the external group (Table 4.1), with very few children below 9y, more detailed comparisons were restricted to children aged 9y and above. Significant differences (P<0.001) were observed between all measures for both absolute and relative FFM and FM, in both sexes between BIA (uncorrected) and BIA_{reg1} (Table 4.7). Scatterplots showing the relationship and mean differences (Bland-Altman plots) between BIA and BIA_{reg1}, for both absolute FFM (kg) and relative FM (%) are presented in Figures 4.28 and 4.29 respectively.

There was a strong positive correlation between BIA and BIA_{reg1} (R²= 0.98) in FFM for both sexes (Figure 4.28). The Bland-Altman plots for FFM revealed that compared to BIA_{reg1}, BIA overestimated FFM by a mean of 0.33kg (limits of agreement -2.99kg to 2.53kg) in boys, and by 0.27kg (limits of agreement -2.29kg to 1.74kg) in girls. For boys, the Bland-Altman plot also revealed that compared to BIA_{reg1}, BIA had a tendency to overestimate FFM at lower FFM levels, and underestimate FFM at higher FFM levels (Figure 4.28), which was similar for girls but less pronounced. For %FM (Figure 4.29), the results revealed that compared to BIA_{reg1}, BIA underestimated %FM by a mean of 1.10% (limits of agreement -5.51% to 7.71%) for boys, and by 0.67% (limits of agreement -4.70% to 6.04%). The scatterplots (Figure 4.29) also revealed that for both sexes, BIA_{reg1} compared to BIA tended to overestimate %FM at low (\leq 15%) body fat levels and underestimate %FM at higher body fat levels. Table 4.7 Body composition measures (mean ±sd) of SA BIA validation study group by BIA and BIA_{reg1}, for absolute (kg) fat-free mass (FFM) and relative (%) FM, with comparisons showing mean differences, correlations, and Bland-Altman limits of agreement, between methods, before and after BIA correction

Variables	Boys (n = 344)			Girls					
				(n = 607)					
	Mean ± sd	Mean difference	Limits of agreement	Mean ±sd	Mean difference	Limits of agreement			
		±sd, (r)	(mean difference ±		± sd, (r)	(mean difference			
		BIA _{reg1} - BIA	2sd) BIA _{reg1} - BIA		BIA _{reg1} - BIA	±2sd) BIA _{reg1} - BIA			
BIA FFM _{reg1}	31.63 ± 8.80			30.25 ± 6.67					
(kg)		-0.33 ± 1.33, (0.99)	-2.99 to 2.33		-0.27 ± 1.00, (0.99) **	-2.29 to 1.74			
BIA FFM	31.96 ± 9.00	**		30.53 ± 6.48					
(kg)									
BIA FM _{reg1}	22.30 ± 8.80			25.84 ± 7.60					
(%)		1.10 ± 3.30, (0.93) **	-5.51 to 7.71%		0.67 ± 2.67, (0.95) **	-4.70 to 6.04			
BIA FM	21.20 ± 7.22			25.16 ± 6.16					
(%)									

SA = South Asian; BIA = Bioelectrical impedance analysis; BIA FFM_{reg1} & FM_{reg1} is corrected following new equation derived from regression between BIA and DXA_{Siri} FFM2 (see section 4.5.3.5); DXA= Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry **P<0.001 Sig. (2-tailed)









Figure 4.28 Scatterplots showing correlations (upper graph), and Bland-Altman limits of agreement showing mean differences (lower graph) by gender, between BIA FFM before correction and BIA FFMreg1 (BIA FFMreg1 = new BIA FFM following regression as described in section 4.6.3.4). BIA FFMreg1 = new BIA FFM following regression (see section 4.5.3.5); FFM = fat-free mass; DXA = dualenergy x-ray absorptiometry; BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis.









Figure 4.29 Scatterplots showing correlations (upper graph), and Bland-Altman limits of agreement showing mean differences (lower graph) by gender, between BIA %FM before correction and BIA %FMreg1. BIA FMreg1 = new BIA FM following regression (see section 4.5.3.5); FM = fat-free mass; DXA = dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry; BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis.

4.5.3.8 Evaluation of FFM prediction equations from previous studies

Two previous studies that had developed SA prediction equations (Haroun et al., 2010; Sluyter et al., 2010) for FFM were also assessed against the study group using

the DXA_{siri} FFM2 values, within the appropriate adolescent age ranges. BIA FFM_{reg1} was also compared to the DXA_{siri} FFM2 values, within the specified age ranges for both studies, to assess how restricting the age range, would impact the new regression equation. The FFM prediction equations developed by Sluyter et al. (2010), using DXA as the reference method were:

- i) $(0.607 \text{ x H}^2/\text{Z}) + (1.542 \text{ x A}) + (0.220 \text{ x H}) + (0.096 \text{ x W}) 47.547$ for males
- ii) (0.531 x H²/Z) + (0.182 x H) + (0.096 x W) 15.782 for females
 H = height (cm); Z = impedance (Ω); A = Age (years); W = weight (kg) the equations also included a value for ethnicity, which for Asians was zero, and thus ignored.

Haroun et al. (2010) used D₂O as the reference method, and developed the following regression equations for predicting total body water (TBW):

i) -1.822 + (0.665 X H²/Z) + (1.288 x Asian) for males

ii) $0.125 + (0.647 \text{ x H}^2/\text{Z}) + (1.465 \text{ x Asian})$ for females

The equations also included a dummy variable for black ethnicity, which was ignored, as it was assigned a zero value for Asians.

Hydration of FFM was determined using the following equations based on a previous unpublished study (reported by Haroun et al., 2010):

- i) 78.176 (0.237 x age) for males
- ii) 79.797 (0.385 x age) for females

FFM was calculated as TBW/hydration of LM.

Correlations and Bland-Altman mean differences for both these equations, together with the outcomes for BIA_{reg1} from this study, are presented in Table 4.8. Application of both equations to correct BIA FFM, developed by Sluyter et al. (2010) and Haroun et al. (2010), resulted in significant differences between DXA_{Siri} FFM2 and BIA FFM,

for both sexes, with both equations significantly underestimating FFM, compared to DXA_{Siri}.

The equation developed by Haroun et al. (2010), underestimated FFM by the greatest amount, with much larger limits of agreement. Alternately, the equation developed in this study, even within the narrower age ranges, revealed no significant differences. In the 12-19y age range, BIA_{reg1} , underestimated FFM by a mean of 0.92kg (P = 0.229) in males and overestimated FFM by 0.78kg in the female sample (P = 0.147). In the 11-15y age range, BIA_{reg1} , underestimated FFM by a mean of 0.72kg (P = 0.319) in males, and overestimated FFM by 0.39kg (P = 0.518) in females.

	Boys				, ,	Girls					
Variables	N	Age range (y)	Mean (kg) ± sd	Mean difference (DXA _{Siri} – BIA method) ± sd, (r) (kg)	Limits of agreement (mean ± 2sd; kg)	n	Age range (y)	Mean (kg) ± sd	Mean difference (DXA _{Siri} – BIA method) ± sd, (r) (kg)	Limits of agreement (mean ± 2sd; kg)	
DXA _{Siri} FFM2	13	12-19	42.90 ± 14.27	-	-	15	12-19	35.18 ± 5.46	-	-	
(study group)											
BIA FFM ¹	13	12-19	39.36 ± 14.90	3.54** ± 2.36,	-1.18 to 8.26	15	12-19	34.04 ± 4.55	1.14* ± 2.42, 0.95	-3.71 to 5.98	
(study group)				0.98							
BIA FFM _{reg1}	13	12-19	41.98 ± 13.45	0.92 ± 2.62,	-4.32 to 6.16	15	12-19	35.96 ± 5.26	-0.78 ± 1.98,	-4.09 to 3.30	
(study group)				0.98					0.93		
DXA _{Siri} FFM2	13	11-15	34.69 ± 12.29	-	-	14	10-16	32.24 ± 6.83	-	-	
(study group)											
BIA FFM ²	13	11-15	27.79 ± 8.91	6.90** ± 4.12,	-1.35 to 15.16	14	10-16	28.17 ± 5.16	4.07** ± 2.72,	-1.36 to 9.51	
(study group)				0.97					0.95		
BIA FFM _{reg1}	13	11-15	33.97 ± 11.11	0.72 ± 2.51,	-4.30 to 5.75	14	10-16	32.62 ± 7.12	-0.39 ± 2.09,	-4.56 to 3.78	
(study group)				0.98					0.96		

Table 4.8 Comparisons (mean ±sd) between DXASiri FFM2 and BIA FFM regression equations from two validation studies with SA adolescent groups showing mean differences and Bland-Altman limits of agreement by age-range

DXA = Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry; BIA = Bioelectrical impedance analysis; FFM = fat-free mass; BIA FFM¹ = Sluyter et al. (2010) regression equation to predict BIA FFM; BIA FFM² = Haroun et

al. (2010) regression equation to predict BIA FFM

** P< 0.001 Sig. (2-tailed); * P< 0.05 Sig. (2-tailed); BIA FFM_{reg1} = BIA corrected following regression (see section 4.5.3.5)

4.6 Comparisons between BIA & DXA SMMa

SMMa data for DXA and BIA were compared for both absolute (kg) and relative (%; SMMa (kg)/body weight (kg) x 100). Whilst correlations between the two methods for both absolute and relative SMMa were strong (r =0.97 and 0.72 respectively), the mean differences were significant but small (mean differences = 1.28kg & 1.52%; P<0.001 & P = 0.001 respectively) with BIA underestimating SMMa (see Table 4.9). However, due to the differences between DXA Wt and BIA scale Wt (see section 4.6.2), making adjustments to correct DXA for limb Wt was not possible. Furthermore, adjustment of the markers to selectively incorporate all four limbs using DXA software was difficult and required subjective judgement, particularly where participants were lying with legs together or arms in contact with the body. Additionally, some participants did not fully fit within the scanning area. Therefore, correction for BIA SMMa was not conducted.

Table 4.9 Descriptives showing absolute (kg) and relative (%) BIA and DXA SMMa (mean ±sd), with mean differences for SA BIA validation study group

Variables (n=51)	Mean ± sd	Mean difference (DXA – BIA)
DXA SMMa	14.13 ± 6.55	1.28**
(kg)		
BIA SMMa	12.85 ± 6.12	-
(kg)		
DXA SMMa	30.66 ± 4.45	1.52**
(%)		
BIA SMMa	29.14 ± 3.71	-
(%)		

BIA = Bioelectrical impedance analysis; DXA= Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry; SA = South Asian; SMMa = Appendicular skeletal muscle mass; ** Significant differences at P< 0.001 level Sig. (2-tailed)
4.6.1 Discussion

This study provides an improved BIA (for the BC418-MA model) prediction equation validated against DXA (Norland Pencil-beam scanner) for estimating absolute FFM (kg), from which %FM can be determined for the SA child (aged 9y – 18y) and adolescent population. Whilst the aim of the study was to develop a prediction equation for all SA children and adolescents aged from 5-18y, this proved to be difficult, as when the new equation was applied to the SA external group, spurious outcomes for children <9y were observed. This was attributed to the significant (P< 0.05) differences in age between the validation study group (mean age = 12.84y & 13.5y) and the SA external group (mean age = 9.12y & 10.00y) for boys and girls respectively. In a recent 4-C study on BIA, it was concluded that a single equation to determine FFM across the whole child and adolescent age range (4-24y) would not be valid as at different pubertal stages the slope and intercept of the regression between Ht²/Z and FFM changes (Montagnese et al., 2013). Due to the opportunistic nature of recruitment for the validation study, age selection, particularly at younger ages was difficult.

The analysis conducted on %FM between the three methods confirmed that in general BIA significantly underestimated body fat when compared to DXA (Figures 4.7 to 4.11) and ADP (Figure 4.18). The new prediction equation developed in this study reduced the mean %FM differences (non-significant) between BIA and DXA in both boys and girls, with BIA_{reg1} now overestimating %FM in boys by 1.07%, and underestimating %FM by 0.73% in girls (Table 4.6). Whilst there was a strong positive correlation between DXA and ADP with a small mean difference, the 95% limits of agreement were very large (Figure 4.19), with a significant difference between the two measurement methods, with ADP underestimating %FM compared to DXA. Other studies have reported similar finding when comparing these two technologies, and advised against using these methods interchangeably (Hames et al., 2014). The large limits of agreement observed between the ADP and DXA, may also have been due to the fact that a number of the participants were not willing to wear skin-tight swimsuits due to cultural and religious sensitivities, and whilst long-sleeved swim tops and leggings were provided they were not entirely skin-tight; this may have contributed to increased body volume, leading to errors in

body composition estimation. Thus, further analyses were only conducted with BIA and DXA.

This new prediction equation was compared to equations developed in two other BIA validation studies (Haroun et al., 2010; Sluyter et al., 2010) for SA child and adolescent populations with more restricted age ranges (see section 4.5.3.8), against DXA_{Siri} FFM₂. Both equations resulted in BIA significantly underestimating FFM (kg) compared to DXA (Table 4.8), with the greatest difference observed between the equation developed by Haroun et al. (2010). However, the prediction equation developed in this study resulted in no significant differences between BIA and DXA_{Siri} FFM₂ within the same age ranges specified in the respective studies. The much larger differences between the equation developed by Haroun et al. (2010), may have been due to the fact that that validation study used a leg-leg BIA model (Tanita TBF-300) validated against deuterium (D₂O); whilst the study conducted by Sluyter et al. (2009) used the same BIA model (Tanita BC-418) as in this study, and also used a DXA pencil-beam scanner (GE Lunar) as the reference method. Variations in FFM estimation between DXA models have been reported in review studies (Helba & Binkovitz, 2009; Plank, 2005), which may also be a contributory factor in the differences between this study and the study conducted by Sluyter et al. (2010).

Studies comparing %FM with tetrapolar BIA devices against reference methods including deuterium (D₂O) and DXA have not found a significant mean bias between the two methods (Bosy-Westphal et al., 2008; Pietrobelli et al., 2004). However, one study involved a Caucasian population (Bosy-Westphal et al., 2008) and the other study which also used the Tanita BC418 model with DXA as the reference method, did not involve an ethnic-specific group (Pietrobelli et al., 2004). In this study, the large differences between DXA and BIA are likely attributed to the SA ethnicity of the sample, and supports the need to validate BIA models and develop ethnic-specific prediction equations, as evidenced by other research, in which ethnic differences in hydration levels of FFM is recognised (Frisard et al., 2005; Jebb et al., 2000; Sun et al., 2003; Rush et al., 2006; Williams et al., 2007).

In this study, whilst BIA prior to correction underestimated %FM overall, there was a tendency to overestimate %FM at the leaner end of the scale and underestimate %FM at high adiposity levels for both sexes. This tendency was reduced following correction (see Figure 4.30), as was observed when the original BIA equation was compared to the new equation. Underestimation of FM in leaner subjects and overestimation at high body fat levels, has also been observed in other studies (Pietrobelli et al., 2004; Sluyter et al., 2010), in which the same BIA (BC-418) instrument was used. Other studies have reported greater bias in %FM with bipolar BIA instruments than with tetrapolar instruments, with a similar overestimation of %FM in lean subjects and an increasing underestimation of %FM as adiposity increased, in all bipolar devices (Bosy-Westphal et al., 2008; Mitsui et al., 2006).

For both the validation and external group, mean BMI SDS was lower than the UK90 data, whilst %FM and WC SDS values were higher (see Table 4.1). Furthermore, considering that the SDS values for %FM were derived from the original uncorrected BIA data, which was found to underestimate %FM, highlights the inadequacy of BMI as a reliable indicator of adiposity and supports the considerable body of evidence that other more direct measures of adiposity are required in addition to BMI, particularly in the high risk SA population (Haroun et al., 2010; Sluyter et al., 2010).

Whilst BIA was found to significantly underestimate SMMa for both absolute (kg) and relative (%) values (section 4.6), due to differences in DXA Wt and scale Wt (see section 4.5.2) it was not possible to correct DXA limb Wt. Additionally, it is important to note that compared to DXA, BIA was found to consistently underestimate %FM as stated above, and thus by extrapolation, any underestimation of SMMa would be likely due to DXA sum of parts and scale Wt differences, where DXA Wt was greater than scale Wt. Furthermore, the differences between DXA and BIA whilst statistically significant were in reality very small with a relative difference of only 1.52%. It was therefore considered acceptable to use BIA for estimating SMMa without additional correction.

4.6.2 Limitations

Due to the opportunistic nature of recruiting for the validation study, the equation produced was not applicable to children <9y of age. This study would need to be repeated by targeting children aged 5-9y and developing another prediction equation for this age range. No single BIA equation is likely to be valid throughout childhood and adolescence due to changes in body proportions (Montagnese et al., 2013), and furthermore, the hydration of FFM is not constant during this period (Lohman, 1989; Montagnese et al., 2013; Wells et al., 2010). Whilst the mean differences for absolute FFM and %FM between DXA_{Siri} and BIA_{reg1} for both sexes were not significant, the limits of agreement were fairly large, as has been reported in other studies (Wells et al., 1999), which indicates that BIA can give accurate results for epidemiological purposes, but body composition estimations at an individual level should be treated with caution, and preferably in conjunction with other measures such as BMI and WC. Assessment of body composition variations.

Data from ADP (BodPod) measurement could not be used due to the very large limits of agreement between DXA and BodPod, with possible procedural errors, attributed to swim attire not being sufficiently skin-tight. Whilst DXA is regarded as a valid and reliable reference method for body composition assessment, variations between models have been reported in review studies (Helba & Binkovitz, 2009; Plank, 2005). A standardised approach to using DXA for body composition assessment has been called for in expert reviews (Lohman & Chen, 2005; Plank, 2005), although variation in %FM estimates between pencil-beam scanners is estimated to range between 1-3% (Lohman & Chen, 2005). In this study, differences in scale Wt and DXA sum of parts (see section 4.6.2) had to be corrected for using relative (%) FM values; a factor observed in other studies (Friedl et al., 1994; Nelson et al., 1996; Korth et al., 2007). Clearly, further research is required to investigate this issue.

Many experts recommend the 4-C model as the criterion method for *in-vivo* body composition assessment (Going, 2005; Wells & Fewtrell, 2006). However, this method requires use of multiple methodologies that are prohibitive in many

research settings (Lee & Gallagher, 2008; Wells et al., 2012). A recent study on body composition in children and adolescents, revealed very high correlations in FM and FFM SDS values between the 4-C model and DXA (Wells et al., 2012).

4.6.3 Conclusion

This study provides a robust ethnic-specific BIA prediction equation suitable for SA children and adolescents (aged \geq 9y) that has been validated against DXA using the BIA tetrapolar device (Tanita BC-418). However, the equation needs to be tested in an independent group to confirm its accuracy and functionality, before it can be applied to this BIA model. The results of this study confirm that the proprietary inbuilt equation significantly underestimates %FM for the SA population. Due to fairly large limits of agreement between DXA and BIA, body composition assessment with BIA, at an individual level, should be treated with caution. BIA in conjunction with WC offers a more objective measure of adiposity than BMI, particularly for the SA ethnic group, where BMI has been shown to be inadequate. The importance of conducting large-scale body composition assessment, particularly for the SA community, is well documented, and so it suits our needs to have a portable and valid BIA system that can be taken into the field.

CHAPTER 5: Ethnic Differences in Body Composition Among South Asian & White European Children & Adolescents

5.1 Introduction

There is much evidence for ethnic variations in body composition (BC) between South Asian (SA) and white European (WE) children (Donin et al., 2010; Ehtisham, et al., 2005; Haroun et al., 2010; Mehta et al., 2002; Misra et al., 2003; Rush, 2004; Shaw et al., 2007; Stanfield et al., 2012; Taylor et al., 2005; Whincup et al., 2007; Whincup et al., 2010) and adult (Dulloo et al., 2010; Lear et al., 2007; Misra et al., 2007; Whincup et al., 2010) populations both in the UK and worldwide (Liu et al., 2009; Whincup et al., 2010); with SAs tending to have higher % body fat and visceral fat and less lean mass (LM) at equivalent body mass index (BMI) values (Lear et al., 2009; Saxena et al., 2004; Viner et al., 2009). Whilst BMI (BMI centiles for children and adolescents, and BMI cut-offs for adults), is a proxy measure for determining adiposity (see Chapter 2 section 2.3), and is widely regarded as an unreliable indicator of health for the SA population (Dulloo et al., 2010; Saxena et al., 2004; Viner et al., 2009), it is the most established classification method for overweight and obesity, used both in the UK (NHS Information Centre, 2011; NICE, 2006) and worldwide (WHO, 2000).

The differences in BC underpinned by a genetic predisposition to the metabolic syndrome, are considered to be the underlying causes for the higher risk and prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and cardiovascular disease (CVD) within this population group, when environmental factors are accounted for (Bhardwaj et al., 2008; Chaturvedi, 2003; Misra et al., 2007; Saxena et al., 2004; Whincup et al., 2010), with SAs compared to WEs, described as having a 'thin-fat' phenotype evident from birth (Gholap et al., 2011; Yajnik et al., 2002; Yajnik et al., 2004). The overall body size of SAs compared to WEs is also smaller from birth (Krishnaveni et al., 2005) and in adulthood (Eveleth & Tanner, 1990; Rush et al., 2009) with short-stature in adulthood associated with an increased risk of obesity (Guerrero-Igea et al., 2001; Gunnell et al., 2003; Lawlor et al., 2002). The 'thrifty phenotype' hypothesis (Hales & Barker, 2001; see Chapter 2, section 2.6) has been cited as a possible cause for a shorter stature and lower body weight (Wt) at birth

(Bogin & Valera-Silva, 2010), with rapid infant Wt gain regarded as an increased risk for developing T2DM in adulthood (Hales & Barker, 2001).

To account for the increased health risks to SAs for T2DM and CVD, lower BMI adult cut-offs have been advised as 'action' or' 'trigger' points (Misra et al., 2009; WHO, 2004; see also Chapter 2, section 2.3.1). Additionally, due to the increased health risks associated with abdominal adiposity, sex-specific waist circumference (WC) cut-offs are also used as an additional measure for adults (IDF, 2006; WHO, 2011), with India adopting lower WC cut-offs for its indigenous population (Misra et al., 2009), and the IDF (2006) also advising a lower WC cut-off for SA men. However, in the UK, NICE (2006, 2013), has not adopted lower BMI or WC cut-offs for SAs, but advised the use of 'caution and clinical judgement' by healthcare professionals. For children, both internationally (Cole et al., 2007; de Onis et al., 2007) and in the UK (Cole et al., 1995), only BMI percentile charts are used for defining overweight and obesity, although the IDF (Zimmet et al., 2007) advises the use of WC percentile cutoffs for determining abdominal obesity and diagnosing metabolic syndrome (see Chapter 2, section 2.3.2). NICE (2013), also recommended (as with SA adults), in the absence of ethnic-specific growth reference charts, the use of 'caution' when interpreting BMI SDS for SA and other minority ethnic groups, and advised that the use of WC may be used as an additional measure if necessary.

Adiposity alone is not the main contributor to T2DM or insulin resistance, particularly among SA children within the normal Wt and BMI ranges (Lear et al., 2009; Whincup et al., 2002; Whincup et al., 2010). The risk of mortality increases with increasing percentage fat mass (FM) and decreasing fat-free mass (FFM) relative to height (Ht; FFMI; FFM (kg)/Ht (m²)) and therefore such measures are recommended in addition to BMI, in clinical settings (Bosy-Westphal et al., 2009; Cole et al., 2000; Dulloo et al., 2010; McCarthy et al., 2003; Sun et al., 2003). In a recent school-based Child Heart and Health Study (CHASE; Whincup et al., 2010), involving 4,796 healthy children aged 9-10y, from 200 UK schools, which included a large number of SA children (n= 1,306), compared to WE children the SA cohort had similar Ht, lower Wt, mean ponderal index (Wt kg/Ht m³), and WC, but a higher FM index (FMI; FM (kg) /Ht (m²)) and mean sum of four skinfolds. However,

adjustment for adiposity had little effect on the blood markers related to the risk of T2DM. In a study conducted by Lear et al. (2009) comparing BC differences between third generation Canadian male and female immigrants of SA, Aboriginal, Chinese, and European origin (mean age 44-50.7y), after adjustment for possible confounding variables (age, Ht, frame size, sociodemographic and lifestyle factors), SAs had significantly less LM at any given FM value, with a higher FM to LM (F: LM) ratio. Other studies have reported similar findings, with SAs having less LM and equivalent %FM as other ethnic groups at lower BMI values (Rush et al., 2009).

Further research has been recommended into the differences in body composition between SA and WE children to evaluate the potential risks associated with these differences (Viner et al., 2010). In a report on research priorities related to diabetes for British SAs published by Diabetes UK and the South Asian Health Foundation (Gholap et al., 2009) highlighting gaps in the research; one of the priorities listed for SA children and adolescents was "determining the most effective screening method for Type 2 diabetes in children and how this is affected by ethnicity" (p.55).

FFM or skeletal muscle mass (SMM), in particular appendicular SMM (SMM_a) is regarded as an important indicator of health, being the primary site for insulin mediated glucose disposal (Dulloo et al., 2010; McArdle et al., 2007; McCarthy et al., 2014; Miller et al., 1984), as well as active in fat metabolism (Seidell et al., 2001). Assessment of SMM_a, had until recently been restricted to complex laboratory assessment methods such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and dual-energy xray absorptiometry (DXA), however tetrapolar bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) models such as the Tanita BC-418MA offer a quick, simple, safe and costeffective means of taking such measures in addition to body fat estimation (McCarthy et al., 2013; Pietrobelli et al., 2004; see chapter 2 Literature Review section 2.3.1 for further details).

SMMa relative to total body FM (i.e. SMMa (kg)/FM (kg), defined as the muscle-tofat ratio (MFR; McCarthy et al., 2014), has also been identified as a useful measure, when making between-group comparisons. The theory behind use of the MFR is based on the understanding that muscle tissue is much more active in glucose metabolism with greater sensitivity to insulin compared to fat tissue which inhibits insulin action and sensitivity by the release of free-fatty acids, thus in addition to high levels of adiposity, a low MFR would indicate increased risk of metabolic syndrome (Kim et al., 2011). Use of a fat and fat free mass index (FMI and FFMI respectively) has also been recommended as a more useful comparison of BC between individuals of different heights than BMI or %FM, as it is considered less likely to misclassify highly muscular individuals as overweight or obese, and would also help to identify individuals and populations that may be at risk of T2DM due to a high FMI or low FFMI that fall within the normal BMI range (Dulloo et al., 2010).

Within the UK SA population, the prevalence of T2DM is reported to be higher among Pakistanis and Bangladeshis than Indians (Bhopal et al., 1999; Erens et al 2001; Mindell & Sproston, 2006; Wild et al., 2007), with some studies reporting Bangladeshi children having a more adverse health profile than Pakistani and Indian children in relation to T2DM (Whincup et al., 2010), which is consistent with reports of the very high prevalence of T2DM among Bangladeshi adults (Bhopal et al., 1999; Erens et al 2001; Mindell & Sproston, 2006). Therefore, where possible, within group comparisons of the measured variables of associated risk factors are recommended, to gain an increased understanding of these differences in health outcome. Although there is evidence that these differences may be attributed to lifestyle and socioeconomic factors (Bhopal et al., 1999; Magnhild et al., 2008; Murasko, 2009; Owen et al., 2009; Saxena et al., 2004).

BIA provides a relatively accurate, safe, simple, and non-invasive method of estimating BC, including relative (%) and absolute (kg) FM and FFM. The Tanita (BC-418, Tokyo) model, also provides whole body and segmental estimates for FM, FFM, and segmental predicted muscle mass (PMM) for all four limbs, as well as the trunk and head (Pietrobelli et al., 2004; McCarthy et al., 2006), and has been validated against reference methods including DXA (Pietrobelli et al., 2004) and deuterium oxide (D₂O; Bosy-Westhphal et al., 2008) in both child and adolescent populations. However, neither of these studies was specific to the SA child and adolescent ethnic group, and due to ethnic variations in hydration of FFM (Heyward & Wagner, 2004; Kyle et al., 2004; Lohman, 1989), ethnic-specific prediction equations are

recommended (Chumlea & Sun, 2005; Dehghan & Merchant, 2008; Haroun et al., 2010; Kyle et al., 2004; Rush et al., 2006; Ward, 2012; Williams et al., 2007).

To address the lack of a valid BIA prediction equation for %FM for the SA child and adolescent population, a BIA validation study using DXA and air displacement plethysmography (ADP) as reference methods was conducted to develop ethnic-specific prediction equations for this population group (see Chapter 4). Consistent with other studies on SA populations (Haroun at al., 2010; Sluyter et al., 2010), using the in-built proprietary equations, BIA compared to DXA, was found to significantly (P < 0.05) underestimate %FM by a mean of 2.23% and 2.93% in boys and girls respectively. The successful development of a prediction equation (Chapter 4) reduced this difference to 1.07% and 0.73% in boys and girls respectively. However, as the cohort for the validation study had a very limited number of children < age 9y, the equation developed was not applicable to children below this age.

In this study, comparisons between DXA and BIA for SMMa both absolute (kg) and relative (%) were also made (see Chapter 4 section 4.7), which revealed BIA was significantly underestimating SMMa (P< 0.001). However, as DXA Wt was significantly greater than scale Wt (see Chapter 4 section 4.6.2), and DXA limb Wt could not be corrected for, this difference was not considered to be a true indication of SMMa differences, particularly when BIA was found to be significantly underestimating %FM. Whilst the differences were statistically significant, due to the very small relative differences in %SMMa (mean difference DXA – BIA = 1.52%) between BIA and DXA, it was considered acceptable to use BIA SMMa data without further correction. There were also difficulties using the DXA software in subjectively marking out the four limbs, particularly where the participants' arms and legs were in contact with the body. Furthermore, some very large subjects did not fit within the scanned area.

Due to the known limitations of BMI (see chapter 2 section 2.3), McCarthy et al. (2006), developed sex-specific body fat reference curves for UK children of WE origin, based on a cohort of 1,985 children aged 5-18y. These percentile curves had defined cut-offs for 'underfat', 'normal', 'overfat' and 'obese', set at the 2nd, 50th, 85th,

and 95th percentiles respectively, to match the IOTF BMI cut-offs (Cole et al., 2000). In that study, BC was assessed using segmental BIA (Tanita BC-418MA). These charts have been published by the Child Growth Foundation (CGF), for use in clinical practice, alongside BMI. The authors recognised the limitation of having defined cut-offs for %body fat in children and adolescents similar to BMI cut-offs that are not underpinned by evidence related to health risk, as many of the obesity-related health risks become apparent in adulthood. However, based on evidence that obesity levels among children are rising and have a tendency to track into adulthood, and T2DM is no longer an adult disease, particularly among SAs, there is a clear need to have specific measures for BC that go beyond BMI.

Following the publication of body-fat percentile curves for WE children and adolescents (McCarthy et al., 2006), McCarthy et al. (2013) also published sexspecific SMM_a reference curves, using the SMMa data from the same children, which involved summing the SMM (kg) predicted output for all four limbs (i.e. SMM_a) taken from BIA (Tanita BC-418MA) and converting it to relative (%)SMM_a (%*SMMa* = SMMa(kg) = SM

 $\frac{SMMa(kg)}{body \, weight(kg)} \times 100.$

There are currently no body fat or SMM_a percentile charts available for the SA child and adolescent population. Based on the evidence of higher levels of % body fat and lower LM, between SAs and WEs for a given BMI (Gray et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2011; Luke, 2009; Mehta, 2002; Misra et al., 2009; Rush, 2004; Taylor et al., 2005; Whincup et al., 2007; WHO, 2004), there is a clear need to have ethnic specific body composition data, with body fat and SMM reference curves for SAs with appropriate cut-offs to identify those children that may be at increased risk of developing obesity-related diseases (Misra et al., 2005; Saxena et al., 2004). The development of body fat and SMMa percentile curves specific to SA children and adolescents, similar to those developed by McCarthy et al. (2006 & 2013 respectively) for WEs will fill an important gap in the research.

5.1.1 Study Aims

The aims of this study were to:

- Develop sex-specific %FM reference curves for the SA child and adolescent (9-18y) population in the UK, by applying the new prediction equations developed in Chapter 4.
- Develop a range of sex-specific SMM_a reference curves for the SA child and adolescent (5-18y) population in the UK for use in epidemiological and clinical settings as an additional measure to BMI and WC.
- iii) Assess within-group variations for %FM and %SMM_a, between Indian,Pakistani, and Bangladeshi children and adolescents.
- iv) Compare the new reference curves for SA children and adolescents with the WE %FM (McCarthy et al., 2006) and various SMM_a (McCarthy et al., 2013) reference curves, with main comparisons with available WE low income datasets.
- v) Evaluate the differences between SA and WE children and adolescents in %FM and %SMM_a and compare these differences to the BMI UK90 reference standards.

5.2 Participants and Methods

5.2.1 Participants

Data from 1,459 (n = 584 boys and 875 girls) SA school-aged children from London boroughs measured on the same Tanita (BC418-MA) analyser from a previous study conducted at this university (from 2005 to 2007) was used in this study, together with additional data (n =121; 39 girls and 82 boys) from a further field-based study that was conducted to add to the Pakistani data set (see Chapter 4 section 4.6.1).

A large majority of the SA children were from more deprived areas of inner city London such as Tower Hamlets, whilst the WE₁ dataset used in both studies in which

%FM centiles and SMMa centiles were produced (McCarthy et al., 2006 & 2013 respectively) involved children that were intentionally selected from more affluent backgrounds to minimise the effect on the outcome of rising levels of obesity in order to make more valid comparisons with the UK90 reference population. Thus to ensure that comparisons between the WE₁ and SA sample were not overly influenced by socioeconomic status, additional comparisons for %FFM and SMMa were made between only the 'low income' WE (WE₂) data set. For sex-specific within-group comparisons, SA boys and girls were divided into Indian, Pakistani, Bangladeshi, and other Asian (i.e. of mixed SA heritage) sub-groups based on self-report. Within-group comparisons were restricted to the Indian, Pakistani, and Bangladeshi sub-groups as the aims of this study were limited to these sub-groups, which are commonly referred to in other research.

5.2.2 Methods

Anthropometric measures of Ht, Wt, BMI, and SMMa were taken from the original Tanita BIA (BC418-MA) printouts from the existing dataset of SA children, and WC measures were taken from written records. Two field workers on school premises took these measurements (McCarthy et al., 2006). The additional data taken from the field-based study (Chapter 4) was added to this dataset, and followed the same measurement protocol described by McCarthy et al. (2006) in order to minimise measurement error. Methods used for all anthropometric and BIA measures are also described in chapter 3 (General Methods). BC measures included absolute (kg) and relative (%) whole body FM and FFM taken from the Tanita printouts. Both these measures were corrected for, using the new regression equation developed in the BIA validation study (chapter 4), which was limited to children aged \geq 9y as explained in the introduction.

The LMS method (Cole & Green, 1992; see chapter 2 General Methods, section 3.4.2 for more information) was used to construct sex-specific centile curves for %FM and %FFM using the original BIA equation and new BIA regression equation for children aged \geq 9y, to make comparisons between the results before and after regression, and also to compare the results with the WE₁ and WE₂ data. %FFM centile curves using the original BIA regression equation were also constructed for all children aged \geq 5y to make comparisons with the WE₂ dataset across all ages. For SMM, only

appendicular SMM (i.e. SMMa) data from BIA was used to construct centile curves, as this accounts for the majority (~75%) of whole body SMM in adults (McCarthy et al., 2013), and has the potential of being modified through physical activity and exercise (McCarthy et al., 2013). SMMa measures included: absolute (kg); relative (%) SMMa (SMMa (kg)/body Wt (kg) x 100); SMMa/FFM% (SMMa (kg)/FFM (kg) x 100); SMMa Index (SMMaI = SMMa (kg)/Ht (m²); and MFR (SMMa (kg)/ FM (kg)).

5.3 Statistical Analyses

Data for Ht, Wt, BMI, %FM, and WC were also converted to standard deviation scores (SDS), using LMS Growth software (see Chapter 3, section 3.4.2), to compare with UK90 reference data (Cole et al., 1995). As SDS references were not available for FFM or SMMa data, to enable comparisons to be made by age, the datasets were divided into the following age ranges: 5-7y; 8-10y; 11-13; 14-16y; and 17+ in accordance with the age ranges used by McCarthy et al. (2013).

Between-group (SA and WE) comparisons were conducted using Independent Samples T-tests, and within-group comparisons were conducted using ANOVA, with the level of significance set at the P<0.05 level unless otherwise stated. All analyses were conducted using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS v.20 for Mac; IBM.com). Whilst absolute values within each age range were determined, reference was only made to SDS data where available (i.e. for Ht, Wt, BMI, %FM, and WC), as SDS adjusts for age more accurately than age ranges and also provide a comparison to the UK90 reference data. To make direct comparisons with WE₁ (McCarthy et al., 2006 & 2013) centiles, the same 9 centiles (i.e. 2, 9, 25, 50, 75, 85, 91, 95, 98) were selected for the BIA measured variables stated above and presented in corresponding centile charts, although for clarity the 75th and 85th centiles were excluded from the centile graphs.

5.4 Results

A total of 1,624 (691 boys aged 4.6-20.7y, and 933 girls aged 4.5-21.5y) SA and 1,141 (598 boys aged 4.5y and 543 girls aged 4.5 - 16.7y) WE₂ subjects comprised the total dataset above age 4.5y. However, due to very few numbers above age 14y in both the SA and WE₂ samples, the cut-off age for analysis was 14y. As the aim of this study

was to develop centile charts for children aged 5-18y, children above the age of 4.5y were included in the 5y age group and those below were excluded. The final dataset comprised 1581 (666 boys and 915 girls) SA and 1137 WE₂ subjects (596 boys and 541 girls) aged 5 – 14y. Less data (SA n= 1366; WE₂ n= 1135) was available for all SMMa measures due to missing data.

Table 5.1 provides sex-specific descriptive data, showing mean SDS values based on the UK90 reference data (Cole et al., 1995) for Ht, Wt, BMI, WC, and %FM for both the SA and WE₂ (low-income) dataset as a whole. Compared to the UK90 reference population, SA boys and girls were on average shorter, lighter, with a lower BMI, but with a higher WC and %FM, whilst WE₂ boys and girls had higher mean SDS values for all measures. T-test comparisons between the SA and WE₂ cohort, revealed that both SA boys and girls were significantly (P<0.001) shorter, lighter, with a lower BMI and WC than their WE₂ counterparts, with no significant differences in %FM.

Age (y)	n	Ht SDS	Wt SDS	BMI SDS	WC SDS	%FM SDS
Boys						
^a 9.01 ±2.60	666	-0.02** ±1.00	-0.08** ±1.37	-0.14** ±1.52	0.29**	0.53 ±1.08
					±1.36	
^b 8.84 ±2.43	594	0.29 ±1.00	0.44 ±1.25	0.37 ±1.35	0.74 ±1.17	0.49 ±1.07
Girls						
^a 10.00 ±2.56	912	-0.07** ±1.01	-0.15** ±1.31	-0.21** ±1.45	0.21**	0.25 ±1.11
					±1.45	
^b 8.81 ±2.39	541	0.15 ±1.02	0.22 ±1.20	0.18 ±1.27	0.64 ±1.19	0.25 ±1.07

Table 5.1 Mean ±sd SDS data for Ht, Wt, BMI, WC, & %FM for SA^a and WE₂^b cohort with sexspecific comparisons between ethnic groups

Ht = height; Wt= weight; BMI = body mass index, WC= waist circumference; FM= fat mass; SDS = standard deviation score **Significant difference at P<0.001 level a= South Asians; b= white Europeans

a= South Asians; b= white Europeans

Table 5.2 shows the sex-specific descriptive statistics for both the SA and WE₂ cohort by age range, together with significant (at P< 0.05 and P< 0.001 levels) outcomes for between group t-test comparisons by sex and age-range. Absolute data for %FM is not presented, as this would be the reciprocal of % FFM. Compared to WE₂ boys, SA boys in the age ranges 5-7y and 8-10y were significantly shorter and lighter, with a significantly lower BMI based on SDS data. In the 11-13y age range, SDS for Wt and BMI were significantly lower in the SA group. No significant differences were observed in %FM (SDS), or %FFM (based on original BIA data) in any of the age ranges. However, SA boys had significantly lower SMMa for relative measures of SMMa (i.e. SMMa%; SMMa/FFM%; SMMaI) in all age ranges. MFR (i.e. SMMa (kg)/FM (kg) was significantly lower in SA boys in the 5-7y age range only,

Similar to SA boys, in the 5-7y and 8-10y age ranges, SA girls were significantly shorter, lighter, with a lower BMI for their respective SDS, with no significant differences in %FM (SDS) or %FFM (absolute). In the 11-13y age range no significant differences were observed in Ht, Wt, or BMI SDS, however, SA girls had significantly higher %FM (SDS) and significantly lower %FFM. As with SA boys, compared to their WE₂ counterparts, SA girls in every age range also had significantly lower SMMa for all relative measures (i.e. SMMa%; SMMa/FFM%; SMMaI). MFR was significantly lower in the SA 5-7y and 11-13y age ranges. It is also interesting to note that whilst BMI SDS for both SA boys and girls were significantly lower (except for girls in 11-13y age range – lower but not significantly) than their WE₂ counterparts for all age ranges, %FM SDS were higher (but only significantly higher in the female 11-13y age range) apart from girls in the 8-10y age range (lower but not significantly).

Age & age range (y)	n	Ht SDS	Ht (cm)	Wt SDS	Wt (kg)	BMI SDS	BMI	%FM SDS	FFM (kg)	FFM (%)	SMMa (kg)	SMMa (%)	SMMa/ FFM (%)	MFR	SMMaI
Boys				1		1									
^a 6.39 ± 0.93 (5-7)	269 (229)	-0.09** ± 0.97	117.74* ± 7.40	-0.35** ± 1.31	21.40** ± 4.78	-0.48** ± 1.41	15.28** +2.12	0.68 ± 0.87	17.14** ± 3.06	80.81 ± 4.03	5.19** ± 1.57	23.90** ± 2.82	29.73** ± 3.86	1.28** ± 0.28	3.68** ± 0.76
▶6.40 ± 0.95 (5-7)	247 (246)	0.28 ± 1.05	119.60	0.27 ± 1.35	23.37 ± 5.95	0.11 ± 1.42	16.14 ± 2.57	0.62 ± 0.95	18.67 ± 3.56	80.75 ± 4.74	6.17 ± 1.90	26.10 ± 2.94	32.37 ± 3.93	1.42 ± 0.34	4.22 ± 0.86
^a 9.53 ± 0.88 (8-10)	225 (181)	-0.08** ± 1.04	135.50* ± 8.10	0.04** ± 1.47	32.51* ± 10.18	0.12** ± 1.62	17.41* ± 3.84	0.47 ± 1.17	24.93** ± 5.40	78.51 ± 7.01	8.92** ± 2.69	27.93** ± 2.34	35.64** ± 3.52	1.44 ± 0.44	4.78** ± 0.99
^b 9.45 ± 0.90 (8-10)	206	0.26 ± 0.99	137.05 ± 7.32	0.57 ± 1.27	34.80 ± 10.33	0.62 ± 1.35	18.27 ± 3.93	0.45 ± 1.16	26.72 ± 5.18	78.65 ± 7.03	10.24 ± 2.81	29.59 ± 2.52	37.82 ± 3.21	1.53 ± 0.50	5.37 ± 1.00
^a 12.43 ± 0.84 (11-13)	172 (147)	0.16 ± 0.99	152.75 ± 10.09	0.20* ± 1.24	44.08 ± 11.72	0.07* ± 1.48	18.68 ± 3.59	0.37 ± 1.22	34.45 ± 7.53	79.30 ± 7.13	13.84 ± 3.95	31.16* ± 3.22	39.19** ± 2.73	1.74 ± 0.65	5.72** ± 1.02
^b 12.12 ± 0.72 (11-13)	143	0.35 ± 0.93	151.98 ± 8.39	0.53 ± 0.99	44.52 ± 10.09	0.46 ± 1.11	19.14 ± 3.29	0.32 ± 1.09	35.21 ± 6.41	79.92 ± 5.90	14.30 ± 3.31	32.16 ± 2.90	40.26 ± 2.34	1.76 ± 0.61	6.12 ± 0.94
Girls															1
ª6.4 ± 0.95 5-7	249 (204)	-0.16* ± 1.09	116.86 ± 8.12	-0.50** ± 1.31	20.84** ± 5.14	-0.58** ± 1.33	15.07** ± 2.19	0.44 ± 0.92	16.19** ± 3.31	78.39 ± 3.86	5.08** ± 1.46	24.39** ± 1.85	31.26** ± 2.50	1.15** ± 0.23	3.68** ± 0.62
^b 6.4 ± 0.94 (5-7)	220 (219)	0.14 ± 1.01	118.17 ± 7.67	0.13 ± 1.16	22.65 ± 5.47	0.04 ± 1.21	16.04 ± 2.37	0.43 ± 0.99	17.55 ± 3.40	78.21 ± 4.37	5.88 ± 1.46	25.98 ± 2.21	33.22 ± 2.26	1.24 ± 0.30	4.15 ± 0.58
^a 9.47 ± 0.87 (8-10)	208 (159)	-0.18** ± 1.02	134.35* ± 7.87	-0.32** ± 1.27	30.10** ± 7.23	-0.32** ± 1.27	16.50** ± 2.81	0.03 ± 1.11	22.81 ^{**} ± 4.28	76.72 ± 5.36	7.83** ± 1.82	26.25** ± 2.04	34.45** ± 1.97	1.17 ± 0.31	4.31** ± 0.64
^b 9.53 ± 0.89 (8-10)	203	0.17 ± 1.06	136.95 ± 8.67	0.36 ± 1.28	34.86 ± 10.48	0.38 ± 1.34	18.28 ± 3.89	0.23 ± 1.14	25.85 ± 5.86	75.60 ± 6.00	9.41 ± 2.53	27.27 ± 2.13	36.12 ± 1.85	1.20 ± 0.35	4.94 ± 0.84
^a 12.17 ± 0.72 (11-13)	458 (456)	0.02 ± 0.95	150.81 ± 7.53	0.11 ± 1.28	43.90 ± 11.01	0.03 ± 1.48	19.15 ± 4.01	0.24* ± 1.18	32.07 ± 5.72	74.37* ± 6.25	11.84* ± 2.46	27.27** ± 2.06	36.73** ± 1.60	1.14* ± 0.35	5.16* ± 0.81
^b 12.08 ± 0.75 (11-13)	118	0.13 ± 0.99	151.06 ± 7.77	0.18 ± 1.13	43.74 ± 10.23	0.09 ± 1.20	19.00 ± 3.47	-0.02 ± 1.00	32.84 ± 6.26	75.95 ± 5.02	12.40 ± 2.72	28.50 ± 2.17	37.56 ± 1.57	1.25 ± 0.32	5.38 ± 0.81

Table 5.2 Descriptive statistics for all BC measures mean ± sd for SA^a and WE₂^b cohort with comparisons between ethnic groups by age range and sex

*Significant difference at P< 0.05 level; **Significant difference at P<0.001 level; *= South Asians; *= White Europeans. Numbers shown in brackets under column 'n' = numbers of subjects with SMMa data available if fewer than total dataset; MFR = Muscle to fat ratio (i.e. SMMa (kg)/ FM (kg)). SMMa = Appendicular skeletal muscle mass; SMMaI = SMMa index (SMMa [kg]/Ht [m²]) WE₂ = White European low income dataset

Further analyses on absolute and relative FFM (kg & % respectively) were conducted to assess the differences if any between the SA and WE₂ cohort before and after regression following validation with DXA (Chapter 4). Data is shown in Table 5.3 and is limited to ages \geq 9y as explained in the introduction. Application of BIA_{reg1} to the SA sample resulted in a small within-group decrease in both absolute and relative FFM for both boys (mean difference = 0.35kg; & 1.15% P <0.001) and girls (mean difference =0.10kg; & 0.29%), although for girls the decrease in FFM was not significant. Both SA boys and girls had less relative %FFM than their WE₂ counterparts. Between-group comparisons (WE₂ – SA) for boys revealed no significant difference = 1.82%; SE = 0.70; P = 0.009). For girls, the average difference in %FFM was not significant before (mean difference = 0.44%; SE = 0.45) or after (mean difference = 0.73%; SE = 0.81) correction.

Table 5.3 Descriptive statistics (mean \pm sd) for SA & WE₂ absolute (kg) and relative FFM (%) showing sex-specific comparisons before and after regression between ethnic groups aged 9-14y

	Age	n	FFM	FFM	FFM _{reg1} (kg)	FFM _{reg1} (%)
	(y)		(kg)	(%)		
SA boys	11.29	322	30.64* ± 7.90	78.42 ± 8.55	30.29* ± 8.47	77.26* ± 9.62
	± 1.42					
WE ₂ boys	11.14	271	31.94 ± 6.86	79.08 ± 6.84		
	± 1.23					
SA girls	11.68	593	30.32 ± 6.38	74.92 ± 6.19	30.22 ± 7.90	74.63 ± 12.41
	± 1.14					
WE ₂ girls	10.98	255	30.02 ± 6.56	75.35 ± 5.73		
	± 1.23					

*Significant difference at P< 0.05 level; SA = South Asian; WE_2 = White European low income dataset

 $FFM = fat free mass; FFM_{reg1} = FFM regression equation 1 (see section 4.5.3.5)$

Tables 5.4a and 5.4b show descriptive statistics for SA (boys and girls respectively) sub-groups (i.e. Indian, Pakistani, Bangladeshi, and other Asian), and Table 5.5 shows comparisons, where differences were significant (P< 0.05 or 0.001) within-

group and between-group (i.e. comparisons between SA sub-groups and the WE₂ cohort presented in Table 5.1). Significant differences between SA sub-groups and WE₂ boys and girls were observed across all measures apart from %FM, where there were no significant differences.

Compared to WE₂ boys, Indian boys, were significantly shorter (Ht SDS; 5-7y age range only), and lighter (Wt SDS), with a lower BMI (SDS) in the 5-7y and 8-10y age ranges, with no significant differences for these measures in the 11-13y age range. In the 8-10y age range Indian boys were also significantly lighter than Pakistani boys, with a significantly lower BMI than both Pakistani and Bangladeshi boys, and also had significantly less %FM than Pakistani boys. For all SMMa measures, Indian boys had significantly less SMMa than WE₂ boys in the 5-7y and 8-10y age ranges, with less relative SMMa (i.e. SMMa%; SMMa/FFM%; SMMaI) in the 11-13y age range. They also had less SMMa (SMMa%, SMMa/FFM%, and SMMaI) than Bangladeshi boys in the 5-7y and 8-10y (SMMaI only) age ranges, as well as less SMMa (SMMa/FFM% only) than Pakistani boys in the 5-7y age range.

Bangladeshi boys in one or more age ranges, compared to WE₂ boys, were significantly shorter (in all three age ranges) and lighter (in 5-7y and 8-10y age ranges), with no significant differences in BMI. Bangladeshi boys also had significantly less SMMa (SMMa% and SMMa/FFM %) than WE₂ boys in the 8-10y age range. Pakistani boys had significantly less SMMa (%) than WE₂ boys in the 8-10y age range only, with no significant differences for any other measures.

For the female dataset, compared to WE₂ girls, Indian girls were significantly shorter (8-10y age range only), lighter, with a lower BMI in the 5-7y and 8-10y age ranges. Some or all measures of SMMa were also significantly lower in Indian girls across all age ranges compared to WE₂ girls. Indian girls also had significantly less SMMa (SMMa/FFM% and SMMaI) than Bangladeshi girls in the 5-7y and 8-10y age ranges. Compared to WE₂ girls, Pakistani girls were significantly lighter (5-7y age range), with no other significant differences across all age ranges for Ht, Wt or BMI measures. For SMMa measures Pakistani girls had significantly less SMMa compared with WE₂ girls, in the 5-7y (SMMa/FFM%; SMMaI), and 11-13y (SMMa%;

SMMa/FFM%; MFR) age ranges. There were no sub-group differences between Pakistani girls across all age ranges for any measures.

Bangladeshi girls, compared to WE₂ girls, were significantly lighter (11-13y age range), with a lower BMI (8-10y age range). Bangladeshi girls had significantly lower SMMa for one or more measures across all three age ranges compared to WE₂ girls.

Age (y)	n	Ht	Ht (am)	Wt	Wt (lvg)	BMI	BMI	WC	%FM	FFM (lvg)	FFM	SMMa	SMMa	SMMa/	MFR	SMMaI
α age range ^α		3D2	(cm)	303	(Kg)	303		303	303	(Kg)	(%)	(Kg)	(%)	ггм (%)		
β _, γ														(70)		
^{1α} 6.19	126	-0.08±	116.55	-0.47	20.55 ±	-0.66	15.00	-0.28	0.73	16.52	80.92	4.87	23.40	28.97	1.26	3.52
± 0.93		1.02	± 7.61	± 1.28	4.34	± 1.31	±	±	±	±	±	± 1.40	±	± 3.75	±	± 0.69
							1.92	1.19	0.79	2.77	3.70		2.79		0.26	
^{2α} 6.48	37	0.13	119.46 ±	0.05 ±	22.68 ±	-0.10	15.75	0.52	0.85	17.97	79.89	5.65 ±	24.66	30.94 ±	1.28	3.89
± 0.85		± 0.76	6.54	1.19	4.78	± 1.31	±	±	±	±	±	1.52	±	3.35	±	± 0.70
							2.04	1.29	0.90	2.96	4.34		2.39		0.30	
^{3α} 6.70	91	-0.20 ±	119.04 ±	-0.33	22.26	-0.35	15.55	0.14	0.55	17.81	80.85	5.78	24.90	31.19	1.31	3.98
± 0.86	(53)	0.97	7.06	±1.42	±5.24	±1.56	±2.42	±1.29	±0.98	±3.31	±4.46	±1.77	±2.74	±3.77	±0.31	±0.85
^{4α} 5.96	15	0.02	115.67	-0.44	20.07	-0.75	14.85	-0.57	0.62	16.35	81.70	4.50	22.62	27.76	1.25	3.38
±0.94	(13)	± 0.91	±7.91	±1.07	±4.14	±1.26	±1.51	±1.19	±0.65	±3.07	±2.38	±1.39	±3.11	±4.13	±0.22	±0.71
1β9.44	84	-0.09	134.96	-0.28	30.19	-0.36	16.36	0.20	0.19	23.66	79.83	8.46	27.87	35.07	1.52	4.55
±0.84	(82)	±1.10	±8.04	±1.42	±8.63	±1.64	±3.23	±1.42	±1.23	±4.57	±6.88	±2.50	±2.46	±3.61	±0.45	±0.92
^{2β} 9.80	36	0.27	138.96	0.56	36.33	0.60	18.52	1.41	0.87	27.11	76.40	9.18	27.65	36.04	1.30	4.82
±0.78	(21)	±1.00	±7.12	±1.36	±11.11	±1.50	±4.03	±1.15	±1.00	±5.74	±7.03	±2.23	±1.64	±2.61	±0.36	±0.80
^{3β} 9.52	90	-0.26**	134.41	0.06	32.96	0.30	17.89	0.59	0.52	25.04	78.11	9.27	27.96	36.10	1.39	5.00
±0.91	(63)	±1.01	±8.27	±1.56	±11.03	±1.62	±4.26	±1.48	±1.19	±5.77	±7.24	±3.01	±2.23	±3.68	±0.44	±1.10
^{4β} 9.42	15	0.22	136.74	0.53	33.62	0.59	17.73	0.92	0.72	26.12	78.37	9.61	28.44	36.29	1.39	5.06
±1.06		(0.79	±7.85	±1.02	±7.83	±1.11	±2.49	±0.86	±0.84	±5.06	±5.02	±2.69	±3.05	±3.22	±0.41	±0.89
^{1γ} 12.61	71	0.24	154.51	0.21	45.62	0.00	18.78	0.45	0.45	35.22	78.59	14.01	30.70	39.13	1.67	5.73
±0.82		±1.05	±10.32	±1.40	±13.78	±1.61	±3.88	±1.33	±1.31	±8.76	±7.86	±4.47	±3.41	±2.95	±0.69	±1.16
² γ12.30	42	0.27	152.08	0.32	44.29	0.15	18.84	0.59	0.46	34.49	78.90	14.07	31.34	39.27	1.74	5.76
±0.86	(31)	±1.06	±10.31	±1.23	±10.84	±1.55	±3.64	±1.37	±1.20	±6.93	±6.72	±3.55	±2.96	±2.51	±0.66	±0.94
³ γ12.07	41	-0.21	147.77	0.08	40.99	0.20	18.66	0.37	0.30	32.30	79.70	12.75	31.25	38.93	1.77	5.61
±0.76	(27)	±0.81	±8.49	±1.14	±9.57	±1.33	±3.56	±1.25	±1.15	±6.32	±6.80	±3.62	±3.23	±2.88	±0.57	±0.97
4γ12.83	18	0.40	157.07	0.16	44.57	-0.16	17.96	0.01	-0.01	36.27	82.02	14.45	32.52	39.67	1.96	5.82
±0.78		±0.84	±8.15	±0.85	±8.21	±1.02	±2.34	±0.92	±1.02	±5.28	±5.41	±2.60	±2.65	±2.04	±0.57	±0.68

Table 5.4a Descriptive statistics for all BC measures (mean ± sd) for SA sub-groups by age range (boys only)

BC = body composition; SA = South Asian; Ht = height; Wt= weight; BMI= body mass index; WC = waist circumference; FM = fat mass; FFM = fat-free mass; SDS = standard deviation scores; numbers 1 to 5 under column 'Age & age range' = ethnic codes where 1 = Indian; 2 = Pakistani; 3 = Bangladeshi; 4 = Other Asian; \alpha, \beta under column 'Age & age range' = age ranges 5 to 7y; 8 to10y; & 11to13y respectively. Numbers shown in brackets under column 'Are waster column 'Age & age range' = age range' = age ranges 5 to 7y; 8 to10y; & 11to13y respectively. Numbers shown in brackets under column 'N' = numbers of subjects with SMMa data available if fewer than total dataset, including MFR. MFR = Muscle to fat ratio (i.e. SMMa (kg)/ FM (kg)). SMMa = Appendicular skeletal muscle mass; SMMaI = SMMa index (SMMa [kg]/Ht [m²])

Age	n	Ht	Ht	Wt	Wt	BMI	BMI	WC	%FM	FFM	FFM	SMMa	SMMa	SMMa/	MFR	SMMaI
(y) &		SDS	(cm)	SDS	(kg)	SDS		SDS	SDS	(kg)	(%)	(kg)	(%)	FFM		
age														(%)		
range																
α, β, γ																
^{1α} 6.23	116	-0.08	116.35	-0.55	20.45	-0.73	14.88	-0.36	0.54	15.84	78.19	4.99	24.24	31.03	1.15	3.61
±1.00		±1.07	±8.79	±1.31	±5.42	±1.37	±2.24	±1.35	±0.91	±3.48	±3.99	±1.46	±1.82	±2.45	±0.24	±0.61
^{2α} 6.49	15	-0.47	115.81	-0.82	19.82	-0.78	14.66	-0.31	0.13	15.73	79.67	4.89	24.98	31.42	1.24	3.65
±0.97	(14)	±0.95	±6.67	±1.23	±4.06	±1.19	±1.77	±1.21	±0.86	±2.81	±2.82	±1.16	±1.76	±2.25	±0.21	±0.56
^{3α} 6.57	88	-0.14	117.95	-0.33	21.58	-0.35	15.38	0.14	0.33	16.82	78.54	5.53	24.95	32.20	1.15	3.94
±0.87	(45)	±1.14	±7.68	±1.27	±4.69	±1.23	±2.16	±1.17	±0.96	±2.99	±3.86	±1.45	±1.62	±2.13	±0.23	±0.60
^{4α} 6.42	30	-0.32	116.12	-0.63	20.70	-0.63	15.07	-0.26	0.58	15.96	77.91	4.90	23.88	30.62	1.12	3.58
±0.97	(29)	±1.09	±8.09	±1.46	±5.71	±1.52	±2.22	±1.41	±0.85	±3.65	±3.73	±1.49	±2.13	±3.05	±0.20	±0.67
1ß9.37	90	-0.28	133.22	-0.51	28.73	-0.50	16.04	-0.02	0.07	21.81	76.72	7.48	26.13	34.08	1.18	4.17
±0.87	(88)	±1.07	±7.79	±1.22	±6.56	±1.20	±2.59	±1.26	±1.01	±3.86	±5.08	±1.73	±2.09	±2.10	±0.30	±0.60
^{2β} 9.73	14	0.05	137.34	-0.10	32.37	-0.21	16.96	0.52	0.07	24.37	76.29	8.61	26.71	35.03	1.20	4.50
±0.91		±1.11	±9.19	±1.41	±8.40	±1.60	±3.08	±1.51	±1.27	±5.04	±5.55	±2.13	±1.98	±1.81	±0.37	±0.69
^{3β} 9.50	89	-0.14	134.85	-0.20	30.99	-0.19	16.85	0.28	-0.07	23.52	76.96	8.27	26.50	35.12	1.17	4.56
±0.82	(42)	±0.98	±7.84	±1.31	±7.70	±1.37	±3.00	±1.41	±1.21	±4.53	±5.88	±1.91	±2.11	±1.78	±0.36	±0.68
4β9.59	15	-0.10	135.43	-0.15	30.95	-0.15	16.77	0.45	0.30	23.21	75.74	7.96	25.85	34.17	1.11	4.31
±1.03		±0.94	±6.64	±1.10	±6.14	±1.10	±2.55	±1.20	±0.88	±3.49	±4.45	±1.41	±1.51	±1.28	±0.24	±0.53
1γ12.38	168	0.11	152.59	0.08	43.38	-0.07	18.95	0.31	0.23	32.57	74.47	12.00	27.28	36.67	1.14	5.12
±0.74		±0.88	±7.31	±1.19	±10.33	±1.41	±3.73	±1.50	±1.13	±5.50	±5.84	±2.37	±1.97	±1.42	±0.34	±0.78
² γ12.08	143	0.06	150.62	0.23	44.63	0.16	19.50	0.63	0.35	32.26	73.73	11.95	27.08	36.82	1.11	5.22
±0.67		±1.04	±7.59	±1.38	±11.53	±1.56	±4.22	±1.59	±1.24	±6.00	±6.71	±2.66	±2.14	±1.83	±0.36	±0.89
³ γ11.93	119	-0.08	148.79	0.11	42.89	0.09	19.17	0.34	0.18	31.35	74.67	11.56	27.42	36.77	1.16	5.16
±0.62	(107)	±0.93	±7.13	±1.31	±11.81	±1.49	±4.29	±1.55	±1.23	±5.88	±6.47	±2.41	±2.11	±1.56	±0.35	±0.79
4γ12.38	28	-0.30	149.70	-0.24	41.56	-0.20	18.49	0.21	0.03	31.11	75.65	11.41	27.61	36.52	1.19	5.07
±0.79		±0.86	±8.07	±1.13	±8.35	±1.35	±3.29	±1.40	±1.02	±4.70	±5.19	±2.02	±1.99	±1.48	±0.31	±0.71

Table 5.4b Descriptive statistics for all BC measures (mean ± sd) for SA sub-groups by age range (girls only)

BC = body composition; SA = South Asian; Ht = height; Wt= weight; BMI= body mass index; WC = waist circumference; FM = fat mass; FFM = fat-free mass; SDS = standard deviation scores; numbers 1 to 5 under column 'Age & age range' = ethnic codes where 1 = Indian; 2 = Pakistani; 3 = Bangladeshi; 4 = Other Asian

^{α, β, γ} under column 'Age & age range' = age ranges 5 to 7y; 8 to 10y; & 11to 13y respectively.

Numbers shown in brackets under column 'N' = numbers of subjects with SMMa data available if fewer than total dataset, including MFR. MFR = Muscle to fat ratio (i.e. SMMa (kg)/ FM (kg)). SMMa = Appendicular skeletal muscle mass; SMMaI = SMMa index (SMMa [kg]/Ht [m²])

Table 5.5 Descriptive statistics showing significant (* or **) differences within SA sub-groups and between SA sub-groups & WE₂ for all BC measures by sex and age range

	Ethnic groups (1to 5) with significant differences (mean difference)											
Variables	Boys			Girls								
Age ranges (y)	5 to 7	8 to 10	11 to13	5 to 7	8 to10	11to 13						
Ht SDS	1 - 5 (-0.37)* 3 - 5 (-0.49)**	3 – 5 (-0.52)**	3 – 5 (-0.56)*	-	1 – 5 (-0.33)*	-						
Ht (cm)	1 - 5 (-3.04)*	2 - 3 (4.55)*	1 - 3 (6.73)* 3 - 4 (-9.30)*	-	1 – 5 (-3.72)*	1 - 3 (3.80)**						
Wt SDS	1 - 5 (-0.74)** 3 - 5 (-0.60)*	1 - 2 (-0.84)* 1 - 5 (-0.85)** 3 - 5 (-0.50)*	-	1 -5 (-0.68) ** 2 - 5 (-0.95) * 3 -5 (-0.45) * 4 -5 (-0.76) *	1 – 5 (-0.86)** 3 – 5 (-0.55)*	-						
Wt (kg)	1 – 5 (-2.82)**	1 – 2 (-6.14)* 1 – 5 (4.61)*	-	1 – 5 (-2.19)*	1 – 5 (-6.13)** 3 – 5 (-3.87)*	-						
BMI SDS	1 - 5 (-0.76)**	1 – 2 (-0.95)* 1 – 3 (-0.65)* 1 – 5 (-0.97)**	-	1 – 5 (-0.77)**	1 – 5 (-0.88)** 3 – 5 (-0.56)*	-						
BMI	1 – 5 (-1.14)**	1 – 2 (-2.16)* 1 – 5 (-1.91)**	-	1 – 5 (-1.15)**	1 – 5 (-2.24)** 3 – 5 (-1.43)*	-						
WC SDS	1 - 2 (-0.79)* 1 - 5 (-0.93)** 2 - 4 (1.09)* 3 - 5 (-0.52)* 4 -5 (-1.23)*	1 - 2 (-1.21)** 1 - 5 (-0.64)* 2 - 3 (0.82)*	-	1 - 3 (-0.50)* 1 - 5 (-0.88)** 4 - 5 (-0.78)*	1 – 5 (-0.78)** 3 – 5 (-0.48)*	-						
%FM SDS	-	1 - 2 (-0.67)*	-	-	-	-						
FFM (kg)	1 - 3 (-1.29)* 1 - 5 (-2.15)**	1 – 2 (-3.45)* 1 – 5 (-3.07)**	-	1 – 5 (-1.71)**	1 – 5 (-4.03)** 3 – 5 (-2.33)*	-						
FFM (%)	-	-	-	-	-	2 – 5 (-2.21)*						
SMMa (kg)	1 - 3 (-0.92)* 1 - 5 (-1.30)** 4 - 5 (-1.67)*	1 - 5 (-1.78)**	-	1 – 5 (-0.90)** 4 – 5 (-0.98)*	1 -5 (-1.93)** 3 – 5 (-1.14)*	-						
SMMa (%)	1 - 3 (-1.51)* 1 - 5 (-2.68)** 2 - 5 (-1.42)* 4 - 5 (-2.28)**	1 – 5 (-1.72)** 2 – 5 (-1.94)* 3 – 5 (-1.62)**	1 - 5 (-1.46)*	1 - 5 (-1.74) ** 3 - 5 (-1.03) * 4 - 5 (-2.10) **	1 – 5 (-1.14)**	1 - 5 (-1.22)** 2 - 5 (-1.42)** 3 - 5 (-1.08)**						
SMMa/ FFM (%)	$1 - 2 (-1.97)^*$ $1 - 3 (-2.22)^*$ $1 - 5 (-3.40)^{**}$ $3 - 4 (3.43)^*$ $4 - 5 (-4.61)^{**}$	1 – 5 (-2.76)** 3 – 5 (-1.73)*	1 - 5 (-1.13)*	$1 - 3 (-1.16)^*$ $1 - 5 (-2.19)^{**}$ $2 - 5 (-1.81)^*$ $3 - 4 (1.58)^*$ $4 - 5 (-2.60)^{**}$	1 - 3 (-1.03)* 1 - 5 (-2.03)** 3 - 5 (-1.00)* 4 - 5 (-1.94)**	1 - 5 (-0.89)** 2 - 5 (-0.74)* 3 - 5 (-0.79)* 4 - 5 (1.03)*						
MFR	1 – 5 (-0.16)**	-	-	1 – 5 (-0.10)*	-	2 – 5 (-0.13)*						
SMMaI	1 - 3 (-0.46) * 1 - 5 (-0.70) ** 4 - 5 (-0.84) *	1 - 3 (-0.45)* 1 - 5 (-0.82)**	1 – 5 (-0.39)*	1 - 3 (-0.33)* 1 - 5 (-0.54)** 2 - 5 (-0.50)* 4 - 5 (-0.57)**	1 - 3 (-0.40) * 1 - 5 (-0.77) **	-						

SA = South Asian, WE_2 = White European low income dataset; ethnic groups: 1 = Indian; 2 = Pakistani; 3 = Bangladeshi; 4 = Other Asian; 5 = White European

*Significant difference at P< 0.05 level; **Significant difference at P<0.001 level;

Data presented beneath each age-range column shows which two groups are significantly different, where '- 'represents minus or subtraction e.g. 1-5 indicates significant differences between ethnic groups 1 & 5, where mean difference in brackets = mean value of group1 minus mean value of group 5 for the indicated variable in column 1.

Ht = height; Wt = weight; BMI = body mass index; WC = waist circumference; FM = fat mass; FFM = fat-free mass; SMM_a = appendicular skeletal muscle mass; MFR = muscle-to-fat ratio (SMMa [kg]/ FM [kg]); SMMaI = SMMa index (SMMa [kg]/Ht $[m^2]$)

Tables 5.6 – 5.7 and 5.8 – 5.9 are % FM centile values for SA boys and girls respectively based on the original BIA output (Tables 5.6 & 5.8) for Tanita (BC418-MA) and the corrected output (Tables 5.7 & 5.9) using the new regression equation developed in the BIA validation study (chapter 4 section 4.5.3.4). Due to too few participants < 9y, the new regression equations were only applicable to SA children and adolescents \geq 9y. Centile curves for %FM are presented in Figures 5.1a and 5.2a (original equations) and 5.1b and 5.2b (new regression equations) for boys and girls respectively following application of the new equations to the existing SA dataset. Both centile charts and curves before and after correction are presented for comparative purposes. Due to very few subjects < 14y, the %FM centiles for 9-14y, for both boys and girls are presented.

BIA prior to correction tended to overestimate %FM at the leaner end of the spectrum (≤ 15 %FM in boys and ≤ 20 % FM in girls) and underestimate %FM at high adiposity levels for both boys and girls (Tables 5.6 and 5.8 and Figures 5.1a and 5.2a for boys and girls respectively). For boys, the new regression equation (Table 5.7, and Figure 5.1b) appeared to compensate for %FM underestimation at the 2nd and 9th centiles particularly with increasing age; this was also observed at the 25th centile in ages $\geq 12y$. At the 50th and above centiles, higher %FM values were observed overall with the new regression equations, particularly in the 9-11y ages, with an approximate increase in %FM of 3%.

For girls, similar to boys, the centiles produced from the BIA regression equation (Table 5.9 and Figure 5.2b) resulted in lower %FM values in the 2nd and 9th centiles and higher %FM values above the 50th centile, than the values computed from the original BIA equation (Table 5.8 and Figure 5.2a). This result indicates that the new regression equation was able to correct for BIA overestimation of %FM at the leaner end of the scale, and underestimation of %FM at higher adiposity levels.

BIA original		Centiles			-					
		-2.05	-1.34	-0.67	0	0.67	1.04	1.34	1.64	2.05
Age (y)	n	2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98
9	39	12.73	14.51	16.68	19.65	23.91	27.04	30.38	34.66	42.73
9.5	29	12.64	14.55	16.89	20.09	24.65	27.99	31.52	35.98	44.20
10	46	12.49	14.53	17.03	20.45	25.28	28.78	32.45	37.01	45.24
10.5	38	12.24	14.38	16.99	20.56	25.57	29.16	32.89	37.47	45.56
11	32	11.95	14.13	16.79	20.42	25.50	29.13	32.86	37.42	45.37
11.5	35	11.70	13.85	16.51	20.13	25.19	28.80	32.52	37.07	44.99
12	19	11.44	13.54	16.12	19.65	24.61	28.15	31.82	36.31	44.17
12.5	31	11.19	13.20	15.68	19.07	23.84	27.27	30.82	35.18	42.87
13	42	10.90	12.82	15.18	18.39	22.90	26.13	29.46	33.56	40.76
13.5	13	10.66	12.50	14.75	17.78	21.98	24.94	27.98	31.67	38.05

Table 5.6. %Fat centiles by age based on original BIA output (SA Boys)

BIA = Bioelectrical impedance analysis; SA = South Asian

		Centiles									
Age (y)	n	2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98	
9	39	11.34	14.82	18.58	22.89	27.74	30.56	33.06	35.67	39.37	
9.5	29	10.65	14.50	18.65	23.41	28.72	31.81	34.53	37.37	41.36	
10	46	9.84	14.05	18.60	23.79	29.55	32.88	35.80	38.83	43.08	
10.5	38	8.80	13.32	18.20	23.73	29.84	33.34	36.40	39.57	43.99	
11	32	7.66	12.39	17.49	23.27	29.60	33.22	36.37	39.62	44.14	
11.5	35	6.63	11.45	16.67	22.59	29.08	32.77	36.00	39.31	43.93	
12	19	5.81	10.53	15.72	21.64	28.16	31.89	35.15	38.51	43.18	
12.5	31	5.25	9.73	14.74	20.54	27.00	30.72	33.98	37.35	42.07	
13	42	4.89	9.04	13.78	19.34	25.61	29.25	32.46	35.80	40.49	
13.5	13	4.61	8.41	12.81	18.02	23.95	27.43	30.50	33.71	38.24	

Table 5.7. %Fat centiles by age based on BIA_{reg1} (SA Boys)

BIA_{reg1} = Bioelectrical impedance analysis regression equation 1 (see section 4.5.3.5); SA = South Asian

	Centiles													
		-2.05	-1.34	-0.67	0	0.67	1.04	1.34	1.64	2.05				
Age	n	2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98				
9	31	15.72	17.34	19.26	21.77	25.21	27.63	30.13	33.22	38.78				
9.5	38	15.46	17.21	19.26	21.93	25.50	27.98	30.49	33.52	38.74				
10	35	15.22	17.11	19.30	22.14	25.86	28.38	30.88	33.82	38.71				
10.5	30	15.08	17.12	19.49	22.50	26.37	28.93	31.43	34.30	38.91				
11	104	15.14	17.37	19.93	23.14	27.19	29.81	32.31	35.14	39.57				
11.5	104	15.43	17.86	20.63	24.05	28.27	30.96	33.49	36.30	40.60				
12	87	15.76	18.38	21.33	24.93	29.29	32.01	34.53	37.31	41.48				
12.5	103	15.90	18.64	21.70	25.37	29.75	32.44	34.92	37.61	41.60				
13	49	15.92	18.74	21.84	25.52	29.85	32.48	34.87	37.45	41.23				
13.5	11	15.93	18.81	21.94	25.62	29.89	32.45	34.76	37.23	40.82				

Table 5.8 %Fat centiles by age based on original BIA output (SA Girls)

BIA = Bioelectrical impedance analysis; SA = South Asian

Centiles												
		-2.05	-1.340	-0.67	0	0.67	1.04	1.34	1.64	2.05		
Age	N	2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98		
9	31	11.05	15.15	19.49	24.36	29.70	32.76	35.43	38.20	42.05		
9.5	38	10.65	15.01	19.52	24.47	29.77	32.76	35.35	38.00	41.66		
10	35	10.24	14.89	19.57	24.58	29.85	32.77	35.28	37.82	41.30		
10.5	30	9.90	14.83	19.67	24.75	29.98	32.84	35.28	37.73	41.07		
11	104	9.78	14.96	19.94	25.07	30.29	33.12	35.51	37.92	41.17		
11.5	104	9.99	15.33	20.40	25.58	30.81	33.63	36.01	38.39	41.61		
12	87	10.44	15.83	20.92	26.11	31.33	34.14	36.51	38.88	42.08		
12.5	103	10.97	16.25	21.24	26.33	31.46	34.22	36.56	38.89	42.03		
13	49	11.56	16.62	21.43	26.35	31.33	34.02	36.29	38.56	41.63		
13.5	11	12.29	17.08	21.67	26.41	31.23	33.84	36.05	38.27	41.28		

Table 5.9 %Fat centiles by age based on BIA_{reg1} (SA Girls)

BlA_{reg1} = Bioelectrical impedance analysis regression equation 1 (see section 4.5.3.5); SA = South Asian



Figure 5.1a % FM centiles (original BIA equation) SA boys. FM = fat mass; BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis; SA = South Asian



Figure 5.1b - %FM centiles SA boys (new BlAreg1 equation developed see section 4.5.3.5). FM = fat mass; BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis; SA = South Asian



Figure 5.2a % FM centiles SA girls (original BIA equation). FM = fat mass; BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis; SA = South Asian



Figure 5.2b %FM centiles SA girls (new BIAreg1 equation developed see section 4.5.3.5). FM = fat mass; BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis; SA = South Asian

Figures 5.3a (boys) and 5.3b (girls) show sex-specific BIA %FM comparisons between WE_1 (McCarthy et al., 2006), and SA (BIA original and new regression

equation) datasets at the 50th centile. For SA boys, the new BIA regression equation compared to the proprietary inbuilt equation, resulted in higher %FM values up until age 13.5y where the values appeared to converge, with the largest differences observed in ages <11y. It should be noted however, that there were only 11 subjects in the 13.5 -14y age group. Compared to WE₁ boys, SA boys had higher %FM at the 50th centile, with the greatest differences observed in children below age11y.

For SA girls, similar to boys, the new BIA regression equation resulted in higher %FM values across all ages, with the largest differences observed in children <11.5y. Compared to WE₁ girls, the original BIA equation indicated that SA girls < 11y had less %FM than WE₁ girls, and >11y had higher %FM. However, the new BIA regression equation indicated that SA girls had higher %FM than WE₁ girls across all ages.

It is important to note that whilst no significant differences were observed between SA and WE₂ children for %FM SDS or %FFM (apart from girls aged 11-13y) by age range as reported in Tables 5.1-5.3 above, the WE₂ dataset selected was from children from low-income backgrounds, to ensure that socioeconomic status did not influence the results. In contrast, the WE₁ children involved in the study conducted by McCarthy et al. (2006) were intentionally selected from more affluent backgrounds to minimise the effect on the outcome of rising levels of obesity in order to make comparisons with the UK90 reference population.

As %FM comparisons at the 50th centile were made between the WE₁ dataset (between ages 9-14y) from the study conducted by McCarthy et al. (2006) and SA dataset using both the BIA original equation and the new BIA_{reg1} equation developed in chapter 4, similar comparisons were made with %FFM data using the reciprocal values for %FM (Figures 5.4a & 5.4b) as well as at the 2nd, 50th, and 98th centiles (Figures 5.5a & 5.5b). The WE₂ low-income dataset was also included in the comparison to illustrate the differences between the WE₁ sample used in the McCarthy et al. (2006) study.



Figure 5.3a %FM comparisons between WE_1 and SA boys before and after application of new BIAreg1 (BIA regression equation see section 4.5.3.5); SA = South Asian; WE_1 = White European data from McCarthy et al. (2006) study. Fat mass = fat mass; BIA =bioelectrical impedance analysis



Figure 5.3b %FM comparisons between WE_1 and SA girls before and after application of new BIAreg1 (BIA regression equation see section 4.5.3.5); SA = South Asian; WE_1 = White European data from McCarthy et al. (2006) study. Fat mass = fat mass; BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis



Figure 5.4a FFM (%) centile comparisons between SA, WE_1 , & WE_2 boys. FFM = fat-free mass; SA = South Asian; $_{WE11}$ = reciprocal of %FM white European data taken from McCarthy et al., 2006; WE2= White European low income data



Figure 5.4b FFM (%) centile comparisons between SA, WE₁, & WE₂ girls

FFM = fat-free mass; SA = South Asian; $WE_1 = reciprocal of \%FM$ white European data taken from McCarthy et al., 2006; $WE_2 = White European low income data$



Figure 5.5a FFM (%) centile comparisons between SA & WE_2 boys at the 2nd, 50th, & 98th centiles. WE_2 = White European low income data; FFM = fat-free mass; SA = South Asian



Figure 5.5b FFM (%) centile comparisons between SA & WE_2 girls at the 2nd, 50th, & 98th centiles. WE_2 = White European low income data; FFM = fat-free mass; SA = South Asian

No significant differences were observed in %FFM (based on original BIA data; see Table 5.2) between WE₂ and SA boys, whilst for girls, significant differences were only observed in the 11-13y age range, which is evident in the centile graphs in Figures 5.4a and 5.4b for boys and girls respectively. Comparisons at the 50th centile, which included the WE₁ sample (Figure 5.4a) as well as the %FFM for the SA sample following regression (SA BIA_{reg1}), revealed that WE₁ boys had the highest %FFM, with the SA and WE₂ sample, based on the original BIA equation showing almost identical results. Alternatively, as with %FM data (see Figure 5.3a) the SA BIA_{reg1} dataset illustrated how application of the regression equation (to SA children \geq 9y) led to a reduced %FFM, with the biggest differences in SA and WE₂ (~ 3%) observed at age 10y, after which the differences appeared to decrease with age. Overall among boys in both SA and WE groups, at the 50th centile %FFM tended to remain relatively constant with age, varying between 80-82% until age 10.5y, and then rose more steeply, rising to ~81% and 82% in SA and WE₂ boys respectively at age 14y, although a steeper incline was observed in the SA BIA_{reg1} dataset.

For girls (Figure 5.4b), use of the original BIA equation resulted in SA girls < age 11y having higher %FFM (the inverse of %FM; Figure 5.3b) than both WE samples, after which it fell below the WE samples. However, the SA BIA_{reg1} dataset indicated that SA girls had less %FFM than both WE groups, with WE₁ having the highest %FFM. The differences between the SA original and BIA_{reg1} output appeared reduced after age 11y. At the 50th centile, %FFM appeared to decline with age in all female groups, with a steeper decline observed between ages 11 -12y in the SA group, compared to both WE groups. Compared to boys in all groups, girls had less %FFM ranging from ~69-79% and 76-79% in SA and WE₂ girls respectively.

Tables showing centiles for measures of %FFM, and measures of SMMa, for SA and WE₂ boys and girls respectively are presented in Appendix E, together with the corresponding reference curves for 7 centiles, and include sex-specific comparisons between WE₂ and SA boys and girls for SMMa measures at the 2nd, 50th, and 98th centiles. SMMa appeared to increase with age for both boys and girls of all groups, although in boys a steeper incline in relative SMMa was observed, whilst in girls it

appeared to plateau at around age 11y although the steepness of the slope was much greater in SMMa/FFM% compared to SMMa%.
5.5 Discussion

This study is the first to our knowledge to generate ethnic specific references for %FM and SMMa, for the SA child and adolescent population in the UK. In general, BIA has been shown to significantly underestimate %FM in the SA population (Haroun at al., 2010; Meyer et al., 2011; Sluyter et al., 2010), and as a result, ethnic-specific prediction equations validated against appropriate reference methods have been recommended. In chapter 4 (BIA Validation Study of Tanita) a prediction equation for determining FFM (kg) using BIA (Tanita BC 418-MA) with DXA as the reference method was successfully developed, from which %FM was determined. However, as the cohort for the validation study had very few children <9y, the equation proved only applicable to children \geq 9y; other research has shown that no single equation is valid across the whole child and adolescent age range as the slope and intercept of the regression between Ht²/Z and FFM changes at different pubertal stages (Montagnese et al., 2013). Therefore, %FM reference curves were only applied to the large external SA dataset of children \geq 9y.

It was observed that for SAs, BIA tended to significantly underestimate %FM. In chapter 4, compared to DXA, the underestimation of %FM was 2.23% and 2.79% (P ≤ 0.05), in boys and girls respectively. In other studies, the degree of underestimation was very similar, with Sluyter et al. (2010) using the same BIA model (Tanita BC 418-MA) as the one used in chapter 4, as well as the same reference method (i.e. DXA), reporting an average underestimation of %FM of 2.84%. A further observation in chapter 4, as well as other studies (Pietrobelli et al., 2004; Sluyter et al., 2010), was that BIA tended to overestimate %FM in leaner subjects and underestimate %FM at high adiposity levels, however, following application of the new prediction equation developed in chapter 4, this discrepancy appeared to be corrected for when comparing the reference curves constructed with new equation to those developed with the original equation, with lower %FM values observed at the 2nd and 9th centiles and higher %FM values observed at the 50th and above centiles, although the degree of difference varied across ages (Tables 5.4-5.7).

Comparisons in %FM reference curves at the 50th centile between SA children from this study and the study on WE₁ (high income) children and adolescents (9-14y) conducted by McCarthy et al. (2006; Figures 5.3a & 5.3b) revealed that for boys, using the original BIA prediction equation, WE₁ children had less %FM overall ranging from a maximum of approximately 3% less fat at age 10.5y to a minimum of approximately 1% less fat at age 14y. Application of the new prediction equation resulted in a very similar shaped curve, however, the differences between SA and WE₁ boys were greater, with WE₁ boys having a maximum of approximately 6% less fat than SA boys at age 10y falling to similar levels as the BIA original equation at age 14y.

For girls, use of the BIA original equation resulted in SA girls aged $\leq 11y$ having slightly less %FM (<1%) than WE₁ girls, after which %FM rose much more steeply in SA girls, resulting in SA girls having higher %FM than WE₁ girls with an approximate difference of 2% at age 14y. The outcome in the \leq 11y girls was unexpected as the WE₁ dataset used in the McCarthy et al. (2006) study was from a cohort of children from affluent backgrounds, which were considered more likely to have body fat levels similar to the UK90 reference data (i.e. lower %FM levels than the less affluent WEs), to reduce the impact on the outcome of rising levels of obesity; whilst the SA cohort were from more deprived London areas and were thus expected to have higher %FM. Use of the new regression equation however, resulted in SA girls having higher %FM than WE₁ girls across all ages, with an approximate 2% difference at age 9y rising to approximately 3% at age 11.5y. Based on the evidence that BIA underestimates %FM for SAs, and this ethnic group is reported to have higher %FM than WE and other ethnic groups (Ehtisham et al., 2005; Haroun et al., 2010; Nightingale et al., 2011; Rush et al., 2009), suggests that the original BIA equation, particularly for girls in the younger age group (i.e. $\leq 11y$) is unsuitable for SAs.

The %FM centile cut-offs used by McCarthy et al. (2006) to define 'underfat' (2nd centile), 'normal fat' (50th centile), 'overfat' (85th centile), and 'obese' (95th centile) were used to match as closely as possible the IOTF BMI cut-offs (Cole et al., 2000), and similarly were not based on clinical evidence. BMI centile charts lead to higher

levels of children with greater %FM falling within the 'normal' or 'healthy' range. Clinical research would be required to determine appropriate body-fat cut-offs for child and adolescent populations, which may vary by ethnicity due to BC and fatpatterning differences.

Further SA and WE₁ comparisons (9-14y) were made between %FFM at the 50th centile using the reciprocal of %FM data from the McCarthy et al. (2006) study and the low income WE₂ dataset used in this study, to ensure that the ethnic differences in %FM were not simply due to differences in SES (Figures 5.4a and 5.4b). Based on the original BIA equation, for boys, WE₂ children had less %FFM (up to a maximum of ~2% at age 10.5y) than the WE₁ dataset and almost identical levels of %FFM to SAs. However, use of the new regression equation revealed that SA boys also had less %FFM than WE₂ boys, with a maximum difference of approximately 4% at age 10y, with very similar levels of %FFM at age 14y. For girls, the WE₂ dataset also had less %FFM than WE₁ girls, although the differences were very small (~1% maximum), and based on the original BIA equation led to SA girls <11y having even greater levels of %FFM, after which age the levels of %FFM fell below WE₂ levels (~1.5% maximum). However, with the new BIA regression equation SA girls of all ages had less %FFM than both the WE₁ and WE₂ datasets with a maximum of approximately 2% less FFM than the WE₂ cohort from 11.5-14y.

Whilst no significant between-group (i.e. SA & WE₂) differences were observed in %FFM (Table 5.2) apart from the SA female group in the 11-13y age range who had significantly (P<0.05) less %FFM (1.58%) than their WE₂ counterparts, additional comparisons were made to assess whether application of the BIA_{reg1} equation limited to ages 9-14y would have a significant impact on this result (Table 5.3). Whilst BIA_{reg1} led to a small reduction in the estimation of %FFM for both SA boys (mean difference BIA – BIA_{reg1} = 1.15%; SD = 3.40%) and girls (mean difference BIA – BIA_{reg1} = 0.29%; SD = 9.72%), leading to an increase in between group differences from 0.67% (BIA original) to 1.82% (BIA_{reg1}) among boys and from 0.44% to 0.73% among girls, this difference was only significant (P=0.009) between the male groups.

More stable and higher levels of %FFM at the 50th centile among boys (~80-83%) across all ages were observed, compared to girls whose levels of %FFM (~69 -79%) declined with age (Figures 5.4a, 5.4b, 5.5a, & 5.5b), with increasing differences between the sexes observed from age 11y onwards, which are likely attributed to pubertal changes (Wells et al., 2010). Among boys %FM generally decreases more rapidly just before the adolescent growth spurt (~ age 13-15y), reaching its nadir at age 16-17y, with a corresponding increase in %FFM, with gains in muscle mass and bone mineral (Malina, 2005). Among girls, the decline in %FFM with a corresponding increase in %FM, the requirement of additional body fat to support normal reproductive function (Malina, 2005).

Unlike the outcome for %FFM (based on original BIA data), where no significant between-group differences were found apart from in the female 11-13y age range, both SA boys and girls had significantly less relative SMMa (i.e. SMMa%; SMMa/FFM%; SMMaI). For MFR (i.e. SMMa (kg)/FM (kg), significant differences were observed in boys in the 5-7y age range only, and in girls in the 5-7y and 11-13y age range, although across all age ranges both SA boys and girls had lower levels of MFR than their WE₂ counterparts, which has also been observed in other studies (Lear et al., 2009; Rush et al., 2009). Adiposity alone is not the main contributor to T2DM or insulin resistance, particularly among SA children within the normal BMI and Wt ranges (Lear et al., 2009; Whincup et al., 2002; Whincup et al., 2010), with muscle tissue being far more active in glucose uptake, with greater sensitivity to insulin than adipose tissue (Kim et al., 2011; McCarthy et al., 2014).

To our knowledge, this is the first study to make SMMa comparisons between SA and WE populations. The significant findings of ethnic differences in relative SMMa helps to further our understanding and adds to the body of evidence that SA children and adolescents may be at increased risk of obesity related diseases independent of %FM and at lower BMI cut-offs (Saxena et al., 2004; Viner et al., 2009; Whincup et al., 2002).

Significant within-group differences were also observed between Indian, Pakistani, and Bangladeshi children, together with different sub-group outcomes when compared to the WE₂ cohort for several measures apart from %FM (SDS), which revealed no significant between-group differences (Tables 5.4 & 5.5). For boys, Indian boys had the greatest significant between-group differences, particularly in the 5-7y and 8-10y age ranges, than either Pakistani or Bangladeshi boys for most variables including SDS measures for Ht, Wt, BMI, WC, and absolute measures of SMMa, with lower outcomes in general. For MFR, Indians had the lowest withingroup ratio in the 5-7y and 11-13y age ranges, but had the highest MFR in the 8-10y age range together with highest levels of %FFM. Compared to WE₂ boys, Bangladeshi boys were significantly shorter, lighter, with less SMMa (SMMa% and SMMa/FFM%) in one or more age ranges, with no significant differences in BMI. Pakistani boys however had the least differences compared to the WE₂ boys for most measures, although they had the highest sub-group values for BMI, WC and %FM SDS in the 5-7y and 8-10y age ranges, but significantly less SMMa (%) than WE₂ boys in these age ranges.

The sub-group outcomes observed among the girls were similar to the boys, where Indian girls across one or more age ranges were significantly shorter, lighter, with a lower BMI, and less SMMa (both absolute and relative) than WE₂ girls. Indian girls also had less relative SMMa (SMMa/FFM% and SMMaI) than Bangladeshi girls in the 5-7y and 8-10y age ranges. Pakistani girls were also the sub-group with the least differences when compared to the WE₂ girls, although they also had significantly less relative SMMa across two age ranges (5-7y & 11-13y), and were significantly lighter in the 5-7y age range. Similar to the comparisons between SA and WE₂ groups as a whole, all three SA sub-groups in either sex, when compared to their WE₂ counterparts, had no significant differences in %FM, and BMI was either lower or not significantly different, whereas, all sub-groups had significantly less SMMa in one or more age ranges for one or more relative measures. For MFR, whilst no significant between group differences were observed, Pakistani girls had the highest MFR in the 5-7y and 8-10y age ranges, but had the lowest MFR in the 11-13y age range, although the SMMaI was the highest.

In this study, within- and between- sub-group variations in anthropometric and BC measures at different age ranges made it difficult to draw any conclusions on overall

relative health risks by sub-group, although as reported above Pakistani boys in the 8-10y age range had the highest SDS for BMI, WC, and %FM, with significantly less %SMMa than their WE₂ counterparts, which would indicate an increased risk of metabolic syndrome for this sub-group. Clearly there are differences in BC within the SA sub-group, as T2DM is reported to be more prevalent in Pakistani and Bangladeshi ethnic sub-groups in the UK (Bhopal et al., 1999; Erens et al., 2001; Sproston & Mindell, 2006; Wild et al., 2007), with other studies reporting that Bangladeshi children have a more adverse health profile in relation to T2DM than Indian or Pakistani children (Whincup et al., 2010). These differences between studies suggest that variations in BC within group are more likely to be associated with lifestyle factors, such as diet, physical activity, and socioeconomic status (SES), as has been reported in other research (Bhopal et al., 1999; Magnhild et al., 2008; Murasko, 2009; Owen et al., 2009; Saxena et al., 2004). Although, it is also important to note that SAs are a very diverse ethnic group, and such sub-divisions may be too simplistic (Bhopal & Donaldson, 1998). Whilst BC sub-group comparisons led to inconsistent outcomes across different age-ranges, all three sub-groups when compared to their WE₂ counterparts had a lower BMI with no significant differences in %FM, with significantly less relative SMMa in one or more age ranges, and a lower SMMaI across all age ranges for both sexes.

This study adds to the body of evidence highlighting the inadequacies of the use of BMI centiles for identifying overweight or obese children, particularly for the SA population, as the results revealed (Table 5.1) that compared to WE₂ children, SA children in general were significantly (P<0.001) shorter, lighter, had a lower BMI and WC (based on SDS data), with no significant differences in %FM (SDS), which indicates that the SA children had greater %FM and thus less %FFM than WE children at the same BMI level. Other studies have also reported similar findings, with SAs having greater %FM and less LM at equivalent BMIs than their WE counterparts (Ehtisham et al., 2005; Haroun et al., 2010; Lear et al., 2009; Nightingale et al., 2011; Rush et al., 2009).

Where SMMa was adjusted for Ht, i.e. SMMaI, this was significantly lower in SAs than the WE₂ group indicating SAs had significantly less appendicular LM, whereas BMI

was also significantly lower in SAs, which as a measure for adiposity would indicate the reverse. Thus SMMaI could be a more useful measure than BMI, similar to the FFMI (Dulloo et al., 2010) or FMI (Whincup et al., 2010) used in other studies, to help identify individuals at risk of T2DM that fall within the normal BMI range.

The current NICE guidance (2013) for determining overweight and obesity among children and adolescents is limited to the use of the BMI centile cut-offs, and it advises the use of caution for the SA population, when interpreting BMI SDS based on the UK90 reference data; whilst WC percentile charts have been recommended by the IDF (Alberti et al., 2007) as an independent predictor of metabolic syndrome. However, based on the findings of this study and other research, neither BMI (Ehtisham et al., 2005; Haroun et al., 2010; Lear et al., 2009; Nightingale et al., 2011; Rush et al., 2009; Whincup et al., 2010) nor WC (Whincup et al., 2010) would provide sufficient information on the obesity related risks within the SA child and adolescent population.

5.5.1 Study Limitations

Due to too few children <9y of age in the BIA validation study (chapter 4), and a lack of data for children \geq 14y in the large SA dataset used in this study, the %FM and %FFM reference curves were limited to children aged 9y -14y. The number of children in some of the sub-group comparisons was also very limited, particularly within the Pakistani sub-group, which may have impacted the statistical outcomes. Further studies would be required with a larger dataset for children in the 14-18yage range, with more equal numbers within each sub-group across all age ranges. Additionally, a valid prediction equation would need to be developed for SA children <9y of age, in order for %FM reference curves to be constructed across the whole child and adolescent age range. %FM and anthropometric (including BMI) comparisons between WE and SA children were based on SDS from the UK90 reference data, however, as there was no similar reference data available for %FFM or SMMa measures, comparisons were made by age-range which is not as accurate.

Whilst both the SA and WE₂ participants in this study were mostly from deprived inner-city London areas, SES was not fully assessed. Besides ethnicity and SES,

several other factors may influence BC, for example, pre-natal and post-natal factors, diet (including infant feeding practices), culture, religion, and physical activity behaviours (Bhopal et al., 1999; Magnhild et al., 2008; Murasko, 2009; Owen et al., 2009; Saxena et al., 2004). Further studies would be required to make a more detailed assessment on the BC differences between SA (as well as within group differences) and WE children and adolescents when all possible confounding variables are properly controlled for, so that any future health recommendations are based on modifiable risk factors.

5.5.2 Conclusion

This study provides valuable BC information for SA children up to age 14y, which would be useful in clinical practice and public health surveillance, together with important comparisons with WE children, particularly how SA children have less relative SMMa and greater %FM at equivalent BMI levels. This research adds to the body of evidence that the current use of BMI is unsuitable as a measure of adiposity among the SA child and adolescent population, and additional measures of WC will not be sufficient to identify individuals at risk of developing metabolic syndrome.

CHAPTER 6: Developing waist circumference percentile charts for South Asian children & youths designed to pass through adult cut-offs

6.1 Introduction

Waist circumference (WC) is a simple and accurate measure of abdominal fatness (Bosy-Westphal et al., 2006; Daniels et al., 2000; Pandey et al., 2009; Shen et al., 2006, Taylor et al., 2000), with evidence that in the UK over the last 20 years, WC has increased more steeply than body mass index (BMI; weight (kg)/height (m²)) among children and adolescents (McCarthy et al., 2003; Schwandt et al., 2010). Whilst BMI is commonly used as a measure for determining overweight and obesity worldwide (NHS, 2011; WHO, 2000), it is well recognised that it cannot differentiate between individuals with high muscle mass or excess body fat relative to weight, nor does it provide an indication of the distribution of body fat; thus for adults, measurement of WC is also recommended in addition to BMI (NICE, 2014; WHO, 2011). Even among children compared to BMI, WC has been more strongly and independently linked to components of the metabolic syndrome (McCarthy, 2014; Schwandt et al., 2010) such as an adverse atherogenic lipoprotein profile (Flodmark et al., 1994), a raised fasting insulin concentration (Freedman et al., 1999), elevated blood pressure (Choy et al., 2011), and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (Manco et al., 2008), however, in the UK use of WC cut-offs are currently not recommended (NICE, 2014).

There is much evidence that South Asians (SAs) are at considerably greater risk of morbidity and early mortality from type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and cardiovascular disease (CVD) than their white European (WE) counterparts (Bhardwaj et al., 2008; Bhopal et al., 1999; Bodicoat et al., 2014; Chaturvedi, 2003; Whincup et al., 2002; WHO, 2004). This increased risk has been attributed to SAs having a genetic propensity to abdominal obesity, with increased visceral and subcutaneous fat (Deurenberg et al., 2002; Lear et al., 2009; Luke, 2009; Saxena et al., 2004; Viner et al., 2010), and less fat-free mass (FFM; Lear et al., 2009) than WE populations, at equivalent BMIs. These ethnic differences in body composition have also been identified in children and adolescents (Ehtisham et al., 2005; Nightingale et al., 2011), with reports in the UK that SA children <16y are almost 14 times at

greater risk of developing symptoms of metabolic syndrome than their WE peers, reflecting SA adult prevalence rates of T2DM (Whincup et al., 2010).

In a UK-based study conducted by Ehtisham et al. (2005), on ethnic differences in body composition and insulin resistance, WC and BMI of SA and WE adolescents aged between 14-17y was measured. Despite a small sample size, compared to the WE cohort (n=31 males and 33 females), SA adolescents in both sexes (n=32 males and 33 females) had significantly (P<0.05) higher mean WC measures (79.9cm \pm SE2.8 vs 73.4cm \pm SE1.7) for males and (71.9cm \pm SE2.1 vs 68.1cm \pm SE1.5) females respectively. The prevalence (%) of overweight and obese (determined by BMI based on IOTF guidelines) among the SA cohort was also significantly (P< 0.01) higher than the WE cohort for both males (41% vs 23%) and females (42% vs 12%).

Wardle et al. (2006) conducted a 5-year longitudinal study measuring the adiposity (WC and BMI) of 5863 ethnically diverse (including Asian n= 175 girls and 253 boys and WE n= 1010 girls and 1597 boys) children from London schools aged 11y at baseline and tracked through to age 16y. In that study WC increased on average by 2.31cm/y (SE 0.09), with the increase in boys' WC being 0.992cm (SE 0.082) greater than girls. Asian girls had the smallest WC (P<0.001), with no significant differences between the boys. No significant differences were observed in the prevalence of overweight or obesity (determined by BMI) between Asian and WE children of both sexes when averaged over the 5 years, with 21.3% and 29.4% of boys and girls respectively overweight and obese.

The high prevalence of TDM and CVD, associated with the obesity epidemic, particularly among SA adults (WHO, 2011), and the increasing prevalence of metabolic syndrome and overt T2DM among SA children (Ehtisham et al., 2000; see literature review section 2.2), demonstrates the importance of developing early detection and intervention strategies to prevent or at least reduce the prevalence of these diseases in future populations, particularly among SAs identified as a high-risk population group (IDF, 2007; Misra et al., 2007; Murasko, 2009; Saxena et al., 2004).

To address the high-risk of cardiometabolic diseases among SA adults lower BMI thresholds for overweight and obesity have been recommended by WHO (2004) (see Literature Review section 2.3.1), however, due to a lack of data in ethnic groups other than WE populations, ethnic-specific WC cut-offs were not recommended (WHO, 2011); which is the position adopted by NICE (2014). However, the IDF (Alberti et al., 2006), recommend lower WC cut-offs for SA men compared to WE men (\geq 90cm & \geq 94cm respectively) for diagnosing metabolic syndrome, with a single WC cut-off (≥80cm), for women of all ethnic groups. In 2009, India adopted new BMI cut-offs and two separate WC cut-offs for men and women related to risk of morbidity associated with obesity (chapter 2, section 2.3.1) for its adult population (Misra et al., 2009). A WC cut-off of >78cm for men and >72cm for women was proposed at 'Action level 1', where individuals above this cut-off should be advised to maintain physical activity and avoid gaining weight. Secondly, a WC cut-off of >90cm for men and >80cm for women was proposed at 'Action level 2', where individuals above this cut-off should be advised to seek medical help for further investigation and management of obesity related morbidity.

In the UK an expert group (Viner et al., 2010) voted not to lower BMI thresholds for SA children and adolescents in line with the WHO (2004) 'public health actions points', even though this would lead to some SA adolescents on turning 18y being classified from normal to obese overnight based on the lower SA adult BMI cut-offs (see also Chapter 2 section 2.2.1 and 2.3.2). However, at that time the group recommended that further research was necessary on ethnic differences in body composition (BC) and the metabolic risks associated with adiposity.

Overweight and obesity among children and adolescents is defined by sex-specific BMI centile curves, to account for the changes in growth patterns during this period as well as between genders (Cole et al., 1995; NHS Information Centre, 2011). Currently NICE (2014) do not recommend WC measures to define overweight or obesity among children in the UK. The IDF (Alberti et al., 2007), however, consider WC to be a major predictor of metabolic syndrome for both adults and children, and have recommended use of \geq 90th percentile WC cut-off (or adult cut-off if lower in children aged 10-<16y) for determining central obesity in children aged 6-<10y, and

for diagnosing metabolic syndrome in children and adolescence aged 10 <16y. In addition to WC cut-offs, the IDF consensus definition for diagnosing metabolic syndrome requires two or more clinical measures (e.g. elevated triglycerides and raised plasma glucose) for children aged 10y or above. The IDF (Alberti et al., 2007) suggested that children under 10y with abdominal obesity, should not be diagnosed with metabolic syndrome, but be strongly advised on weight reduction.

Several studies have produced gender- and ethnic-specific WC percentile charts of nationally representative samples from across the world including the USA (Fernandez et al., 2004), Italy (Zanolli & Morgese, 1996) and Spain (Moreno et al., 1999) among others. In 2001 McCarthy et al. developed the first British WC percentile curves for WE children and adolescents. Further studies have been recommended to evaluate the health risks associated with abdominal obesity among children and adolescence of different ethnicities, due to evidence of variations in growth and distribution of adiposity through early infancy, childhood and adolescence (Ehtisham et al., 2005; Alberti et al., 2007; McCarthy, 2006; McCarthy et al., 2001). There is clear evidence to support the development of SA child and adolescent WC centile charts similar to those developed for the UK WE population, given that SAs have been identified as a high-risk population for CVD and metabolic syndrome independent of BMI, and in view of the fact that WC thresholds have been revised downwards for SA adults.

6.1.1 Study Aims

The aims of this study were:

- To develop sex-specific SA WC percentile curves for children and adolescents (5-18y).
- To assess within-group differences for WC between Indian, Pakistani, and Bangladeshi children and adolescents.
- iii) To compare the results of this study to WE WC percentile curves developed by McCarthy et al. (2001).

6.2 Methods

6.2.1 Participants and Recruitment Procedures

Children and adolescents recruited for the bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) validation study for body composition (chapter 4) were also requested to participate in measurements for WC, which was included in the participant consent forms. Further WC measures were taken of children and adolescents as part of the field study, which included BIA and SH measures (chapters 5 & 8 respectively). A total of 126 healthy children and adolescents aged 5-22y were directly measured (86 males and 40 females). Participants were requested to specify ethnicity on their consent forms, and those that had parents from more than one SA ethnic group (e.g. Indian and Pakistani) were defined as mixed SAs. All measures were taken following participant consent as explained in the recruitment procedures in chapter 3 (General Methods). To add to the sample size, data was also taken from a large existing data set of 1459 SA school children and adolescents from inner city London boroughs (Hackney, Tower Hamlets, and Newham) collected at this University for a previous study between 2004 and 2007.

For comparison with WE data, a further existing dataset of 1120 WE school children recruited from schools from the same inner city London Boroughs, which formed part of the previous study as stated above, was also uploaded. The SAs were predominantly second-generation children, and both the WE and SA cohort were from areas of high social and economic deprivation; which limited the possibility of differences in socioeconomic status influencing the between-group anthropometric outcomes.

Due to a lack of data for SA children aged 14y and above, data from the HSE (2004) was used to supplement the data set. However, the sample size was extremely small to influence the overall data outcome.

6.2.2 Anthropometric methods

WC was measured to the nearest 0.1cm using a flexible non-elastic tape measure. The author of this study took all WC measurements, over a single layer of clothing approximately midway between the top of the iliac crest and lower border of the bottom rib, in accordance with standard procedures (Heyward & Wagner, 2004), and 0.5cm was deducted from the measurement to account for clothing (McCarthy et al., 2003). More detailed methodology is provided in chapter 3 for all measurements taken (General Methods). Measurements for the large data set of WE and SA children and adolescents, that were taken from a previous study at this University, were also carried out by a single researcher, following the same measurement procedures as in this study, to limit inter-observer error.

Sex-specific WC percentiles were constructed using the LMS method as explained in Chapter 3 (General Methods section 3.4.2), based on UK90 growth reference data, and 'Action levels 1 and 2' (i.e. >78cm and 90cm for men; and >72cm and >80cm for women respectively), were identified as WC cut-offs closest to the Indian adult cutoffs at age 16y (Misra et al., 2009). The 90th percentile was also determined as recommended by the IDF (Alberti et al., 2007) and compared with the WE data.

Wt and Ht were measured as described in General Methods (chapter 3), from which BMI (kg/m²) was calculated. For BMI data, children were classified as overweight or obese at the 85th (SDS 1.04) and 95th (SDS 1.64) percentile cut-offs respectively, as recommended in the National Obesity Observatory (NOO) guidance (NHS, 2011) for population monitoring using the UK90 (Cole et al., 1995) BMI reference data.

6.2.3 Statistical methods

Data were analysed using Microsoft Excel 2011 and SPSS software version 22. Data are presented as means ±SD. Sex-specific between group (SA and WE) and sex- and ethnic-specific (i.e. Indian, Pakistani, Bangladeshi, and mixed SA) within- and between-group (i.e. specified SA ethnicity and WE) comparisons for all anthropometric measures presented in SDS format were conducted on the whole sample using independent samples t-tests and one-way ANOVA respectively.

6.3 Results

Of the cohort that was directly measured (n=126), 6 subjects were aged above 16.99y (4 boys and 2 girls). The additional data from the 1459 (584 boys and 875 girls) SA school children aged 4-16y, had missing WC data for 4 children (2 boys and

2 girls). For the whole dataset combined (n=1581; 913 girls and 668 boys), the majority of children fell in the 4-13.99y age range, therefore, due to a lack of data for children aged 14y and above (for boys 14-14.99; 15-15.99; 16-16.99 n= 7, 6, and 3 respectively; and for girls 14-14.99; 15-15.99; 16-16.99 n= 3, 5, and 0 respectively), data from the HSE (2004) was added to the data set as stated in the methods section above. However, this dataset also had very limited WC data for this age range (for boys 14-14.99; 15-15.99; 16-16.99 n= 1, 2, and 0 respectively; and for girls 14-14.99; 15-15.99; 16-16.99 n= 1, 2, and 0 respectively; and for girls 14-14.99; 15-15.99; 16-16.99 n= 2, 2, and 2 respectively). As the IDF (2007) recommend using adult cut-offs for adolescents over 16y, and due to a very limited number of individuals aged 17y and over, 16.99y was used as the cut-off age, excluding adolescents above this age from the analysis. The final data set comprised 1593 participants aged 4-16.99y (671 boys and 922 girls).

6.3.1 Characteristics of Study Population

Descriptive characteristics of the cohort (both absolute and SDS) for Wt, Ht, BMI, and WC within each age range are provided in Tables 6.1 and 6.2 for boys and girls respectively, with a breakdown of sample size within the SA ethnicity also shown. For both sexes a very limited number of participants were in the 14y+ age ranges. Limited conclusions could be drawn from such small sample sizes in these latter age ranges, however, in subsequent analyses on the whole dataset (i.e. t-tests, ANOVA), it was considered unlikely to have an impact on the outcome. There were also a very limited number of participants in the 4-4.99y age range, with the majority of Indian descent for both genders. Mixed SAs were the smallest group overall with 54 boys and 76 girls in total.

Up to the age of 13.99y, for boys there was an overall increase in mean Wt, Ht, and WC. BMI however decreased on average from age 4y to 5.99y, and then steadily increased to age 9.99y and appeared to plateau slightly from age 10y to 13.99y, reflecting the typical age-related pattern of BMI. For girls, up to the age of 12.99y all measured variables increased, however, at age 13-13.99y there was a small decline in mean Wt (-1.06kg), BMI (-1.02kg/m²), and WC (-2.51cm), with only Ht increasing (0.03m).

Table 6.1 Absolute and SDS (mean ±sd) for Wt, Ht, BMI, and WC data of SA boys aged 4.00-16.99y by ethnic sub-group

Age (y)	Sample size (n)	Sample size by ethnicity* (n)	Wt (kg)	Wt SDS	Ht (m)	Ht SDS	BMI (kg/m ²)	BMI SDS	WC (cm)	WC SDS
4.00- 4.99	22	1 = 16 2 = 0 3 = 2 4 = 4	17.8 (0.19)	-0.39 (1.48)	1.07 (0.05)	-0.11 (1.08)	15.29 (2.35)	-0.50 (1.46)	50.32 (5.48)	-0.58 (1.44)
5.00- 5.99	74	1= 42 2= 11 3= 17 4= 4	18.7 (2.53)	-0.52 (1.11)	1.12 (0.04)	-0.15 (0.89)	14.87 (1.38)	-0.68 (1.17)	51.70 (3.93)	-0.20 (1.12)
6.00- 6.99	89	1= 34 2= 15 3= 34 4= 6	21.6 (4.13)	-0.37 (1.38)	1.19 (0.05)	-0.05 (1.01)	15.17 (2.05)	-0.54 (1.51)	53.40 (4.99)	-0.02 (1.27)
7.00- 7.99	82	1= 31 2= 11 3= 38 4= 2	24.5 (5.18)	-0.18 (1.36)	1.24 (0.05)	-0.10 (0.94)	15.80 (2.57)	-0.21 (1.46)	55.63 (5.99)	0.23 (1.31)
8.00- 8.99	69	1= 26 2= 8 3= 30 4= 5	27.9 (6.94)	-0.16 (1.59)	1.29 (0.07)	-0.13 (1.18)	16.37 (2.82)	-0.08 (1.58)	58.42 (7.38)	0.42 (1.42)
9.00- 9.99	67	1= 27 2= 10 3= 26 4= 4	31.4 (9.03)	-0.03 (1.33)	1.34 (0.06)	-0.19 (1.05)	17.17 (3.70)	0.09 (1.51)	61.38 (9.45)	0.56 (1.33)
10.00- 10.99	81	1= 26 2= 18 3= 32 4= 5	37.8 (11.33)	0.36 (1.46)	1.41 (0.06)	0.09 (0.93)	18.69 (4.42)	0.42 (1.71)	66.25 (11.47)	0.83 (1.50)
11.00- 11.99	65	1= 17 2= 20 3= 25 4= 3	39.2 (9.39)	0.15 (1.22)	1.45 (0.06)	-0.10 (0.86)	18.49 (3.75)	0.19 (1.57)	66.86 (10.23)	0.63 (1.33)
12.00- 12.99	49	1= 23 2= 9 3= 11 4= 6	45.7 (11.92)	0.32 (1.29)	1.55 (0.09)	0.35 (1.12)	18.80 (3.41)	0.13 (1.36)	67.66 (8.65)	0.48 (1.11)
13.00- 13.99	54	1= 27 2= 14 3= 4 4= 9	48.9 (12.14)	0.19 (1.26)	1.60 (0.08)	0.30 (1.00)	18.90 (3.66)	-0.10 (1.47)	67.97 (10.24)	0.15 (1.32)
14.00- 14.99	8	1=3 2=1 3=2 4=2	62.4 (13.67)	0.82 (1.02)	1.70 (0.06)	0.26 (0.74)	22.08 (4.55)	0.87 (1.13)	78.78 (9.57)	1.3 (0.86)
15.00- 15.99	8	1=2 2=3 3=1 4=2	59.1 (12.60)	-0.01 (1.06)	1.66 (0.05)	-0.69 (0.66)	21.36 (3.60)	0.48 (1.07)	79.45 (11.03)	1.04 (1.28)
16.00- 16.99**	3	1= 1 4= 2	51.5 (5.61)	-1.30 (1.01)	1.68 (0.05)	-0.84 (0.73)	18.17 (1.19)	-1.00 (0.85)	68.33 (2.64)	-0.57 (0.64)
Total	671			<u> </u>	1	L	<u> </u>	L	<u> </u>	

SDS data is generated from UK90 LMSgrowth reference data. *Ethnic groups 1= Indian; 2= Pakistani; 3= Bangladeshi; 4= mixed SA. ** Age 16-16.99y taken from HSE, 2004 data. SA = South Asian; Wt, Ht, and BMI were only available for one subject. Wt= weight; Ht = height; BMI = body mass index; WC = waist circumference

Table 6.2 Absolute and SDS (mean ±sd) for Wt, Ht, BMI, and WC data of SA girls aged 4.00-16.99y by ethnic sub-group

Age (y)	Sample size (n)	Sample size by ethnicity*	Wt (kg)	Wt SDS	Ht (m)	Ht SDS	BMI (kg/m²)	BMI SDS	WC (cm)	WC SDS
4.00- 4.99	27	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 = 20 \\ 2 = 1 \\ 3 = 2 \\ 4 = 4 \end{array} $	16.1 (3.80)	-1.02 (1.64)	1.05 (0.05)	-0.30 (1.02)	14.36 (2.31)	-1.17 (2.35)	48.20 (4.94)	-0.93 (1.53)
5.00- 5.99	66	1= 33 2= 4 3= 22 4= 7	18.0 (2.44)	-0.68 (1.02)	1.11 (0.05)	-0.33 (0.99)	14.61 (1.41)	-0.71 (1.01)	50.34 (3.63)	-0.35 (1.03)
6.00- 6.99	69	1= 27 2= 5 3= 28 4= 9	20.8 (4.46)	-0.53 (1.33)	1.17 (0.06)	-0.18 (1.16)	14.98 (2.39)	-0.64 (1.47)	52.56 (5.92)	-0.13 (1.37)
7.00- 7.99	87	1= 35 2= 5 3= 36 4= 11	24.2 (5.33)	-0.23 (1.33)	1.24 (0.06)	-0.05 (1.13)	15.71 (2.27)	-0.25 (1.21)	54.68 (5.72)	0.13 (1.23)
8.00- 8.99	73	1= 38 2= 3 3= 27 4= 5	27.0 (6.08)	-0.34 (1.30)	1.29 (0.05)	-0.28 (0.96)	16.19 (2.82)	-0.26 (1.32)	56.40 (6.39)	0.14 (1.29)
9.00- 9.99	68	1= 25 2= 4 3= 37 4= 2	31.1 (7.29)	-0.17 (1.34)	1.36 (0.08)	0.09 (1.26)	16.57 (2.78)	-0.27 (1.24)	58.68 (7.43)	0.29 (1.27)
10.00- 10.99	63	1= 23 2= 8 3= 25 4= 7	33.0 (7.34)	-0.41 (1.20)	1.40 (0.06)	-0.27 (0.95)	16.80 (2.92)	-0.45 (1.38)	59.31 (7.98)	0.06 (1.48)
11.00- 11.99	206	1= 57 2= 69 3= 72 4= 8	41.3 (11.78)	0.13 (1.37)	1.48 (0.07)	0.08 (1.01)	18.75 (4.23)	0.02 (1.48)	63.42 (10.15)	0.41 (1.58)
12.00- 12.99	190	1= 74 2= 62 3= 38 4= 16	46.6 (10.52)	0.24 (1.25)	1.53 (0.06)	0.02 (0.89)	19.82 (3.98)	0.20 (1.47)	66.13 (9.66)	0.57 (1.55)
13.00- 13.99	61	1= 38 2= 12 3= 8 4= 3	45.5 (7.89)	-0.27 (1.01)	1.56 (0.06)	-0.15 (0.85)	18.80 (3.21)	-0.30 (1.30)	63.62 (6.95)	0.03 (1.36)
14.00- 14.99	5	1=3 2=0 3=1 4=1	55.6 (14.11)	0.28 (1.51)	1.60 (0.04)	-0.23 (0.59)	21.74 (4.86)	0.45 (1.50)	74.57 (13.68)	1.43 (1.65)
15.00- 15.99	5	1=2 2=0 3=0 4=3	46.2 (12.60)	-1.60 (2.75)	1.51 (0.18)	-1.84 (2.96)	19.67 (1.74)	-0.26 (0.75)	65.84 (6.34)	0.06 (1.34)
16.00- 16.99**	2	1=2	52.0	-0.56	1.63	-0.14	19.67	-0.4	79.9 (8.63)	2.15 (1.03)
Total	922				1					

SDS data is generated from UK90 LMSgrowth reference data. *Ethnic groups 1= Indian; 2= Pakistani; 3= Bangladeshi; 4= mixed SA. ** Age 16-16.99y taken from HSE, 2004 data. SA = South Asian; Wt, Ht, and BMI were only available for one subject. Wt= weight; Ht = height; BMI = body mass index; WC = waist circumference

6.3.2 Waist Circumference Percentiles

Selected sex specific WC percentiles are shown in Table 6.3, for each age range from 4y+ to 16y+. For boys and girls respectively, the 71^{st} and 68^{th} percentiles are highlighted as closest to the Indian adult cut-offs at 15y+ (Misra et al., 2009) at 'Action level 1' (>78cm for boys and >72cm for girls). The 90th and 87th percentiles are also highlighted for boy and girls respectively as closest to the Indian adult cut-offs at 15y+ at 'Action level 2' (>90cm for males and >80cm for females) which are also the IDF (2006) cut-offs for central obesity for SA adult males and females respectively (i.e. ≥90cm and ≥80cm).

Figures 6.1 and 6.2 show the smoothed WC percentile curves for boys and girls respectively with 9 centiles equivalent to the format of the published UK90 BMI reference curves (Cole et al., 1995). Figures 6.3 and 6.4 show the smoothed centiles for boys and girls respectively with 7 centiles, starting at the 9th centile and including the centiles closest to the Indian adult cut-offs at 'Action level 1' and 'Action level 2' as stated above.

			Percentiles									
SEX	Age	n	9th	25th	50th	71st*	75th	90th**	91st	98th	99.6th	
BOYS	4+	22	45.58	46.96	48.64	50.30	50.71	53.08	53.34	57.28	62.35	
	5+	74	46.41	48.02	49.99	51.98	52.47	55.37	55.70	60.71	67.63	
	6+	89	47.44	49.38	51.79	54.25	54.87	58.55	58.98	65.64	75.55	
	7+	82	48.49	50.80	53.68	56.66	57.42	61.96	62.50	70.97	84.26	
	8+	69	49.83	52.52	55.92	59.46	60.37	65.86	66.50	76.98	94.11	
	9+	67	51.40	54.48	58.40	62.53	63.58	70.06	70.83	83.46	104.86	
	10+	81	53.05	56.50	60.91	65.59	66.79	74.19	75.07	89.72	115.07	
	11+	65	54.61	58.37	63.20	68.33	69.64	77.77	78.74	94.77	122.20	
	12+	49	56.09	60.11	65.27	70.75	72.15	80.80	81.83	98.75	126.91	
	13+	54	57.52	61.77	67.22	72.98	74.46	83.53	84.60	102.11	130.42	
	14+	8	59.09	63.56	69.30	75.34	76.88	86.32	87.44	105.40	133.46	
	15+	8	60.79	65.51	71.53	77.86	79.47	89.27	90.42	108.75	136.34	
	16+	3	62.44	67.40	73.72	80.32	82.00	92.16	93.35	112.03	139.28	
			9th	25th	50th	68th*	75th	87th**	91st	98th	99.6th	
GIRLS	4+	27	43.09	44.76	46.77	48.42	48.75	51.23	52.30	56.74	62.07	
	5+	66	44.42	46.28	48.53	50.39	50.77	53.60	54.84	60.05	66.55	
	6+	69	46.01	48.12	50.70	52.85	53.29	56.61	58.09	64.40	72.61	
	7+	87	47.44	49.81	52.75	55.22	55.72	59.59	61.32	68.85	78.98	
	8+	73	48.64	51.30	54.61	57.41	57.98	62.38	64.37	73.05	84.90	
	9+	68	49.62	52.60	56.30	59.43	60.07	65.02	67.24	76.98	90.16	
	10+	63	50.60	53.91	58.02	61.50	62.21	67.69	70.15	80.80	94.90	
	11+	206	51.86	55.52	60.06	63.89	64.67	70.65	73.32	84.69	99.23	
	12+	190	53.48	57.49	62.44	66.59	67.43	73.84	76.67	88.54	103.12	
	13+	61	54.81	59.14	64.43	68.82	69.71	76.38	79.28	91.18	105.09	
	14+	5	55.92	60.56	66.18	70.77	71.68	78.52	81.44	93.09	106.01	
	15+	5	57.09	62.09	68.04	72.83	73.77	80.74	83.66	95.00	106.95	
	16+	2	58.31	63.70	70.01	75.00	75.98	83.06	85.98	97.00	108.10	

Age presented as each complete year e.g. $4 + = 4.00$) – 4.99y; percentile val	ues are in ci
---	---------------------------	---------------

Age presented as each complete year e.g. 4+ = 4.00 – 4.99y; percentile values are in cm. * Percentile closest to adult WC cut-off action level 1 for Asian Indians (Misra et al., 2009) at age 15+y (Boys >78cm; girls > 72cm) ** Percentile closest to adult WC cut-off action level 2 for Asian Indians (Misra et al., 2009) at age 15+y (Boys >90cm; girls >

80cm)



Figure 6.1 Smoothed waist circumference percentile curves with 9 centiles shown equivalent to UK90 BMI centiles for South Asian boys aged 4.00-16.99y



Figure 6.2 Smoothed waist circumference percentile curves with 9 centiles shown equivalent to UK90 BMI centiles for South Asian girls aged 4.00-16.99y



Figure 6.3 Smoothed waist circumference percentile curves with 7 centiles shown – 71st and 90th representing centile lines that pass close to adult cut-offs for 'Action levels 1 and 2' (Misra et al., 2009) respectively for South Asian boys at age 15+y



Figure 6.4 Smoothed waist circumference percentile curves with 7 centiles shown – 68th and 87th representing centile lines that pass close to adult cut-offs for 'Action levels 1 and 2' (Misra et al., 2009) respectively for South Asian girls at age 15+y

6.3.3 Waist circumference percentile and anthropometric comparisons between South Asians and white Europeans

Figures 6.5 and 6.6 show comparisons between smoothed centile curves for SA children from this study and UK WE children (McCarthy et al., 2001) at the 50th and 90th centiles from age 5y to 16.99y. Clear differences between SA and WE children were apparent for both sexes, particularly at the 90th centile with SA children having much higher waist circumferences than WE children, with these differences increasing from around age 9y. At the 50th centile both SA children and WE appeared to have similar waist measures up to age 8y. However, for boys the greatest differences appeared between age 9y -13y, after which the differences appeared smaller. For girls the greatest differences appeared at around age 12y and continued through to age 16y+, with the curve showing a slight plateau for the WE girls, whilst for SA girls the centile curve continued to incline upwards, although this may be due to the lack of data for the upper age ranges.

Table 6.4 shows anthropometric comparisons for all SDS (based on UK90 reference data) measured variables between SAs from this study and the large WE dataset of children taken from a previous study at this university. An Independent Samples t-test revealed significant differences between the WE and SA children and adolescents for all the measured variables (P<0.001), with SAs being significantly shorter, lighter, with a lower BMI and WC. Compared to the UK90 data, SAs from this study were very similar to the mean (i.e. SDS 0 or 50th centile) for Ht (SDS -0.03), and Wt (SDS -0.05), with a slightly lower BMI (SDS -0.10 or 42nd centile), and higher WC (SDS 0.32 or 63rd centile).

Prevalence of overweight based on BMI (BMI >85th percentile or SDS >1.03) and obesity (BMI >95th percentile or SDS > 1.64) was lower in the SA cohort than the WE cohort for both boys (8.2% vs 10.5% for overweight; and 16.3% vs 18% for obese) and girls (9.9% vs 12.3% for overweight; and 11.2% vs 14% for obese) respectively. A much greater proportion of both SA boys (16%) and girls (15%) were observed at or above the WC cut-off for 'Action level 1' (71st centile for boys and 68th centile for girls), than compared to the BMI overweight cut-offs. Similarly, compared to the BMI obese cut-offs, a much greater proportion of both WE and SA boys and girls were identified at or above the 90th centile (and/or 'Action level 2' for SA boys) for WC (WE boys = 29% vs SA boys = 25% and WE girls = 27% vs SA girls = 25%). 29% of SA girls were observed at or above the WC 'Action level 2' (or 87th percentile) cutoff. Comparisons of prevalence (%) between the SA and WE samples by z test, of overweight, obese (BMI>85th and 95th percentile respectively), and raised WC (\geq 90th percentile) revealed no significant differences (at the P<0.05 level).

A further comparison was made to assess the differences in prevalence of BMI and WC at or below the 2^{nd} centile (i.e. SDS <-1.96; Table 6.4). For both SA (SDS <-1.96 = 10.3% vs 2.8% and 9.9% vs 6.1%) and WE (SDS <-1.96 = 3.4% vs 0.5% and 2.3% vs 0.9%) ethnicities a greater proportion of children were observed to be at or below the BMI 2^{nd} centile than compared to the WC 2^{nd} centile for both boys and girls respectively. These differences were significant (P<0.05) for SA and WE boys and SA girls only.

Table 6.5 shows the same anthropometric characteristics for the WE dataset as in Table 6.4; however, for the SA group, data for specified ethnicities within the SA ethnic group are presented, and compared with the WE data using one-way ANOVA. The Pakistani group, compared to their WE peers, was the only ethnicity in which no significant differences were observed for all measured variables for both sexes. However, compared to their WE peers both sexes of Indians and Bangladeshis, and girls only of mixed SA ethnicity had significantly lower SDS for all measured variables (P<0.001 or P<0.05). No significant differences were observed between WE and mixed SA boys for all measured variables apart from WC, with mixed SA boys having a significantly lower (P<0.001) WC than their WE peers.

Compared to the UK90 growth reference data for BMI SDS and WC SDS, all ethnicities within the SA group, including those with lower than average BMI SDS (i.e. <0.00 or 50th percentile) had higher WC SDS than the mean UK90 reference population. Both Indian boys and girls had a mean BMI SDS at the 37th percentile (SDS -0.35), whereas the WC percentile was slightly above the 50th percentile (SDS 0.08 and 0.03 for boys and girls respectively). Bangladeshi boys had a mean BMI close to the 50th percentile (SDS 0.01); however, the mean WC was at the 64th percentile (SDS 0.35), and Bangladeshi girls had a mean BMI at the 43rd centile (SDS -0.35).

0.12) and a mean WC at the 60th centile (SDS 0.26). Pakistani boys had a mean BMI at the 59th percentile (SDS 0.22), with a mean WC at the 80th percentile (SDS 0.84), whilst Pakistani girls had a mean BMI at the 52nd centile (SDS 0.06), and a mean WC at the 71st centile (SDS 0.56).

Within group differences were also observed for Ht, Wt, BMI, and WC SDS. For boys: Bangladeshis were significantly shorter than Pakistanis (p=0.002) and mixed SAs (p=0.032); Pakistanis were significantly heavier than Indians (p=0.003); Pakistanis (p=0.003) and Bangladeshis (p=0.049) had significantly higher BMIs than Indians; for WC Pakistanis had a significantly higher WC than all other SA ethnic groups (Indians P<0.001; Bangladeshis p=0.007; mixed SA p=0.019). For girls: for Ht SDS there were no within group differences; for Wt SDS Pakistanis were significantly heavier (p=0.007) than Indians, and mixed SAs (p=0.028); had a significantly higher BMI SDS (p=0.009) than Indians, and a significantly higher (P< 0.001) WC SDS than Indians, and mixed SAs (p=0.041).



Figure 6.5 Comparisons between UK WE₁ and SA 50th and 90th centiles for boys age 5-16.99y. WE₁ = white European data from McCarthy et al., 2001; SA = South Asian



Figure 6.6 Comparisons between UK WE₁ and SA 50th and 90th centiles for girls age 5-16.99y. WE₁ = white European data from McCarthy et al., 2001; SA = South Asian

Table 6.4. Anthropometric characteristics (Ht, Wt, BMI, WC SDS, % with overweight & obese BMI, & % with WC SDS at 2^{nd} centile & at 'Action levels 1^{χ} & $2^{\delta'}$ (SA only) of SA and WE cohorts by sex

	Boy	'S	Girls		
	SA	WE	SA	WE	
	(n= 671)	(n=588)	(n= 921)	(n= 532)	
Decimal Age (y)	9.17 (2.77)	8.84 (2.49)	10.05 (2.64)	8.83 (2.43)	
Ht SDS	-0.03* (1.00)	0.30 (1.01)	-0.08* (1.04)	0.15 (1.02)	
Wt SDS	-0.05* (1.37)	0.44 (1.25)	-0.15* (1.33)	0.22 (1.20)	
BMI SDS	-0.10* (1.51)	0.37 (1.34)	-0.20* (1.42)	0.18 (1.26)	
BMI Overweight ^a n (%)	55 (8.2)	63 (10.5)	91 (9.9)	67 (12.3)	
BMI obese ^β n (%)	109 (16.3)	108 (18.0)	103 (11.2)	76 (14.0)	
BMI SDS <-1.96 n (%)	69 (10.3)	20 (3.4)	91 (9.9)	12 (2.3)	
WC SDS <-1.96 n (%)	19 (2.8)	3 (0.5)	56 (6.1)	5 (0.9)	
WC SDS	0.32* (1.36)	0.74 (1.17)	0.21* (1.46)	0.64 (1.19)	
WC SDS Action level 1^{χ} n	108 (16)		137 (15)		
(%)		-		-	
WC SDS Action level 2^{δ} n	168 (25)		269 (29)		
(%)				-	
WC SDS ≥ 1.29 (90 th	168 (25)	170 (29)	228 (25)	144 (27)	
centile)					

Data are means (±s.d.) unless otherwise stated. SDS data is generated from UK90 LMSgrowth reference data Independent Samples Test between SA & WE for both here and girls similarity different *De0 001

Independent Samples Test between SA & WE for both boys and girls significantly different $^{\circ}P<0.001$ SA = South Asian; WE = white European; Ht = height; Wt = weight; BMI = body mass index; WC = waist circumference; SDS = standard deviation score; $^{\circ}BMI$ SDS > 1.03 (85th centile) for overweight and $^{\beta}BMI$ SDS > 1.64 (95th centile) for obese $^{\varkappa}$ WC SDS Action level 1 ≥ 0.56 (71st centile) for boys and ≥ 0.47 (68th centile) for girls; $^{\delta}$ WC SDS Action level 2 ≥ 1.29 (90th centile) for SA boys and ≥ 1.13 (87th centile) for SA girls; for both WE boys and girls the 90th centile cut-off (SDS≥ 1.29) was used and is also shown for SA girls for purposes of comparison with WE girls. WC SDS 'Action levels 1 & 2' based on adult cut-offs adopted by India (Misra et al., 2009).

Table 6.5 Sex-specific anthropometric characteristics (Ht, Wt, BMI, WC SDS, % with overweight & obese BMI, & % with WC SDS at 2^{nd} centile & at 'Action levels 1^{χ} & $2^{\delta'}$ (South Asian only) of white European and South Asian cohort by ethnic sub-group

	Boys					Girls				
Ethnic code	1	2	3	4	5	1	2	3	4	5
	(n=274)	(n=121)	(n=222)	(n=54)	(n=588)	(n=375)	(n=	(n=296)	(n=	(n=
							174)		76)	532)
Ht SDS	-0.02*	0.20	-0.23*	0.21	0.30	-0.09**	0.03	-1.11**	-	0.15
	(1.07)	(0.94)	(0.97)	(0.82)	(1.01)	(1.06)	(1.09)	(1.01)	0.27**	(1.02)
									(0.96)	
Wt SDS	-0.22*	0.30	-0.11*	0.18	0.44	-0.27*	0.12	-0.12**	-	0.22
	(1.37)	(1.25)	(1.45)	(1.10)	(1.25)	(1.32)	(1.40)	(1.31)	0.40**	(1.20)
									(1.24)	
BMI SDS	-0.35*	0.22	0.01*	0.02	0.37	-0.35*	0.06	-0.12**	-	0.18
	(1.51)	(1.46)	(1.56)	(1.30)	(1.34)	(1.38)	(1.55)	(1.39)	0.38**	(1.26)
									(1.35)	
BMI	23 (8.4)	11 (9.2)	15(6.8)	6	63	31 (8.3)	24	32	4	67
Overweight ^α				(11.1)	(10.5)		(13.9)	(10.8)	(5.3)	(12.3)
n (%)										
BMI obese ^β	30	28	43	8	108	34 (9.1)	28	35	6	76
n (%)	(10.9)	(23.5)	(19.4)	(14.8)	(18)		(16.2)	(11.8)	(7.9)	(14)
WC	0.08*	0.84	0.35*	0.21*	0.74	0.03*	0.56	0.26**	0.03**	0.64
SDS	(1.32)	(1.31)	(1.37)	(1.22)	(1.17)	(1.44)	(1.57)	(1.40)	(1.33)	(1.19)
WC SDS	56 (20)	47 (39)	52 (23)	13		96 (26)	73	85 (29)	15	
Action level				(24)	-		(42)		(20)	-
2 ^δ n (%)										
WC SDS ≥	56 (20)	47 (39)	52 (23)	13	170	78 (21)	64	74 (25)	12	144
1.29 (90 th				(24)	(29)		(37)		(16)	(27)
centile) n										
(%)										

SA = South Asian; WE = white European; Ht = height; Wt = weight; BMI = body mass index; WC = waist circumference; SDS = standard deviation score; ethnic codes: 1 = Indian; 2 = Pakistani; 3 = Bangladeshi; 4 = Mixed South Asian; 5 = White European (WE). Data are means (±s.d.) unless otherwise stated. SDS data is generated from UK90 LMSgrowth reference data Between-group differences analysed using one-way ANOVA

Mean difference is significant between specified SA ethnic group and WE sample *P<0.001; **P<0.05

^αBMI SDS >1.03 (85th centile) and ^βBMI SDS > 1.64 (95th centile)

⁸ Waist circumference SDS Action level $2 \ge 1.29$ (and/or 90th centile) for SA boys and ≥ 1.13 (87th centile) for SA girls; for both WE boys and girls the 90th centile cut-off (SDS ≥ 1.29) was used for comparison with SA data. WC SDS 'Action level 2' based on adult cut-offs adopted by India (Misra et al., 2009).

6.4 Discussion

This study, to our knowledge, presents the first WC percentile charts for SA children and adolescents aged 4.00-16.99y. BMI and WC (SDS) comparisons of the SA sample with the UK90 growth reference data (Cole et al., 1995; Table 6.4) revealed that whilst both SA boys and girls had lower than average BMI (SDS -0.10 and -0.20 for boys and girls respectively), WC was higher (SDS 0.32 and 0.21 for boys and girls respectively). This provides further evidence that BMI is limited in identifying populations at risk of morbidities related to overweight rather than over-fat, particularly in SA populations with higher levels of abdominal adiposity linked to an increased risk of metabolic syndrome and T2DM (Deurenberg et al., 2002; Lear et al., 2009; Luke, 2009; Saxena et al., 2004; Viner et al., 2010).

Compared to the centile charts developed by McCarthy et al., (2001), for British WE children and adolescents, SA children in this study at the 50th percentiles (Figures 6.5 & 6.6) had higher WC overall, particularly at the age of 8y onwards in boys and 9y onwards in girls. These differences were much more pronounced at the 90th percentile in both sexes, with SAs having much higher WC measures from age 6y onwards, with slight variations between the sexes of the age at which differences were greatest. Considering that 'adiposity rebound' occurs from around age 5y (Rolland-Cachera et al., 1984), suggests that SA children may have a greater tendency to accumulate abdominal fat at this developmental stage. This aligns well with the IDF (Alberti, 2007) recommendation of determining abdominal obesity in children from age 6y onwards. Based on evidence that overweight and obesity tracks into adulthood (Wardle et al., 2006), targeting preventative measures from age 6y would seem prudent, particularly in this high-risk population.

The centile charts produced by McCarthy et al. (2001), were representative of a WE child and adolescent population from 1988, and similarly the UK90 data was collected between 1978 and 1990 (Cole et al., 1995); with evidence of dramatically increasing levels of obesity in the last 25 years (Bhardwaj et al., 2008; Butland et al., 2007; McCarthy et al., 2003; NHS Information Centre, 2011; WHO, 2011), these comparisons are unlikely to be indicative of ethnic differences between contemporary SA and WE children and adolescents in the UK. Comparisons (based

on SDS values) between a more contemporary sample of WE children and adolescents, using a large dataset of children measured between the years 2004 to 2007 (Table 6.4) at this university, revealed that on average for both genders, SAs had significantly lower (P<0.001) BMI and WC than their WE peers. This result would suggest that the SA children would be at lower risk of obesity related diseases than their WE counterparts. However, WC measures do not provide a true indication of visceral fat (Wells & Fewtrell, 2006), and studies comparing WC to abdominal fatness measured by MRI scans have consistently revealed higher correlations with total abdominal fat (r = 0.8) than intra-abdominal fat (r = 0.5; de Ridder et al., 1992; Fox et al., 1993; Owens et al., 1999). Other studies have reported similar findings, with SA children having lower WC and BMI than their WE counterparts (Nightingale et al., 2011; Whincup et al., 2002). In the study conducted by Nightingale et al. (2011), whilst BMI and WC measures were lower among the SA children compared to the WE cohort, overall levels of adiposity were higher based on BIA and skinfold measure, with higher % fat mass (FM) at an equivalent BMI level.

In terms of prevalence (%) of overweight or obese by BMI, and raised WC (\geq 90th percentile), no significant differences (at P<0.05 level) were observed between both sexes from WE and SA ethnic groups. The prevalence of overweight and obesity determined by the BMI 85th and 95th percentile cut-offs respectively (Table 6.4; NHS, 2011) was far lower than the prevalence of a raised WC percentile close to the Indian adult cut-off at age 16y for 'Action level' 1 or 2 (Misra et al., 2009), or the 90th percentile as proposed by the IDF (Alberti et al., 2007). For instance, at the 95th percentile for BMI, 16.3% of SA boys and 11.2% of SA girls would be classified as obese, compared to 25% of both SA boys and girls having a raised WC \geq 90th percentile. In contrast, at the other end of the scale, comparing BMI and WC prevalence at or below the 2nd centile revealed that a greater proportion of both SA and WE boys and girls were categorised below this cut-off compared to WC. This suggests that compared to WC, BMI would overestimate the number of individuals at or below the lower centile cut-offs and underestimate the number of individuals at or above the overweight and obese cut-offs. Based on NICE (2014), guidelines using only the BMI UK90 cut-offs for determining overweight and obesity among all children and adolescents in the UK, would exclude a significant proportion of SAs at risk of overweight and obesity that would be identified by using the appropriate WC cut-offs.

The sample size for both SA boys and girls aged between 14.00 to 16.99y was severely restricted, which was a limitation of this study. However, all preceding age ranges had large numbers of sufficient power to produce robust curves, and the smoothed centiles produced using the LMS method (Cole and Green, 1992) would account for any skewness in the data. In the study conducted by Ehtisham et al. (2005), the mean WC of the SA adolescents was higher than the mean WC of the SA adolescents aged 14.00-16.99y (n= 19 boys and 12 girls) in this study (79.9cm vs 76.5cm) and (71.9cm vs 67.0cm) for boys and girls respectively. However, the SA population in the study conducted by Ehtisham et al. (2005) had very high levels of overweight or obesity (41% and 42% for males and females respectively), which were significantly higher than the WE population. However, the prevalence of overweight and obesity in this study (24.5% and 21.1%) was similar to the study conducted by Wardle et al. (2006; 21.3% and 29.4%), for boys and girls respectively, with no significant differences found between the SA and WE populations. The 2004 HSE report (Sproston & Mindell, 2006), identified Pakistani boys aged 2-15y as having the highest proportion of overweight or obese children (at 39%) with no other SA ethnicity found to be significantly different to the proportion of overweight and obese children in the general population (at 30% boys and 31% girls).

The significant differences in overweight or obesity, and WC, between the SA and WE cohort in the Ehtisham et al. (2005) study, compared to this and other studies (Wardle et al., 2006), as well as the HSE (2004), may be due to ethnic sub-group differences between SA populations within the UK. In the former study (Ehtisham et al., 2005), participants were recruited from schools in Birmingham and the majority (n=51, 78%) were Pakistani; whilst the study conducted by Wardle et al. (2006), recruited 'Asian' children from schools in London boroughs and did not specify the ethnic sub-group make up. Additionally, the Ehtisham et al. (2005) study had a relatively small sample size (n=65) across a 4y age range, which is likely to have reduced the effect size of the outcome. In this study the majority of participants were Indian (\sim 41%), followed by Bangladeshi (\sim 33%) who were from an area high

deprivation, and Pakistani (~18%), with mixed SA representing the smallest group (~8%). Whilst overall, compared to the WE cohort, SA boys and girls had significantly lower anthropometric measures for all variables (i.e. Ht, weight, BMI, and WC), within-group analyses of SA ethnic subgroups (Table 6.5), identified that Pakistanis were the only group with no significant differences between their WE₂ peers for all measured variables. Furthermore, comparisons revealed that both male and female Pakistanis had significantly higher WC than all other SA ethnic groups. Other studies comparing body composition between SA sub-groups, have similarly reported within-group differences, with Pakistanis reported to have higher levels of obesity than the general population (Sproston & Mindell, 2006). These differences within the SA ethnic group may be attributable to SES, and variations in diet, lifestyle and early feeding practices (Bhopal et al., 1999; Magnhild et al., 2008; Murasko, 2009; Owen et al., 2009; Saxena et al., 2004). Whilst relative risk of diabetes and CVD may vary within SA ethnic sub-groups, there is substantial evidence that the SA ethnicity as a whole is considered a high-risk group (Bodicoat et al., 2014; Nightingale et al., 2011; Whincup et al., 2002; WHO, 2004). Thus based on the evidence from this study and other research, it would be prudent for the previous recommendation by a UK expert group to maintain the BMI status quo across all ethnic groups (Viner et al., 2010), to reconsider this position and revise BMI cut-offs downwards in line with adult cut-offs.

6.4.1 Study Limitations

The SA sample size in the 14-16.99y age range was severely restricted, however, the sample sizes in the preceding age ranges were large enough to reduce the overall impact on the development of the centile curves. In certain age ranges there were also limited numbers of participants from certain SA ethnic sub-groups, to allow for any within-group analyses to be made at individual age ranges. However, for the sample as a whole within-group analyses were conducted to identify any differences between the ethnic sub-groups overall.

6.4.2 Conclusion

Apart from the Pakistani sub-group, SA children and adolescents in this study had significantly lower BMI and WC measures than their WE peers, however in terms of prevalence of overweight and obesity no significant differences were found. The proportion of children and adolescents identified as overweight or obese determined by BMI was far lower than that determined by WC. This study provides evidence to support the IDF recommendation of using ethnic-specific WC cut-offs for diagnosing metabolic syndrome in children, which is of particular importance in this high-risk population, although neither BMI nor WC per se is likely to provide an indication of overall adiposity within the SA population, and additional measures such as %FM and %skeletal muscle mass from BIA may be required. The results of this study suggest that measuring WC from age 5y onwards would assist in identifying those children at risk of the health consequences associated with abdominal obesity, and enable preventative measures (such as a greater period of time spent in moderate to vigorous exercise) to be adopted as early as possible, based on evidence that obesity tracks into adulthood.

CHAPTER 7: Validation Study of a Field-Based Sitting-Height Measure

7.1 Introduction

Given the significance of total leg length (LL) and LL relative to height (Ht) to future adult health, it is important to have a valid and reliable tool suitable for measuring leg length in field-based studies. Anatomically, LL is defined as the combined length of the femur and tibia (Bogin & Valera-Silva, 2010). However, such measurements can be difficult to conduct in living human subjects, and studies measuring LL have employed different techniques, with some directly taking inside-leg length measurements (BSI, 1990; Gunnell et al., 1998; Pliakas & McCarthy, 2010), or more commonly measuring sitting height (SH; Asao et al., 2006; Bogin & Varela-Silva, 2010; Cameron et al., 1981; Charbonneau-Roberts et al., 2005; Dangour et al., 2002; NHANES, 1988; Torres et al., 2003; Wadsworth et al., 2002), with leg length determined by subtracting SH from standing Ht (figure 1; NHANES, 1988). Although variations in gluteo-femoral fat have been identified as a source of error when estimating leg length using SH; SH appears to be a more popular measure, particularly when measuring overweight or obese people, which is likely due to social and ethical reasons (Bogin & Varela-Silva, 2010).



Figure 7.1 Sitting Height position (from NHANES III, 1988)

A SH table, such as the Harpenden SH table (HSHT) fitted with a sliding carriage to adjust to individual thigh length together with an adjustable foot support, is the only

conventional equipment available for measuring SH (Figure 7.2). However, this equipment is bulky, fairly expensive, and non-portable, rendering it impractical for field use. The lack of a standardised tool for measuring SH for fieldwork, has resulted in a variety of methods being employed, from the use of a box, stool or chair placed on or against a stadiometer (Asao et al., 2006; Cameron, 1982; Charbonneau-Roberts et al., 2005; Dangour et al., 2002; NHANES, 1998; Wadsworth et al., 2002; with SH calculated after adjusting where necessary for height of sitting tool), to the use of an anthropometer placed against the subject's back whilst sitting on a table (Cameron et al., 1981; Torres et al., 2003). This latter technique has been described as very difficult to use and prone to error (Cameron, 1982).

Cameron (1982) developed a portable SH tool, which was comprised of a wooden box with an adjustable footboard designed to fit over the base of a Harpenden portable stadiometer. However, this tool is not commercially available and would require considerable expertise and time to construct. Furthermore, it appeared to be a relatively bulky piece of equipment for field use.

7.1.1 Study Aim

The aim of this study was to develop a valid (validated against the HSHT) and more portable SH measure, that would require limited expertise and expense to construct.



Figure 7.2 Harpenden Sitting Height Table image

7.2 Methods

7.2.1 Design of SH tool

A Leicester Height Measure (LHM) was used as the basis for developing the SH tool (Figure 7.3), as it is already comprised of lightweight plastic material which is readily portable. The principle behind the use of the LHM is that it has a platform, which could be adapted to form the sitting area equivalent to that in the HSH table. The platform could then be placed on a firm table and the subject could be measured while sitting on this construction. However, as the base/platform of this stadiometer has raised sides, a piece of lightweight low-density fibreboard (LDF), cut to size at a local DIY store, was obtained at no cost, and fitted into the base to create a

comfortable flat sitting surface (Figure 7.4). The dimensions of the LDF were 2cm (thickness) x 29.5cm (length) x 32cm (width).



Figure 7.3 Leicester Height Measure



Figure 7.4 Adapted Leicester Height Measure

7.2.2 Subject Recruitment

51 volunteers of varying heights and body proportions were recruited for SH measurement. Adult participation was subject to informed consent, and for children, written informed consent was received from the parent/guardian in line with the University's ethical guidelines, with the parent/guardian present during data collection.

7.2.3 Calibration & Measurement procedures

A 1 m wooden rule was routinely used to calibrate the SH measures prior to any measurement of the participants (Figure 7.5). SH was measured by placing the modified stadiometer onto a table and subjects were requested to sit on the table with the back of the knees against the table edge (Figure 7.4). From this position subjects were asked to rise up slightly from the seated position to enable the
modified stadiometer to be correctly positioned beneath the buttocks, ensuring that the backboard was in contact with the sacrum.



Figure 7.5 Calibration of Leicester & Harpenden sitting height measures with 1m rule Following the procedures recommended by Cameron et al. (1981), SH measurements were taken from the left side of the body. Subjects were requested to sit up tall and straight without leaning the head back against the anthropometer (as this resulted in the head tilting out of position), with feet unsupported and hands resting on the thighs. During initial measurements it was observed that subjects tended to slump a little between measurements which altered results between measures by up to several centimetres, therefore to improve consistency between measures the researcher placed one hand at the base of the spine and another on the left shoulder to draw it back a little, which improved within-subject consistency greatly. The head was placed in the Frankfort Plane position, as described in General Methods (chapter 2 section 2.2.1).

The SH for each subject was measured 3 times on the modified stadiometer and for validation purposes 3 times on a conventional Harpenden Sitting Height Table. The 2.0cm increase in SH, using the modified stadiometer, was corrected for in the recorded results.

7.2.4 Statistical analysis

TEM was assessed including coefficient of reliability as described in Chapter 3 (General Methods section 3.4.1). To validate the modified Leicester stadiometer for SH (LSH) against the SH measures taken on the HSHT (HSH), paired sample t-tests, Pearson's correlation coefficients (using SPSS v.19) and Bland and Altman (1986) plots were carried out.

7.3 Results

The subject characteristics and SH measures are presented in Table 7.1. Of the 51 subjects measured 25 were boys and 26 girls ranging in age from 5.4y to 22.6y.

n = 51 (25 boys & 26 girls)						
	Mean	sd (range)				
Age (y)	13.1	4.4 (5.4-22.6)				
Ht (cm)	149.1	18.0 (117.7-182.0)				
LSH (cm)	77.8	9.3 (61.7-93.2)				
HSH (cm)	77.8	9.3 (62.2-93.2)				

Table 7.1 Subject characteristics (age, Ht, LSH, & HSH)

Ht = height; LSH = Leicester sitting height; HSH = Harpenden sitting height

Following preliminary analysis to ensure assumptions of normality were not violated, no significant differences were found between the 2 SH measures t (50) = -1.17, p > 0.05 (two-tailed). The mean difference between the measures (LSH – HSH) was -0.1cm with a 95% confidence interval ranging from -0.21 to 0.05. Figure 5 shows a very strong positive correlation between the two measures r = 0.99; P<0.001; and Bland-Altman analysis confirmed the very small mean difference of - 0.1cm (LSH – HSH) between the 2 methods.





Figure 7.6 Upper graph correlation of LSH vs HSH (r = 0.99, P< 0.001). Lower graph Bland-Altman plot showing limits of agreement between LSH and HSH. LSH = Leicester siting height; HSH = Harpenden sitting height

7.4 Discussion

The aim of this study was to develop and validate a portable tool for measuring SH, as use of previously employed methods, such as taking the inside-leg measure (BSI, 1990; Gunnell et al., 1998; Pliakas & McCarthy, 2010), use of a box (Asao et al., 2006; Cameron et al., 1981), or with subjects sitting on the base-plate of a stadiometer placed on a chair with a flat surface (Wadsworth et al., 2002) was considered impractical, as described in the introduction. The results demonstrate a significant relationship between the portable LSH measure and the HSH (r = 0.99), with a mean difference of -0.1cm, and no significant differences between the two measures (p > 0.05). As a result of the success of this validation study it was decided that the portable LSH measure would be sufficiently valid to be used in the field-based study to measure the SH of a large South Asian (SA) population of approximately 100 children and adolescents, to compare differences in LL, SH, and relative leg length (RLL) against available data for similar white European (WE) populations.

The limitations of the new LSH measure were that it was not as rigid as the HSHT, as the upright rule did not provide as firm a support to the back, which was much narrower than the backboard of the HSHT. This resulted in having to adjust participants' seating position to ensure the back was kept straight. A firm, stable, and steady table was required for placement of the LSH measure that would support the weight of participants, although this would normally be available in most school and clinic settings. In conclusion, the adjusted LSH measure developed in this study is a suitable field-based measure for SH as it is lightweight, portable, accurate and precise.

CHAPTER 8: A comparison of leg length and stature between South Asian & white European children & adolescents

8.1 Introduction

Chapter 2 (section 2.4) provides an overall review of the literature on stature and body proportionality, in particular relative leg length (LL) determined by the leg length to height (Ht) ratio (LLHR; LL/Ht) or sitting height (SH) ratio (SHR; SH/Ht). Short stature in adulthood is associated with an increased risk of obesity and metabolic syndrome (Guerrero-Igea et al., 2001; Gunnell et al., 2003; Lawlor et al., 2002); in contrast, taller for age children have been shown to have a greater propensity to obesity (Baker et al., 2007; Bosy-Westphal et al., 2009; Buchan et al., 2007; Demerath et al., 2009; Himes et al., 1986; Lazarus et al., 1996), which has been related to advanced sexual maturity among girls (Adair et al., 2001; Freedman et al., 2003). Additionally, shorter LL, particularly, relative LL, is considered an increased risk factor for type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and cardiovascular disease (CVD) as it is associated with higher levels of adiposity (Asao et al., 2006; Bogin & Varela-Silva, 2010; Pliakas & McCarthy, 2010; Hales & Barker, 2001; Smith et al., 2001; Wadsworth et al., 2002).

Population differences in stature, weight and overall body proportionality, have been attributed to a combination of genetic and environmental factors (including diet and nutrition; Eveleth & Tanner, 1990; Rona & Chinn, 1986), although in healthy populations, the environment is considered more influential in determining stature and LL than genetics (Bogin & Valera-Silva, 2010), as demonstrated by evidence of secular increases in these body proportions (Bogin et al., 2002; Bogin & Valera-Silva, 2010; Tanner et al., 1982; Wadsworth et al., 2002). In a study conducted by Hauspie et al. (1996), comparing the heights of children from West Bengal measured between 1952-1956, to the heights of children from the UK, found that the mean heights of the Bengali children fell below the 10th centile of the UK references. In The National Study of Health and Growth (Rona & Chinn, 1987), comparing the growth of different ethnic groups within the UK, Ht was strongly associated with ethnicity of children living within inner city areas. Within this study, children of South Asian (SA) origin were the shortest, whilst African-Caribbean children were the tallest. Kelly et al. (1997), conducted a study comparing the growth of 785 Pakistani children aged 5-14 years, from a deprived area of Birmingham, to the UK90 growth standards for stature and weight (Freeman et al., 1995), body mass index (BMI; Cole et al., 1995), and SH and subischial LL constructed in the 1970s (Tanner & Whitehouse, 1978). In that study, compared to white European (WE) children, Pakistani children of both sexes were on average shorter and lighter (Pakistani boys: mean Ht < 0.2SD; mean weight (Wt) < 0.3SD; Pakistani girls: mean Ht < 0.4SD; mean Wt <0.5SD), and had lower BMIs (Boys overall difference = -0.4SD; girls overall difference = -0.5SD). These differences varied by age, with mean differences for each age group falling between the 25th and 50th centiles. Differences in SH and LL between the Pakistani children and the WE UK reference data (Tanner & Whitehouse, 1978) were more marked, with SH ranging between the mean and mean -1SD for boys and girls; -2SD for girls at 13-14 years only with corresponding LL falling to the mean; and LL ranging between mean and mean + 1SD. Whilst it appears from that study that Pakistani children were on average shorter and lighter than WE children, their body proportions also appeared to be quite different, with longer legs compared to SH. However, it is important to note that the LL and SH data were compared to charts constructed in the 1970s. The authors commented that the differences in the latter measures were more likely to be due to difference in methodology rather than actual growth differences. Similar differences in RLL were reported by Dangour et al. (2002), when comparing a more contemporary cohort of WE children, to the British reference curves for SH and LL, developed by Tanner and Whitehouse (1978).

Low SES and adverse environmental conditions are reported to have a detrimental impact on growth (Bogin & Varela-Silva, 2010; Martin et al., 2002; Tanner et al., 1982; Wadsworth et al., 2002), thus differences in stature, weight, and BMI in the study by Kelly et al. (1997), may be attributed more strongly to environmental conditions, as these children were described as being from "one of the most deprived areas of Western Europe" (p.410). Furthermore, longitudinal studies have shown that children of Pakistani origin from more affluent backgrounds living in the USA have very similar growth patterns to the general US population, when

compared to the growth curves of the NCHS (Hamill et al., 1979), although others have reported a greater divergence worldwide in post-adolescent Ht across population groups from high SES backgrounds (Eveleth & Tanner, 1990; Haas & Campirano, 2006), with Europeans being considerably taller than non-Europeans.

Growth during infancy and childhood is highly plastic (Bogin & Valera-Silva, 2010; Hales & Barker, 2001), with adverse environmental conditions such as poor foetal or infant nutrition (Asao et al., 2006; Wadsworth et al., 2002), and low SES directly affecting stature, particularly limb length (Bogin & Varela-Silva, 2010; Wadsworth et al., 2002). However, in population groups from high SES backgrounds, according to Eveleth and Tanner (1990), whilst post-adolescent Indian children were shorter than their WE counterparts, they had similar relative SH, indicating similar RLL. Other studies have reported similar findings such as a prospective study conducted by Krishnaveni et al. (2005), on Indian children from birth to 4y (see Chapter 2 Literature Review section 2.6), where the Indian children compared to WE children were considerably smaller, but had a longer RLL. In a recent cross-sectional study conducted in New Zealand, where dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) was used to compare body size, body composition, and fat distribution, between European, Maori, Pacific Island, and Asian Indian (which included people of Pakistani, Indian, and Sri Lankan origin) adults (n= 933; age = 17-80y), whilst the Asian Indians had more body fat, both total and abdominal, with less fat-free mass (FFM), skeletal muscle mass (SMM) (including appendicular SMM (SMM_a)), and bone mineral, than the other ethnic groups, compared to Europeans RLL was similar for men but longer for women (Rush et al., 2009). However, both Asian Indian men and women had the same %FM at lower BMIs $(24 \text{kg/m}^2 \text{ and } 26 \text{kg/m}^2 \text{ respectively})$ than Europeans with a BMI of 30kg/m^2 , or Pacific Island men and women with a BMI of 34 kg/m² and 35 kg/m² respectively, highlighting the inadequacy of BMI for the SA population.

In 2002, Dangour et al. developed up to date references for SH and LL for contemporary white British children measured between 1995-1996, to replace the Tanner and Whitehouse (1978) reference curves. Currently, there are no references for SA children in the UK.

8.1.1 Study Aims

The aims of this study were:

- To compare ethnic differences in LL, RLL, and stature between SA and WE children and adolescents in the UK.
- ii) To review the health implications, if any, of these differences.

8.2 Methods

8.2.1 Participants and Recruitment Procedures

Children and adolescents recruited for the bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) validation study for body composition (Chapter 4) were also requested to participate in measurements for SH and waist circumference (WC), which was included in the participant consent forms. A total of 171 healthy children and adolescents aged 5-18y, recruited from various community centres and mosques in Greater London, were directly measured (108 boys and 63 girls). Participants were requested to specify ethnicity on their consent forms, and those that had parents from more than one SA ethnic group (e.g. Indian and Pakistani) were defined as mixed SAs. All measures were taken following participant consent as explained in the recruitment procedures in Chapter 3 (General Methods).

8.2.2 Anthropometric Methods

Ht was measured using a portable Leicester Height Measure (LHM), and following the successful modification of the LHM, as detailed in chapter 6, SH was measured. Wt and WC measures were also taken. Detailed methodology is provided in chapter 3 for all measurements taken (General Methods). A single observer took all measures, to prevent inter-observer error. Technical Error of Measure (TEM) and coefficient of reliability (R) was determined as explained in General Methods (chapter 3).

8.2.3 Statistical Methods

Standard deviation scores (SDS) were generated in Excel, for all anthropometric variables including BMI and WC as described in General Methods (Chapter 3 section 3.4.2). Data was analysed using Microsoft Excel 2011 and SPSS software version 22. Data are presented as means ±SD. Sex-specific between group (SA and WE) and sexand ethnic-specific (i.e. Indian, Pakistani, Bangladeshi, and mixed SA) within- and between-group (i.e. specified SA ethnicity and WE) comparisons for all anthropometric measures presented in SDS format were conducted on the whole sample and also split by age range 5-11y and 12-18y, for pre- and post-pubertal comparisons, using independent samples t-tests and one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc tests. Bivariate comparisons for stature (Ht-SDS) and LLHR, with SDS values for WC and BMI using Pearson's product-moment correlations in SPSS were also conducted.

8.3 Results

Data from a total of 171 (108 boys and 63 girls), aged 5-18y were obtained. Descriptive data for the whole sample (separated by sex) is shown in Table 8.1, providing anthropometric characteristics presented as SDS values, based on UK90 growth reference data. LLHR and SHR are also presented. Compared to the UK90 reference data, both SA boys and girls had lower than average SDS values for Ht, Wt, BMI, and SH. However, LL was longer (SDS 0.21) for boys, and very slightly longer (SDS 0.05) for girls. WC on the other hand was considerably higher (SDS 0.67, and SDS 0.65 for boys and girls respectively), than the UK90 reference population. No significant (P<0.05) differences were observed between the sexes for any of the measured anthropometric variables as presented in Table 8.1 following t-tests.

Boys (n =108)			Girls (n = 63)		
	Mean	±sd	Mean	±sd	
Age (y)	10.2 (5.3-18.9)	3.32	11.0 (5.1-18.9)	3.57	
(range)					
Ht SDS	-0.07	0.97	-0.22	1.14	
Wt SDS	-0.11	1.25	-0.23	1.16	
BMI SDS	-0.17	1.38	-0.23	1.34	
WC SDS	0.67	1.26	0.65	1.23	
SH SDS	-0.52	0.95	-0.53	1.13	
LL SDS	0.21	0.97	0.05	1.13	
LLHR (%)	47.96	1.61	47.50	1.45	
SHR (%)	52.03	1.61	52.50	1.45	

Table 8.1 Anthropometric characteristics	(Ht, Wt,	BMI, W	/C, SH, L	L absolute a	and SDS,	& % LLHR
& SHR) of SA cohort by sex						

Ht = height; Wt= weight; BMI = body mass index; WC = waist circumference; SH= sitting height; LL = leg length; LLHR = leglength-to-height-ratio LL/Ht; SHR = sitting-height-ratio SH/Ht; SDS = standard deviation score; SA = South Asian. Table 8.2 shows the sex-specific anthropometric characteristics (both absolute and SDS) of the cohort, separated into two age-ranges (<12y and ≥12y), to identify any differences in body proportionality, that may occur pre- and post-puberty. T-tests were conducted to compare differences in anthropometric variables (all SDS data, LLHR, and SHR) between the same sex groups pre- and post-puberty (i.e. <12y and ≥12y), and between the sexes within the two age ranges. For boys, the pre-pubertal group had a significantly (P<0.001) lower LLHR and conversely higher SHR than post-pubertal boys, as well as a significantly (p= 0.008) higher SDS (SDS 0.85 vs SDS 0.07) for WC. For girls, based on UK90 SDS values, the post-pubertal girls were significantly (p=0.037) shorter (SDS -0.65 or 26th centile), with a lower LL (p= 0.02; SDS -0.42 than the pre-pubertal girls (SDS -0.01), but had a significantly higher BMI (p= 0.001; SDS 0.53 vs SDS -0.62), and WC (p= 0.043; SDS 1.16 vs SDS 0.45). Comparisons between the sexes in the pre-pubertal age group, revealed only significant (p=0.046) differences for SDS BMI, with girls having a significantly lower BMI (SDS -0.62) than boys (SDS -0.10).

Compared to the UK90 reference population in general, the pre-pubertal boys were far more similar to the reference population for Ht, Wt, and BMI (52nd centile; 46th centile; 42nd centile respectively) than the post-pubertal group, who were much shorter, lighter, with a lower BMI (37th centile; 38th centile; 37th centile respectively). Both pre- and post-pubertal boys had on average a larger WC and longer LL than the reference population, however, the pre-pubertal boys had a much larger SDS value for WC (80th centile vs 53rd centile), and a comparatively longer LL (60th centile vs 53rd centile). The pre-pubertal girls were also much closer (although slightly shorter) in Ht to the reference population (47th centile) than the postpubertal girls who were much shorter on average (26th centile). However, the prepubertal girls had a much lower average Wt (32nd centile), and BMI (25th centile), whilst the post-pubertal girls were on average heavier (54th centile), with a much higher BMI (70th centile) than the reference population. The pre-pubertal girls as with pre-pubertal boys, also had on average a longer LL (61st centile); the postpubertal girls had on average a shorter LL (32nd centile), although SH was even lower (19th centile), indicating a greater LLHR than the reference population.

To compare relative LL of the UK90 reference population to the SAs in this study for pre- and post-pubertal boys and girls, the mean stature for each sex from 5-11y and 12-18y was summed and divided by the mean LL for each age range, and then converted to a percentage (i.e. multiplied by 100) LLHR. The LLHR values computed were 46.7% and 47.9%, and 46.7% and 47.0% for pre- and post-pubertal boys and girls respectively. This equated to SAs having a longer LLHR by 0.9% and 1.2%, and 0.8% and 0.5% for pre- and post-pubertal boys and girls respectively.

Pre-pubertal					Post-pubertal			
	Boys		Girls		Boys		Girls	
	(n =78)		(n = 42)		(n=30)		(n=21)	
	Mean	±SD	Mean	±SD	Mean	±SD	Mean	±SD
Age (y) (range)	8.5 (5.3-11.7)	1.81	8.9 (5.1-11.9)	1.95	14.60 (12.0-18.9)	2.13	15.13 (12.0-18.9)	2.81
Ht (m)	1.30	0.10	1.32	0.12	1.60	0.13	1.56	0.07
Wt (kg)	28.4	8.15	28.31	8.50	50.12	16.15	53.70	12.25
BMI	16.4	2.88	15.85	2.65	18.96	3.84	22.00	4.21
WC (cm)	61.00	8.54	58.64	7.88	70.06	10.64	71.89	10.00
SH (cm)	68.3	4.50	69.23	5.45	81.65	7.46	81.89	4.35
LL (cm)	62.0	6.42	62.93	7.35	78.83	6.13	73.97	3.32
LLHR (%)	47.5**	1.58	47.53	1.56	49.15** 44	0.92	47.47 ^^	1.16
SHR (%)	52.5**	1.58	52.47	1.56	50.85** 44	0.92	52.53 44	1.16
Ht SDS	0.04	0.94	-0.01*	1.05	-0.36	0.98	-0.65*	1.22
Wt SDS	-0.00	1.38	-0.41	1.10	-0.39	1.26	0.11	1.21
BMI SDS	-0.10 ^A	1.38	-0.62* ∆	1.29	-0.35 ^	1.40	0.53*	1.13
WC SDS	0.85*	1.24	0.45*	1.12	0.07*	1.18	1.16* ^A	1.38
SH SDS	-0.42	0.91	-0.38	1.10	-0.78	1.01	-0.83	1.17
LL SDS	0.26	0.99	0.28*	1.13	0.07	0.89	-0.42*	0.99

Table 8.2 Anthropometric characteristics (Ht, Wt, BMI, WC, SH, LL absolute and SDS, & % LLHR & SHR) of SA cohort by sex and age-range including pre- and post-pubertal comparisons

Significant difference between same sex groups <12y & \geq 12y at p <0.05 level; "Significant difference between same sex groups <12y & \geq 12y at p <0.001 level; "Significant difference between sexes at <12y & \geq 12y at p <0.05 level Significant difference between sexes at <12y & \geq 12y at p <0.001 level; Ht = height; Wt = weight; BMI = body mass index; WC = waist circumference; SH = sitting height; LL = leg length; LLHR = leg-length-to-height-ratio LL/Ht; SHR = sitting-height-ratio SH/Ht; SDS = standard deviation score; SA = South Asian.

Pearson's correlations were conducted to assess the relationship of WC and BMI SDS values with stature (Ht SDS) and relative LL (LLHR). This test revealed that both Ht SDS and LLHR were significantly correlated with WC SDS (r= 0.292; P<0.001 and r=-

0.179; p= 0.026 respectively) and BMI-SDS (r=0.177; p= 0.022 and r= -0.186; p= 0.016 respectively). The positive correlation with SDS-Ht indicated that as Ht increased relative to the reference population (UK90), there was a concomitant increase in BMI and WC SDS. However, the negative correlation with LLHR indicated that as relative LL increased, BMI and WC decreased in comparison to the UK90 reference population.

Further sex-specific comparisons were made for Ht SDS, LLHR and SHR between the top and bottom quartiles (i.e. $SDS \le -0.61$ and ≥ 0.66 respectively) for BMI and WC SDS (Tables 8.3 and 8.4 respectively). For boys, compared to the UK90 reference population, individuals in the bottom SDS quartiles for BMI and WC were shorter, whilst those in the top SDS quartiles were taller. Between-group comparisons revealed differences to be significant (p= 0.003 and 0.028 for BMI and WC SDS respectively). However, whilst overall LL SDS was also lower (between-group) for BMI and WC SDS in the 'Low' BMI and WC SDS groups, they had relatively longer legs (i.e. greater %LLHR), although this difference was only significant in the 'Low' WC SDS group (p=0.007), with a conversely shorter SH, than individuals in the top quartiles. For girls however, for overall height, individuals in both the 'High' and 'Low' BMI SDS groups, relative to the UK90 reference population, were shorter; however, those in the 'High' BMI SDS group were even shorter than those in the 'Low' BMI SDS group, although the between-group differences were not significant. Those in the 'Low' BMI SDS group on the other hand had a significantly (p= 0.014) greater LLHR. For WC SDS, girls in the bottom quartile were on average shorter than those in the top quartile, however, their relative LL (LLHR) was longer, although this difference was not significant.

	Boys	Girls			
	Low BMI SDS	High BMI SDS	Low BMI SDS	High BMI SDS	
	(n=40)	(n=32)	(n=27)	(n=18)	
	Mean ±SD	Mean ±SD	Mean ±SD	Mean ±SD	
Ht SDS	$-0.44^* \pm 0.87$	0.25* ±1.05	-0.28 ±1.07	-0.36 ±1.31	
LL SDS	-0.05 ±0.85	0.33 ±1.08	0.21 ±1.10	-0.35 ±1.10	
LLHR (%)	48.13 ±1.74	47.65 ±1.49	47.99* ±1.43	46.93* ±1.27	
SHR (%)	51.87 ±1.74	52.35 ±1.49	52.01* ±1.43	53.07* ±1.27	

Table 8.3 Sex-specific differences mean ± SD between SA cohort and UK90 references in Ht SDS, RLL and SH between 'Low' and 'High' BMI SDS

*Significantly different (within-group) between 'Low' and 'High' BMI SDS groups at P<0.05 level

SA = South Asian; BMI = body mass index; Ht = height; LL = leg length; LLHR = leg-length-to-height-ratio LL/Ht; SHR = sitting-height-ratio SH/Ht; SDS = standard deviation score. 'Low' & 'high' BMI SDS = bottom & top SDS quartiles respectively for BMI

Table 8.4 Sex-specific differences mean ± SD between SA cohort and UK90 references in Ht SDS, RLL, and SH between 'Low' and 'High' WC SDS

Boys			Girls			
	Low WC SDS	High WC SDS	Low WC SDS	High WC SDS		
	(n=14)	(n=48)	(n=11)	(n=30)		
	Mean ±SD	Mean ±SD	Mean ±SD	Mean ±SD		
Ht SDS	-0.42* ±0.72	0.22* ±0.99	-0.44 ±0.81	0.02 ±1.13		
LL SDS	0.07 ±0.74	0.37 ±1.09	0.00 ±1.12	0.10 ±1.15		
LLHR (%)	48.85* ±1.34	47.58* ±1.67	47.44 ±1.07	47.23 ±1.31		
SHR (%)	51.15* ±1.34	52.42* ±1.67	52.56 ±1.07	52.76 ±1.31		

*Significantly different (within-group) between 'Low' and 'High' WC SDS groups at P<0.05 level

SA = South Asian; WC = waist circumference; Ht = height; LL = leg length; LLHR = leg-length-to-height-ratio LL/Ht; SHR = sitting-height-ratio SH/Ht; SDS = standard deviation score. 'Low' & 'high' WC SDS = bottom & top SDS quartiles respectively for WC

Table 8.5 provides descriptive data for the sample by ethnic sub-group. As there were only 3 individuals altogether in the 'Other' SA category respectively, this data is not shown. Furthermore, there were only 11 Pakistani and 5 Bangladeshi girls, significantly reducing the statistical power of any tests. However, this data was still retained for analysis. Comparisons between absolute values for anthropometric measures were not made, as the mean ages between the ethnic sub-groups differed, particularly the Pakistani sub-group, with a lower mean age and smaller age range. However, sex-specific between sub-group comparisons for LLHR and SHR, as well as for all SDS data were conducted. In terms of relative leg length (LLHR), all sub-groups had similar ratios with no significant differences. For both boys and girls, the Pakistani sub-group were the only group found to be taller on average than the

UK90 reference population (59th centile), although between-group differences were not significant. Both Indian and Bangladeshi sub-groups were shorter than the UK90 population, although girls were relatively shorter than boys in comparison to the reference population (45th and 44th centile vs 36th and 38th centile respectively). However, the Bangladeshi girls were the only sub-group to have a shorter LL (32nd centile) than the reference population, although as already stated the between subgroup differences for RLL were not significant. For BMI SDS there were no between sub-group differences for boys, although the Bangladeshi sub-group had a higher BMI than the reference population (0.40 SDS), whilst the Pakistani sub-group were very close to the population average (0.01 SDS), and Indians had a lower BMI on average (-0.44 SDS). Bangladeshi girls had a significantly higher BMI than both Indian and Pakistani girls; however, the Bangladeshi and Pakistani sample size was very small.

		Boys		Girls		
Ethnic	1	2	3	1	2	3
code	(n=59)	(n=27)	(n=21)	(n=45)	(n= 11)	(n=5)
$\delta_{Age}(y)$	11.00 (5.4- 18 9)	8.11 (5.3-	10.70 (5.8- 18 2)	11.23 (5.6- 18 9)	8.62 (5.1-	14.1 (10.5- 17 9)
(range)	(3.35)	(1.82)	(3.73)	(3.65)	(2.29)	(3.03)
LLHR (%)	48.2 (1.48)	47.63 (1.8)	47.82 (1.68)	47.62 (1.50)	47.19 (1.43)	47.16 (1.08)
SHR (%)	51.8 (1.48)	52.37 (1.80)	52.18 (1.68)	52.38 (1.50)	52.82 (1.43)	52.83 (1.08)
Ht SDS	-0.17 (0.92)	0.22 (0.98)	-0.15 (1.05)	-0.33 (1.22)	0.21 (0.79)	-0.38 (1.21)
$\beta_{Wt SDS}$	-0.33 (1.21)	0.14 (1.20)	0.21 (1.40)	-0.49 [*] (1.00)	-0.06 [*] (1.28)	1.44 [*] (1.03)
β_{BMISDS}	-0.44 (1.39)	0.01 (1.17)	0.40 (1.50)	-0.47 [*] (1.17)	-0.33 [*] (1.57)	1.84 [*] (0.79)
$\beta_{WC SDS}$	0.33 [*] (1.28)	1.04 (1.02)	1.23 [*] (1.24)	0.39 ^{**} (0.96)	0.57 ^{**} (1.37)	3.10 ^{**} (0.60)
SH SDS	-0.60 (0.93)	-0.37 (1.07)	-0.46 (0.86)	-0.67 (1.21)	-0.08 (0.63)	-0.48 (1.24)
LL SDS	0.10 (0.86)	0.54 (1.01)	0.11 (1.13)	0.00 (1.21)	0.42 (0.95)	-0.42 (0.87)

Table 8.5 Sex-specific anthropometric (Ht, Wt, BMI, WC, SH, LL SDS, & % LLHR & SHR) comparisons between SA ethnic sub-groups

Data are means (±SD); δ For 'Age', mean age and age range (in brackets) is presented in addition to ±SD (in brackets). *Significantly different at the p <0.05 level; **Significantly different at the p <0.001 level; SA = South Asian; ethnic codes: 1= Indian; 2= Pakistani; 3= Bangladeshi; β Within group differences for Wt, BMI, and waist circumference for girls were between Indian and Bangladeshi and Pakistani and Bangladeshi sub-groups only. Ht = height; Wt = weight; BMI = body mass index; WC = waist circumference; SH = sitting height; LL = leg length; LLHR = leg-length-to-height-ratio LL/Ht; SHR = sitting height-ratio SH/Ht; SDS = standard deviation score.

8.4 Discussion

There is much evidence to support the association of taller for age children and short stature in adulthood, and a shorter relative leg length, with obesity and its related diseases, such as T2DM and CVD (Asao et al., 2006; Bogin & Varela-Silva, 2010; Bosy-Westphal et al., 2009; Buchan et al., 2007; Pliakas & McCarthy, 2010; Hales & Barker, 2001; Smith et al., 2001; Wadsworth et al., 2002). Dangour et al. published up to date reference data on Ht, SH and LL for WE children and adolescents in 2002. However, there is no contemporary data available of SH and LL for SA children living in the UK. This study fills an important gap in the research by providing up to date evidence of the differences in body proportionality between SA and WE children and adolescents in the UK, and how body proportionality, in particular stature and RLL relates to measures of obesity such as BMI and WC. These findings need to be

interpreted with caution however, as the sample was opportunistic and relatively small, and thus could not be regarded as representative of the whole UK SA population.

Due to a relatively modest sample size, age-specific analyses for each year group were not conducted. However, the sample was split in half by age range to provide an indication of any pre- and post-pubertal differences in growth relative to the UK90 reference population (Dangour et al., 2002), although actual age of puberty was not determined. This study revealed that overall both SA boys and girls were on average shorter, lighter, with a lower BMI and SH, but had a much higher WC, and longer LL. The marked differences in BMI and WC between the SA and WE samples add to the body of evidence that BMI, particularly for SAs, is not a reliable indicator of obesity (Ehtisham et al., 2005; Nightingale et al., 2011; Rush et al., 2009; Saxena et al., 2004; Viner et al., 2010).

Whilst the SAs were on average shorter than the UK90 population, a lower SH and longer LL, would indicate that SAs have relatively longer legs than their WE counterparts. This finding has been observed elsewhere, where SA children even from more deprived backgrounds than this cohort that were shorter and lighter, had comparatively longer legs and a shorter SH than WE children (Kelly et al., 1997; Krishnaveni et al., 2005). However, in the study conducted by Kelly et al. (1997), this outcome may have been attributed to differences in measurement methods. Eveleth and Tanner (1990) also observed that affluent Indians compared to WEs were on average shorter, but had a shorter SH and similar relative SH, indicating a similar RLL. In the study conducted by Rush et al. (2009), whilst the WE cohort were taller than the SAs, for men RLL was similar, and SA women had a longer RLL, although appendicular SMM was significantly lower than all the other ethnic groups. As a proportion of total fat, SAs had the highest abdominal fat, whilst WEs had the lowest abdominal fat but the highest thigh fat in that study.

Comparisons between pre- and post-pubertal measures revealed that both prepubertal boys and girls were much closer in Ht to the reference population, but postpubertal heights were much lower. This indicates that the peak height velocity or rate of growth during the adolescent growth spurt was much slower in the SA cohort than in the WE reference population, resulting in a shorter adult Ht. A similar divergence in post-pubertal heights between non-European populations and WE has also been reported in reviews (Eveleth and Tanner, 1990; Haas & Campirano, 2006).

As the UK90 data (Dangour et al., 2002), did not provide any reference measures for relative LL (i.e. SHR or LLHR), it was difficult to make these comparisons with our study population, a factor that has also been commented on recently (Bogin & Valera-Silva, 2010). To overcome this difficulty, mean data was used to calculate LLHR and convert to a percentage. From this analysis it was revealed that both SA boys and girls had on average relatively longer legs than WEs, ranging from 0.5% to 1.2%.

The relationship between BMI and WC with stature and RLL, revealed a significantly positive relationship with Ht for both BMI and WC, and a significantly negative relationship with LLHR for both these measures. This indicated that taller stature in childhood had a positive association with measures of obesity, and conversely a relatively longer leg length had a negative association, which is consistent with the findings of other research (Asao et al., 2006; Bogin & Varela-Silva, 2010; Bosy-Westphal et al., 2009; Buchan et al., 2007; Pliakas & McCarthy, 2010; Hales & Barker, 2001; Smith et al., 2001; Wadsworth et al., 2002). Further sex-specific comparisons between RLL (i.e. LLHR and SHR) and Ht SDS, with the top and bottom quartiles for BMI and WC SDS values revealed a negative association between these measures and RLL for both sexes, i.e. those in the top quartiles for BMI and WC had a shorter RLL than those in the bottom quartile. However, Ht SDS comparisons varied by sex, with boys in the top BMI and WC SDS quartiles being significantly taller, whilst girls were shorter (although not significantly), than their sex-matched counterparts in the bottom BMI and WC SDS quartiles.

The sex-specific sub-group comparisons were limited in statistical power due to a reduced sample size, particularly within the female sub-group, that had only 11 Pakistani, and 5 Bangladeshi girls. Secondly, as the Pakistani sub-group had a lower

mean age range, comparisons between absolute values were not made. Comparisons between the UK90 reference population revealed that the Pakistani sub-group were the only group that were taller; however, as the age range for this sub-group fell within the pre-pubertal age range, may be a contributory factor, based on the analyses between the pre- and post-pubertal groups as stated above.

8.5.1 Study Limitations

As already stated the sample size was too small to make any analyses by individual year group. Ethnic-specific sub-group analyses were also limited due to small sample sizes, particularly for girls in the Bangladeshi and Pakistani sub-groups. The UK90 reference standards (Dangour et al., 2002) represent children and adolescents measured in 1995-1996, and thus may not now be representative of a more contemporary WE population, based on evidence of secular increases in Ht. Furthermore, UK90 data for RLL was not available, and had to be derived. More up to date references with RLL data would be required to confirm the findings of this study, and SES would need to be controlled for, based on evidence that it impacts stature and RLL. Whilst assessment of TEM was used to minimise intra-observer error, inter-observer differences when making comparisons between studies are not controllable. Therefore, to minimise inter-observer error, it is vital that strict standardised measurement protocols are followed.

8.5.2 Conclusion

According to the findings of this study SA children and adolescents have relatively longer legs than their WE counterparts. Pre-pubertal girls and boys have similar overall stature to their WE counterparts; however, adolescent SAs tend to be considerably shorter than WEs. This study confirms the findings of other research which shows that relatively shorter legs and taller for age stature in childhood is positively associated with measures of obesity such as BMI and WC. The wellrecognised associations of diabetes and CVD, with increased abdominal adiposity and reduced skeletal muscle mass among SAs may be slightly offset by their relatively longer legs, although this finding would need to be qualified with more direct between-group comparisons, as RLL for the UK90 population was not available and had to be derived. Increasing muscle mass in the lower limbs may help this high-risk population group to reduce the risk of developing obesity related diseases, although further research would be required to investigate how modifiable SMMa is, given that SAs have less appendicular SMM than other ethnicities. While the work in this chapter has highlighted an area of human biology where there may be ethnic differences, much more work needs to be carried out to verify these findings, especially in larger samples and different SA groups across the UK.

CHAPTER 9: Conclusion

9.1 Overall Aims of Thesis

The overall aims of this thesis were to:

- i) Validate a tetrapolar bioelectrical impedance analyser (BIA; Tanita BC418-MA) for body composition assessment (BCA) using dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) and air displacement plethysmography (ADP) as the reference methods for the South Asian (SA) child and adolescent population.
- Develop body composition (BC; %fat mass (FM) and appendicular skeletal muscle mass (SMMa) measures) and waist circumference (WC) reference centiles for this population group.
- iii) Validate a sitting height (SH) measure for field-based use for the determination of relative leg length (RLL) and SH.
- iv) Examine ethnic differences in BC, WC, and body proportionality in terms of stature and RLL between this population group and their white European (WE) peers, as well as examine any within-group differences.

9.2 Summary of Research and Findings

9.2.1 BIA validation study – Chapter 4

Prior to application of the new BIA prediction equation (BIA_{reg1}) developed in this study, BIA compared to DXA was significantly underestimating %FM. BIA_{reg1} reduced the mean differences between BIA and DXA in both boys and girls. The equation developed in this study demonstrated an improvement in outcome for estimating fat-free mass (FFM) when compared to a similar study where the same BIA model was validated against DXA. A limitation of BIA observed in this study and others, is that it has a tendency to overestimate %FM at the leaner end of the scale and underestimate %FM at high adiposity levels. This tendency was reduced when the new equation developed in this study was applied. The validity of BIA_{reg1} was also assessed, by applying the new equation to a large external SA dataset of children

and adolescents, which found the equation was only valid for children aged \geq 9y (see section 9.3 Limitations).

Comparisons were also made between BIA and DXA for SMM_a, and whilst correlations for both absolute (kg) and relative (%) SMM_a between the two methods were strong, the average differences were significant but small with BIA underestimating SMMa. However, as DXA weight (Wt) was not equivalent to scale Wt and required adjustment, it was not possible to adjust for limb Wt. Therefore, no correction factor was applied for SMM_a measures, and whilst the differences were statistically significant, as they were very small in reality, original BIA values were used in the analyses. Furthermore, as DXA Wt was greater than scale Wt and BIA was found to overestimate total body FM, if SMM_a could be corrected, it would more likely reveal that BIA overestimated this measure.

9.2.2 Ethnic differences in body composition and development of ethnic specific reference centiles – Chapter 5

Anthropometric SDS comparisons of UK90 reference data for height (Ht, Wt, body mass index (BMI), WC, and %FM with the SA cohort revealed that SA boys and girls were on average shorter, lighter, with a lower BMI, but with a higher WC and %FM, which highlights the inadequacy of BMI as a reliable indicator of adiposity and supports the considerable body of evidence that other more direct measures of adiposity are required in addition to BMI, particularly in this high risk population.

Similar comparisons were also made with the SA cohort and a more contemporary low income WE₂ sample. Results revealed that compared to the SA sample, the WE₂ cohort had higher mean SDS for all measures. Comparisons between the SA and WE₂ cohort, revealed that both SA boys and girls were significantly shorter, lighter, with a lower BMI and WC than their WE₂ counterparts, with no significant differences in %FM. The WE₂ results illustrate the secular increase in standard anthropometric measures, particularly BMI, %FM, and WC. However, for the SA cohort whilst BMI and WC were significantly lower than the WE₂ cohort, there were no significant differences in %FM, which further illustrates the inadequacies of BMI, and also suggests that additional measures of WC would not reveal higher levels of %FM among SAs at equivalent BMI and WC levels when compared to their more contemporary WE₂ counterparts.

The new equation developed in the BIA validation study was applied to a final data set of SA children and adolescents aged 5-14y, to determine absolute (kg) and relative (%) whole body FM and FFM, although application of the correction factor was limited to children aged \geq 9y (see section 9.3 Limitations). Sex-specific centile curves were constructed for %FM and %FMM using the original BIA equation and BIA_{reg1} for children aged \geq 9y, to make comparisons between the results before and after regression, and also to compare the results with WE₁ and WE₂ (representing high and low incomes respectively) data. Comparisons between SA and high and low income WE datasets were made to ensure that any differences were not simply due to differences in SES. %FFM centile curves using the original BIA regression with the WE₂ dataset across all ages. SMM_a data was used to construct centile curves for a variety of measures.

For both boys and girls overall the WE₁ cohort had the lowest levels of %FM and conversely the highest levels of %FFM than the WE₂ and SA cohort measured at the 50th centile. For boys, use of the original BIA equation indicated that compared to WE₂ children, SA children had very similar levels of %FFM; however, use of BIA_{reg1} revealed that SA boys had less %FFM than WE₂ boys, although very similar levels were observed at age 14y.

For girls, the BIA original equation resulted in more variable results in %FM between WE₁ and SA girls, ranging from SA girls \leq 11y having slightly lower levels of %FM than WE₁ girls, to progressively higher %FM at 14y. With BIA_{reg1}, SA girls of all ages had more %FM than both the WE₁ and WE₂. Based on the evidence that BIA underestimates %FM for SAs, and this ethnic group is reported to have higher %FM than WE and other ethnic groups, suggests that the original BIA equation is unsuitable for SAs. However, it is important to note that whilst overall between group (i.e. SA & WE₂) differences increased after application of BIA_{reg1} for boys and girls, this difference was only significant between the male groups. Across specified

age ranges, based on original BIA data, %FFM differences between SA and WE₂ cohorts were only significant between girls in the 11-13y age range, with SA girls having 1.58% less FFM than the WE₂ girls.

Further comparisons between the SA and WE₂ cohort for SMM_a measures (based on original BIA data), revealed that both SA girls and boys had significantly less relative SMMa than the WE₂ sample, for most of the assessed measures including SMMa%, SMMa/FFM%, and SMMaI, with significantly less MFR, although this was not significant across all ages. Sex-specific analyses of sub-group differences revealed some BC differences between Indian, Pakistani, and Bangladeshi children, together with different sub-group outcomes when compared to the WE₂ cohort. Variations in anthropometric and BC measures at different age ranges made it difficult to draw any conclusions on overall relative health risks by sub-group.

Given that the prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is higher in Pakistani and Bangladeshi ethnic sub-groups in the UK, with some studies reporting that Bangladeshi children have a more adverse health profile in relation to T2DM than Indian or Pakistani children, suggests that there may be within sub-group differences in BC, as has been shown in this study. However, these differences between studies suggest that variations in BC within group are more likely to be associated with lifestyle factors, such as diet, physical activity, and SES, as has been reported by others. Although, this simple sub-group categorisation, whilst convenient, may not be indicative of racial/ethnic differences within this very diverse population, given its history. Whilst BC sub-group comparisons led to inconsistent outcomes across different age-ranges, all three sub-groups when compared to their WE₂ counterparts had a lower BMI with no significant differences in %FM, with significantly less relative SMMa in one or more age ranges, and a lower SMMAI across all age ranges for both sexes.

This result illustrates the importance of measuring SMMa, and lends support to the argument that adiposity is not the sole contributor to T2DM or insulin resistance, particularly among SA children within the normal BMI and Wt range. Whilst other studies have also shown that SAs have a higher FM to lean mass (LM; FM: LM) ratio,

to our knowledge, this is the first study to provide evidence on ethnic differences in BC based on appendicular data.

9.2.3 Developing waist circumference percentile charts for South Asian children & youths designed to pass through adult cut-offs – Chapter 6

Sex-specific WC percentile charts for SA children and adolescents were constructed and compared to previously published centile charts representing the WE₁ (high income) child and adolescent population measured in 1988, together with a more contemporary WE₂ (low income) dataset. WC and BMI SDS comparisons were also made with the UK90 growth reference data. Whilst SA children on average had a lower BMI (SDS) compared to the UK90 reference data, WC (SDS) was higher. Similarly, comparisons between SAs and WE₁ data at the 50th centile revealed a higher WC for SAs. However, comparisons between the WE₂ dataset revealed that SA children and adolescents had significantly lower BMI and WC SDS values than their more contemporary WE₂ peers, which has been observed in other studies and is an indication of the secular increase in abdominal FM.

Whilst the BMI and WC SDS values observed in the SA population would suggest that SA children and adolescents had a lower risk of developing obesity related diseases compared to their WE₂ counterparts, research using MRI scans shows that WC is a weaker indicator of visceral fat than total abdominal fat, and visceral fat is regarded as a greater risk factor for developing metabolic syndrome and T2DM. However, use of WC percentile cut-offs based on IDF recommendations as well as cut-offs proposed for Indian adults at age 16y for determining overweight and obesity identified more SAs in this category than similar BMI percentile cut-offs. Thus, using only the BMI UK90 cut-offs for determining overweight and obesity among all children and adolescents in the UK, as is the current NICE recommendation, would exclude a significant proportion of SAs at risk of overweight and obesity that would be identified by using the appropriate WC cut-offs. SA sub-group comparisons revealed that Pakistanis were the only group with no significant differences compared to their WE₂ peers for all measured variables, with significantly higher WC than the other SA ethnic groups. Other studies comparing body composition between SA sub-groups, have similarly reported within-group differences, which as previously stated is likely to be an indicator of lifestyle rather than genetic differences.

9.2.4 Ethnic differences in leg length and stature between South Asian & white European children & adolescents – Chapter 8

Following the successful development of a field-based SH measure (Chapter 7), ethnic differences in LL, RLL, and stature between SA and WE (UK90 reference data) children and adolescents were examined. LL was determined by subtracting SH from Ht, and SH and LL measures were converted to %sitting-height ratio (SHR) and %leg-length-to-height ratio (LLHR), to assess proportionality of legs and upper body (head and trunk) relative to total Ht. The overall findings of this study were that SA children and adolescents were on average shorter but had relatively longer legs than WEs. More detailed analyses revealed that pre-pubertal SA children were much closer in Ht to the WE reference population, whilst post-pubertal children were on average shorter, suggesting that the adolescent growth spurt is more inhibited within the SA population. Taller stature was positively associated with measures of obesity (BMI and WC), whilst RLL was negatively associated with obesity.

9.3 Limitations

A limitation of the BIA validation study was that the new equation was only valid for children and adolescents aged 9-18y, as the mean age of the study sample was significantly older than the mean age of the large external dataset. Due to the opportunistic nature of recruitment, age was not controlled for, with a very limited number of volunteers in the younger age range. It has been reported that no single BIA equation is likely to be valid throughout childhood and adolescence, which is likely to be attributed to the decline in hydration of FFM during growth and maturation. Children >14y were excluded from the analysis, as both the WE₂ and SA data sets had very few children above this age.

Due to inconsistent results from the ADP, this reference method was excluded. The ADP outcome was attributed to some subjects not willing to adhere to the strict requirement to wear skin-tight clothing. Discrepancies between DXA Wt and scale

Wt were likely to be a further source of error in the validation study, as a correction factor had to be applied to DXA sum of parts, which has been observed in other studies. The 4-C model is considered the 'gold-standard' for in-vivo BC assessment; however, this method requires use of multiple methodologies that are prohibitive in many research settings.

Due to a lack of data for children ≥14y in the large external SA dataset application of the new BIA prediction equation in Chapter 6 and the BC reference centiles that were developed were limited to children aged 9y -14y. The number of children in some of the sub-group comparisons was also very limited, particularly within the Pakistani sub-group, which may have impacted the statistical outcomes. %FM and anthropometric (including BMI) comparisons between WE and SA children were based on SDS from the UK90 reference data, however, as there was no similar reference data available for %FFM or SMMa measures, comparisons were made by age-range which is not as accurate. Large limits of agreement between DXA and BIA observed in this and other studies, indicates that BCA using BIA at an individual level should be treated with caution, and additional methods of assessment should be used before drawing any definitive conclusions on an individual's health status in relation to BC. In certain age ranges there were also limited numbers of participants from certain SA ethnic sub-groups, to allow for any within-group analyses to be made at individual age ranges.

A limitation of the study on stature and LL (Chapter 8), was that the UK90 reference population were measured in 1995-96, and may not now be representative of a contemporary WE population. Based on evidence of secular increases in Ht, differences between the SA and WE populations may have been further enhanced had comparisons been made with a more contemporary WE cohort. Inter-observer differences in measurement of SH between the WE and SA cohorts could not be controlled for, and may also have impacted the findings. RLL data was not available for the UK90 reference data and thus had to be derived from mean LL and stature data, which may have introduced further error. Ethnic sub-group comparisons were not made due to the small sub-group sample sizes.

9.4 Future Research

The ethnic-specific BIA (BC-418MA) prediction equation developed in chapter 4, for the SA child and adolescent population was found only to be valid for children >9y, and as this study and other research shows, no single equation can be used across this whole population group, further studies need to be conducted to assess the validity of prediction equations within narrower age ranges or to assess whether pre- and post-pubertal prediction equations are sufficient. Additional research needs to include sufficient numbers across the whole child and adolescent age range (i.e. 5-18y), as the large external dataset on which the prediction equation was applied had too few children >14y. Improvement in the accuracy of BC using BIA technology is required if it is to be used with confidence as an adjunct to BMI, WC and other field-based methods for individual BCA. Discrepancies between DXA and scale-Wt found in this study as well as others, needs further investigation, if DXA is to be used as a reliable reference method.

Current percentile cut-offs for %FM to define overfat and obesity are derived in part from BMI IOTF cut-offs, rather than clinical evidence. Clinical research would be required to determine appropriate body-fat cut-offs for child and adolescent populations, which may vary by ethnicity due to BC and fat-patterning differences. Given that levels of overweight and obesity are rising, percentile cut-offs may not provide a true indication of health risk associated with actual body fatness.

Further studies assessing SMMa are required to verify the findings in this thesis, particularly as DXA Wt was found to be significantly greater than scale Wt and thus only original BIA data could be used, as limb Wt could not be determined. Improvements in DXA technology are also required to overcome difficulties in marking out limbs for the determination of SMMa, and the fact that large individuals did not fit within the scanning area. Evidence of differences between and within DXA models in BC assessment also requires further investigation, to improve reliability and accuracy when using this reference method.

To verify the findings in chapter 8 on ethnic differences in stature, LL, and RLL, would require comparisons with a more contemporary WE child and adolescent population, particularly as data on RLL was not available. It is also essential that all methods used for BC assessment including anthropometry, are standardised and guidelines closely adhered to, to ensure that the accuracy and reliability of results are not compromised by measurement error.

9.5 Final Overview

The research conducted in this thesis provides some valuable information on SA BC, particularly ethnic differences between the SA and WE child and adolescent population, revealing that compared to a more contemporary WE₂ cohort, SAs at a significantly lower BMI and WC had no significant difference in %FM, but had significantly lower SMM_a. These findings illustrate that BMI is particularly unsuitable for identifying obesity and its associated risks in SAs, and similarly WC offers only a proxy measure for abdominal adiposity. Whilst BIA still has limitations in terms of accuracy in measuring BC at an individual level, recent improvements in BIA tetrapolar devices such as the Tanita BC418-MA, offer advantages in determining BC at a population level that go far beyond BMI.

In the UK, whilst current NICE guidelines advise that BMI centile cut-offs for children and adolescents in ethnic minority groups be used with 'caution', use of WC as an additional measure to assess long-term health risks, is left to the discretion of the health practitioner, with no other BC measures recommended at present. For effective preventative measures of obesity to be introduced it is essential that clear guidelines be developed that enable health practitioners to follow best practice at all times. Whilst WC is a useful additional measure of obesity, BIA provides more comprehensive BC information particularly for the SA population, where both BMI and WC have been shown to be inadequate in this ethnic group.

Further research is required to confirm or refute whether SA children and adolescents have relatively longer legs than their WE counterparts. However, if further studies confirm SAs have a longer RLL, whether SMMa is sufficiently modifiable to offset the health risks associated with the 'thin-fat' phenotype would need to be investigated. From the results of the studies conducted in this thesis and other supportive research evidence, it would seem prudent for health practitioners to ensure that SA children and adolescents engage in a physically active lifestyle that helps to improve SMM_a.

References

Adair L, Gorden-Larsen P (2001) Maturational timing and overweight prevalence in US adolescent girls. Am J Public Health 91:642-644

Akram DS, Agboatwala M (1991) Growth parameters of Pakistani children. Indian J Pediatr 58:825-832

Akridge M, Hilgers KK, Silveira AM et al (2007) Childhood obesity and skeletal maturation assessed with Fishman's hand-wrist analysis. Am J Orthodon Dentofac Orthoped 132: 185-190

Alberti KGMM, Zimmet PZ, Shaw JE (2005) The metabolic syndrome – a new worldwide definition from the International Diabetes Federation consensus. Lancet 366:1059-1062

Aresu M, Chaudhury M, Diment E et al (2010) Health survey for England 2009 – volume 1 healthy lifestyles. London: The NHS Information Centre

Asao K, Kao L, Baptiste-Roberts K et al (2006) Short stature and the risk of adiposity, insulin resistance, and type 2 diabetes in middle age: the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III), 1988-1994. Diabetes Care 29:16332-1637

Baker JL, Olsen LW, Sorensen TIA (2007) Childhood body-mass index and the risk of coronary heart disease in adulthood. The New England J of Medicine 357:29-37

Barlow SE, and the Expert Committee (2007) Expert Committee recommendations regarding the prevention, assessment, and treatment of child and adolescent overweight and obesity: summary report. Pediatr 120: S164-S192

Baumgartner RN (2005) Age in Heymsfield SB, Lohman TG, Wang Z, Going SB (eds.) Human body composition. 2nd edn. Europe: Human Kinetics, 259-269

Baumgartner RN, Heymsfield SB, Lichtman S et al (1991) Body composition in elderly people: effect of criterion estimates on predictive equations. Am J Clin Nutr 53:1345-1353

Bellisar A, Roche AF (2005) Anthropometry and ultrasound in Heymsfield SB, Lohman TG, Wang Z, Going SB (eds.) Human body composition. 2nd edn. Europe: Human Kinetics, 109 - 127

Bhardwaj S, Misra A, Khurana L, Gulati S, Shah P, Vikram NK (2008) Childhood obesity in Asian Indians: a burgeoning cause of insulin resistance, diabetes and sub-clinical inflammation. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 17 (S1):172-175

Bhenke AR, Feen BG, Welham, WC (1942) The specific gravity of healthy men. Body weight and volume as an index of obesity. J Am Med Assoc 118:495-498

Bhenke AR, Osserman EF, Welham WC (1953) Lean body mass. Arch Internal Med 91: 585-601

Bhopal R, Donaldson L (1998) White, European, western, caucasian, or what? Innapropriate labeling in research on race, ethnicity, and health. Am J Pub Health 88:1303-1307

Bhopal R, Unwin N, White M et al (1999) Heterogeneity of coronary heart disease risk factors in Indian, Pakistani, Bangladeshi, and European populations: cross sectional study. BMJ 319:215-219

Black A, Tilmot EM, Baer DJ et al (2001) Accuracy and precision of dual- energy x-ray absorptiometry for body composition measurements in rhesus monkeys. J Med Primatol 30:94-99

Bland JM, Altman DG (1986) Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. Lancet 1:307-310

Bodicoat DH, Gray LJ, Henson J et al (2014) Body mass index and waist circumference cut-pionts in

multi-ethnic populations from the UK and Indian: The ADDITION-Leicester, Jaipur Heart Watch and New Delhi cross-sectional studies. Plos One 9:1-6

Bogin B, Smith P, Orden AB et al (2002) Rapid change in height and body proportions of Maya American children. Am J Hum Biol 14:753-761

Bogin B, Varela-Silva MI (2008) Fatness biases the use of estimated leg length as an epidemiological marker for adults in the NHANES III sample. Int J Epidemiol 8:201-209

Bogin B, Varela-Silva MI (2010) Leg length, body proportion, and health: A review with a note on beauty. Int J Environ Res Pub Health 7:1047-1075

Bonnick SL (2010) Bone densitometry in clinical practice – application and interpretation. 3rd edn. New York, USA: Humana Press

Bosy-Westphal A, Geisler C, Onur S, Korth O, et al (2006) Value of body fat mass vs anthropometric obesity indices in the assessment of metabolic risk factors. Int J Obes Metab Disord 30:475-483

Bosy-Westphal A, Later W, Hitze B, Sato T, et al (2008) Accuracy of bioelectrical impedance consumer devices for measurement of body composition in comparison to whole body magnetic resonance imaging and dual-x-ray absorptiometry. Obes Facts 1:319-324

Bosy-Westphal A, Plachta-Danielzik S, Dörhöfer R, Müller MJ (2009) Short stature and obesity: positive association in adults but inverse association in children and adolescents. Br J of Nutr 102:453-461

Brozek J, Grande F, Anderson JT, Keys A (1963) Densitometric analysis of body composition: Revision of some quantitative assumptions. Ann of the New York Academy of Sciences 110: 113-140

Brunton JA, Bayley HS, Atkinson SA (1993) Validation and application of dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry to measure bone mass and body composition in small infants. AM J Clin Nutr 58:839-845

Buchan IE, Bundred PE, Kitchiner DJ, Cole TJ (2007) Body mass index has risen more steeply in tall than in short 3-year olds: serial cross-sectional surveys 1988-2003. Int J Obes 31:23-29

BSI (1990) Body measurements of boys and girls from birth up to 16.9 years, BS7231. London: British Standards Institute

Butland B, Jebb S, Kopelman P, McPherson K, Thomas S, Mardell J, Parry V (2007) Foresight tackling obesities: future choices- project report. 2nd Edn. Available at: <u>http://www.foresight.gov.uk</u> (Accessed: 23/01/12)

Cameron N, Hiernaux J, Jarman S et al (1981) Anthropometry in Weiner JS, Lourie JA (eds.) Practical Human Biology. London: Academic Press, 27-52

Chandalia M, Abate N, Garg A, Stray-Gundersen J, et al (1999) Relationship between generalized and upper body obesity to insulin resistance in Asian Indian men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84:2329-2335

Charbonneau-Roberts G, Saudny-Unterberger H, Kuhnlein HV et al (2005) Body mass index may overestimate the prevalence of overweight and obesity among the Inuit. Int J Circum Health 64:163-169

Choy CS, Chan WY, Chen TL et al (2011) Waist circumference and risk of elevated blood pressure in children: a cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health 11:613

Chaturvedi N (2003) Ethnic differences in cardiovascular disease. Heart 89:681-686

Chumlea WC, Baumgartner RN, Roche AF (1988) Specific resistivity used to estimate fat-free mass from segmental body measures of bioelectric impedance. Am J Clin Nutr 48:7-15

Chinn S, Hughes JM, Rona RJ (1998) Trends in growth and obesity in ethnic groups in Britain. Arch Dis Child 78:513-517

Chumlea WC, Sun SS (2005) Bioelectrical impedance analysis in Heymsfield SB, Lohman TG, Wang Z, Going SB (eds.) Human body composition. 2nd edn. Europe: Human Kinetics, 17-33

Clasey JL, Kanaley JA, Widerman L et al (1999) Validity of methods of body composition assessment in young and older men and women. J Appl Physiol 86:1728-1738

Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH (2000) Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. BMJ 320:1-6

Cole TJ, Freeman JV, Preece MA (1998) British 1990 growth reference centiles for weight, height, body mass index and head circumference fitted by maximum penalized likelihood. Stat Med 17:407-429

Cole TJ, Freeman JV, Preece MA (1995) Body mass index reference curves for the UK. Arch Dis in Child 73:25-29

Cole TJ, Green PJ (1992) Smoothing reference centile curves: the lms method and penalized likelihood. Stat in Med 11:1035-1319

Dangour AD, Schilg S, Hulse JA, Cole TJ (2002) Sitting height and subischial leg length centile curves for boy and girls from Southeast England. Ann Hum Biol, 29:290-305

Daniels SR, Khourty PR, Morrison JA (2000) Utility of different measures of body fat distribution in children and adolescents. Am J Epidemiol 152:1179-84

de Onis M, Habicht JP (1996) Anthropometric reference data for international use: Recommendations from a World Health Organization Expert Committee. Am J Clin Nutr 64:650-658

de Onis M, Lobstein T (2010) Defining obesity risk status in the general childhood population: Which cut-offs should we use? Int J Pediatr Obesity 5: 458-460

de Onis M, Onyango AW, Borghi E, Siyam A et al (2007) Development of WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. Bulletin of the WHO 85:660-667

de Ridder CM, de Boer RW, Seidell JC et al (1992) Body fat distribution in pubertal grils quantified by magnetic resonance imaging. Int J Obes 16:443-449

Dehghan M, Merchant AT (2008) Is bioelectrical impedance accurate for use in large epidemiological studies? Nutr J 7:26-32

Demerath EW, Reed D, Choh AC et al (2009) Rapid postnatal weight gain and visceral adiposity in adulthood: the Fels longitudinal study. Obesity 17:2060- 2066

Demerath EW, Schubert CM, Maynard LM, Sun SS, et al (2006) Do changes in body mass index percentile reflect changes in body composition in children? Data from the Fels Longitudinal Study. Pediatr 117:487-495

Dempster P, Aitkens S (1995) A new air displacement method for the determination of human body composition. Med Sci in Sports & Exer 27:1692-1697

Department of Health (2007) About diabetes. Available at: http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Healthcare/NationalServiceFrameworks/Diabetes/DH_074762 (Accessed: 22/02/10) Department of Health (2006) Turning the corner improving diabetes care. Available at: http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/ DH 41 (Accessed: 22/10/10)

Department of Health and Department of Children, Schools and Families - Cross-Government Obesity Unit (2008) Healthy weight, healthy lives: a cross-government strategy for England. Available at: www.dh.gov.uk/publications (Accessed: 15/03/10)

Deurenberg P, Deurenberg-Yap M, Schouten FJM (2002) Validity of total and segmental impedance measurements for prediction of body composition across ethnic population groups. Eu J Clin Nutr 56:214-220

Deurenberg-Yap M, Schmidt G, van Staveren WA et al (2001) Body fat measurement among Singaporean Chinese, Malays and Indians: a comparative study using a four-compartment model and different two-compartment models. Br J Nutr 85:491-498

Diabetes UK (2010) Diabetes in the UK 2010: key statistics on diabetes. Available at: <u>http://www.diabetes.org.uk/Professional/Publications-reports-and</u>-resources (Accessed: 23/10/10)

Dietz WH, Marino B, Peacock NR et al (1989) Nutritional status of Efe pygmies and Lese horticulturalists. Am J Phys Anthropol 78:509-518

Dixon CB, Andreacci JL (2011) Effect of mode selection when using contact-electrode bioelectrical impedance analysers to estimate percentage body fat in young adults. J Sports Med Phys Fitness 51:241-248

Donin AS, Nightingales CM, Owen CG et al (2010) Ethnic differences in blood lipids and dietary intake between UK children of black African, black Caribbean, South Asian, and white European origin: the child heart and health study in England (CHASE). Am J Clin Nutr 92:776-783

Drake AJ, Smith A, Betts PR, et al (2002) Type 2 diabetes in obese white children. Arch Dis Child, 86, 207–208

Dulloo AG, Jacquet J, Solinas G, Montani J-P, Schutz Y (2010) Body composition phenotypes in pathways to obesity and the metabolic syndrome. Int J of Obesity 34: S4-S17

Edelman IS, Olney JM, James AH et al (1952) Body composition: studies in the human being by the dilution principle. Science 115:447-454

Ehtisham S, Barrett TG, Shaw NJ (2000) Type 2 diabetes mellitus in UK children an emerging problem. Diabetic Medicine 17:867–871

Ehtisham S, Crabtree N, Clark P, Shaw N, et al (2005) Ethnic differences in insulin resistance and body composition in United Kingdom adolescents. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90:3963-3969

Ehtisham S, Hattersley AT, Dunger DB, Barrett TG (2004) First UK survey of paediatric type 2 diabetes and MODY. Arch Dis Child 89:526-529

Eissa MA, Dai S, Mihalopoulos NL, Day RS et al (2009) Trajectories of fat mass index, fat free-mass index, and waist circumference in children: Project Heartbeat. Am J Prev Med 37 (Suppl 1): S34-S39

Ellis KJ (2000) Human body composition: in vivo methods. Physiol Reviews 80:649-680

Ellis KJ (2001) Selected body composition methods can be used in field studies. J of Nutr 131:1589s-1595s Ellis KJ (2005) Whole-body counting and neutron activation analysis in Heymsfield SB, Lohman TG, Wang Z, Going SB (eds.) Human body composition. 2nd edn. Europe: Human Kinetics, 51-62

Ellis KJ, Shypailo RJ, Pratt JA et al (1994) Accuracy of dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry for bodycomposition measurements in children. Am J Clin Nutr 60:660-665

Erens B, Primatesta P, Prior G (2001) Health survey for England: The health of minority ethnic groups' 99. London: The Stationery Office

Eveleth PB, Tanner JM (1990) Worldwide Variation in Human Growth. 2nd edn. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK.

Fernandez JR, Redden DT, Pietrobelli A, Allison DB (2004) Waist circumference percentiles in nationally representative samples of African-American, European-American, and Mexican-American children and adolescents. J Pediatr 145: 439–444

Field A (2012) Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics 4th edn. London, UK: Sage

Flodmark CE, Sveger T, Nilsson-Ehle P (1994) Waist measurement correlates to a potentially atherogenic lipoprotein profile in obese 12–14-year-old children. Acta Paediatr 83:941–945

Forbes GB, Gallup J, Hursh J (1961) Estimation of total body fat from potassium-40 content. Science 133:101-102

Forbes GB, Lewis A (1956) Total sodium and potassium chloride in adult man. J Clin Invest 35:596-600

Forbes RM, Cooper AR, Mitchell AH (1953) The composition of the adult human body as determined by chemical analysis. J Biol Chem 203: 359-366

Forbes RM, Mitchell AH, Cooper AR (1956) Further studies on the gross composition and mineral elements of the adult human body. J Biol Chem 223: 969-975

Formon SJ, Haschke F, Ziegler EE et al (1982) Body composition of reference children from birth to age 10 years. Am J Clin Nutr 35(suppl):1169-1175

Forsen T, Eriksson J, Qiao Q, et al (2000) Short stature and coronary heart disease: a 35-year followup of the Finnish cohorts of The Sven Countries Study. J Int Med 248:326-32

Foster KR, Lukaski HC (1996) Whole-body impedance – what does it measure? Am J Clin Nutr 64:388S-396S

Fox CS, Massaro JM, Hoffman U, Karla M et al (2007) Abdominal visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue compartments – association with metabolic risk factors in the Framingham heart study. Circualtion 116:39-48

Fox K, Peters D, Armstrong M et al (1993) Abdominal fat deposition in 11-year-old children. Int J Obes 17:11-16

Franks PW, Looker HC, Kobes S, Touger L et al (2006) Gestational glucose tolerance and risk of type 2 diabetes in young Pima Indian offspring. Diabetes 55:460-465

Fredriks AM, van Buuren S, Burgmeijer RJ et al (2000) Continuing positive secular growth change in the Netherlands. Pediatr Res 47:316-323

Freedman DS, Khan LK, Serdula MK et al (2003) The relation of menarcheal age to obesity in childhood and adulthood: the Bogalusa heart study. BMC Pediatr 3:3

Freedman DS, Khan LK, Serdula MK et al (2004) Inter-relationships among childhood BMI, childhood height, and adult obesity: the Bogalusa heart study. Int J Obes 28:10-16

Freedman DS, Serdula MK, Srinivasan SR et al (1999) Relation of circumferences and skinfold thicknesses to lipid and insulin concentrations in children and adolescents: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Am J Clin Nutr 69:308–317

Freeman JV, Cole TJ, Chinn S, Jones PR et al (1995) Cross sectional stature and weight reference curves for the UK, 1990. Arch Dis Child 73:17-24

Friedl KE, DeLuca JP, Marchitelli LJ, Vogel JA (1992) Reliability of body-fat estimations from a fourcompartment model by using density, body water, and bone mineral measurements. Am J Clin Nutr 55: 764-770

Friedl KE, Moore RJ, Martinez-Lopez LE et al (1994) Lower limit of body fat in healthy active men. J Appl Physiol 77:993-940

Frisard MI, Greenway FL, Delany JP (2005) Comparison of methods to assess body composition during a period of weight loss. Obes Res 13:845-854

Frisch RE (1987) Body fat, menarche, fitness and fertility. Hum Reprod 2:521-533

Frisch RE, Revelle R (1970) Height and weight at menarche and a hypothesis of critical body weights and adolescent events. Science 169:397-399

Fuller NJ, Jebb SA, Laskey MA, Coward WA (1992) Four compartment model for the assessment of body composition in humans: comparison with alternative methods, and evaluation of the density and hydration of fat-free mass. Clin Sci 82: 687-693

Fuller NJ, Fewtrell MS, Dewit O, Elia M, et al. (2002) Segmental bioelectrical impedance analysis in children aged 8-12y: 2. The assessment of regional body composition and muscle mass. Int J Obes 26:692-700

Gatineau M, Mathrani S (2011) Obesity and Ethnicity. Oxford: National Obesity Observatory. Available at: <u>http://www.noo.org.uk/NOO pub/briefing papers</u> (Accessed: 6/02/12)

Genton L, Hans D, Kyle UG et al (2002) Dual energy x-ray absorptiometry and body composition: differences between devices and comparison with reference methods. Nutrition 18:66-70

Gholap NN, Patel KCR, Davies MJ et al (2009) Cardiovascular, peripheral vascular disease in Khunti K, Kumar S (eds.) Diabetes UK and South Asian Health Foundation recommendations on research priorities for British South Asians. London, UK: Diabetes UK

Gholap N, Davies M, Patel K et al (2011) Type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease in South Asians. Primary Care Diabetes 5:45-56

Going SB (2005) Hydrodensitometry and air displacement plethysmography in Heymsfield SB, Lohman TG, Wang Z, Going SB (eds.) Human body composition. 2nd edn. Europe: Human Kinetics, 17-33

Going S, Nichols J, Stewart MLD, Lohman T, et al (2006) Validation of bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) for estimation of body composition in black, white and Hispanic adolescent girls. Int J Body Compos Res 4:161-167

Goodman E (1999) The role of socioeconomic status gradients in explaining differences in US adolescents' health. Am J Pub Health 89:1522-1528

Goodpaster BH (2002) Measuring body fat distribution and content in humans. Current Opinion in Clin Nutr & Metab Care 5:481-487

Gordon-Larsen P, Adair LS, Popkin BM (2003) The relationship of ethnicity, socioeconomic factors, and overweight in US Adolescents. Obes Res 11:121-129

Gray LJ, Yates T, Davies MJ, Brady E, et al (2011) Defining obesity cut-off points for migrant South Asians. PLoS ONE 6:1-7

Guerrero-Igea FJ, Lepe-Jimenez JA, Garrido-Serrano A, et al (2001) Association among hyperinsulinemia, family history of diabetes, and diminutive stature in normoglycemic premenopausal women (Letter). Diabetes Care 24:602-603

Gunnell D, Whitely E, Upton MN et al (2003) Association of height, leg length, and lung function with cardiovascular risk factors in the midspan family study. J Epdemiol Comm Health 57:141-146

Guo SS, Chumlea WC, Roche AF et al (1997) Age- and maturity-related changes in body composition during adolescence into adulthood: The Fels longitudinal study. Int J Obes 21:1167-1175

Gupta R, Deedwania PC, Gupta A et al (2004) Prevalence of metabolic syndrome in an Indian urban population. Int J Cardiol 97:257–261

Haas JD, Campirano F (2006) Interpopulation variation in height among children 7 to 18 years of age Food Nutr Bul 27:212-223

Haines L, Wan KC, Lynn R et al (2007) Rising incidence of type 2 diabetes in children in the UK. Diabetes Care 30:1097-1101

Hales CN, Barker DJP (2001) The thrifty phenotype hypothesis. Br Med Bul 60:5-20

Hall LML, Sattar N, Gill JMR (2008) Risk of metabolic and vascular disease in South Asians: potential mechanisms for increased insulin resistance. Future Lipidol 3:411–424

Hamill PVV, Dridzd T, Johnson CI et al. (1979) Physical growth: national center for health statistics percentiles. Am J Clin Nutr 32:607-629

Hamill PVV, Johnston FE, Lemshow S (1973) Body weight, stature, and sitting height: white and Negro youths 12-17 years, Unites States. DHEW publication no. (HRA) 74-1608. Washington DC: US Government Printing Office

Haroun D, Taylor SJC, Viner RM, Hayward RS, Darch TS, Eaton S, et al (2010) Validation of bioelectrical impedance analysis in adolescents across different ethnic groups. Obesity 18:1252-1259

Hauspie RC, Vercauteren M, Susanne C (1996) Secular changes in growth. Horm Res 45:8-17

Hayes DK, Lukacs SL, Schoendorf KC (2008) Heterogeneity within Asian sub-groups: a comparison of birthweight between infants of US and non-US born Asian Indian and Chinese mothers. Matern Child Health J 12:549-560

Helba M, Binkovitz LA (2009) Pediatric body composition analysis with dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry. Pediatr Radiol 39:647-656

Heymsfield SB, Smith R, Aulet M et al (1990) Appendicular skeletal muscle mass: measurement by dual-photon absorptiometry. Am J Clin Nutr 52:214-218

Heymsfield SB, Wang J, Heshka S et al (1989) Dual-photon absorptiometry: comparison of bone mineral and soft tissue mass measurements in vivo with established methods. Am J Clin Nutr 49:1283

Heyward VH, Wagner DR (2004) Applied body composition assessment. 2nd edn. Champaign IL: Human Kinetics
Himes JH (2009) Challenges of accurately measuring and using BMI and other indicators of obesity in children. Pediatri 124: S3-S22

Himes JH, Roche AF (1986) Subcutaneous fatness and stature: relationship from infancy to childhood. Hum Biol 58:737-750.

Hoffer EC, Cliton KM, Simpson DC (1969) Correlation of whole-body impedance and total body volume. J Appl Physiol 27:531-534

Hosking J, Metcalf BS, Jeffery AN, Voss LD et al (2006) Validation of foot-to-foot bioelectrical impedance analysis with dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry in the assessment of body composition in young childre: the EarlyBird cohort. Br J Nutr 96:1163-1168

Hunter GR, Kekes-Szabo T, Snyder SW, Nicholson C, et al (1997) Fat distribution, physical activity, and cardiovascular risk factors. Med Sci Sports Exerc 29:362–369

International Diabetes Federation (2006) The IDF consensus worldwide definition of the metabolic syndrome. Belgium: IDF Communications

International Diabetes Federation (2007) The IDF consensus definition of the metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents. Belgium: IDF Communications

Jebb SA, Cole TJ, Doman D et al (2000) Evaluation of the novel Tanita body-fat analyser to measure body composition by comparison with a four-compartment model. Br J Nutr 83:115-122

Jebb SA, Goldberg GR, Elia M (1993) DXA measurements of fat and bone mineral density in relation to depth and adiposity. Basic Life SCI 60:115-119

Jensky-Squires NE, Dieli-Conwright CM, Rossuello A, Erceg DN, et al (2008) Validity and reliability of body composition analysers in children and adults. Br J Nutr 100:859-865

Kehoe SH, Krishnaveni GV, Lubree HG, Wills AK, et al (2011) Prediction of body-fat percentage from skinfold and bio-impedance measurements in Indian school children. Eur J Clin Nutr 65:1263-1270

Kelly AM, Shaw NJ, Thomas AMC et al (1997) Growth of Pakistani children in relation to the 1990 growth standards. Arch Dis Child 77:401-405

Kelly TL, Berger N, Richardson TL (1998) DXA body composition: theory and practice. Appl Radiat 49:511-513

Khan AI, Hawkesworth S, Hawlader MDH et al (2012) Body composition of Bangladeshi children: comparison and development of leg-to-leg bioelectrical impedance equation. J Health Popul Nutr 30:281-290

Kim TN, Parks MS, Dewit O et al (2011) Skeletal muscle mass to visceral fat area ratio is associated with metabolic syndrome and arterial stiffness; the Korean sarcopenic obesity study (KSOS). Diabetes Res Clin Pract 93:285-291

Komlos J, Breitfelder A (2008) Differences in the physical growth of US-born black and white children and adolescents ages 2-19, born 1942-2002. Ann Hum Biol 35:11-21

Korth O, Bosy-Westphal A, Zschoche P, Gluer CC, et al (2007) Influence of methods used in body composition analysis on the prediction of resting energy expenditure. Eur J Clin Nutr 61:582-589

Kriemler S, Puder J, Zahner L, Roth R, et al (2009) Cross-validation of bioelectrical impedance analysis for the assessment of body composition in a representative sample of 6- to 13-year-old children. Eur J Clin Nutr 63:619-626

Krishnaveni GV, Hill JC, Veena SD et al (2005) Truncal adiposity is present at birth and in early childhood in south Indian children. Ind Pediatr 42:527-538

Krogman WM (1970) Growth of the head, face, trunk, and limbs in Philadelphia white and Negro children of elementary and high school age. Monog Soc Res Child Develop 20:1-91

Kuczmarski RJ, Ogden CL, Guo SS, Grummer-Strawn LM, et al (2002) 2000 CDC growth charts for the United States: Methods and development. Vital Health Stat Series 11 no. 246:1-190. US: National Center for Health Statistics. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/growthcharts/ (Accessed: 6/02/11)

Kyle UG, Bosaeus I, De Lorenzo AD et al (2004) Bioelectrical impedance analysis-part 1: review of principles and methods. Clin Nutr 23: 1226-1243

Lands LC, Hornby L, Hohenkerk JM et al (1996) Accuracy of measurements of small changes in soft tissue mass by use of dual energy x-ray absorptiometry. Clin Invet Med 19:279-285

Laskey MA, Lyttle KD, Flaxman ME et al (1992) The influence of tissue depth and composition on the performance of the Lunar dual-energy x-ray absorptiometer whole-body scanning mode. Eur J Clin Nutr 46:39-45

Laskey MA (1996) Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry and body composition. Nutrition 12:45-51

Lawlor DA, Ebrahim S, Davey SG (2002) The association between components of adult height and type II diabetes and insulin resistance: British women's heart and health study. Diabetologia 45:1097-1106

Lazarus R, Baur L, Webb K et al (1996) Adiposity and body mass indices as measures of relative adiposity. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 20:406-412

Lazzer S, Boirie Y, Meyer M et al (2003) Evaluation of two foot-to-foot bioelectrical impedance analysers to assess body composition in overweight and obese adolescents. Br J Nutr 90:987-992

Lear SA, Kohli S, Bondy GP, Tchernof A et al (2009) Ethnic variation in fat and lean body mass and the association with insulin resistance. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:4696-4702

Lee SY, Gallagher D (2008) Assessment methods in human body composition. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 11: 566-572

Leon DA, Moser K (2010) Low birth weight persists in South Asian babies born in England & Wales regardless of maternal country of birth. Slow pace of acculturation, physiological constraint or both? Analysis of routine data. J Epidemiol Community Health 66:544-551

Lim JS, Hwang JS, Lee JA, Kim DH, et al (2009) Cross-calibration of multi-frequency bioelectrical impedance analysis with eight-point tactile electrodes and dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry for assessment of body composition in healthy children aged 6-18 years. Pedia Int 51:263-268

Liu A, Byrne NM, Kagawa M, Ma G, et al (2011) Ethnic differences in body fat distribution among Asian pre-pubertal children: A cross-sectional multicenter study. BMC Pub Health 11: 1-7

Liu LL, Yi JP, Beyer J, Mayer-Davis EJ, et al (2009) Type 1 and type 2 diabetes in Asian and Pacific Islander U.S. youth: the SEARCH for diabetes in youth study. Diabetes Care 32 Suppl 2:S133–S140

Lohman TG (1986) Applicability of body composition techniques and constants for children and youth in Pandolf KB (ed.) Exercise and sports sciences reviews. NY: Macmillan, 325-357

Lohman TG (1989) Assessment of body composition in children. Pediatr Exerc Sci 1:19-30

Lohman TG, Chen Z (2005) Dual-Energy X-ray absorptiometry in Heymsfield SB, Lohman TG, Wang Z, Going SB (eds.) Human body composition. 2nd edn. Europe: Human Kinetics, 63-77

Lohman TG, Going SB (2006) Body composition assessment for the development of an international growth standard for preadolescent and adolescent children. Food & Nutr Bul 27: S314-325

Lohman TG, Harris M, Teixeira PJ, Weiss L (2000) Assessing body composition and changes in body composition – Another look at dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry. Ann NY Acad Sci 904:45-54

Lohman TG, Houtkooper L, Going SB (1997) Body fat measurement goes high-tech: Not all are created equal. ACSM's Health & Fitness J 1:30-35

Lukaski HC (2013) Review – Evolution of bioimpedance: a circuitous journey from estimation of physiological function to assessment of body composition and a return to clinical research. Eur J Clin Nutr 67: S2-S9

Lukaski HC, Johnson PE, Bolonchuk WW, Lykken GI (1985) Assessment of fat-free mass using bioelectrical impedance measurements of the human body. Am J Clin Nutr 41:810-817

Luke A (2009) Ethnicity and the BMI – body fat relationship: invited commentary. Br J Nutr 102: 485-487

Manco M, Bedogni G, Marcellini M et al (2008) Waist circumference correlates with liver fibrosis in children with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. Gut 57:1283–1287

Malina RM (2005) Variation in body composition associated with sex and ethnicity in Heymsfield SB, Lohman TG, Wang Z, Going SB (eds.) Human body composition. 2nd edn. Europe: Human Kinetics, 271-298

Magnhild L, Kolsgaard P, Andersen, LF, Tonstad S et al (2008) Ethnic differences in metabolic syndrome among overweight and obese children and adolescents: the Oslo Adiposity Intervention Study. Acta Paeditrica 97:1557-1563

Margetts BM, Yusof SM, Al Dallal Z et al (2002) Persistence of low birth weight in second generation South Asian babies born in the United Kingdom. J Epidemiol Community Health 56:684-687

Marguiles L, Horlick H, Thornton JC et al (2005) Reproducibility of pediatric whole body bone and body composition measures by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry using the GE Lunar Prodigy. J Clin Densitom 8:298-304

Martin AD, Lindsay Carter JE, Hendy KC et al (1988) Segment lengths in Lohman TG, Roche AF, Martorell R (eds.) Anthropometric standardization reference manual. Champaign IL: Human Kinetics, 9-26

Martin RM, Smith GD, Mangtani P et al (2002) Association between breast feeding and growth: the Boyd-Orr cohort study. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 87:F193-F201

Matiegka J (1921) The testing of physical efficiency. Am J Phys Anthropol 4:223-230

Mazzess RB, Barden HS, Bisek JP, Hanson J (1990) Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry for total-body and regional bone-mineral and soft-tissue composition. Am J Clin Nutr 51:1106-1112

McArdle DW, Katch FI, Katch VL (2007) Exercise physiology - energy, nutrition, & human performance. 6th edn. US: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins

McCarthy HD (2014) Conference on 'Childhood nutrition and obesity: current status and future challenges' - Symposium 2: Data collection Measuring growth and obesity across childhood and adolescence. Proc Nutr Soc 73:210-217

McCarthy HD, Cole TJ, Fry T, Jebb SA, Prentice AM (2006) Body fat reference curves for children. Int J Obesity 30:598-602.

McCarthy HD, Ellis SM, Cole TJ (2003) Central overweight and obesity in British youth aged 11-16 years: cross sectional surveys of waist circumference. BMJ 326:1-4

McCarthy HD, Jarrett KV, Crawley HF (2001) The development of waist circumference percentiles in British children aged 5.0-16.9y. Eu J Clin Nutr 55: 902-907

McCarthy HD, Samani-Radia D, Jebb SA et al (2014) Skeletal muscle mass reference curves for children and adolescents. Pediatr Obes 9:249-259

McCrory MA, Gomez TD, Bernauer EM et al (1995) Evaluation of a new air displacement plethysmograph for measuring human body composition. Med Sci Sports Exerc 27:1686-1691

Mehta S (2002) Relationship between measures of fatness, lipids, and ethnicity in a cohort of adolescent boys. Ann Nutr Metab 46:192-199

Metzger BE, Lowe LP, Dyer AR et al (2008) Hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcomes. N Engl J Med 358:1991-2002

Meyer KA, Friend S, Hannan PJ, Himes JH, et al (2011) Ethnic variation in body composition assessment in a sample of adolescent girls. Int J Pediatr Obes 6: 481-490

Mialich MS, Sicchieri JMF, Junior AAJ (2014) Analysis of body composition: a critical review of the use of bioelectrical impedance analysis. Int J Clin Nutr 2:1-10

Miller WJ, Sherman WM, Ivy JL (1984) Effect of strength training and post-glucose insulin response. Med Sci Sports Exerc 16:539-543

Misra A, Chowbey P, Makkar BM et al (2009) Consensus statement for diagnosis of obesity, abdominal obesity and the metabolic syndrome for Asian Indians and recommendations for physical activity, medical and surgical

Management: review article. JAPI 57:163-170

Misra A, Khurana L, Vikram NK et al (2007) Metabolic syndrome in children: current issues and South Asian perspective. Nutrition 23: 895:910

Misra A, Wasir JS, Vikram NK (2003) Waist circumference criteria for the diagnosis of abdominal obesity are not applicable uniformly to all populations and ethnic groups. Nutrition 21:969-976

Mitsui T, Shimaoka K, Tsuzuku S et al (2006) Accuracy of body fat assessment by bioelectrical impedance in Japanese middle-aged and older people. J Nutr Vitaminol (Tokyo) 52:154-156

Montagnese C, Williams JE, Haroun D, Siervo M, et al (2013) Is a single bioelectrical impedance equation valid for children of wide ranges of age, pubertal status and nutritional status? Evidence from the 4-component model. Eur J Clin Nutr 67, S34-S39

Moreno LA, Sarria A, Fleta J, Rodriguez G, Bueno M (2000) Trends in body mass index and overweight prevalence among children and adolescents in the region of Aragon (Spain) from 1985 to 1995. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 24:925 -931

Moses RG, Mackay MT (2004) Gestational diabetes: is there a relationship between leg length and glucose tolerance? Diabetes Care 27:1033-1035

Mueller WH, Martorell R (1988) Reliability and accuracy of measurement in Lohman TG, Roche AF, Martorell R (eds.) Anthropometric standardization reference manual. Champaign IL: Human Kinetics, 83-86

Murasko JE (2009) Socioeconomic status, height, and obesity in children. Econom and Hum Biol 7:376-386

Muthaya S, Dwarkanath P, Thomas T et al (2006). Anthropometry and body composition of south Indian babies at birth. Public Health Nutr 9:896-903

Nakao T, Komiya S (2003) Reference norms for a fat-free mass index and fat mass index in the Japanese child population. J Physiol Anthropol Appl Human Sci 22:293-298

NAO (2001) Tackling obesity in England. London: The Stationery Office Available at: <u>http://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2001/02/0001220.pdf</u> (Accessed: 14/3/2010)

Nawarycz LO, Krzyzaniak A, Stawin'ska-Witoszyn'ska B et al (2010) Percentile distributions of waist circumference for 7–19-year-old Polish children and adolescents. Obes Rev 11: 281–288

Neel JV (1962) Diabetes mellitus: a "thrifty" genotype rendered detrimental by progress? Am J Hum Genet 14:353–362

Nelson ME, Fiatrone MA, Layne JE et al (1996) Analysis of body-composition techniques and models for detecting change in soft tissue with strength training. Am J Clin Nutr 63:678-686

NHANES III (1988) Body measurements (anthropometry). Rockville, MD, USA: Westat, Inc.

NHS Information Centre for health and social care (2010) Statistics on obesity, physical activity and diet: England, 2010. Available at: <u>http://www.ic.nhs.uk</u> (Accessed: 24/4/10)

NHS Information Centre for health and social care (2011) Statistics on obesity, physical activity and diet: England, 2011. Available at: <u>http://www.ic.nhs.uk</u> (Accessed: 15/6/11)

NHS Information Centre, Lifestyles Statistics (2009) Statistics on obesity, physical activity and diet: England, 2009. Available at: http://www.ic.nhs.uk (Accessed: 18/11/09)

NHS Information Centre, Lifestyles Statistics (2010) Statistics on obesity, physical activity and diet: England, 2010. Available at: http://www.ic.nhs.uk (Accessed: 6/10/10)

NICE (2013) Assessing body mass index and waist circumference thresholds for intervening to prevent ill health and premature death among adults from black, Asian and other minority ethnic groups in the UK. NICE public health guidance 46. Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph46 (Accessed: 19/09/13)

NICE (2012) Type 2 diabetes: prevention in people at high risk. Available at: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph38/chapter/2-public-health-need-and-practice</u> (Accessed: 10/4/16)

NICE (2006) Obesity: the prevention, identification, assessment and management of overweight and obesity in adults and children: December 2006. Available at: http:// <u>www.nice.org.uk/guidance</u> (Accessed: 28/01/10)

Nightingale CM, Rudnicka AR, Owen CG, Cook DG et al (2011) Patterns of body size and adiposity among UK children of South Asian, black African-Caribbean and white European origin: child heart and health study in England (CHASE study). Int J Epidemiol 40:33-44

Nishida C, Ko GT, Kumanyika (2010) Review Body fat distribution and noncommunicable diseases in populations: overview of the 2008 WHO expert consultation on waist circumference and waist-hip ratio. Eu J Clin Nutr 64:2-5

Njeh CF, Samar SB, Nightingale A et al (1997) Radiation dose and in vitro precision in paediatric bone mineral density measurement using dual x-ray absorptiometry. Br J Radiol 70:719-727

Nyboer J (1970) Electrical impedance plethysmography. 2nd edn. Springfield IL: CC Thomas

Oshima Y, Shiga T, Namba H, Kuno S (2010) Estimation of whole-body skeletal muscle mass by bioelectrical impedance analysis in the standing position. Obes Res Clin Pract 4: e1-e7

Owen CG, Nightingale CM, Rudnicka AR et al (2009) Ethnic and gender differences in physical activity levels among 9-10-year-old children of white European, South Asian and African-Caribbean origin: the child heart and health study in England (CHASE study). Int J Epidemiol 38:1082-1093

Owens S, Litaker M, Allison J et al (1999) Prediction of visceral adipose tissue from simple anthropometric measurements in youths with obesity. Obes Res 7:16-22

Pace N, Rathbun EN (1945) Studies on body composition. III. The body water and chemically combined nitrogen content in relation to fat content. J Biol Chem 158:685-691

Pallant J (2013) SPSS survival guide 5th edn. England, UK: McGraw-Hill

Pandey RM, Madhavan M, Misra A, Kalaivani M, et al (2009) Centiles of anthropometric measures of adiposity for 14- to 18-year-old urban Asian Indian adolescents. Metab synd & relat dis 7:133-142

Parker L, Reilly JJ, Slater C et al (2003) Validity of six field and laboratory methods for measurement of body composition in males. Obes Res 11:852-858

Pateyjohns IR, Brinkworth GD, Buckley JD, Noakes M, et al (2006) Comparison of three bioelectrical impedance methods with DXA in overweight and obese men 14:2064-2070

Pietrobelli A, Formica C, Wang Z, Heymsfield SB (1996) Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry body composition model – Review of physical concepts. J Physiol 271: E941-E951

Pietrobelli A, Rubiano F, Wang J et al (2005) Validation of contact electrode bioimpedance analysis in a pediatric population. Eur Congress Obes (Athens) (abstract in press)

Pietrobelli A, Wang Z, Formica C et al (1998a) Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry: fat estimation errors due to variation in soft tissue hydration. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 274: E808-E816

Pietrobelli A, Morini P, Chiumello G, Nunez C et al (1998b) Appendicular skeletal muscle mass: prediction from multiple frequency segmental bioimpedance analysis. Eur J Clin Nutr 52, 507-511

Pietrobelli A, Rubiano F, St-Onge M-P, Heymsfield SB (2004) New bioimpedance analysis system: improved phenotyping with whole-body analysis. Eur J Clin Nutr 58:1479-1484

Plank LD, (2005) Dual energy X-ray absorptiometry and body composition. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 8:305-309

Pliakas T, McCarthy HD (2010) Association of leg length with overweight and obesity in children aged 5-15 years: A cross-sectional study. Ann Hum Biol 37:10-22

Poh BK, Jannah AN, Chong LK et al (2011) Waist circumference percentile curves for Malaysian children aged 6–16y. Int J Pediatr Obes 6:229–235

Prins M, Hawkesworth S, Wright A et al (2008) Use of bioelectrical impedance analysis to assess body composition in rural Gambian children. Eur J Clin Nutr 62:1065-1074

Public Health England (2016) UK. Available at:

https://www.noo.org.uk/NOO about obesity/adult obesity/UK prevalence and trends & https://www.noo.org.uk/NOO_about_obesity/child_obesity (Accessed: 20/3/16)

Radia D (2010) Characterization of body composition in children in the UK. PhD thesis: London Metropolitan University

Roche AF, Heymsfield SB, Lohman TG (1996) Human body composition. Champaign IL: Human Kinetics

Roebuck JA, Kroemer KHE, Thomson WG (1975) Engineering anthropometry methods. New York: Wiley

Roemmich JN, Clark PA, Weltman A, Rogol AD (1997) Alterations in growth and body composition during puberty. I. Comparing multicompartment body composition models. J Appl Physiol 83:927-935

Rolland-Cachera MF, Deheeger M, Bellisle F, Sempe M, et al (1984) Adiposity rebound in children: a simple indicator for predicting obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 39: 129-35

Rona RJ, Chinn S (1986) National study of health and growth: social and biological factors associated with height of children from ethnic groups living in England. Ann Hum Biol 13: 453:471

Rona RJ, Chinn S (1987) National study of health and growth: social and biological factors associated with weight for height and triceps skinfold of children from ethnic groups living in England. Ann Hum Biol 14: 231:248

Ross R, Janssen I (2005) in Heymsfield SB, Lohman TG, Wang Z, Going SB (eds.) Human body composition. 2nd edn. Europe: Human Kinetics, 89-108

Ruff C (2002) Variation in human body size and shape. Ann Rev Anthropol 31:211-232

Rush EC (2004) Body size, body composition, and fat distribution: a comparison of young New Zealand men of European, Pacific Island, and Asian Indian ethnicities. N Z Med J 117:1207

Rush EC, Chandu V, Plank LD (2006) Prediction of fat-free mass by bioimpedance analysis in migrant Asian Indian men and women: a cross validation study. Int J Obes 30:1125-1131

Rush EC, Freitas I, Plank D (2009) Body size, body composition and fat distribution: comparative analysis of European, Maori, Pacific Island and Asian Indian adults. British J Nutr 102:632-641

Sarkar R, Misra A, Saxena R, Pandey RM, Chaudhary D (2001) Plasma plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 activity in normo-glycemic hypertriglyceridemic north Asian Indian subjects: A preliminary case-control study. Indian Heart J 53:61–65

Saxena S, Ambler G, Cole TJ, Majeed A (2004) Ethnic group differences in overweight and obese children and young people in England: cross sectional survey. Arch Dis Child 89:30-36

Scafoglieri A, Provyn S, Wallace J et al (2011) Whole body composition by Hologic QDR 4500/A DXA: system reliability versus user accuracy and precision. Available at: http://www.intechopen.com (Accessed 10/9/11)

Schoeller DA (2005) Hydrometry in Heymsfield SB, Lohman TG, Wang Z, Going SB (eds.) Human body composition. 2nd edn. Europe: Human Kinetics, 63-77

Schwandt P, Bertsch T, Haas G-M (2010) Anthropometric screening for silent cardiovascular risk factors in adolescents: The PEP Family Heart Study

Seidell JC, Perusse L, Despres J-P et al (2001) Waist and hip circumferences have independent and opposite effects on cardiovascular disease risk factors: the Quebec family study. Am J Clin Nutr 74:315-321

Shaw NJ, Crabtree NJ, Kibirige MS, Fordham JN (2007) Ethnic and gender differences in body fat in British schoolchildren as measured by DXA. Arch Dis Child 92: 872-875

Shen W, Punyanitya M, Chen J, et al (2006) Waist circumference correlates with metabolic syndrome indicators better than percentage fat. Obesity 14:727-736

Siri WE (1956) The gross composition of the body in Tobias CA, Lawrence JH (eds.) Advances in biological and medical physics. New York: Academic Press, 239-280

Siri WE (1961) Body composition from fluid spaces and density: analysis of methods in Brozek J, Henschel A (eds.) Techniques for measuring body composition. Washington DC: National Academy of Sciences, 223-244

Sluyter JD, Schaaf D, Scragg RKR et al (2010) Prediction of fatness by standing 8-electrode bioimpedance: a multiethnic adolescent population. Obesity 18:183-189

Smith GD, Greenwood R, Gunnell D et al (2001) Leg length, insulin resistance, and coronary heart disease risk: the Caerphilly Study. J Epdemiol Community Health 55:867-872

Sniderman AD, Bhopal R, Prabhakaran D et al (2007) Why might South Asians be so susceptible to central obesity and its atherogenic consequences? The adipose tissue overflow hypothesis. Int J Epidemiol 36:220-225

Sproston K, Mindell JE (2006) Health survey for England 2004. The health of minority ethnic groups. London: Information Centre

Stanfield KM, Wells JC, Fewtrell JC, Frost C et al (2012) Differences in body composition between infants of South Asian and European ancestry: the London Mother and Baby Study. Int J Epidemiol 41:1409-1418

Sun SS, Chumlea WC, Heymsfield SB, Lukaski HC, et al (2003) Development of bioelectrical impedance analysis prediction equations for body composition with the use of a multicomponent model for use in epidemiologic surveys. Am J Clin Nutr 77:331-340

Sutcliffe JF (1996) A review of in vivo experimental methods to determine the composition of the human body. Physics in Med & Biol 41:791-833

Svendsen OL, Harbo J, Hassanger C et al (1993) Accuracy of measurement of body composition by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry in vivo. Am J Nutr 57:605-608

Sweeting HN (2007) Measurement and definitions of obesity in childhood and adolescence: a field guide for the uninitiated. Nutr J 6: 1-8

Tan CE, Ma S, Wai D, Chew SK, et al (2004). Can we apply the national cholesterol education program adult treatment panel definition of the metabolic syndrome to Asians? Diabetes Care, 27, 1182–1186.

Tanner JM, Hayashi, T, Preece MA et al (1982) Increase in length of leg relative to trunk in Japanese children and adults from 1957 to 1977: comparison with British and Japanese Americans (1982). Ann Hum Biol 9:411-423

Tanner JM, Whitehouse RH (1978) Growth and development record: sitting height and subischial leg length. Integrated series no 61 & 62. Hertfordshire: Castlemead Publications

Taylor SJ, Viner R, Booy R, Head J, et al (2005) Ethnicity, socio-economic status, overweight and underweight in East London adolescents. Ethnic Health 10:113–128

Taylor RW, Jones IE, Williams SM, Goulding A (2000) Evaluation of waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio and the conicity index as screening tools for high trunk fat mass, as measured by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry, in children aged 3-19 y. Am J Clin Nutr 72:490-495

Testolin CG, Gore R, Rivkin T, Horlick M, et al (2000) Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry: analysis of pediatric fat estimate errors due to tissue hydration effects. J App Physiol 89: 2365-2372

Thomas D (1994) Like father, like son, like daughter: parental resources and child height. J Hum Res 29:950-988

Thomasset A (1962) Bioelectrical properties of tissue impedance measurements. Lyon Medical 207:107-118

Torres LAGMM, Martinez FE, Manco JC (2003) Correlation between standing, sitting height, and arm span as an index of pulmonary function in 6-10-year-old children. Pediatr Pulm 36:202-208

Tothill P, Avenell A, Love J et al (1994) Comparison between Hologic, Lunar and Norland dual-energy x-ray absorptiometers and other techniques used for whole-body soft tissue measurements. Eur J Clin Nutr 48:781-794

Tothill P, Hannan WJ, Wilkinson S (2001) Comparisons between a pencil beam and two fan beam dual energy x-ray absorptiometers used for measuring total body bone and soft tissue. British J Radiol 74:166-176

Troiano RP, Flegal KM (1999) Overweight prevalence among youth in the United States: Why so many different numbers? Int J of Obesity 23: S22-S27

Ulijaszek SJ, Kerr DA (1999) Review article – Anthropometric measurement error and the assessment of nutritional status. B J Nutr 82:165-177

van der Sluis IM, de Ridder MAJ, Boot AM et al (2002) Reference data for bone density and body composition measured with dual energy x-ray absorptiometry in white children and young adults. Arch Dis Child 87:341-347

Van Loan MD, Keim NL, Berg K et al (1995) Evaluation of body composition by dual energy x-ray absorptiometry and two different software packages. Med Sci Sports Exerc 27:587-591

Viner RM, Fry T, Gupta S, Kinra S et al (2010) Insufficient evidence to support separate BMI definitions for obesity in children and adolescents from south Asian ethnic groups in the UK. Int J Obesity 34:656-658

Wadsworth MEJ, Hardy RJ, Paul AA et al (2002) Leg and trunk length at 43 years in relation to childhood health, diet and family circumstances; evidence from the 1946 national birth cohort. Int J Epidemiol 31:383-390

Wang J-G, Zhang Y, Chen H-E, Chen X-G et al (2013) Comparison of two bioelectrical impedance analysis devices with dual energy x-ray absorptiometry and magnetic resonance imaging in the estimation of body composition. J Strength Cond Res 27:236-243

Wang Y (2001) Cross-national comparison of childhood obesity: the epidemic and the relationship between obesity and socioeconomic status. Int J Epidemiol 30:1129-1136

Wang Y, Zhang Q (2006) Are American children and adolescents of low socioeconomic status at increased risk of obesity? Changes in the association between overweight and family income between 1971 and 2002. Am J Clin Nutr 84:707-716

Wang Z, Deurenberg P, Wang W, Pietrobelli A, et al (1999) Hydration of fat-free body mass: review and critique of a classic body-composition constant. Am J Clin Nutr 69: 833-841

Wang Z, Shen W, Withers RT, Heymsfield SB (2005) Multicomponent molecular-level models of body composition analysis in Heymsfield SB, Lohman TG, Wang Z, Going SB (eds.) Human body composition. 2nd edn. Europe: Human Kinetics, 163-176

Ward B, Knapp K (2007) DEXA risk and benefit assessment. Available at: <u>http://www.sshs.exeter.ac.uk</u> (Accessed 21/9/11)

Ward LC (2012) Segmental bioelectrical impedance analysis: an update. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 15:424-429

Wardle J, Brodersen NH, Cole TJ, Jarvis MJ, Boniface DR (2006) Development of adiposity in adolescence: five year longitudinal study of an ethnically and socioeconomically diverse sample of young people in Britain. BMJ doi:10.1136/bmj.38807.594792.AE

Wells JCK (2000) Hattori chart analysis of body mass index in infants and children. Int J Obes 24:325-329

Wells JCK, Fewtrell MS (2006) Review – Measuring body composition. Arch Dis Child 91:612-617

Wells JCK, Fuller NJ, Dewit O, Fewtrell MS, et al (1999) Four-component model of body composition in children: density and hydration of fat-free mass and comparison with simpler models. Am J Clin Nutr 69:904-912

Wells JCK, Williams JE, Chomtho S, Darch T, et al (2010) Pediatric reference data for lean tissue properties: density and hydration from age 5 to 20y. Am J Clin Nutr 91:610-618

Wells JCK, Williams JE, Chomtho S, Darch T, et al (2012) Body-composition reference data for simple and reference techniques and a 4-component model: a new UK reference child. Am J Clin Nutr 96: 1316-1326

West J, Lawlor DA, Fairley L, Bhopal R, et al (2013) UK-born Pakistani-origin infants are relatively more adipose than white British infants: findings from 8704 mother-offspring pairs in the Born-in-Bradford prospective birth cohort. J Epidemiol Comm Health 0:1-8

Wild SH, Fischbacher C, Brock A et al (2007) Mortality form all causes and circulatory disease by country of birth in England and Wales 2001-2003. J Public Health (Oxf) 29:191-198

Whincup PH, Gilg JA, Papacosta O et al (2002) Early evidence of ethnic differences in cardiovascular risk: cross sectional comparison of British South Asian and white children. BMJ 324:1-6

Whincup PH, Nightingale CM, Owen CG, Rudnicka AR et al (2010) Early emergence of ethnic differences in type 2 diabetes precursors in the UK: the child heart and health study in England (CHASE study). PLoS Medicine 7:1-10

Whincup PH, Owen CG, Orfei L, Gibb I, McKay C, Cook DG (2007) Ethnic differences in diabetes and cardiovascular risk factors originate in early life: preliminary results of the Child Heart and Health Study in England (CHASE). J Epidemiol Commun Health 61 Suppl 1: A37

Whitlock G, Lewington S, Sherliker P, Clarke R, et al (2009) Prospective Studies Collaboration. Bodymass index and cause-specific mortality in 900 000 adults: collaborative analyses of 57 prospective studies. Lancet 373: 1083–1096

WHO (1995) Physical status: the use and interpretation of anthropometry: WHO expert consultation. WHO Technical Report Series 854. Geneva: WHO

WHO (2000) Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic: WHO consultation. WHO Technical Report Series 894. Geneva: WHO

WHO (2011) Obesity and overweight: fact sheet N°311. Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/</u> (Accessed: 3/2/11)

WHO (2004) Appropriate body-mass index for Asian populations and its implications for policy and intervention strategies: WHO expert consultation. Lancet 363:157-163

WHO (2006) WHO child growth standards based on length/height, weight and age. Acta Paed Suppl 450:76-85

WHO, UNICEF (2004) Low birthweight: country, regional and global estimates. New York, Geneva: UNICEF, WHO §

Widdowson EM, McCance RS, Spray CM (1951) The chemical composition of the human body. Clin Sci 10: 113-125

Williams J, Wake M, Campbell M (2007) Comparing estimates of body fat in children using published bioelectrical impedance analysis equations. Int J Pediatr Obes 2:174-179

Williams MJ, Hunter GR, Kekes-Szabo T et al (1997) Regional fat distribution in women and risk of cardiovascular disease. Am J Clin Nutr 65:855–860

Yach D, Stuckler D, Brownell KD (2006) Epidemiologic and economic consequences of the global epidemics of obesity and diabetes. Nature Medicine 12: 62-66

Yajnik CS, Lubree H, Rege S, et al (2002) Adiposity and hyperinsulinaemia in Indians are present at birth. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87:5575–5580

Yajnik CS, Yudkin JS (2004) The Y-Y paradox. Lancet 363:163

Zannolli R, Morgese G (1996) Waist percentiles: a simple test for atherogenic disease? Acta Paediatr 85:1368-1369

Zimmet P, Alberti KGMM, Kaufman F et al (2007) Review article – The metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents – an IDF consensus report. Pediatr Diabetes 8:299-306

Appendices

Appendix A: DXA Scan & Radiation Doses

Appendix A1: DXA Norland_XR_800_Whole_Body_Scanner

(Image copied from PDF - www.inmed.com)

Performance:	
Scan Sites:	Whole Body (BMD) with body composition, AP spine, lateral spine hip, and forearm; optional research and small subject.
Scan Time:	5-min. Whole Body, <1.5 minutes AP Spine, <2.0 minutes Hip, <3.0 minutes forearm, <4.0 minutes lateral spine.
Precision:	1.0% - AP spine, 1.2% - hip, 0.8% - forearm, 2.4% - lateral (2 vertebra) whole body BMD-1%.
Accuracy:	1% (based on hydroxyapatite phantom).
Spatial Resolution (Point/ Line):	AP Spine 1.5 mm (1.0 mm selectable) /1.5 mm (1.0 mm selectable), lateral Spine 1.0 mm / 1.0 mm, proximal femur 1.0 mm / 1.0 mm.
Scan Dose (mRems):	<1.0 mRem typical (AP spine, hip, forearm) and <4 mRem typical (Lateral), <0.1 mRem whole body.
Calibration:	Automatic with supplied 77-Step calibration standard & QC phantom.

Performance:

Appendix A2: DXA Radiation Doses

(Image copied from DEXA-risk and benefit-assessment (Ward & Knapp, 2007)

Table 1. Radiation doses from DEAA compared to other activities					
	Effective dose (µSv)				
AP spine*	0.7				
Hip*	0.68				
Total body*	0.5				
Lateral spine*	0.6				
Chest x-ray	20				
Lateral lumbar spine x-ray	700				
Daily background radiation	6 – 20 (depending on location)				
Return transatlantic flight	80				
top luman agent descentions having lasting to	along states along board and do				

Table 1. Radiation doses from DEXA compared to other activities

*GE Lunar scan doses for a typical patient size using standard mode

Table 2. Activities carrying a risk comparable to receiving an effective dose of 10 μSV from a DEXA scan*

Exposure to natural background radiation for 2 days Smoking a cigarette Travelling 30miles by car Travelling 150miles by aeroplane Working in a factory for a week

*The Lunar Prodigy protocol of scanning the femur, AP spine and whole body equates to = 1.88µSv. Indeed, the annual risk of death by natural causes (age 40) is 1 in 700, whilst the risk of death from an effective dose of 2µSv is 1 in 10 million.

Appendix B1: Ethical Approval

Ethics and progress review

Julie Hart <Julie.Hart@londonmet.ac.uk> To: mas1896@my.londonmet.ac.uk

Dear Jabeen

Chris Branford-White has confirmed that you have ethics approval for your project.

We don't yet have a date for the FLS Progress Group but it is likely to take place in December so we will be asking you to submit some work in November.

Best Julie

--Julie Hart Research Office Manager Research & Graduate School

London Metropolitan University Room GC1-12 166-220 Holloway Road London N7 8DB

Email: julie.hart@londonmet.ac.uk Tel: + 44 (0)20 7133 2083 Fax: + 44 (0)20 7133 2417

http://www.londonmet.ac.uk/research http://www.londonmet.ac.uk/enterprise http://www.londonmet.ac.uk/studententerprise http://www.londonmet.ac.uk/accelerator http://www.londonmet.ac.uk/metropolitanworks

--

London Metropolitan University: Transforming Lives, Meeting Needs, Building Careers

This communication is confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, you should not copy or disclose the message to anyone, but should kindly notify the sender and delete the message. Offers made in this email are subject to contract.

Companies Act 2006: http://www.londonmet.ac.uk/companyinfo

Appendix B2: Example of Flyer



South Asian youths wanted for health research project

* We are looking for volunteers to take part in a research study to measure body fat and muscle because they are linked with the risk of diabetes and heart disease in South Asians.

* To be able to take part you need to be aged 5-22 years, in good health and you (or your parents) need to be originally from India, Pakistan or Bangladesh.

* You would need to attend the Science Centre at the university for approximately 1 hour on one occasion only.

* You will find out how much muscle and fat you have in your body and where this is located, as well as contributing to important health research.

* All reasonable travel costs will be refunded and in appreciation of your time, you will receive a JD Sports voucher worth £10.

* The university Science Centre is located at: 29 Hornsey Road, London N7 7DD.

* If you are interested in taking part please complete and return the tear-off reply slip below or contact **Jabeen Shah on 07425-150419** and you will then be provided with a full information pack and consent form.

The main investigator is: Jabeen Shah BSc (Hons) MSc and the research will be conducted under the direction of Dr. David McCarthy (Professor of Nutrition & Health).

This research has been reviewed and ethical clearance has been granted by the Research Ethics Office at London Metropolitan University.

	cut along dotted line	
South Asian Health Resea	ch Project at London Metropolitan University	
Name (print full name)		
Address:		
Tel:	email	

Please return reply slip to: Dr David McCarthy, London Metropolitan University, Tower Building, TB9/2, 166-220 Holloway Road, London N7 8DB

Appendix B3: Sample Letter of Invitation



London Metropolitan University London North Campus 166-220 Holloway Road London N7 8DB

Date: 2011

Letter of invitation

Dear All,

I am a health researcher at London Metropolitan University, and am writing to request permission for you (if aged 16-22 years) or your child (if over 5 years) to take part in an important South Asian health study. South Asians (people originally from Pakistan, India and Bangladesh) have a much higher risk of developing type 2 diabetes and heart disease than white European people. **Our children are 13 times at greater risk of getting type 2** diabetes than white European children, and we are 50% more likely to die of heart disease than white European people (see attached). The underlying causes develop slowly during childhood. My research is to try and understand what physical differences there are between South Asian and white European children and youths, to try and identify what can be done to reduce the risk of getting type 2 diabetes and heart disease, with the aim of protecting and improving the health and well being of future generations.

South Asian volunteers aged 5-22 years are required for my study which has received full ethical approval from London Metropolitan University. This will only involve taking some simple physical measurements including weight, height and waist, and also involve standing barefoot on a special set of scales to measure body muscle and fat. To test the accuracy of the scales used to measure body muscle and fat, some participants, will also be asked to take part in a further very quick and simple measurement using two more advanced methods - the BodPod, and the DXA scanner (full details attached). All the methods used are safe and there is no discomfort to participants. BodPod and DXA measurements will take place at the university Science Centre located on Hornsey Road (N77DD); volunteers for this part of the study will have all transport costs refunded and will also receive a £10 JD Sports voucher in appreciation of their time. Taking part in this study is entirely voluntary and all measurements will be taken in strict confidence with a parent/carer present for children. You/your child may withdraw from all/part of the study at any time at his/her/your request by contacting Jabeen Shah (contact details attached) and detailing the ID number on your form.

If you and/or your child are happy to participate, please complete the attached consent form and return it to your participating centre or contact Jabeen Shah by telephone. We will provide any feedback you require on your/your child's measurements. Thank you for taking the time to read this letter, and I hope you will agree to participate in this important health research project.

Yours sincerely,

Jabeen Shah BSc (Hons) MSc Obesity Researcher Dr. H. David McCarthy Professor of Nutrition & Health Please note if you have any concerns or questions about this project please contact Jabeen Shah. However, if you would like to raise any concerns with an independent party please contact the project supervisor (contact details overleaf).

Investigator contact details:

Name: Jabeen Shah

Address: Institute for Health Research & Policy, London Metropolitan University, Tower Building, TB9/2, 166-220 Holloway Road, London N7 8DB

Email:mas1896@my.londonmet.ac.uk

Telephone: 07425-150419

Project supervisor contact details:

Name: Professor David McCarthy

Address: Institute for Health Research & Policy, London Metropolitan University, Tower Building, TB9/2, 166-220 Holloway Road, London N7 8DB

Email: d.mccarthy@londonmet.ac.uk

Telephone: 020 7133 2547

Appendix B4: Background Information Sheet on BIA, ADP, and DXA

London Metropolitan University - Background information on subject tests for South Asian Health Research Study 2011

Bioelectrical Impedance Scales



The Bod Pod

A Bioelectric Impedance Analyzer (BIA) is a sophisticated scientific instrument, used in research and analysis, which measures the resistance of body tissues to the flow of a small harmless electrical signal. The proportion of body fat can be calculated as the current flows more easily through the parts of the body that are composed mostly of water (such as blood, urine & muscle) than it does through bone, fat or air. It is possible to predict how much body fat a person has by combining the bioelectric impedance measure with other factors such as height, weight, gender, fitness level and age. On a budget level, many bathroom type weighing scales are also available with a BIA, which is two built-in footpad electrodes on the base of the scale which the person stands on.



The BOD POD is a computerized, egg-shaped chamber which measures a subject's mass and volume, from which their whole-body density is determined. Using these data, body fat and lean muscle mass can then be calculated. You will be required to wear a swim suit or full body skin-tight suit and swim cap. A few swim suits and swim caps are available.

All measurements are taken in a private room and a gown is provided when getting in and out of the chamber. A female or male researcher is available to conduct the test in full privacy, as required by the participant. The test should take no longer than 10 minutes.

For more information go to: http://www.bodpod.com/products/howWorkBodpod

London Metropolitan University - Background information on subject tests for South Asian Health Research Study 2011

The DXA Scan



A dual energy X-ray (DXA) scan is a type of X-ray that measures the amount of calcium in bones. It is also used to measure the relative amounts of body fat and muscle. It uses a much lower level of radiation, equivalent to less than one day's exposure to natural background radiation, and is considered safe, although not recommended during pregnancy. A DXA scan is quick and painless,

usually lasting no longer than 10 minutes. Tests will be done in subject's own clothing.

For more information go to: <u>http://www.cks.nhs.uk</u>/patient_information_leaflet/dxa_scan/ introduction

Appendix B5: Participant Consent Form

ID number_____

PARTICIPANT CONSENT FORM

By completing and signing this consent form you are agreeing to the following points:

- I have read and received a copy of the details of this research project, and have been given the opportunity to ask questions.
- I understand that after consenting to my child taking part in this study you will provide a full explanation of the procedures to be followed, and will answer any questions I may ask.
- I understand that my child has the right to withdraw from the study at any point at my and/or his/her request for any reason.
- All measurements will be taken in the strictest confidence.
- I understand that my child's identity will be protected and not be identified in any published results.
- I would also be happy to consider my child taking part in the BodPod and/or DXA test once I have understood and accepted details of what is involved. (Please tick if yes or cross if no in box)

Child's name
Signature of parent/guardian (if under 16y) or participant (if aged16y or over)
Contact address:
Contact telephone number(s):

Date.....

Please note if you have any concerns or questions about this project please contact Jabeen Shah. However, if you would like to raise any concerns with an independent party please contact the project supervisor.

Appendix C: SPSS Outputs Showing Tests of Normality

	Kolm	Kolmogorov-Smirnov ^b			Shapiro-Wilk		
	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.	
weight z score	.149	27	.128	.965	27	.468	
BMI z score	.113	27	.200*	.982	27	.900	
Waist							
circumference (cm)	.136	21	.200*	.951	21	.350	
Z score							
BIA % body fat z	158	25	107	056	25	348	
score(UK90)	.150	25	.107	.900	20	.540	
Height (m) z score	.091	27	.200*	.964	27	.447	

Tests of Normality^a SA Boys - Validation Study

*. This is a lower bound of the true significance.

a. Gender = male; b. Lilliefors Significance Correction

	Kolmogorov-Smirnov ^ь			Shapiro-Wilk		
	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.
weight z score	.097	24	.200*	.946	24	.217
BMI z score	.116	24	.200*	.950	24	.276
Waist						
circumference (cm)	.129	19	.200*	.946	19	.337
Z score						
BIA % body fat z	112	22	200*	070	22	609
score (UK90)	.113	23	.200	.970	23	.090
Height (m) z score	.102	24	.200*	.979	24	.868

Tests of Normality^a SA Girls – Validation Study

*. This is a lower bound of the true significance.

a. Gender = female; b. Lilliefors Significance Correction

	Kolmogorov-Smirnov ^b			Shapiro-Wilk		
	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.
Z-score height	.020	691	.200*	.996	691	.110
Z-score weight	.028	691	.200*	.996	691	.088
Z-score BMI	.046	691	.002	.992	691	.001
Z-score waist circimference	.055	683	.000	.989	683	.000
Z-score % body fat	.039	681	.017	.987	681	.000

Tests of Normality^a – SA external dataset (Boys)

*. This is a lower bound of the true significance.

a. Gender = male, SA or WE ethnic group = South Asian; b. Lilliefors Significance Correction

	Kolmogorov-Smirnov [⊳]			Shapiro-Wilk		
	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.
Z-score height	.027	598	.200*	.995	598	.076
Z-score weight	.032	598	.200*	.994	598	.017
Z-score BMI	.047	598	.003	.993	598	.005
Z-score waist circimference	.054	586	.000	.985	586	.000
Z-score % body fat	.029	589	.200*	.985	589	.000

Tests of Normality^a WE external dataset (Boys)

*. This is a lower bound of the true significance.

a. Gender = male, SA or WE ethnic group = White European

b. Lilliefors Significance Correction

	Kolmogorov-Smirnov ^b			Shapiro-Wilk		
	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.
Z-score height	.021	933	.200*	.998	933	.281
Z-score weight	.020	933	.200*	.998	933	.589
Z-score BMI	.024	933	.200*	.997	933	.041
Z-score waist circimference	.029	926	.060	.997	926	.043
Z-score % body fat	.026	921	.139	.998	921	.276

Tests of Normality^a SA external dataset (Girls)

*. This is a lower bound of the true significance.

a. Gender = female, SA or WE ethnic group = South Asian

b. Lilliefors Significance Correction

	Kolmogorov-Smirnov ^b			Shapiro-Wilk		
	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.
Z-score height	.041	543	.031	.994	543	.040
Z-score weight	.039	543	.044	.994	543	.022
Z-score BMI	.050	543	.003	.990	543	.001
Z-score waist	0.40	500	000	000	500	001
circimference	.046	532	.009	.990	532	.001
Z-score % body fat	.043	532	.019	.996	532	.143

Tests of Normality^a WE external dataset (Girls)

a. Gender = female, SA or WE ethnic group = White European

b. Lilliefors Significance Correction

Appendix D: SPSS Outputs Showing Tests of Normality for Ht, SH, & LL

	Kolmogorov-Smirnov ^b			Shapiro-Wilk		
	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.
SDS - Height	.065	108	.200*	.989	108	.514
SDS - Sitting Height	.068	108	.200*	.990	108	.639
SDS - Leg length	.048	108	.200*	.988	108	.461

Tests of Normality^a SA Boys

*. This is a lower bound of the true significance.

a. Gender = Male

b. Lilliefors Significance Correction

	Kolmogorov-Smirnov ^b			Shapiro-Wilk		
	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.
SDS - Height	.061	63	.200*	.989	63	.837
SDS - Sitting	050	63	200*	080	63	850
Height	.050	03	.200	.909	03	.050
SDS - Leg length	.093	63	.200*	.980	63	.386

Tests of Normality^a SA Girls

*. This is a lower bound of the true significance.

a. Gender = Female

b. Lilliefors Significance Correction

%FFM	%FFM Centiles SA Boys												
Age	n	-2.05	-1.340755	-0.6744897	0	0.6744897	1.036433	1.340755	1.644854	2.053749			
		2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98			
4.5	21	75.06	78.18	80.31	82.05	83.49	84.18	84.72	85.23	85.88			
5	45	73.97	77.59	79.98	81.89	83.46	84.20	84.79	85.33	86.03			
5.5	30	72.55	76.87	79.59	81.71	83.44	84.25	84.88	85.48	86.23			
6	41	71.04	76.14	79.21	81.55	83.44	84.32	85.01	85.65	86.46			
6.5	49	69.39	75.40	78.83	81.39	83.44	84.39	85.13	85.82	86.69			
7	48	67.60	74.62	78.42	81.21	83.42	84.44	85.23	85.97	86.89			
7.5	35	65.69	73.81	77.99	81.01	83.38	84.47	85.31	86.10	87.08			
8	34	63.72	73.02	77.56	80.80	83.33	84.49	85.39	86.22	87.26			
8.5	38	61.75	72.25	77.14	80.60	83.28	84.51	85.45	86.34	87.44			
9	39	59.88	71.52	76.74	80.39	83.22	84.51	85.51	86.44	87.59			
9.5	29	58.26	70.86	76.36	80.20	83.17	84.52	85.57	86.54	87.75			
10	46	57.06	70.32	76.06	80.06	83.15	84.57	85.66	86.67	87.94			
10.5	38	56.36	69.93	75.85	79.99	83.20	84.67	85.80	86.86	88.17			
11	32	56.17	69.69	75.74	80.00	83.31	84.84	86.01	87.11	88.47			
11.5	35	56.37	69.60	75.74	80.10	83.50	85.07	86.28	87.41	88.82			
12	19	56.89	69.64	75.82	80.26	83.74	85.36	86.60	87.77	89.22			
12.5	31	57.62	69.80	75.97	80.47	84.03	85.68	86.96	88.16	89.66			
13	42	58.51	70.03	76.17	80.71	84.33	86.02	87.33	88.56	90.10			
13.5	13	59.48	70.31	76.38	80.95	84.62	86.34	87.69	88.94	90.52			

Appendix E: Ethnic Differences in Body Composition



Age	Ν	-	-	-	0	0.67448	1.03643	1.34075	1.64485	2.05374
		2.05374	1.34075	0.67448		97	3	5	4	9
		9	5	97						
		2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98
4.5	24	72.27	76.78	79.62	81.83	83.64	84.49	85.15	85.77	86.55
5	19	71.49	76.47	79.53	81.87	83.77	84.66	85.36	86.01	86.83
5.5	43	70.63	76.13	79.40	81.89	83.88	84.82	85.54	86.22	87.08
6	43	69.59	75.71	79.21	81.84	83.93	84.91	85.67	86.38	87.26
6.5	43	68.27	75.14	78.91	81.69	83.90	84.92	85.71	86.45	87.38
7	33	66.66	74.44	78.50	81.45	83.78	84.85	85.68	86.45	87.41
7.5	40	64.89	73.69	78.05	81.18	83.62	84.74	85.61	86.42	87.42
8	41	63.17	72.97	77.63	80.93	83.49	84.67	85.58	86.42	87.47
8.5	37	61.73	72.36	77.27	80.74	83.42	84.65	85.60	86.48	87.58
9	28	60.67	71.83	76.94	80.55	83.34	84.62	85.60	86.52	87.67
9.5	33	59.91	71.34	76.60	80.31	83.19	84.51	85.53	86.48	87.66
10	30	59.44	70.94	76.29	80.07	83.02	84.37	85.42	86.39	87.60
10.5	37	59.31	70.69	76.09	79.93	82.93	84.30	85.37	86.36	87.60
11	31	59.48	70.65	76.07	79.95	82.98	84.38	85.46	86.47	87.73
11.5	36	59.82	70.81	76.24	80.15	83.22	84.64	85.73	86.76	88.03
12	36	60.20	71.13	76.59	80.53	83.63	85.06	86.17	87.20	88.49
12.5	19	60.57	71.56	77.06	81.03	84.16	85.60	86.72	87.77	89.07
13	18	60.93	72.04	77.60	81.61	84.76	86.22	87.35	88.40	89.72
13.5	3	61.30	72.56	78.17	82.22	85.40	86.87	88.01	89.07	90.40

%FFM centiles WE Boys



701 TH centres 5A diris									
Ν	2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98
21	72.47	75.86	78.21	80.13	81.74	82.51	83.12	83.69	84.41
27	71.35	75.15	77.71	79.77	81.49	82.31	82.96	83.56	84.33
40	70.24	74.45	77.23	79.44	81.27	82.13	82.81	83.45	84.26
37	69.11	73.78	76.78	79.14	81.08	82.00	82.72	83.39	84.24
32	67.92	73.08	76.32	78.84	80.90	81.87	82.63	83.34	84.23
55	66.68	72.37	75.85	78.54	80.71	81.74	82.53	83.28	84.22
34	65.47	71.69	75.42	78.26	80.57	81.64	82.48	83.27	84.26
37	64.33	71.06	75.03	78.05	80.48	81.62	82.50	83.33	84.37
37	63.27	70.48	74.69	77.87	80.44	81.64	82.57	83.45	84.55
31	62.37	69.94	74.37	77.72	80.43	81.69	82.68	83.60	84.77
38	61.63	69.43	74.04	77.56	80.40	81.74	82.78	83.76	84.99
35	61.04	68.89	73.65	77.32	80.31	81.72	82.82	83.86	85.16
30	60.54	68.30	73.17	76.97	80.11	81.59	82.75	83.85	85.23
104	60.07	67.64	72.57	76.50	79.76	81.32	82.55	83.70	85.16
104	59.61	66.93	71.88	75.91	79.30	80.93	82.22	83.44	84.98
87	59.21	66.24	71.19	75.31	78.82	80.52	81.87	83.15	84.78
103	58.92	65.66	70.60	74.79	78.43	80.21	81.62	82.97	84.70
49	58.75	65.19	70.10	74.37	78.13	79.98	81.47	82.89	84.72
14	58.61	64.78	69.66	73.99	77.89	79.83	81.39	82.89	84.84
1		%	FFM SA	Girls					
0.00									
5.00									
	N 21 27 40 37 32 55 34 37 31 38 35 30 104 103 49 14 0.00 5.00	N 2 21 72.47 27 71.35 40 70.24 37 69.11 32 67.92 55 66.68 34 65.47 37 64.33 37 63.27 31 62.37 38 61.63 35 61.04 30 60.54 104 60.07 103 58.92 49 58.75 14 58.61	N 2 9 21 72.47 75.86 27 71.35 75.15 40 70.24 74.45 37 69.11 73.78 32 67.92 73.08 55 66.68 72.37 34 65.47 71.69 37 64.33 71.06 37 63.27 70.48 31 62.37 69.94 38 61.63 69.43 35 61.04 68.89 30 60.54 68.30 104 59.61 66.93 87 59.21 66.24 103 58.92 65.66 49 58.75 65.19 14 58.61 64.78	N 2 9 25 21 72.47 75.86 78.21 27 71.35 75.15 77.71 40 70.24 74.45 77.23 37 69.11 73.78 76.78 32 67.92 73.08 76.32 55 66.68 72.37 75.85 34 65.47 71.69 75.42 37 64.33 71.06 75.03 37 63.27 70.48 74.69 31 62.37 69.94 74.37 38 61.63 69.43 74.04 35 61.04 68.89 73.65 30 60.54 68.30 73.17 104 60.07 67.64 72.57 104 59.61 66.93 71.88 87 59.21 65.66 70.60 49 58.75 65.19 70.10 14 58.61 64.78 69.66 </td <td>N 2 9 25 50 21 72.47 75.86 78.21 80.13 27 71.35 75.15 77.71 79.77 40 70.24 74.45 77.23 79.44 37 69.11 73.78 76.78 79.14 32 67.92 73.08 76.32 78.84 55 66.68 72.37 75.85 78.54 34 65.47 71.69 75.42 78.26 37 64.33 71.06 75.03 78.05 37 63.27 70.48 74.69 77.87 31 62.37 69.94 74.37 77.72 38 61.63 69.43 74.04 77.56 35 61.04 68.89 73.65 77.32 30 60.54 68.30 73.17 76.97 104 59.61 66.93 71.88 75.91 87 59.21 66.24 71.19<</td> <td>N 2 9 25 50 75 21 72.47 75.86 78.21 80.13 81.74 27 71.35 75.15 77.71 79.77 81.49 40 70.24 74.45 77.23 79.44 81.27 37 69.11 73.78 76.78 79.14 81.08 32 67.92 73.08 76.32 78.84 80.90 55 66.68 72.37 75.85 78.54 80.71 34 65.47 71.69 75.42 78.26 80.57 37 64.33 71.06 75.03 78.05 80.48 37 63.27 70.48 74.69 77.87 80.43 38 61.63 69.43 74.04 77.56 80.40 35 61.04 68.89 73.65 77.32 80.31 30 60.54 68.30 73.17 76.97 80.11 104 60.07</td> <td>N 2 9 25 50 75 85 21 72.47 75.86 78.21 80.13 81.74 82.51 27 71.35 75.15 77.71 79.77 81.49 82.31 40 70.24 74.45 77.23 79.44 81.27 82.13 37 69.11 73.78 76.78 79.14 81.08 82.00 32 67.92 73.08 76.32 78.84 80.90 81.87 55 66.68 72.37 75.85 78.54 80.51 81.64 37 64.33 71.06 75.03 78.05 80.48 81.62 37 63.27 70.48 74.69 77.87 80.44 81.64 31 62.37 69.94 74.37 77.72 80.43 81.74 35 61.04 68.89 73.65 77.32 80.41 81.59 104 60.07 67.64 72.57 76.50<!--</td--><td>N 2 9 25 50 75 85 91 21 72.47 75.86 78.21 80.13 81.74 82.51 83.12 27 71.35 75.15 77.71 79.77 81.49 82.31 82.96 40 70.24 74.45 77.23 79.44 81.27 82.13 82.81 37 69.11 73.78 76.78 79.14 81.08 82.00 82.72 32 67.92 73.08 76.32 78.84 80.90 81.87 82.63 55 66.68 72.37 75.85 78.54 80.71 81.74 82.53 34 65.47 71.69 75.42 78.26 80.57 81.64 82.48 37 64.33 71.06 75.03 78.05 80.48 81.62 82.50 37 63.27 70.48 74.69 77.37 80.44 81.64 82.75 31 62.37 69.9</td><td>N 2 9 25 50 75 85 91 95 21 72.47 75.86 78.21 80.13 81.74 82.51 83.12 83.69 27 71.35 75.15 77.71 79.77 81.49 82.31 82.96 83.56 40 70.24 74.45 77.23 79.44 81.27 82.13 82.81 83.45 37 69.11 73.78 76.78 79.14 81.08 82.00 82.72 83.39 32 67.92 73.08 76.32 78.84 80.90 81.87 82.63 83.34 55 66.68 72.37 75.85 78.54 80.71 81.74 82.53 83.28 34 65.47 71.69 75.42 78.26 80.57 81.64 82.48 83.27 37 64.33 71.06 75.03 78.05 80.48 81.62 82.50 83.33 37 63.27</td></td>	N 2 9 25 50 21 72.47 75.86 78.21 80.13 27 71.35 75.15 77.71 79.77 40 70.24 74.45 77.23 79.44 37 69.11 73.78 76.78 79.14 32 67.92 73.08 76.32 78.84 55 66.68 72.37 75.85 78.54 34 65.47 71.69 75.42 78.26 37 64.33 71.06 75.03 78.05 37 63.27 70.48 74.69 77.87 31 62.37 69.94 74.37 77.72 38 61.63 69.43 74.04 77.56 35 61.04 68.89 73.65 77.32 30 60.54 68.30 73.17 76.97 104 59.61 66.93 71.88 75.91 87 59.21 66.24 71.19<	N 2 9 25 50 75 21 72.47 75.86 78.21 80.13 81.74 27 71.35 75.15 77.71 79.77 81.49 40 70.24 74.45 77.23 79.44 81.27 37 69.11 73.78 76.78 79.14 81.08 32 67.92 73.08 76.32 78.84 80.90 55 66.68 72.37 75.85 78.54 80.71 34 65.47 71.69 75.42 78.26 80.57 37 64.33 71.06 75.03 78.05 80.48 37 63.27 70.48 74.69 77.87 80.43 38 61.63 69.43 74.04 77.56 80.40 35 61.04 68.89 73.65 77.32 80.31 30 60.54 68.30 73.17 76.97 80.11 104 60.07	N 2 9 25 50 75 85 21 72.47 75.86 78.21 80.13 81.74 82.51 27 71.35 75.15 77.71 79.77 81.49 82.31 40 70.24 74.45 77.23 79.44 81.27 82.13 37 69.11 73.78 76.78 79.14 81.08 82.00 32 67.92 73.08 76.32 78.84 80.90 81.87 55 66.68 72.37 75.85 78.54 80.51 81.64 37 64.33 71.06 75.03 78.05 80.48 81.62 37 63.27 70.48 74.69 77.87 80.44 81.64 31 62.37 69.94 74.37 77.72 80.43 81.74 35 61.04 68.89 73.65 77.32 80.41 81.59 104 60.07 67.64 72.57 76.50 </td <td>N 2 9 25 50 75 85 91 21 72.47 75.86 78.21 80.13 81.74 82.51 83.12 27 71.35 75.15 77.71 79.77 81.49 82.31 82.96 40 70.24 74.45 77.23 79.44 81.27 82.13 82.81 37 69.11 73.78 76.78 79.14 81.08 82.00 82.72 32 67.92 73.08 76.32 78.84 80.90 81.87 82.63 55 66.68 72.37 75.85 78.54 80.71 81.74 82.53 34 65.47 71.69 75.42 78.26 80.57 81.64 82.48 37 64.33 71.06 75.03 78.05 80.48 81.62 82.50 37 63.27 70.48 74.69 77.37 80.44 81.64 82.75 31 62.37 69.9</td> <td>N 2 9 25 50 75 85 91 95 21 72.47 75.86 78.21 80.13 81.74 82.51 83.12 83.69 27 71.35 75.15 77.71 79.77 81.49 82.31 82.96 83.56 40 70.24 74.45 77.23 79.44 81.27 82.13 82.81 83.45 37 69.11 73.78 76.78 79.14 81.08 82.00 82.72 83.39 32 67.92 73.08 76.32 78.84 80.90 81.87 82.63 83.34 55 66.68 72.37 75.85 78.54 80.71 81.74 82.53 83.28 34 65.47 71.69 75.42 78.26 80.57 81.64 82.48 83.27 37 64.33 71.06 75.03 78.05 80.48 81.62 82.50 83.33 37 63.27</td>	N 2 9 25 50 75 85 91 21 72.47 75.86 78.21 80.13 81.74 82.51 83.12 27 71.35 75.15 77.71 79.77 81.49 82.31 82.96 40 70.24 74.45 77.23 79.44 81.27 82.13 82.81 37 69.11 73.78 76.78 79.14 81.08 82.00 82.72 32 67.92 73.08 76.32 78.84 80.90 81.87 82.63 55 66.68 72.37 75.85 78.54 80.71 81.74 82.53 34 65.47 71.69 75.42 78.26 80.57 81.64 82.48 37 64.33 71.06 75.03 78.05 80.48 81.62 82.50 37 63.27 70.48 74.69 77.37 80.44 81.64 82.75 31 62.37 69.9	N 2 9 25 50 75 85 91 95 21 72.47 75.86 78.21 80.13 81.74 82.51 83.12 83.69 27 71.35 75.15 77.71 79.77 81.49 82.31 82.96 83.56 40 70.24 74.45 77.23 79.44 81.27 82.13 82.81 83.45 37 69.11 73.78 76.78 79.14 81.08 82.00 82.72 83.39 32 67.92 73.08 76.32 78.84 80.90 81.87 82.63 83.34 55 66.68 72.37 75.85 78.54 80.71 81.74 82.53 83.28 34 65.47 71.69 75.42 78.26 80.57 81.64 82.48 83.27 37 64.33 71.06 75.03 78.05 80.48 81.62 82.50 83.33 37 63.27

%FFM centiles SA Girls



/01110100	chuics w									
Age	N	-2.05	-1.34	-0.67	0	0.67	1.04	1.34	1.64	2.05
		2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98
4.51	22	70.04	74.20	76.95	79.15	80.96	81.82	82.50	83.14	83.94
5	23	69.28	73.90	76.88	79.23	81.16	82.08	82.79	83.46	84.31
5.5	35	68.42	73.54	76.77	79.28	81.34	82.30	83.06	83.77	84.66
6	41	67.42	73.08	76.55	79.23	81.40	82.42	83.22	83.97	84.91
6.5	29	66.27	72.49	76.21	79.05	81.34	82.42	83.26	84.04	85.02
7	42	65.02	71.81	75.77	78.77	81.17	82.30	83.18	84.00	85.03
7.5	28	63.85	71.12	75.30	78.45	80.97	82.15	83.07	83.92	85.00
8	34	62.85	70.48	74.84	78.13	80.76	81.99	82.94	83.84	84.96
8.5	32	62.02	69.87	74.37	77.77	80.50	81.77	82.77	83.70	84.86
9	35	61.29	69.26	73.87	77.36	80.17	81.49	82.51	83.47	84.68
9.5	32	60.67	68.69	73.37	76.93	79.81	81.15	82.21	83.19	84.43
10	31	60.26	68.24	72.96	76.56	79.49	80.86	81.93	82.94	84.20
10.5	39	60.18	67.98	72.69	76.33	79.29	80.68	81.77	82.79	84.08
11	35	60.36	67.91	72.59	76.23	79.22	80.63	81.73	82.77	84.08
11.5	24	60.66	67.93	72.55	76.18	79.18	80.61	81.72	82.77	84.10
12	20	60.94	67.94	72.49	76.11	79.11	80.54	81.66	82.72	84.06
12.5	22	61.16	67.93	72.40	76.00	79.00	80.43	81.56	82.62	83.97
13	14	61.34	67.88	72.29	75.85	78.85	80.28	81.41	82.48	83.83
13.5	3	61.47	67.80	72.14	75.68	78.66	80.09	81.22	82.29	83.65
13.71	0	61.51	67.77	72.08	75.60	78.58	80.01	81.14	82.21	83.57

%FFM centiles WE₂ Girls



Age	N	-2.053749	-1.340755	-0.6744897	0	0.6744897	1.036433	1.340755	1.644854	2.053749
		2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98
4.29		1.97	2.36	2.78	3.27	3.83	4.16	4.46	4.78	5.24
4.5	20	2.07	2.48	2.92	3.43	4.02	4.37	4.69	5.03	5.51
5	38	2.31	2.76	3.25	3.83	4.49	4.89	5.24	5.62	6.18
5.5	27	2.55	3.05	3.59	4.23	4.97	5.41	5.81	6.24	6.86
6	38	2.81	3.36	3.96	4.66	5.48	5.98	6.42	6.90	7.60
6.5	41	3.11	3.71	4.36	5.14	6.06	6.61	7.11	7.65	8.44
7	39	3.43	4.08	4.80	5.66	6.67	7.29	7.85	8.46	9.35
7.5	26	3.76	4.46	5.24	6.18	7.29	7.98	8.61	9.29	10.30
8	26	4.10	4.85	5.69	6.71	7.93	8.69	9.39	10.15	11.28
8.5	32	4.46	5.26	6.16	7.26	8.59	9.42	10.20	11.04	12.32
9	37	4.84	5.69	6.65	7.83	9.28	10.19	11.04	11.97	13.39
9.5	23	5.26	6.15	7.18	8.44	10.00	10.99	11.92	12.95	14.52
10	34	5.70	6.65	7.74	9.09	10.77	11.83	12.84	13.96	15.68
10.5	29	6.17	7.19	8.35	9.79	11.59	12.73	13.82	15.02	16.88
11	22	6.68	7.76	9.00	10.55	12.46	13.69	14.85	16.14	18.13
11.5	22	7.23	8.40	9.73	11.38	13.43	14.74	15.97	17.34	19.46
12	18	7.84	9.10	10.53	12.30	14.49	15.89	17.20	18.66	20.89
12.5	30	8.51	9.87	11.41	13.32	15.66	17.14	18.53	20.07	22.42
13	42	9.22	10.69	12.35	14.38	16.87	18.44	19.91	21.53	24.00
13.5	13	9.96	11.53	13.30	15.47	18.11	19.76	21.30	23.00	25.57
14	5	10.72	12.40	14.28	16.57	19.35	21.08	22.69	24.46	27.13
14.5	3	11.49	13.27	15.26	17.67	20.58	22.39	24.06	25.89	28.65
15	4	12.28	14.16	16.25	18.77	21.80	23.67	25.40	27.30	30.12
15.5	4	13.07	15.05	17.24	19.87	23.01	24.94	26.73	28.67	31.57
15.95	3	13.80	15.86	18.13	20.85	24.09	26.08	27.91	29.90	32.85

SMMa (kg) centiles SA Boys



United (1	is contra		0,5							
Age	N	-2.05	-1.34	-0.67	0	0.67	1.03	1.34	1.64	2.05
		2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98
4.47		2.42	2.85	3.35	3.98	4.77	5.28	5.76	6.31	7.16
4.5	24	2.44	2.88	3.38	4.01	4.81	5.32	5.81	6.36	7.21
5	21	2.76	3.26	3.83	4.54	5.41	5.97	6.49	7.07	7.96
5.5	43	3.05	3.61	4.25	5.02	5.96	6.55	7.10	7.70	8.60
6	42	3.33	3.95	4.64	5.48	6.48	7.09	7.66	8.28	9.20
6.5	43	3.66	4.34	5.10	6.00	7.07	7.73	8.33	8.97	9.92
7	33	4.03	4.79	5.62	6.60	7.76	8.46	9.10	9.79	10.79
7.5	40	4.45	5.27	6.18	7.25	8.50	9.26	9.95	10.69	11.76
8	41	4.89	5.79	6.77	7.93	9.29	10.11	10.86	11.66	12.82
8.5	37	5.35	6.30	7.35	8.59	10.05	10.94	11.74	12.61	13.88
9	28	5.81	6.81	7.92	9.24	10.80	11.76	12.63	13.57	14.95
9.5	33	6.30	7.35	8.51	9.91	11.57	12.59	13.53	14.55	16.05
10	30	6.83	7.92	9.13	10.59	12.35	13.44	14.44	15.54	17.18
10.5	37	7.38	8.51	9.77	11.30	13.15	14.30	15.36	16.53	18.29
11	31	7.97	9.14	10.45	12.04	13.96	15.16	16.28	17.51	19.36
11.5	36	8.59	9.80	11.16	12.80	14.80	16.05	17.21	18.49	20.43
12	36	9.29	10.55	11.95	13.66	15.72	17.01	18.22	19.55	21.56
12.5	20	10.10	11.40	12.85	14.60	16.74	18.07	19.32	20.69	22.77
13	18	10.97	12.32	13.81	15.62	17.80	19.17	20.45	21.86	24.00
13.5	3	11.89	13.27	14.80	16.65	18.88	20.28	21.58	23.01	25.18
13.93	0	12.70	14.11	15.67	17.54	19.80	21.20	22.52	23.96	26.15

SMMa (kg) centiles WE Boys



on na (n	-6) centin		10							
Age	N	-2.05	-1.34	-0.67	0	0.67	1.04	1.34	1.64	2.05
		2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98
4.46		2.20	2.60	3.02	3.49	4.02	4.32	4.59	4.87	5.26
4.5	23	2.22	2.62	3.05	3.52	4.05	4.36	4.63	4.91	5.31
5	22	2.46	2.89	3.35	3.88	4.46	4.81	5.12	5.44	5.90
5.5	34	2.69	3.15	3.65	4.22	4.87	5.25	5.60	5.96	6.49
6	29	2.93	3.43	3.96	4.58	5.30	5.72	6.11	6.52	7.11
6.5	24	3.20	3.74	4.31	4.99	5.78	6.26	6.69	7.16	7.83
7	45	3.49	4.07	4.70	5.45	6.32	6.85	7.33	7.84	8.60
7.5	27	3.78	4.41	5.09	5.91	6.86	7.44	7.97	8.53	9.36
8	33	4.05	4.73	5.48	6.36	7.39	8.02	8.58	9.19	10.08
8.5	27	4.32	5.06	5.87	6.82	7.93	8.60	9.20	9.84	10.78
9	19	4.61	5.42	6.30	7.33	8.51	9.22	9.86	10.53	11.52
9.5	28	4.94	5.82	6.78	7.88	9.15	9.90	10.58	11.29	12.32
10	29	5.32	6.28	7.31	8.50	9.85	10.65	11.36	12.11	13.18
10.5	23	5.76	6.80	7.91	9.19	10.62	11.46	12.21	12.99	14.12
11	98	6.27	7.39	8.58	9.93	11.45	12.33	13.11	13.93	15.10
11.5	98	6.83	8.03	9.28	10.70	12.28	13.20	14.01	14.85	16.05
12	87	7.41	8.66	9.96	11.43	13.04	13.97	14.79	15.65	16.86
12.5	106	7.97	9.25	10.58	12.05	13.67	14.60	15.41	16.26	17.45
13	49	8.52	9.81	11.13	12.59	14.18	15.09	15.89	16.72	17.87
13.5	11	9.06	10.35	11.65	13.09	14.64	15.53	16.30	17.10	18.21
13.94	3	9.56	10.83	12.12	13.53	15.04	15.90	16.64	17.41	18.48

SMMa (kg) centiles SA Girls





SMMa (kg) centiles WE Girls

0.00

Age (y)





	-2.053749	-1.340755	-0.6744897	0	0.6744897	1.036433	1.340755	1.644854	2.053749
Age	2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98
4.29	14.99	17.35	19.26	21.01	22.61	23.41	24.07	24.71	25.53
4.5	15.35	17.64	19.53	21.27	22.87	23.68	24.34	24.98	25.81
5	16.18	18.35	20.19	21.90	23.49	24.31	24.97	25.62	26.48
5.5	17.00	19.07	20.85	22.53	24.12	24.94	25.61	26.27	27.13
6	17.83	19.80	21.53	23.18	24.77	25.59	26.26	26.93	27.80
6.5	18.67	20.56	22.24	23.88	25.46	26.28	26.97	27.64	28.53
7	19.50	21.32	22.96	24.59	26.17	27.00	27.69	28.38	29.29
7.5	20.28	22.05	23.67	25.28	26.87	27.71	28.41	29.11	30.05
8	21.01	22.73	24.33	25.95	27.55	28.41	29.13	29.85	30.81
8.5	21.66	23.36	24.95	26.58	28.21	29.09	29.83	30.57	31.56
9	22.23	23.92	25.52	27.16	28.82	29.73	30.49	31.25	32.29
9.5	22.72	24.40	26.02	27.69	29.39	30.32	31.11	31.90	32.98
10	23.16	24.85	26.48	28.18	29.93	30.89	31.71	32.54	33.66
10.5	23.57	25.27	26.93	28.67	30.47	31.46	32.31	33.17	34.35
11	23.98	25.69	27.37	29.15	31.01	32.04	32.92	33.82	35.06
11.5	24.41	26.13	27.84	29.65	31.57	32.64	33.56	34.51	35.81
12	24.90	26.63	28.35	30.21	32.18	33.29	34.26	35.25	36.62
12.5	25.42	27.15	28.90	30.79	32.82	33.97	34.97	36.01	37.46
13	25.93	27.66	29.42	31.33	33.41	34.60	35.63	36.71	38.22
13.5	26.41	28.14	29.89	31.82	33.94	35.15	36.21	37.33	38.89
14	26.85	28.56	30.31	32.25	34.39	35.62	36.72	37.86	39.48
14.5	27.23	28.93	30.67	32.61	34.77	36.02	37.14	38.31	39.98
15	27.57	29.25	30.98	32.92	35.09	36.36	37.50	38.69	40.41
15.5	27.89	29.54	31.26	33.20	35.38	36.67	37.82	39.05	40.81
15.95	28.18	29.81	31.51	33.45	35.64	36.94	38.11	39.36	41.17

SMMa % Centiles SA Boys



Shina /0 centiles wez boys											
Age	-2.053749	-1.340755	-0.6744897	0	0.6744897	1.036433	1.340755	1.644854	2.053749		
	2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98		
4.47	16.99	19.44	21.39	23.14	24.72	25.52	26.16	26.78	27.58		
4.5	17.06	19.49	21.44	23.19	24.78	25.57	26.22	26.84	27.65		
5	18.19	20.45	22.33	24.08	25.69	26.52	27.19	27.84	28.69		
5.5	19.25	21.35	23.17	24.91	26.55	27.40	28.09	28.78	29.67		
6	20.20	22.19	23.96	25.68	27.34	28.20	28.92	29.63	30.57		
6.5	21.09	22.98	24.70	26.41	28.08	28.97	29.71	30.44	31.42		
7	21.90	23.72	25.40	27.10	28.79	29.69	30.45	31.20	32.22		
7.5	22.63	24.39	26.05	27.73	29.43	30.35	31.12	31.89	32.93		
8	23.27	24.99	26.62	28.30	30.00	30.92	31.71	32.49	33.56		
8.5	23.81	25.50	27.11	28.78	30.49	31.41	32.20	33.00	34.08		
9	24.26	25.93	27.54	29.20	30.90	31.83	32.62	33.42	34.50		
9.5	24.63	26.30	27.90	29.56	31.26	32.19	32.98	33.77	34.85		
10	24.96	26.64	28.25	29.91	31.60	32.52	33.30	34.09	35.16		
10.5	25.30	27.00	28.62	30.28	31.98	32.90	33.67	34.46	35.52		
11	25.67	27.41	29.05	30.73	32.43	33.35	34.13	34.91	35.97		
11.5	26.09	27.88	29.56	31.27	32.99	33.92	34.70	35.48	36.54		
12	26.58	28.44	30.17	31.92	33.68	34.62	35.41	36.20	37.26		
12.5	27.15	29.08	30.87	32.68	34.47	35.43	36.24	37.04	38.11		
13	27.74	29.76	31.62	33.48	35.32	36.30	37.11	37.93	39.02		
13.5	28.34	30.45	32.38	34.30	36.18	37.18	38.01	38.84	39.94		
13.93	28.86	31.05	33.04	35.00	36.93	37.94	38.79	39.63	40.74		

SMMa % centiles WE₂ Boys



Age	-2.053749	-1.340755	-0.6744897	0	0.6744897	1.036433	1.340755	1.644854	2.053749
	2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98
4.46	19.76	20.78	21.89	23.20	24.78	25.76	26.68	27.70	29.28
4.5	19.78	20.81	21.91	23.22	24.79	25.77	26.68	27.69	29.25
5	20.04	21.09	22.20	23.49	24.98	25.88	26.70	27.59	28.92
5.5	20.29	21.37	22.48	23.74	25.15	25.98	26.73	27.52	28.67
6	20.57	21.66	22.77	24.00	25.35	26.12	26.81	27.52	28.54
6.5	20.87	21.98	23.10	24.30	25.60	26.33	26.97	27.63	28.55
7	21.20	22.33	23.45	24.64	25.90	26.60	27.21	27.83	28.69
7.5	21.54	22.69	23.81	25.00	26.23	26.92	27.51	28.11	28.93
8	21.85	23.02	24.15	25.34	26.57	27.25	27.83	28.42	29.23
8.5	22.14	23.32	24.47	25.67	26.91	27.59	28.17	28.76	29.57
9	22.41	23.61	24.77	25.99	27.25	27.94	28.53	29.13	29.95
9.5	22.66	23.88	25.06	26.30	27.58	28.29	28.90	29.51	30.35
10	22.88	24.12	25.32	26.58	27.89	28.62	29.24	29.87	30.73
10.5	23.06	24.31	25.53	26.81	28.15	28.90	29.53	30.18	31.07
11	23.18	24.45	25.68	26.99	28.35	29.11	29.76	30.42	31.34
11.5	23.25	24.53	25.78	27.10	28.49	29.26	29.92	30.60	31.53
12	23.29	24.57	25.84	27.17	28.58	29.36	30.03	30.72	31.67
12.5	23.32	24.61	25.89	27.24	28.66	29.45	30.13	30.83	31.79
13	23.36	24.66	25.94	27.31	28.74	29.54	30.23	30.94	31.91
13.5	23.42	24.73	26.02	27.39	28.84	29.65	30.35	31.06	32.05
13.94	23.47	24.79	26.09	27.47	28.94	29.75	30.46	31.18	32.18

SMMa % centiles SA Girls



Age	-2.053749	-1.340755	-0.6744897	0	0.6744897	1.036433	1.340755	1.644854	2.053749
	2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98
4.51	21.22	22.19	23.19	24.32	25.58	26.33	27.00	27.70	28.73
5	21.58	22.56	23.58	24.74	26.05	26.82	27.51	28.25	29.33
5.5	21.93	22.93	23.98	25.17	26.51	27.31	28.04	28.81	29.93
6	22.26	23.28	24.35	25.57	26.95	27.78	28.53	29.32	30.49
6.5	22.55	23.60	24.69	25.94	27.36	28.21	28.97	29.79	30.98
7	22.76	23.85	24.98	26.27	27.72	28.57	29.34	30.16	31.35
7.5	22.93	24.06	25.23	26.55	28.01	28.87	29.64	30.45	31.62
8	23.05	24.24	25.45	26.79	28.27	29.13	29.89	30.69	31.82
8.5	23.13	24.37	25.62	26.99	28.48	29.33	30.07	30.84	31.93
9	23.15	24.45	25.75	27.14	28.62	29.46	30.18	30.93	31.96
9.5	23.17	24.52	25.85	27.26	28.73	29.55	30.26	30.98	31.96
10	23.21	24.62	25.98	27.40	28.86	29.67	30.35	31.05	31.99
10.5	23.32	24.77	26.16	27.59	29.04	29.83	30.50	31.18	32.09
11	23.49	25.00	26.41	27.85	29.29	30.07	30.73	31.39	32.27
11.5	23.70	25.24	26.68	28.13	29.56	30.33	30.98	31.62	32.48
12	23.88	25.47	26.93	28.38	29.81	30.57	31.20	31.82	32.66
12.5	24.02	25.66	27.14	28.59	30.00	30.74	31.36	31.97	32.78
13	24.12	25.81	27.31	28.76	30.15	30.88	31.48	32.07	32.85
13.5	24.21	25.94	27.45	28.90	30.27	30.98	31.57	32.14	32.89
13.71	24.24	25.99	27.51	28.96	30.32	31.03	31.60	32.17	32.91

SMMa % centiles WE₂ Girls

SMMa % centiles WE₂ Girls






SMMa % of FFM SA Boys

Centiles										
	-2.053749	-1.340755	-0.6744897	0	0.6744897	1.036433	1.340755	1.644854	2.053749	
Age	2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98	
4.29	16.92	20.54	23.22	25.54	27.58	28.59	29.39	30.17	31.17	
4.5	17.52	20.97	23.61	25.91	27.97	28.99	29.82	30.61	31.63	
5	18.88	22.00	24.52	26.81	28.91	29.96	30.82	31.65	32.73	
5.5	20.15	23.02	25.44	27.71	29.83	30.92	31.81	32.68	33.81	
6	21.37	24.03	26.36	28.61	30.75	31.87	32.79	33.70	34.89	
6.5	22.59	25.05	27.29	29.51	31.68	32.83	33.79	34.74	36.01	
7	23.79	26.08	28.23	30.42	32.62	33.80	34.80	35.80	37.15	
7.5	24.98	27.11	29.17	31.33	33.55	34.77	35.81	36.87	38.31	
8	26.14	28.13	30.11	32.23	34.48	35.73	36.82	37.93	39.48	
8.5	27.26	29.14	31.05	33.14	35.40	36.69	37.82	38.98	40.63	
9	28.33	30.13	31.97	34.03	36.29	37.60	38.76	39.97	41.69	
9.5	29.33	31.06	32.86	34.87	37.11	38.43	39.60	40.84	42.61	
10	30.28	31.96	33.71	35.68	37.89	39.19	40.35	41.59	43.37	
10.5	31.21	32.85	34.54	36.47	38.63	39.90	41.05	42.26	44.02	
11	32.13	33.72	35.38	37.24	39.35	40.58	41.70	42.88	44.59	
11.5	33.05	34.59	36.20	38.00	40.03	41.23	42.30	43.43	45.07	
12	33.95	35.44	36.99	38.73	40.67	41.82	42.84	43.91	45.47	
12.5	34.82	36.26	37.74	39.40	41.24	42.32	43.29	44.30	45.76	
13	35.59	36.96	38.36	39.93	41.66	42.67	43.56	44.51	45.86	
13.5	36.23	37.52	38.83	40.29	41.89	42.82	43.64	44.51	45.74	
14	36.74	37.95	39.16	40.51	41.97	42.82	43.56	44.34	45.44	
14.5	37.14	38.25	39.36	40.58	41.91	42.66	43.33	44.02	45.00	
15	37.45	38.45	39.46	40.55	41.72	42.39	42.98	43.58	44.44	
15.5	37.70	38.59	39.48	40.45	41.47	42.06	42.56	43.08	43.82	
15.95	37.91	38.70	39.49	40.34	41.23	41.74	42.17	42.62	43.25	



289

SMMa/FFM% centiles WE₂ Boys

	Centiles								
Age	-2.053749	-1.340755	-0.6744897	0	0.6744897	1.036433	1.340755	1.644854	2.053749
	2	9	25	50	72	85	91	95	98
4.47	20.85	23.68	26.14	28.48	30.70	31.85	32.80	33.72	34.94
4.5	20.93	23.75	26.20	28.54	30.77	31.91	32.86	33.79	35.01
5	22.19	24.90	27.29	29.60	31.82	32.98	33.94	34.88	36.12
5.5	23.43	26.01	28.34	30.62	32.83	33.99	34.95	35.90	37.16
6	24.63	27.11	29.36	31.60	33.79	34.95	35.91	36.87	38.14
6.5	25.88	28.24	30.42	32.61	34.78	35.94	36.91	37.88	39.17
7	27.17	29.40	31.50	33.64	35.80	36.96	37.94	38.93	40.25
7.5	28.45	30.54	32.56	34.65	36.79	37.96	38.95	39.96	41.33
8	29.67	31.63	33.55	35.58	37.71	38.89	39.90	40.93	42.35
8.5	30.77	32.60	34.43	36.40	38.49	39.68	40.70	41.76	43.23
9	31.76	33.48	35.21	37.11	39.18	40.36	41.39	42.46	43.98
9.5	32.64	34.26	35.92	37.75	39.77	40.94	41.97	43.05	44.58
10	33.41	34.96	36.54	38.31	40.26	41.40	42.41	43.47	44.98
10.5	34.07	35.56	37.09	38.79	40.67	41.75	42.71	43.72	45.16
11	34.64	36.10	37.58	39.21	40.99	42.01	42.91	43.85	45.18
11.5	35.18	36.62	38.05	39.61	41.28	42.24	43.07	43.93	45.14
12	35.80	37.20	38.58	40.06	41.63	42.52	43.28	44.07	45.16
12.5	36.53	37.88	39.20	40.60	42.06	42.87	43.57	44.29	45.27
13	37.33	38.62	39.86	41.16	42.51	43.25	43.88	44.53	45.41
13.5	38.16	39.37	40.52	41.72	42.95	43.62	44.19	44.76	45.55
13.93	38.90	40.02	41.10	42.20	43.32	43.93	44.45	44.96	45.67



SMMa/FFM% centiles SA Girls

	Centiles								
Age	-2.053749	-1.340755	-0.6744897	0	0.6744897	1.036433	1.340755	1.644854	2.053749
	2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98
4.46	23.10	25.70	27.64	29.29	30.74	31.45	32.01	32.55	33.25
4.5	23.19	25.76	27.68	29.34	30.78	31.49	32.06	32.60	33.29
5	24.22	26.47	28.27	29.87	31.30	32.02	32.60	33.16	33.88
5.5	25.14	27.16	28.84	30.39	31.82	32.54	33.13	33.70	34.45
6	26.00	27.83	29.42	30.92	32.34	33.07	33.67	34.25	35.02
6.5	26.82	28.52	30.02	31.49	32.89	33.62	34.22	34.82	35.60
7	27.60	29.19	30.63	32.05	33.44	34.17	34.78	35.38	36.18
7.5	28.35	29.85	31.23	32.61	33.98	34.71	35.32	35.92	36.74
8	29.05	30.46	31.78	33.13	34.48	35.20	35.81	36.43	37.25
8.5	29.71	31.04	32.31	33.61	34.94	35.66	36.27	36.89	37.72
9	30.33	31.60	32.81	34.08	35.38	36.09	36.70	37.32	38.16
9.5	30.94	32.14	33.31	34.53	35.81	36.52	37.12	37.74	38.59
10	31.54	32.68	33.79	34.98	36.22	36.92	37.52	38.13	38.98
10.5	32.14	33.21	34.28	35.42	36.63	37.32	37.91	38.52	39.36
11	32.73	33.75	34.77	35.87	37.05	37.71	38.29	38.88	39.72
11.5	33.30	34.28	35.25	36.31	37.44	38.08	38.64	39.21	40.02
12	33.79	34.73	35.66	36.66	37.74	38.35	38.88	39.43	40.20
12.5	34.15	35.04	35.92	36.87	37.89	38.47	38.97	39.49	40.21
13	34.40	35.24	36.07	36.96	37.91	38.45	38.92	39.40	40.08
13.5	34.64	35.42	36.20	37.03	37.92	38.42	38.85	39.30	39.92
13.94	34.86	35.59	36.32	37.11	37.93	38.40	38.80	39.22	39.80



	170 00110110	<i></i>	10		Centiles				
Age	-2.05	-1.34	-0.67	0.00	0.67	1.04	1.34	1.64	2.05
	2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98
4.51	27.14	28.52	29.81	31.11	32.41	33.11	33.70	34.28	35.07
5	27.77	29.09	30.34	31.63	32.93	33.64	34.24	34.84	35.66
5.5	28.41	29.68	30.90	32.16	33.47	34.19	34.80	35.42	36.26
6	29.05	30.27	31.46	32.72	34.02	34.75	35.36	35.99	36.86
6.5	29.68	30.88	32.06	33.30	34.60	35.32	35.94	36.57	37.45
7	30.28	31.47	32.64	33.87	35.16	35.88	36.49	37.12	37.98
7.5	30.83	32.02	33.19	34.41	35.68	36.38	36.99	37.60	38.44
8	31.33	32.53	33.69	34.90	36.15	36.84	37.42	38.02	38.84
8.5	31.80	33.00	34.15	35.34	36.57	37.24	37.81	38.39	39.18
9	32.26	33.45	34.59	35.76	36.96	37.62	38.17	38.74	39.50
9.5	32.71	33.89	35.02	36.17	37.35	37.98	38.52	39.07	39.80
10	33.12	34.30	35.42	36.56	37.70	38.31	38.83	39.35	40.05
10.5	33.45	34.65	35.76	36.87	37.98	38.56	39.06	39.55	40.21
11	33.73	34.95	36.05	37.14	38.20	38.76	39.22	39.68	40.29
11.5	33.99	35.23	36.33	37.39	38.40	38.92	39.36	39.78	40.34
12	34.25	35.52	36.60	37.63	38.58	39.08	39.48	39.87	40.38
12.5	34.53	35.80	36.86	37.85	38.75	39.21	39.58	39.94	40.41
13	34.81	36.07	37.11	38.05	38.89	39.32	39.66	39.99	40.42
13.5	35.12	36.36	37.35	38.24	39.03	39.43	39.74	40.05	40.44
13.71	35.25	36.48	37.46	38.32	39.09	39.48	39.78	40.08	40.45
43.00 41.00 39.00 37.00		SMN	Ma/FFM ^G	% WE ₂ G	irls		2 9		
							25		
							— 50		
S 31.00									
29.00	0						/5		

- 98

SMMa/FFM% centiles WE₂ Girls

27.00

25.00

Age (y)



